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Preface

The literature on American entry into World War II is rich and
abundant but mostly segmented, concerned with particular topics,
regions, or relationships. Histories of the Pearl Harbor attack, for
example, form a world in themselves. Yet world politics was not com-
partmentalized. The cataclysmic changes in the configuration of
world power thar cccurred in 1940-41—the fall of France, Japan's
alliance with the Axis, the German attack on the Soviet Union—
reverberated between East and West. The configuration of world
power was moving from one of interconnected regional crises toward
a unitary global balance of forces. The United Srates always needed
to consider the implications elsewhere of a move in any particular
direction.

To understand fully American entry into World War Il we need a
modern synthesis combining the story of deepening participation in
the war against Hitler with the related story of the road to Pearl Har-
bor and placing American policy in its global context. The 1952-53

cork of William L. Langer and S. Everete Gleason, The Challenge to
Isolation and The Undeclared War, provides a model in this respect.
We need a book of thar scope, incorporating modern scholarship,
integrating the military side—intelligence and operational capability
as well as strategy —wich the diplomatic, and attentive t¢ public and
congressional opinion.

By striving for comprehensiveness we may also gain a better
understanding of the foreign policy of Franklin D. Roosevelt. So lit-
tle record exists of the thoughts of this most elusive and dissembling
of presidents that we must rely on inference and try for better
sleuthing. Assessments differ widely, but Roosevelt has impressed me
as an active and purposeful maker of foreign policy, the only figure
with all the threads in his hands. He also had a keen sensitivity for
relations among nations and grasp of great power politics. He took a
comprehensive view. Accordingly, the more completely we reassem-
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ble the pieces of what we can reasonably assume he knew of world
developments, and of what he could do about it and was advised to
do, the better we may understand his policies.

Comprehensiveness in these dimensions requires concision in
others. The question was how far back from Pearl Harbor could I go
in this fashion within the compass of one volume—and the answer
was, not far. March 1941 offers a natural starting point. Earlier Roo-
sevelt had been preoccupied with gaining a third term in the election
of 1940 and winning the Lend-Lease debate. In foreign policy mat-
ters he was at his most opaque. With passage of Lend-Lease he had a
mandate to act. Nineteen hundred forty-one was not necessarily
more important than 1940, but it offered me more of an international
harvest. Also the beginning of spring brought World War Il into a
new compaigning season with possible outcomes even worse than
those of 1940. Increasingly in my research the nine-month period
from March to December 1941 took on a character of its own with a
separate yarn to tell.

More than anyone else, Dorothy Borg has made it possible for me
to reach the point of telling this story and with heartfelt thanks I
dedicate this book to her. Her high expectations, rigorous standards,
gentle prodding, and constant, warm encouragement and support
have brought out the best in me as a historian. The East Asian Insti-
tute of Columbia University with its kindred spirits, workshops, and
conferences has been a second home for me professionally. Lectures
to Carol Gluck’s Columbia students have greatly helped me develop
the ideas on which this book is based.

My education in Japanese foreign relations and the international
history of East Asia began with Akira Iriye, when we were graduate
students together at Harvard, and [ have been tapping his rich and
abundant scholarship ever since. His kindness and help have pow-
erfully assisted me in this project. Of particular benefit was his faculty
seminar on the 1931-49 period, sponsored by the Henry Luce Foun-
dation, which started me organizing research and writing and pro-
vided me the expert criticism of its members, Warren Cohen, Gary
Hess, Sherman Cochran, and Bob Messer. Akira and Gary have
given me the additional benefit of their criticism on the completed
manuscript.

The writing of this book would have been impossible without the
concentrated time and energy permitted by a fellowship from the
Woodrow Wilson International Center for Scholars in 1985-86. 1
wish to thank the directors and staff of the Center, especially Asso-
ciate Director Samuel Wells, my colleagues there, especially Jon Su-
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mida, and my research assistants Michael Ciriello and Ann Heyer for
making that year so enormously beneficial. Professor Arthur Schles-
inger, Jr, who has helped me so much along the way, was kind
enough to serve as commentator at my Wilson Center symposium.

I wish to thank the Earhart Foundation of Ann Arbor, Michigan,
for a fellowship which made it possible to continue writing through
the following summer. Travel for research was made possible by a
grant from the American Philosophical Society. To Temple Univer-
sity I owe repeated thanks for research support of many kinds since
the inception of this project. In my department at Temple I am
deeply grateful to Russell Weigley and to the late Shumpei Okamoto,
whom we miss so much.

This manuscript has been greatly improved as the result of a care-
ful evaluation by Robert Dallek. I am indebted again to my mentors
at Harvard: Ernest May for his early suggestions about the project
and Frank Freidel for his examination of the product and his sage
advice. More errors than 1 care to admit were uncovered by the eagle-
eyed scrutiny of portions of the manuscript by Jim Field, Charles
Neu, and Dick Leopold. Scott Sagan gave me a valuable critique from
his perspective in political science. To all these readers as well as Gary
Hess and Akira Iriye my deepest thanks.

My research has been facilitated by the knowledge and profes-
sional skill of many archivists; their courtesy and efficiency has eased
my way through countless boxes and hours. My special thanks to Bill
Emerson at the Franklin D. Roosevelt Library for the key suggestions
he made; to John Taylor at the National Archives for his unparal-
leled knowledge of military records; to Dean Allard, director of the
U.S. Navy Operational Archives for showing the way to so many
valuable naval records and sharing his knowledge as a naval histo-
rian; to Milt Gustafson and Sally Marks for the best-run archive |
can imagine—the Diplomatic Branch at the National Archives; and
the many other archivists who have helped: Richard Von Doenhoff,
Howard Wehman, Tim Nenninger, Ed Reese, Bill Heimdahl, Fred
Pernell, Richard Boylan, Richard Gould, Robert Parks, Martha Craw-
ley, Bernard (“Cav”) Cavalcante, and Elaine Everly.

At one stage or another in this project historians and experts of
various kinds have kindly given of their time and knowledge. My
thanks to David Reynolds, Daniel Harrington, Charles Maechling,
Vice Admiral (Ret.) Edwin B. Hooper, Bob Love, Hugh Gallagher,
“Sandy” Cochran, and W. A. B. Douglas and Marc Milner of the
Directorate of History, National Defense Headquarters, Ottawa. My
thanks also to Timothy ]. Heinrichs for an expert editing of the
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manuscript. | have been fortunate, even after entering the world of
personal computers, to be able to call on the word processing skills
of Gloria Basmajian, Anita O'Brien, and Jack Runyon.

Scholarly Resources Inc. has granted permission to publish here
excerpts from my arricle “President Franklin D). Roosevelt's Interven-
tion in the Bartle of the Atlantic, 1941, ” which originally appeared
in Diplomatic History.

1 have followed the Japanese style of giving Japanese family names
first

My wife, Audrey Stewart Heinrichs, with her own intense profes
sional career to manage, has been a constant source of support. My
deepest thanks go to her for her patience, grace, and wise advice.

Shoreham, Vermont Waldo Heinrichs
August 1987
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Prologue

Before war pounced on the United States on December 7, 1941, it
crept up, stage by stage, over many years. First came the world eco-
nomic crisis, beginning with the American stock market crash in
1929, undermining confidence in the world order, shaking the foun-
dations of political power in every country, and promoting authori-
tarian rule. Japan's conquest of Manchuria in 1931 was an isolated
case, but aggression and pressure for territorial revisions dominated
international politics from the mid-thirties onward, as the sad litany
of Ethiopia, China, Austria, and Czechoslovakia attest. Hitler’s vio-
lation of the Munich agreement over Czechoslovakia and the deter-
mination of Britain and France henceforth to resist led to European
war in 1939, In 1940 Hitler’s conquest of France, siege of Britain, and
alliance with Japan shredded America’s sense of security. In 1941,
European and East Asian conflicts extended and interconnected, the
world divided, and war became virtually global. It is with the last cli-
mactic stage in 1941 that this book is concerned.

The World War of 1914-18 was supposed to be the war to end all
wars. Thirteen million combatants died, one in five, and twenty-two
million were wounded, one in three.! The great object of the Paris
Peace Conference and the diplomacy of the 1920s was to make a rep-
etition unnecessary and impossible. The dominant values of inter-
national relations remained those advanced by President Woodrow
Wilson: national self-determination, guarantee of territorial integrity,
peaceful settlement of disputes, disarmament, freer trade, and collec-
tive security under the aegis of the League of Nations. In significant
ways these principles remained unfulfilled in the twenties. The peace
settlement bore the marks of revenge and national self-aggrandize-
ment; collective security was incomplete without United States mem-
bership in the League. Nevertheless, the United States played an
active if behind-the-scenes role in diplomacy and dominated the
Washington Conference of 1921-22 on arms limitation and Pacific-
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East Asian affairs. Universalism and multilateralism, conciliation and
consultation, diplomacy not force—the spirit of Locarno, Geneva,
and Washington—were the predominant motifs of those years, and
it would have been hard to believe in 1929 that the world was already
half the years to another war.

The world economic crisis of the 1930s shriveled internationalism.
A chain of failures and errors occurred in systems already weakened
by war: declining commodity prices, exchange difficulties, foreign
trade shrinkage, debt default, collapse of investment values, bank
closings, factory shutdowns, and devastating unemployment. Britain
was unable to continue as stabilizer of the international system and
no successor appeared. Economic disorder led to political instability.
Governments were less concerned with harmonizing relations with
other nations than with staying in power. Nations turned inward and
autarky prevailed.

Most of the noteworthy events of the early and mid-thirties
involved repudiation of internationalism. The failure of the London
Economic Conference of 1933 marked the end of currency stabili-
zation and the very idea of a managed world economy. At Geneva
the exhaustive search for European disarmament died, and at Lon-
don in 1936 naval limitation expired. League sanctions failed to pre-
vent Italy’s conquest of Ethiopia in 1935-36, and the United States
Senate rejected even a highly conditional membership in the World
Court. Regional security pacts fared no better. The Locarno pact dis-
solved with Hitler’s occupation of the Rhineland in 1936, while the
Brussels Conference of 1937 marked the demise of the Nine-Power
Treaty designed to protect China. One by one the symbols of post-
war accord and the Wilsonian New Diplomacy collapsed.

In the wake of economic and political chaos arose two regimes
seeking hegemony and prepared to use force, in Germany and Japan.
Adolf Hitler, coming to power in 1933, planned step-by-step the con-
quest of Europe, the sequence and timing depending on circum-
stances. Furthermore, as Gerhard Weinberg contends, Hitler’s Nazi
system depended on ever more space and resources. This insatiable
expansionist appetite would ultimately have led along the paths of
Hitler's early visions to an attempt at world domination. Certainly
the laying of keels of 56,000-ton battleships in 1939 suggests wider
ambitions than Europe. Nazi persecution of the Jews and ruthless
suppression of democracy and dissent aroused revulsion and fear
abroad, but in the first years of his regime Hitler avoided confronta-
tion while he concentrated on rearmament and consolidation of
power. Historians now see the Nazi state as far from monolithic,
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rather as a congeries of bureaucratic and private empires, but the ulti-
mate and absolute authority in all great questions was the Fuehrer's
and his alone.’

Though German and Italian interests in Austria and the Balkans
clashed, the two nations had powerfu!l ideological athnities and saw
common adversaries in France and Britain. Benito Mussolini and the
Fascists, who came to power in 1922, were moved by illusions of
Roman glory and empire, but until the mid-thirties Il Duce acted
with caution in foreign affairs. Germany’s benevolent neurrality
toward Italy’s conquest of Ethiopia eased the path to accommoda-
tion, and in late 1936 the two dictators inaugurated the partnership
known as the Axis. Both assisted General Francisco Franco in the
Spanish Civil War between 1936 and 1939, and Italy bowed to Hit-
ler's annexation of Austria in 1938. Now Germany was on the march.

Japan had led the way. On September 18, 1931, a bomb ripped out
thirty-one inches of track in the South Manchurian Railroad just
north of Mukden. It had been set by the Japanese army to serve as a
pretext for the takeover of Manchuria, which was then accomplished.
The League of Nations condemned the aggression, and Japan with-
drew from the League. In the next several years Japan extended its
sway beyond Manchuria (renamed Manchukuo) into Inner Mon-
golia and North China.

The sources of Japanese expansionism were deep and complex. Of
immediate importance was the rise of Chinese nationalism in the
1920s and the threat this posed to Japan’s interests, especially its
imperial holdings in Manchuria and its visions for the future of those
rich northern provinces of China. Behind that concern lay fear of
the Soviet Union, then turning to development of the resources and
defenses of Siberia and the Pacific maritime provinces. The world
depression affected Japan especially severely because of its depen-
dence on foreign trade. Japan’s exports fell by one-half from 1929 to
1931, driving down incomes and employment and destroying faith
in Western political and economic systems. The military became a
determining influence in Japanese politics and foreign policy, leading
Japan down the path toward imperial self-sufficiency and hegemony
in East Asia.

While Germany’s imperial vision was singular, that of Hitler,
Japan's was pluralistic. The Japanese army anticipated war with the
Soviet Union sooner or later, but the navy considered the United
States its chief hypothetical enemy. The army looked northward, the
navy southward toward the rich resources—particularly oil—of
Southeast Asia. The more Japan challenged the existing order in East
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Asia—represented by the Washington treaty system of 1922-the
more it estranged itself from the Western powers with interests in the
region and the greater its affinity for the revisionist powers of
Europe—Germany and Italy. In 1936, Germany and Japan signed a
limited pact directed at the Soviet Union, to which Italy adhered the
following year.

Japan was not looking for war in China in 1937, but its arrogant
pretensions and progressive intrusions from the north so roused the
Chinese, both Nationalists and Communists, that the government of
Chiang Kai-shek perforce determined to resist. A clash between
Chinese and Japanese troops at Marco Polo Bridge, south of Peking,
produced an uncontrolled escalation of conflict and full-scale war.
Chiang and the Nationalists (Kuomintang) retreated westward into
the mountains at Chungking. As the Japanese army swept up the
great cities of eastern China it destroyed or jeopardized all of Western
enterprise, business and missionary, and the treaty system on which
it was based. Its bombing and massacre of civilians hardened anti-
Japanese sentiment in America.

By 1938 the United States faced a very different and dangerous
world. Japan seemed well on the way to East Asian dominance. Hitler,
having gobbled up Austria, prepared for the next victim, Czecho-
slovakia. The democracies lacked the will and capability to stop the
aggressors.

Three attitudes dominated American world policy in the mid-thir-
ties: isolationism, preoccupation with internal affairs, and compla-
cency. American practice had been to stand aloof from Europe'’s
quarrels. The exception had been the World War and Wilson's cru-
sade for permanent peace. Historical accounts in the thirties, blaming
the victors as well as the vanquished for World War I, the apparent
injustices of the peace settlement, and the rising clouds of another
war, confirmed Americans in their traditional belief and passionate
determination to stay out of the next conflict. In 1934-36 an inves-
tigation led by Senator Gerald Nye into war profiteering by muni-
tions-makers and bankers propelled legislation through Congress to
prohibit the transactions with belligerents which seemed to have
brought the United States into war in 1917. By 1938 the United
States was strongly committed to isolationism. However deep Amer-
ican sympathy for China and its future, for example, little disposition
existed to assist it and provoke Japan.

What did seem critical to the American people was the devastating
economic depression of the early thirties, followed by slow recovery
and a sharp recession in 1937. President Franklin Delano Roosevelt,
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elected on a platform of recovery and reform, spent his energies and
influence on enacting the New Deal, raising prices, and putting peo-
ple back to work. Reformers were often isolationist, recognizing that
preparedness and intervention abroad strengthened existing elites
and precluded social spending. Radical change wrought by the New
Deal plunged the country into heated political conflict, absorbing
American public awareness. Roosevelt’s efforts of 1937-38 to perpet-
uate the New Deal by enlarging the Supreme Court and purging con-
servative Democrats failed, leaving him a weakened, presumably
lame-duck president. Politics was central to American concerns;
Ethiopia, Austria, and Manchuria were at the margins.’

Finally, it was very hard for Americans to conceive of Hitler or the
Japanese as posing a direct threat to the United States. True, the Ger-
man army was outstripping any single potential foe, but the French
army ensconced in the Maginot Line with its allies and putative
allies—DBritain, Poland, Czechoslovakia—far outnumbered the
Wehrmacht. Italy’s alignment with Germany was by no means defin-
itive, and a German-Soviet pact hard to imagine. Above all, between
the United States and Germany stood, as always, the British navy.
Too many steps would have to succeed, too many questions be
answered in a certain way, to envision a physical threat to the United
States from Germany.

The threat of Japan seemed confined to East Asia. Prolonged con-
flict in China seemed more and more likely. Powerful Soviet forces
lay to the north, the bulk of the American fleet—including twelve
battleships and four aircraft carriers—operated in the Pacific, and
while British Commonwealth, French, and Dutch naval forces in East
Asia were negligible, the great base at Singapore provided a port of
reentry for European naval power. Above all it seemed unlikely that
Japan, so lacking in war resources, would dare challenge the United
States, from which it imported 80 percent of jts oil products, 90 per-
cent of its gasoline, 74 percent of its scrap iron, and 60 percent of its
machine tools.*

Franklin Roosevelt, who entirely lacked an isolationist mentality,
wotried about the drift of world affairs, but not to the point of sac-
rificing his domestic objectives. He supported in spirit League sanc-
tions against [taly by calling for a moral embargo against export of
oil to Iraly, and he repeatedly spoke for peace, disarmament, and
international mediation of disputes. He encouraged Britain’s and
France’s efforts to limit and prevent European conflict. At no time,
however, did he offer guarantees or alliances to deter aggressors.
Quite apart from the difficulty of imagining public support for such
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a move, it was by no means clear how American power might be
brought to bear and how welcome it might be to Europeans in the
era of appeasement. Thus American policy toward the rising threat
in Europe had a nebulous, indecisive quality. It did nothing to slow
Hitler.

East Asian policy was not quite the same. The United States never
condoned Japanese aggression. It regularly protested Japan’s treaty
violations and injury to American interests and rights in China.
However, it always sought to avoid provoking Japan. In these respects
American East Asian policy was as cautious and passive as its Euro-
pean counterpart. But it had more active implications. Recognition
of the Soviet Union in 1934 suggested the possibility of a North
Pacific alignment against Japan. Throughout the thirties Roosevelt
built up the United States Navy, first to treaty strength and after-
wards well beyond it. He kept open the possibility of retaining a
naval base in the Philippines after independence, and in naval treaty
negotiations rejected an increase in Japanese strength relative to the
British and American navies. Sccret British-American naval conver-
sations at London in January 1938 led to agreement that in case of a
Japanese threat the American fleet would move to Pearl Harbor and
a British fleet to Singapore. In the background of American restraint
toward Japan lay a disposition to use power that was absent from
policy toward Europe.

The Munich agreement of September 30, 1938, conceding to Hitler
straregic portions of Czechoslovakia, brought about a basic shift in
American foreign policy. Vast relief that war had been averted was
followed by a deepening realization that Hitler’s ambitions made war
inevitable sooner or later—indeed sooner, for the following March
he took the rest of Czechoslovakia. Munich spurred American rear-
mament, especially in warplanes. Roosevelt sought an increase in air-
craft production capacity not only for defense but also to help build
up British and French air power and deter Germany. Further to con-
vince Hitler he would have to reckon ultimately with American eco-
nomic might, the president sought revision of the neutrality laws,
including repeal of the arms embargo. So strong was isolationist sen-
timent in Congress, however, that he failed, so the United States
remained a helpless onlooker when Hitler, after reaching an accom-
modation with the Soviet Union in August 1939, attacked Poland
on September 1. Great Britain and France stood by Poland, and once
again Europe went to war.

Coincidentally American policy toward Japan stiffened. In
November 1938, Prime Minister Konoe Fumimaro of Japan, encour-
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aged by Hitler’s challenge to the status quo, issued a statement pro-
claiming a “New Order in East Asia” under Japan's leadership,
directly contradicting America’s traditional Open Door policy for
China and dismissing the Washington treary system. The United
States protested and, more significantly, provided its first direct assis-
tance to China, small as it was, a credit for twenty-five million dollars.
In July 1939 the United States gave the required six months’ notice
for terminating its commercial treaty with Japan, opening the way
for its most rigorous form of pressure, the trade embargo.

Seven shadowy months of “phony war” passed from the conquest
of Poland to the next German venture, the invasion of Denmark and
Norway on April 9, 1940. The administration finally succeeded in
repealing the arms embargo; now Britain and France had access to
American arms production but would have to take title in American
ports and ship the goods themselves. Almost all American inter-
course with the belligerents—shipping, travel, loans—remained pro-
hibited. Appeasement was discredited, but American interest in
peacemaking persisted. To keep Italy out of the war if possible and
to delay if not prevent the coming fury, Under Secretary of State
Sumner Welles journeyed to Rome, Berlin, Paris, and London with-
out result. At Tokyo the American ambassador, Joseph C. Grew, gin-
gerly investigated the possibility of easing tensions over China in
return for extension of the trade treaty, but Washington preferred to
hold the threat of trade restriction over Japan, and the treaty duly
expired.

Blitzkrieg began in the west on May 10, 1940, and by the end of
June the Low Countries were overrun, France was defeated, Italy was
at war at the side of (Germany, and PBritain was a lonely outpost of
democracy at the edge of a virtually totalitarian continent. By the end
of the summer, air battles raged over southern England, and invasion
was expected any day. Taking advantage of the collapse of Western
power, Japan moved southward. It applied pressure on the successor
regime in France, that of Marshall Philippe Pétain at Vichy, to permit
the stationing of Japanese troops in northern Indochina, further
encircling free China; on the British to close the Burma supply route
to China; and on the Dutch East Indies for huge supplies of oil. In
September, Japan joined the Axis.

Almost overnight the “free security” enjoyed by the United States
since the Napoleonic Wars disappeared.” The Atlantic was no longer
a friendly ocean: Hitler controlled the far shore. The French navy was
neutralized, while the British were struggling desperately to keep
open sea lanes to the Western Hemisphere and the empire. A very
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real possibility existed that the Americas would find themselves an
island in a world dominated by the Axis.

President Roosevelt’s immediate response was an exponential
increase in American armament. In the balance of 1940 the United
States Navy ordered nine new battleships, compared with eight
ordered in the years 1937-40, eleven aircraft carriers, three battle
cruisers, and eight heavy cruisers, compared with none of these types
in the earlier period, as well as thirty-one light cruisers and 181
destroyers.® The president set an annual production target of 50,000
airplanes; Congress raised the authorized strength of the army from
280,000 to 1,200,000 and more when feasible. The problem was no
longer money but time and capacity. Congress enacted required mil-
itary service, and the president called the National Guard into federal
service and tightened defense ties with Latin America and Canada.

Defense of the Americas did not mean writing off Britain. On the
contrary the survival of the beleaguered island seemed even more
vital as the threat of Hitler to American security grew and his ulti-
mate defeat became more important. As Britain battled on and the
summer passed without invasion, American assistance seemed more
realistic as well. The British desperately needed destrovyers for defense
against an invasion fleet and German submarines, the U-boat, so in
September, Roosevelt agreed to provide fifty of World War I vintage.
In return the United States received leases to certain British bases in
the Western Hemisphere. The most valuable of these, in Newfound-
land, Bermuda, and Trinidad, would provide Atlantic outposts for
American naval and air power. Prime Minister Winston Churchill
also gave public assurance that the Royal Navy would never be scut-
tled or surrendered.

Toward Japan the United States showed ever increasing firmness.
To guard against Tokyo’s taking advantage of Western vulnerability,
Roosevelt moved the Pacific Fleet, which had been based on the West
Coast, to Pearl Harbor, where it would lie on the flank of any Japa-
nese advance southward. Pressure rose for more forceful measures. In
July heavy Japanese orders for American iron and steel scrap, which
according to administration statistics supplied 40 percent of Japanese
iron production, and for aviation gasoline led the president to begin
applying economic pressure.” Under a new law permitting restriction
of the export of defense materials, he placed curbs on high-octane
gas and high-grade scrap. In September, after Japan’s move into Indo-
china, he turned the screw again, banning the export of all scrap, and
each month thereafter a new list of restricted materials appeared. But
he stopped short of an oil embargo, fearing the Japanese would attack
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to seize the Dutch supply. The president and Secretary of State Cor-
dell Hull, recognizing the greater and more immediate threat posed
by Germany, were determined so far as possible to avoid provoking
Japan.

The destroyers-for-bases agreement was a matter of dire necessity
at a time when Roosevelt feared that any departure from traditional
policy might defeat his bid for an unprecedented third term as pres-
ident. The 1940 election had a numbing effect on policy. Under
attack as a warmonger and would-be dictator, Roosevelt stressed the
theme of defense and in his speeches dealt most deviously with the
implications of aid to Britain and the strategic imperatives the nation
faced. As it was, his margin of victory over the Republican contender
Wendell Willkie was substantial, twenty-seven million to twenty-two
million votes, but not the overwhelming triumph of 1936.

Aid to Britain, postponed by election politics, became a matter of
urgency thereafter: Britain was running low on funds to pay for
American arms. Ruminating on the problem during a post-election
cruise in the Caribbean, Roosevelt hit on the brilliant notion of lend-
ing American goods to Britain, thereby circumventing instead of
assaulting neutrality laws, loans, and the American horror of repeat-
ing 1917. Lend-Lease would give Britain assured access to the Amer-
ican arsenal while enhancing American production capability. In
January 1941, on the wings of powerful messages to the people and
Congress, he asked for appropriate legislation, and behind the scenes
he carefully guided presentation of the administration’s case.

The Lend-Lease debate in Congress was the last great fight of the
isolationists. Senators Burton K. Wheeler, Arthur H. Vandenberg,
Hiram Johnson, Robert M. LaFollette, Jr., Bennett Champ Clark,
their allies in the House of Representatives, and their spokesmen out-
side, in particular Charles Lindbergh, were on the defensive, them-
selves increasingly isolated. Public sentiment as measured in polls was
overwhelmingly against a declaration of war, to be sure, but a grow-
ing majority favored aid to Britain short of war even at the risk of
war. The isolationist aggregation of Republicans, Roosevelt haters,
New Deal activists, midwest Progressives, and spokesmen of an ear-
lier, simpler, safer America no longer represented the mainstream.
On March 11, 1941, the Lend-Lease bill, skillfully amended to
enlarge the majorities but safeguard the intent, passed the Senate by
a vote of 60 to 31 and the House by 317 to 71.

From May 10, 1940, until March 11, 1941, during these ten months
of unprecedented peril for the United States, the American people
struggled through their presidential election and Lend-Lease debate
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to achieve a new foreign policy consensus. Aid to Britain was & niew
departure, establishing as it did a deep-set congruence of interest,
though not an alliance, with one of the European belligerents. Roo-
sevelt achieved a powerful mandate in his election and the Lend-
Lease law. Nevertheless traditional forces of aloofness and separate-
ness could not be dismissed, so it was impossible to say how far down
the road that risked war the American people were prepared to go,
or how far they could be led.

Meanwhile the world did not wait merely upon American consen-
sus. Japan needed time to gain security in the norcth by some sort of
accommodation with the Soviet Union before it could pursue the
southward advance. Europe waited for spring, and, as the first
months of 1941 passed, speculation intensified as to which way the
German war machine would turn. Germany and Japan were reaching
the limits of regional expansion. Any further aggression would have
global reverberations. The Soviet Union, the United States, and
Japan, though by no means neutral, had vet to cast their lots. The
tendency as the sun arched northward was toward a global alignment
of forces, and the question was whar sort of balance might be struck,
tipped which way, with what result.



Chapter 1

March 1941
The Aura of German Power

On March 1, 1941, leading elements of the German Twelfth Army
crossed the Danube from Rumania to Bulgaria on pontoon bridges.
Soon, under a warming, drying sun, German infantry, armored,
mountain, and anti-aircraft troops were streaming south through
Bulgaria toward the passes of the Rhodope Mountains, the Greek
frontier, and the Mediterranean. Hitler, as the New York Times said,
was “on the march again.” Trains from Istanbul to Belgrade experi-
enced delays of up to a full day; even the crack Simplon Express was
running hours behind schedule.! The Nazi buildup to seventeen
divisions for Operation MARITA, the conquest of Greece, had
begun. The 1941 campaigning season was under way.

Hitler’s foremost objective in 1941 was to crush the Soviet Union.
That had always been his underlying purpose, an ambition deriving
more from fundamental ideological preconceptions than from stra-
tegic realities. Subjugation of Russia would go far to fulfill the central
aims and values of the Nazi state. The Fuehrer considered absolute
control of the resources of the Soviet Union, particularly the oil of
the Caucasus and the grain of the Ukraine, essential to the suste-
nance of a Nazi Europe. His intent to attack at the first opportunity
in 1941 hardened when the Soviets disclosed ambitions in eastern
Europe and the Balkans late in 1940. On December 21, 1940, Hitler
issued his directive for the Russian campaign, known now by its code
name, BARBAROSSA, after Frederick Barbarossa, the twelfth-cen-
tury German empire-builder.

By March the eastward movement of troops was under way. The
German General Staff was gathering the largest military force ever
concentrated on a single front: 75 percent of its army, or 3.3 million
men in 142 divisions. This vast array would form three groups of
armies on a front of one thousand miles, from the Baltic to the Black
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Sea, each with a powerful spearpoint of Panzer and motorized divi-
sions, the largest group aimed at Moscow. In fact two kinds of army
were involved, the fast or schnell forces and the marching infantry,
using 625,000 horses for transport. Berlin estimated that most of the
Red Army was stationed forward, near the frontiers. It aimed to drive
armored wedges through Soviet lines, then encircle and crush the
enemy within roughly 300 miles of the border, in easy reach of the
German supply system. Hitler and his generals were determined to
avoid getting lost in Russian space and bogging down in a war of
attrition. The final objective, a line from the Caspian to the White
Sea, would place the heart of Russia in terms of food, resources, and
production in the Nazi grip. The attack was planned for mid-May or
as soon thereafter as the roads dried.

In contrast to the plan against the Soviet Union, Hitler's aims in
the Balkans were distinctly limited. He wanted to secure the north
coast of the Aegean and, if necessary, the Greek mainland to protect
the right flank of BARBAROSSA. Ulterior objectives in the Medi-
terranean would have to wait. The Luftwaffe until redeployed to the
east and the German navy would heavily attack Britain and its sup-
ply lifelines, but invasion of Britain would also have to wait for com-
pletion of the Russian campaign.

Washington, suffering from heavy March snows, bitter cold, and
“howling” winds, heard these rumblings of coming blitzkrieg in the
Balkans with the deepest foreboding. The European situation, wrote
Assistant Secretary of State Adolf A. Berle, Jr., was “thick and ... get-
ting infinitely thicker by the minute.” The lightning campaigns of
1939 and 1940 had created such an aura of frightening power and
efficiency surrounding the German war machine that the coming
“eruption of violence” in the Balkans seemed only a prelude to fur-
ther stunning conquests. “Practically everyone in Europe seems to
think he is next on Hitler's list,” Berle observed. Americans sensed a
great historical juncture with vast forces gearing for “hideous” strug-
gle and events unrolling too “horrible” to watch. Secretary of War
Henry L. Stimson warned a select group of correspondents that the
United States was “in great world-wide peril.”

Franklin Delano Roosevelt had just turned sixty. Entering his
third term, he was the longest-serving president in American history.
His hair was thinning and turning white, and the burdens of the 1940
election and constant world crisis were leaving their mark. More than
usual in the spring of 1941 he was ill in bed. Yet a fishing trip to
Florida or the Caribbean or even a long weekend at Hyde Park



16 MARCH 1941: THE AURA OF GERMAN POWER

seemed to restore his health and spirits. Roosevelt was at a peak of
skill and experience while retaining his buoyancy and strength.

On March 8, 1941, the Senate passed Lend-Lease by vote of 60 to
31. Three days later the House of Representatives concurred, and the
bill went to the White House for signature. The “great debate” was
over, and the American people had chosen by decisive margins to
intervene in the war at least to the point of supplying aid to Britain.
Throughout the two-month Lend-Lease debate and indeed back
through the presidential campaign in the latter part of 1940, Roose-
velt had been severely circumscribed by politics in dealing with bur-
geoning threats abroad. He had to gain a mandate for his leadership
and his party’s and in Lend-Lease secure the foundation of British
resistance and American rearmament before risking new military or
diplomatic initiatives. Now at last he had some elbow room.

He could not move too fast or too far, however. The nation was
not ready for war as a matter of choice. Public opinion, as Roosevelt
probably saw it, was touchy. [t was moving in the right direction,
passing the marker buoy of aid to Britain even at the risk of war. But
a declaration of war was not even in sight. Decisive executive action
might slow or shift it. Isolationism as it weakened became more bitter
and vindictive. It would revive with attacks on Roosevelt as warmon-
ger and dictator. The result would be division and disunity when
national consolidation was essential. He must avoid being the issue.
He needed to dispel complacency, but opinion could not be forced:
it must flow from the facts of international life themselves, from the
very real menaces. It required education, subtle reinforcement, nur-
turing—in short, time.

Time was desperately needed to retool for war as well. The econ-
omy was still only in the first stages of transformation. War orders
were reviving it. Consumer demand was rising; cars were selling. Prof-
itable at last, business resisted conversion. As profits and the cost of
living rose so did labor’s demand for its share. The spring of 1941
was a time of labor strife. Violence occurred at the Ford River Rouge
plant, Bethlehem Steel, and International Harvester, and in Harlan
County, Kentucky. By April the strike at Allis-Chalmers, a key
machinery manufacturer, was entering its third month. For major
constituencies of the Democratic party, the New Deal was at stake as
the Roosevelt administration moved from reform to rearmament,
from partisanship to consensus, and as Republicans began filtering
back into Washington to supervise war production. Changes in the
American economy produced division enough for the president.



March 1941: The Aura of German Power 17

The establishment of a war economy had its own dynamics, as
Roosevelt knew from World War I. The theoretical sequence was sim-
ple enough: first allocation of resources, then building plant and
obtaining machine tools and manpower, and finally switching on the
assembly line. Setting up priorities and sequences for the economy
as a whole was a different matter. First one needed timber, girders,
cement, riggers, masons, and skilled machinists. Bringing together the
components of new factories at the right time and place was itself
impossible in 1941; delay was inevitable. The steel industry was
reaching full capacity. Plant construction, ship hulls, and tank pro-
duction would have to vie with each other for a limited output until
steel could build new plants itself. Keeping the completely different
aircraft-engine and air-frame industries in tandem so that one did not
wait upon the other was another headache, to say nothing of pro-
pellers, generators, ammunition, and radios. Manpower problems
were always acute. Should industry and the armed services maintain
existing units—factories, warships, infantry divisions—because of
their present efficiency or withdraw cadres of skilled personnel to
form new units, thereby multiplying size!

These immediate questions raised larger ones. At what point in
time was this national effort aiming? Should the nation ready itself
for war immediately, sacrificing time-consuming armaments like bat-
tleships, or for the longer pulll? What kind of war would be waged
with what arms and what enemies? Defending the Western Hemi-
sphere or invading Europe? Germany alone or the Axis! America
alone or with allies, and which allies? These questions were impossi-
ble to answer in any satisfactory way in the spring of 1941.*

Roosevelt went about these problems with his distinctive decision-
making style. Never given to formal bureaucratic ways, he dealt with
officials in terms of competence and function rather than hierarchical
position, as well as the relative importance of a particular policy
domain and his interest in it. Thus, as usual, his involvement varied
widely across the policy spectrum.

His closest involvement was in regulating, as commander in chief,
the strength, dispositions, and rules of engagement of the United
States Atlantic Fleet. Of course naval affairs had always aroused Roo-
sevelt’s keenest interest. Over the mantelpiece in the Oval Study
hung a painting of the four-stack destroyer Dyer on which he had
traveled to Europe as assistant secretary of the navy in World War I.
This was the same type of destroyer exchanged for bases with the
British in 1940, the same that still in March 1941 composed most of
the destroyer force of the Atlantic Fleet. According to the flag lieu-
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tenant to Admiral Harold Stark, chief of naval operations, the pres-
ident would phone frequently to say, “Betty {Stark’s nickname from
Naval Academy days}, I want this done right away,” and then rattle
off a list of five or six assignments. The White House maintained a
direct wire to the navy’s Ship Movements Division to keep track of
vessels on neutrality patrol in 1939-40. The president rarely saw Sec-
retary of the Navy Frank Knox alone. He not only dealt directly with
Admiral Stark, his vice-chief of operations, and his war plans direc-
tor, but also individually with the dour and driving commander-in-
chief of the Atlantic Fleet, Admiral Ernest J. King, Not just a passion
for seafaring encouraged his intervention in Atlantic problems, but
U-boats and the risk of war as well.’

In dealing with the army, Roosevelt developed a different method.
He usually did not see the uniformed head of the army, General
George C. Marshall, except in company with Stimson and others. He
meant no disrespect, for the good judgment and forthrightness of
this austere soldier were winning admiration in the administration
and Congress. More likely, Roosevelt was operating the way Stimson
preferred, through the secretary of war rather than around him. Stim-
son the president did see alone, and not just on army and war pro-
duction business. The secretary of war, age seventy-three, had served
in the cabinets of Presidents William Howard Taft and Herbert Hoo-
ver. As secretary of state during the Manchurian crisis he had tried
his best to mobilize public opinion and Anglo-American resistance
to Japanese expansion. Now, assuming the role of senior statesman
and high policy adviser to the president, he lost no opportunity of
vigorously urging intervention in the European war.

The two men were a study in contrasting styles of national security
management. To Stimson, who believed in orderly, hierarchical pat-
terns, Roosevelt’s informal, ad hoc practices were a constant source
of despair. “It literally is government on the jump,” he complained.
The one had the rational, analytical, argumentative mind of a suc-
cessful trial lawyer, the other the well-guarded intuitive faculties of a
consummate politician. Stimson at first found conversation with the
president “like chasing a vagrant beam of sunshine around a vacant
room.” The orderly secretary was ardent for action, the improvising
president persistently wary and cautious. However, they shared the
same patrician background, the same vision of an orderly, peaceful
world so powerfully articulated by Woodrow Wilson, and the same
respect for the reality of national power and the art of its use. Some-
what reluctantly Stimson came to admire certain qualities of mind in
his chief, the “wonderful memory,” for example, and the “penetrative
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shrewdness.” As confidence if not easy agreement built between the
two, Stimson became one of the very few to get a glimpse of Roose-
velt's inner thinking on policy. A long talk on strategy in January
provided him an “almost thrilling evening.”

The British-American relationship was a decision-making universe
in itself. At the heart of it was Harry Hopkins, one of Roosevelt’s
most zealous and trusted New Deal lieutenants, whose frail health
and incisive mind were now totally at the service of the president.
During his trip to London the past January, Hopkins had cultivated
closer ties between Roosevelt and Prime Minister Winston Churchill,
and by March the two were exchanging messages briskly, Churchill
usually seeking and Roosevelt occasionally providing. Supplement-
ing the principals were the ambassadors, John G. Winant in London
providing key reports on the mood and unspoken needs of the
Churchill government, and Lord Halifax in Washington sending
what the president preferred to convey orally, informally, and out-
side American channels. These formed only the tip of the iceberg,
however. Anglo-American collaboration was becoming an unprece-
dented trans-national enterprise. Hopkins would now expedite Lend-
Iease from the White House assisted by his aide Averell Harriman in
London. Every agency seemed to require liaison. Dozens of purchas-
ing missions, special observers, communications experts, and military
delegations crossed the Atlantic both ways. As the historian of the
relationship put it, “The cords that bound the two countries were
becoming thicker, more tangled and more secure.”

In most policy areas Roosevelt preferred not to involve himself
personally. American-Soviet relations, for example, were exceedingly
cold on account of Nazi-Soviet ties and the Russian war on Finland.
Even so, the president and Secretary of State Cordell Hull considered
it prudent to keep the way open for improving relations, so Under
Secretary of State Sumner Welles had been engaged in a series of
fruitless discussions with the Soviet ambassador, Constantin Ou-
mansky, since mid-1940. The haughty Welles, a family friend and
close adviser of Roosevelt, was the perfect foil for the surly Russian.

Roosevelt stayed aloof from the Chinese too, but for different rea-
sons. He gave them every encouragement in their lonely war with the
Japanese but very little material aid. Generalissimo Chiang Kai-shek
and his agents in Washington pestered officials for more. Secretary of
the Treasury Henry Morgenthau and White House adviser Lauchlin
Currie represented their views to the president, but the Chinese were
rarely allowed to approach the throne themselves.
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Relations with Japan most closely approximated the bureaucratic
paradigm. Roosevelt was happy to leave the difficult and dangerous
problems with Japan in the hands of the secretary of state and his
Far Eastern experts. He put his finger in the pie occasionally but he
knew that the wily and cautious Hull, the very essence of rectitude
in international conduct, would neither provoke nor condone Japan
but keep relations in satisfactory suspense. The constraints on Japa-
nese conduct, however, military deterrence and trade restrictions,
were not in Hull’s hands.

All the threads of policy led ultimately to the White House. By this
flexible and eclectic system Roosevelt could oversee or intervene
depending on the issue. Only three trusted advisers— Stimson, Hop-
kins, and Welles—secured both ready access and some appreciation
of the president’s thinking and outlook. Morgenthau remained a
close friend and retained influence on economic and financial ques-
tions but drifted out of the mainstream of decision-making as mili-
tary issues became more prominent. Hull had ready access but little
empathy. Frequently now the president called together at the White
House the two service secretaries, Knox and Stimson, and the two
uniformed heads of the services, Stark and Marshall, as well as Hull
and Hopkins. This group, which Stimson called the War Council and
which resembled the Defense Committee of the British War Cabinet,
was as close as Roosevelt came at this stage to institutionalized deci-
sion-making in national security affairs.

In his estimate of German intentions for 1941 President Roosevelt
depended on a chaotic supply of intelligence. Alongside American
military and diplomatic reports, occasionally brilliant, usually sketchy
because of wartime restrictions, and too often mediocre, a mélange of
rumor, desultory fact, and limp estimate, were the tantalizing secrets
of MAGIC, the closely guarded American process of decrypting Jap-
anese diplomatic messages. However, what was valuable in the inter-
cepts was difficult to isolate from a mass of irrelevant data that
strained available reading time. No digest was provided; no copying
was permitted. Use of this raw intelligence, as one authority has said,
“had to be impressionistic.”

In 1941 the United States government had only a meager ability
to coordinate and effectively evaluate the rising tide of information
from abroad. President Roosevelt was keenly interested in improve-
ment. He authorized a separate agency for intelligence in June 1941,
but it needed time to establish itself and contributed little that year.
Change came slowly or not at all: both the president and Stimson



March 1941: The Aura of German Power 21

wished to replace the army’s chief of military intelligence, Brigadier
General Sherman Miles, but he hung on past Pear! Harbor.’

Roosevelt soaked up facts, taking particular interest in reports of
German and Japanese war resources and American production fig-
ures. A steady flow of letters from friends abroad and American dip-
lomats who knew him personally, such as Lincoln MacVeagh in Ath-
ens, William Phillips in Rome, and Joseph Grew in Tokyo, provided
mood and context. A special delight must have been one from the
former French ambassador in Washington and poet, Paul Claude],
forwarded by Claudel’s son. The distinguished old man wrote of the
Italian attack on Greece in 1940: “Every evening at the radio we give
ourselves the pleasure of listening to the Italian commentators
explaining in a sorrowful, encouraging, and consoling voice the daily
defeat.” The president read MAGIC or heard the gist of it from reg-
ular briefings by army and navy intelligence officers, usually in the
late afternoon after callers. Probably a great deal of what he learned
came from talk with his advisers and from voracious reading of news-
papers at breakfast. It may not be far from the truth to say that page
one of the New York Times, assigning relative weights to stories by
position and multi-column headlines, framed his view of the day’s
foreign affairs.'”

The most prized American source of intelligence about Hitler’s
intentions was a German who remained anonymous but who in all
probability was Dr. Erwin Respondek, a former civil servant in the
finance ministry, Catholic Center party member of the Reichstag,
supporter of former Chancellor Heinrich Briining, professor of eco-
nomics and consultant to I. G. Farben and other German corpora-
tions. This very brave anti-Nazi retained highly placed connections
in the Nazi party, the Reichsbank, and the army high command. He
was in touch with the former crown prince of Saxony who was now
a Catholic monk, who in turn was a friend of General Franz Halder,
chief of the German General Staff. Respondek’s American contact
was Sam E. Woods, commercial attaché of the American embassy in
Berlin, a genial southerner with a breezy disregard of diplomatic
conventions."

Respondek would reserve side-by-side seats at a movie theater and
in the dark slip his reports into Woods’ pocket. Woods forwarded
these first through the American military attaché in Berlin in January
1941 and then by diplomatic pouch to an administrative official in
the Department of State who brought them to the attention of Assis-
tant Secretary of State Breckinridge Long. Briining, at the time a pro-
fessor at Harvard, authenticated the source. Examination of the type-
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writing by the Federal Bureau of Investigation established that the
author of these and eatlier reports possessed by Briining was the same
person. The Department of State was satisfied that it was not the vic-
tim of a “plant.”

Respondek’s reports dealt with a wide variety of problems facing
Germany: raw material stocks, manpower, food, finance, and morale.
Those of January 3 and February 19 conveyed information about
strategic plans. Both stated that Germany had two objectives in 1941:
the invasion of England and the conquest of the Soviet Union. The
January report stated that Britain would come fitst in the spring, fol-
lowed by the Soviet Union in the summer. The date of the attack on
England would depend on the weather and the amount of American
arms assistance, especially airplanes, Britain had received. The earlier
the invasion, the better Germany’s opportunity.

According to Respondek the German high command anticipated
a short, decisive campaign against Russia, using “motorized attack
divisions” in three main concentrations: one in the north, including
Norway, East Prussia, and north Poland, to contain Soviet forces in
the Baltic region; a second in the center attacking eastwards through
Kiev to Kharkov; and a third, the main thrust, in the south aimed at
QOdessa and Rostov in the Caucasus. Arrangements would be made
for Japanese forces to contain Soviet armies in the Far East. The
information was second-hand, simply a stark outline of “massed pos-
sibilities” without documentation. It fitted no patticular plan under
consideration, least of all the final directive for BARBAROSSA of
December 18, 1940, with its concentration in the center toward Mos-
cow. The report was a hazy reflection of the uncertainty over prior-
ities and debate over strategy for the Russian campaign preoccupying
the General Staff during the latter-part of 1940.

The February account placed greater emphasis on the east. Because
of Italian defeats in Albania and North Africa and the “increasing
offensive power” of Britain, plans were now “variable.” The invasion
of England remained one of the two objectives, but the report dwelt
on the “territorial liquidation of the land war in Europe” which
included “the smashing of the Red army” and the military and eco-
nomic advantages this would provide.

The two reports indicated a distinct and rising possibility of a Ger-
man attack on Russia but they failed to reveal that Hitler intended
to attack the Soviet Union unconditionally and had set aside the
invasion of England. Assistant Secretary of State Adolf A. Berle, Jr.,
who dealt with intelligence matters, reflected the indecisiveness pro-
moted by the reports. Before the first report he thought a German-
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Russian deal dividing Turkey the most likely possibility. After its
receipt he predicted German operations in the Balkans as a prelude
to the “real drive” on Russia. The war would then come to a climax
in an “ocean of anarchy and bloodshed.” But it was “not clear
whether they will artack Russia anyhow, or whether they propose to
do so after they have conquered England, as they expect to do.”"

The Respondek reports provided a prominent but by no means
unique indication of German intentions. They came in on a rising
tide of European diplomatic speculation about Hitler’s plans in the
east conveyed through American embassies and legations. The
Swedes, with excellent contacts in Berlin, were more definitive about
a German attack on Russia than Respondek. At the end of February
the Swedish minister in Moscow told American Ambassador Lau-
rence Steinhardt that, if the German submarine campaign failed to
subdue England by March or April, Germany would turn on Russia.
A month later the same minister provided some excellent informa-
tion: three German army groups were forming up, on Koenigsberg,
Warsaw, and Krakow (the last true for the main weight of Army
Group South), and the commander of the Central Group was Field
Marshal Feodor von Bock. Hitler would not necessarily attack, how-
ever. According to Swedish information, he would first offer Stalin
full participation in the Axis alliance of Germany, Italy, and Japan
with territorial compensation and would resort to arms oniy if
rebuffed.”

The American legation in Bucharest reached the same conclusion
by a circuitous and confusing path. With German troops streaming
into Rumania for the southern wing of BARBAROSSA as well as
the Balkans campaign, Minister Franklin Mott Gunther, a thirty-year
foreign service veteran, was in a choice position to predict German
moves. He was impressed with the numbers arriving: 1,500 troop
trains reserved for January alone, he heard, and a total force of one
million or even 1,200,000. “If ali this is just for Greece and even Tur-
key,” he advised, “then the Germans are driving tacks with sledge-
hammers.” Yet he was bewildered by contradictory rumors and Ger-
man deception. At first it seemed an attack on Russia was likely, but
whether before or after an invasion of England he could not say.
Then the German object seemed to be defense of Rumania against
Soviet or British intervention or an attack toward Suez. On March
18 he concluded that war in the east was unlikely because Stalin,
“hemmed in” and “overawed,” would make almost any concession to
perpetuate his rule.*
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The switching of German forces to, from, and within southeast
Europe was highly suggestive of German intentions. On March 27 a
military coup overthrew the Yugoslav government, which had just
bowed to German pressure and joined the Axis. Furious, Hitler
immediately ordered expansion of forthcoming operations against
Greece to include Yugoslavia. Two Panzer divisions and the SS Adolf
Hitler Division, which had begun moving from blocking positions in
Bulgaria toward their starting points for BARBARQOSSA in southern
Poland, were wheeled around and directed against Yugoslavia. The
British detected this shift by the ULTRA process of decrypting Ger-
man radio messages, and to Churchill it “illuminated the whole East-
ern scene like a lightning flash™ Yugoslavia was an unexpected
departure from the basic plan, which was an attack on the Soviet
Union. The American legation in Bulgaria noted and reported a
reverse in the “direction of flow of German troops and guns through
Sofia” on March 27, but neither it nor Washington sensed the
implications."

American military attachés forwarded impressive evidence of the
eastward deployment of German forces. The attaché in Switzerland
had excellent contacts. He noted the departure of elite units from
northern France, the Netherlands, and Belgium and their replace-
ment by older, less experienced troops. In the face of this sort of sub-
stitution, Vichy officials were becoming dubious about an invasion
of England, according to Ambassador William D. Leahy. From Swit-
zerland also came the report of a “continuous current” of trains head-
ing eastward through Belfort, clearing out German divisions from
the departments of occupied France bordering Switzerland. Eighty-
five trains crossed the Rhine at Neuf Brisach on March 19-20 alone;
142 passed through Besangon on March 24-25. A Warsaw-to-Berlin
passenger counted forty-one trains headed the other way on the
night of March 3-4.'¢

Seeing was not necessarily believing. The Germans explained away
the evident growth of forces in Poland: that country provided more
room for maneuvers and a better food supply. They planted rumors
and false information about preparations for invasion of England,
such as the movement of poison-gas shells to northwest France, the
manufacture of black silk parachutes at Beauvais, and the concentra-
tion of 300,000 paratroops and transport gliders.!” Colonel B. R. Pey-
ton, military attaché in Berlin, noting the rising number of German
divisions located opposite Russia, was nevertheless impressed with
the “unbelievable pains” the Germans went to in preparing for the
invasion of Britain. Furthermore, he had learned that the Red Army
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had withdrawn from the frontier, making an envelopment like the
one achieved by Hannibal in the battle of Cannae more difficult. He
concluded, as did the Military Intelligence Division in Washington,
that, while an attack on the Soviet Union was possible, it was the last
on Hitler’s list of objectives. First still was invasion of England.”

The difhiculty in divining German intentions was not due to lack
of experience. The list of American chiefs of mission in and near
Europe reads like one from the 1920s: Leland Harrison at Bern, Swit-
zerland, Frederick Sterling at Stockholm, William Phillips at Rome,
John Van Antwerp MacMurray at Ankara, Archur Bliss Lane at Bel-
grade. Roosevelt, for all his complaints about the flaccidity of the
State Department, turned to professional diplomats again and again.
Nor was there lack of ability. Assisting the chiefs and providing
much of the political reporting were foreign service officers who
would go on to become leading lights of American diplomacy after
World War II: George Kennan, Jacob Beam, and fames Riddleberger
in Berlin, Llewelyn Thompson in Moscow, Robert Murphy and H.
Freeman Martthews in Vichy, Herschel Johnson in London."”

Of course good information was exceedingly scarce in the totali-
tarian, machiavellian, militarized world of continental Europe in
1941, and so misinformation abounded. Diplomats were thrown in
upon each other and usually repeated around the circuit of embassies
and posts the same scraps of rumor and fact that came their way,
thereby amplifying them. The main problem was intellectual, how-
ever. Information pointing to a German attack was hard to believe
because Hitler, it seemed, could get what he wanted without war,
because it was unwise for him to engage a new enemy before finishing
off the British, and because war between Russia and Germany was
too good to be true, Hitler had made no mistakes so far. Loy Hen-
derson, an officer in the European Division of rthe Department of
State, provides an example of the problem. The “growing coolness”
between Moscow and Berlin was naturally a matrer of keen interest
in Washington, he said in March; “credible evidence” was available
of a German plan to attack the Soviet Union “at an appropriate
moment.” He warned against wishful thinking, however. He found it
difiicult to believe the two powers would end their cooperarion and
go to war.”

Foreign estimates were no more definitive. Not all Churchill’s col-
leagues were alive to the possibility of a German attack eastward. Brit-
ish army intelligence, relying on worst case analysis, insisted that
invasion of England was first on the German agenda. The Foreign
Office was divided, some impressed with the “stream of information”
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pointing to an attack, others more skeptical. The Swedish informa-
tion about army groups and commanders seemed proof Germany
was “flaunting” an attack to intimidate the Russians into a closer part-
nership.”’ Japanese diplomats, though Axis partners, were no better
informed. MAGIC intercepts documented the growing coolness in
Nazi-Soviet relations, but without agreement on the consequences.
One observer saw Suez as the German objective, another, Suez and
Gibraltar, a third, England, and a fourth believed that military prep-
arations in the east were “aimed resolutely” at meeting any hostility
from Russia.”

The problem of German intentions in the spring of 1941 was
never so simple as deciding whether or not Hitler would attack a cer-
tain country but rather which of several directions German aggres-
sion would take and in what order the victims would fall. Thus evi-
dence of preparations against Russia could be seen (and German
intelligence cultivated the view) as preparations for a southeastwards
advance: Greece would be the springboard to Suez.” Or word would
pass that they were a cover for the invasion of England. But even
these three vectors of attack did not comprise the full range of West-
ern fears: signs also pointed to a German thrust southwestwards
through the Iberian peninsula to Gibraltar, northwest Africa, and
the Atlantic islands, the Azores, Cape Verdes, and Canaries.

American ofhcials were especially sensitive about the possibility of
a southwestward thrust toward Africa because Dakar was within air-
craft range of Brazil. Hitler wanted Gibraltar and had moved sufh-
cient strength to the Pyrenees to secure it, but General Francisco
Franco proved difficult. Imparting sentiments of the deepest loyalty
and devotion to the cause of fascism, the ruler of Spain resisted all
blandishments to join the Axis and open the road to Gibraltar. He
was not convinced Britain would lose; the capture of the western gate
to the Mediterranean, he slyly suggested, would not be decisive
unless Suez was in the bag as well.

Creating another roadblock for the Axis, Spain coveted France's
northwest African colonies, and for Germany to help Franco satisfy
these ambitions would certainly have thrown General Maxime Wey-
gand and the Vichy forces he commanded in North Africa into the
arms of the British. Most importantly, Spain could obtain food and
resources it desperately needed only from Britain and possibly the
United States. The vital interests of Spain mandated a subsidized
neutrality, and in this policy Franco stubbornly and cleverly per-
sisted. In February the German divisions at the Pyrenees began mov-

ing east for BARBAROSSA.
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Though Washington learned of the transfer, its anxiety continued.
Armed passage through Spain might not be necessary. Germany
might leap the strait and neutralize the “Rock” by securing bases from
Vichy France in French Morocco. German forces gathering at Trip-
oli, an army estimate warned, placed Hitler in a position to dictate a
North African division of spoils and exact concessions from the
French. According to a March 10 report, Luftwaffe ground crews had
arrived in Morocco at Tetuan opposite Gibraltar; rumor was that
Germany had secured three air bases south of Tangier along the
Atlantic coast and that Tangier, Cadiz, the Canary Islands, and Casa-
blanca would become German submarine bases. During March the
number of Germans in Casablanca rose to 250, according to one
report. “They really are establishing their wings on the Atlantic line
in Norway and Dakar,” Berle concluded. Past experience with Ger-
man fifth-column penetration roused fears, inflated facts, and made
rumor credible.”®

In the spring of 1941 the German army possessed almost mythic
qualities. Stimson spoke of its “superb efficiency.”® Given the con-
tradictory and ambivalent intelligence picture, the warming sun
brought a host of dangerous possibilities. Lacking precise, authentic
sources, ways of theorizing about German intentions, and a central
evaluation process, American officials, most likely including the pres-
ident, wavered in their estimates, bobbing with each ripple of reports
from Europe. Confused and uncertain, they were the more inclined
to wait and see.

Even more ominous and urgent was the successful German war on
British shipping and communications. This campaign, under way
since the beginning of the war, widened after the Nazi conquest of
Norway, the Low Countries, and France. In the late winter and early
spring of 1941 it intensified, pressed by surface vessels and air arma-
das as well as U-boats, and not just on the high seas but also in the
coastal waters and firths of Great Britain, and onto its docks, depots,
and railroads. The main object was to cut off the people and factories
of Britain from their crucial overseas sources of food and raw mate-
rials, to “strangle” them, to starve them into submission.”

A new aerial blitz began at the end of February with successive
attacks on the coal city of Swansea in Wales. Then the “tour of the
ports” began with heavy night incendiary raids on Cardiff, the Bristol
area, Plymouth, Portsmouth, Southampton and, of course, London,
all “targets the destruction of which will assist or supplement the war
at sea,” as the Fuehrer’s directive put it. Singled out for special atten-
tion at London were the Albert and Victoria and King George V
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docks and the shipping concentrated at Tilbury. Then on the moon-
lit nights of March 12, 13, and 14, the Luftwaffe carried out “furious”
full-force atracks on Liverpool and Glasgow, especially on the Mer-
seyside and Clydeside docks, warehouses, and shipbuilding yards.”

Altogether the Germans delivered twelve major blows in mid-
March and continued attacking in a rising crescendo during April to
a climax in the greatest raid of the “night blitz”—May 10 on Lon-
don--—-after which “charred paper danced in the woods thirty miles
from the city.” Of sixty-one raids between February 19 and May 12,
thirty-nine were against the western ports. A German victory in the
Balkans would be bad enough, wrote Joseph Alsop and Robert Kint-
ner in the Washington Post, but if they "succeed in closing Glasgow,
Liverpool, Bristol, Cardiff, and Swansea, it will be disastrous.”

In retrospect the threat posed by the “night blitz” to Britain’s war
preduction and physical sustenance seems manageable and transient.
The raids averaged only 100 tons of bombs compared with 1,600 dur-
ing the allied bombing offensive against Germany in 1944-45. Elec-
rronic countermeasutes and decoy fires deflected bombers from vital
targets. In time better management of docks and rail cars speeded
deliveries. Food stocks in the year as a whole actually increased.

The outlook from within the escalating blitz, however, was fear-
some, especially to foreign observers. Plymouth’s city center suffered
“almost total destruction”; Southampton was “badly crippled”; Car-
diff, the Germans boasted, looked like the “Ypres of 1917”7 Ports-
mouth at night was like a “tomb.” Damaged or destroyed besides port
facilities were telephone exchanges and rail junctions. Cargoes piled
up on the docks as the British rail system tried to adjust to arrival of
goods mainly at western rather than eastern ports. A million to a
million and a half tons of shipping lay over in British yards awaiting
repair. British aircraft production was down one-third. One-fourth
fewer imports were arriving than anticipated. Qil stocks were dan-
gerously depleted. Stimson was alarmed at the “low level” of British
food consumption.®

Morale was sorely tried. The March raids destroyed or damaged all
but seven of Clydebank’s 12,000 houses. The May 1 attack on Liv-
erpool left 76,000 homeless. In the grear raids of that spring the dwell-
ers of Plymouth and Merseyside fled their cities by the tens of thou-
sands, rending the fabric of urban life and community. Even small
raids were exhausting. In six days of March Southampton had
twenty-four air-raid alarms lasting a total of forty-eight hours, break-
ing the pattern of work and sleep. The blitz of 1941 was impossible
to escape: “Even on the Welsh hills, one saw the searchlights groping
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over the midlands and heard the throb of the bombers looking for
Liverpool ...."™

The Luftwaffe also attacked individual ships and convoys as they
bunched up near port and laid mines in the Thames, Humber, and
Mersey estuaries. Long-range Focke-Wulf “Kondor” bombers shut-
tled between Bordeaux and Stavanger, Norway, in an arc west of the
British Isles, spotting convoys for U-boats and conducting low-level
attacks.”

More and more U-boats were prowling the North Atlantic. From
a dozen or so in October 1940, the number of operational boats rose
to thirty in April 1941. U-boat commander Karl Doenitz expected
fifty-two by August. British countermeasures in home waters forced
the U-boats westward in March 1941 to the vicinity of Iceland and
Greenland, where Hitler extended the war zone on March 25. Taking
advantage of lengthening daylight for better observation and using
new tactics of wolfpack deployment and night artacks on the surface
to avoid detection by underwater listening devices, U-boats took a
mounting toll.

Early in April, SC 26, a slow convoy from Sydney, Nova Scotia,
ran into a wolfpack southwest of Iceland and was badly mauled. The
loss of ten ships in this attack was decisive: the British Admiralty
hurried construction of Iceland bases, dispatched aircraft and escort
groups there and extended convoy protection to the mid-Atlantic.
But the longer the coverage the thinner. U-boat sinkings rose from
twenty-one in January to forty-one in March.*

British escort forces were strained to the utmost by the needs of
these and other convoy routes, distant imperial lines of communi-
cation, guarding against invasion, and the war in the Mediterranean.
The Royal Navy now had fifty former American destroyers of World
War | vintage, exchanged for bases in the agreement of September
1940, but their short cruising radius, lack of maneuverability, and
material defects due to age limited their usefulness. The blitz delayed
repairs. In March over half the escort vessels in the Western
Approaches to the British Isles were immobilized for lack of dock-
yard facilities and labor.**

This was also the most active period of the entire war for the big
ships of the German navy. In contrast to World War [, Germany had
access to the high seas through Norwegian coastal waters and pre-
ferred to attack British shipping abroad than to challenge the Royal
Navy nearby. Though modest in size, the German navy was modern
and well suited to commerce destruction. Its two remaining pocket
battleships, the Litzow and Admiral Scheer, could cruise a great dis-
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tance, outgun any cruiset, and outrun any but the most modern bat-
tleship. Heavier and faster still were the twin battle cruisers Scharn-
horst and Gneisenau. Most powerful of all was the newly completed
Bismarck, the equal of any battleship afloat, soon to be joined by its
sister ship, Tirpitz. German admirals sought to pass these heavy ships
out into the Atlantic past the Faroes or Iceland for raiding cruises,
but simply by riding at anchor in Kiel they tied down much heavier
forces of the Royal Navy.

Early 1941 was a time of breakout and good hunting for the Ger-
man navy. The Scheer, already at large, sank seventeen ships in a
cruise to the Indian Ocean. In February the cruiser Hipper caught an
unprotected convoy east of the Azores and sank seven. In February
and March the pair of battle cruisers, prowling the shipping lanes
near North America, scored twice. On March 15-16, some 500 miles
southeast of Newfoundland, where traffic concentrated to pass
around the Grand Banks and escorts departed, they destroyed or cap-
tured sixteen ships and left convoys in that part of the Atlantic scat-
tering in their wakes. Late in March the Scheer and Hipper broke back
to Norwegian waters through Denmark Strait, between Iceland and
Greenland, while the Gneisenau and Scharnhorst diverted British
attention by reaching Brest. Meanwhile raiders in distant oceans dis-
guised as merchant vessels sank thirty-eight ships in the first half of
1941. And the great Bismarck readied for sea.”

In March 1941, Britain was losing ships at the rate of over 500,000
tons a month, and losses were on the rise. U-boats were sinking about
half the ships, with naval raiders and aircraft accounting about
equally for the rest. This gave an annual rate of more than five mil-
lion tons, roughly a quarter of Britain's merchant fleet. New building
in shipyards now under blitz would replace at best only 30 percent
of the losses. At this rate Britain would import for the year 14 percent
less than its required minimum.*

The British government was not slow in conveying a sense of the
threat to Americans. To begin with, Churchill gave “this new battle”
a name. It was now not just a battle on the approaches to the British
Isles but the Battle of the Atlantic, on the doorstep of the Americas
as well. The prime minister formed a committee with that name to
deal more effectively with the many-sided threat, and the name began
appearing in American headlines. “The Battle of the Atlantic Is On,”
proclaimed the New York Times on March 11. The Washington Post
reported that German submarines were now operating on the Amer-
ican side of the Atlantic. A U-boat, it was even said, was coming to
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sink ships off New York harbor. At the end of March, Churchill sent
word to Roosevelt of “heavy disastrous losses.”’

Now the principal concern of the president and his advisers, well
bruited in speeches by officials and by the press, was how to ensure
that the wealth of war materials becoming available under Lend-
Lease arrived safely in Britain. On March 15, at the annual dinner of
the White House correspondents, the president delivered a speech
described as “one of the most powerful of his career.” Roosevelt made
it a bipartisan occasion, warmly greeting Wendell Willkie, his Repub-
lican opponent of 1940. He sought to move the minds of Americans
ahead from the “great debate” over Lend-Lease to the delivery of
goods to the battle lines. Upon the will of his countrymen to sacrifice,
work harder, and increase the tempo of production depended “the
survival of the vital bridge across the ocean—the bridge of ships that
carry the arms and the food for those who are fighting the good
fight.” But “{s}peed, and speed now"” must be the watchwords, “now,
now, ... NOW.”»

That same day orders went to the United States Atlantic Fleet,
then conducting amphibious exercises in the Caribbean, to return at
once to home ports on the East Coast, there to strip ship of inflamm-
ables and peacetime conveniences, undergo overhaul, apply camou-
flage paint, and prepare for active duty. A squadron of destroyers due
for transfer to the Pacific was to remain. Except in the Caribbean,
neutrality patrols ended. Admiral Stark informed Admiral King that
this was in effect an Atlantic war mobilization.”

Then on March 19 the president and his most comfortable
friends—Robert Jackson, Harold Ickes, “Pa” Watson, Ross McIntyre,
and Harry Hopkins—left for Fort Lauderdale and a fishing cruise to
the Bahamas, his first vacation in several months. The presidential
yacht Potomac was escorted by two destroyers. The sea was rough, but
Roosevelt “worked at his stamps and fished much more assiduously
than any one else,” according to Ickes. As the Atlantic Fleet readied,
the president soaked up sun and sea air and turned over in his mind
how to protect the “bridge of ships.”*



Chapter 2

April
Balancing Risks

As Roosevelt headed south to relax and ponder, Matsuoka Yasuke,
foreign minister of Japan, journeyed westward across the Soviet
Union dreaming of accomplishing a diplomatic coup by his forth-
coming negotiations in Moscow and Berlin. He envisioned a four-
power entente embracing the Axis powers and the Soviet Union
through which Japan could adjust problems in the north and free
itself to achieve self-sufficiency in resources in the south and a New
Order in East Asia. As his special train traversed the unending white
wastes of Siberia, the diminutive, combative diplomat passed the time
drinking vodka, telling his staff “how he would make puppets of Hit-
ler and Stalin,” writing short poems “full of subtle twists of thought,”
or simply meditating while sipping tea.’

A decade earlier, during the Manchurian crisis, the Japanese could
not have imagined their foreign minister settling accounts in Mos-
cow, or seeking Berlin’s help in the matter. Neither could they have
conceived of their nation’s present sweeping confrontation with the
British Commonwealth and the United States on top of a never-end-
ing war with China. As Japan expanded, so did its problems. Its feel-
ing of vulnerability intensified; fears of encirclement magnified. As
defense needs increased, so did impoverishment in war resources. By
1941 Japan had greatly enlarged the portion of the world it consid-
ered vital. The precise nature, boundaries, and means of accomplish-
ment of the “Greater East Asia Co-Prosperity Sphere” were still
uncertain, but the military was increasingly taken with the idea of
seizing Southeast Asia, especially for its oil, and securing a broad
realm of imperial self-sufhiciency.

Japan's aggressiveness derived from more than its share of irration-
ality. Policy was misconceived because the process that formed it was
basically incoherent. The problem was not simply that the military
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dominated policy from 1931 onward and civilian restraints were lack-
ing, for officials in the foreign ministry and elsewhere, indeed prime
ministers, often shared military preconceptions. Nor was the problem
limited to differing strategic objectives and bureaucratic interests of
the army and navy, so that policy usually embraced something of
both and more than Japan could afford, though this was a central
difficulty.

The main fault lay in the way decisions within the bureaucracies
percolated upwards rather than flowed downward from some central
authority, such as rthe Meiji oligarchs of the late nineteenth and early
twentieth century, with a broad perspective and the capability of
establishing priorities and judging ends and means. The influence of
subordinates was not necessarily insubordinate. That had existed, it
is true, in the army in the 1931-36 period, reaching proportions of
conspiracy and mutiny. But discipline had been restored. Neverthe-
less, subordinates retained the initiative. They precipitated policy by
action, as in the cases of the Kwantung, Tientsin, and South China
field armies, or, as factions or committees in the middle range of the
military bureaucracies, they pressed their views on their superiors,
who endeavored to accommodate them. As a result the more chau-
vinistic, parochial, and activist elements of both the army and navy
had undue influence so that Japanese policy was the more belligerent,
impulsive, and opportunistic.?

Japan’s inchoate drive for self-sufficiency interacted with violent
changes in world politics and widening opportunities. The debilitat-
ing struggle in China turned the attention of the army southward to
the resources of Indochina, the Dutch East Indies, and Malaya and
the chance these weakly protected colonies presented of sealing off
China from outside aid. In this direction of advance both army and
navy could agree.

German victory in the west in May and June 1940 presented a
glowing opportunity. Matsuoka saw alliance with Germany as a
means of immobilizing the United States and preventing it from
interfering in the southward advance. He and Prince Konoe Fumi-
maro, the prime minister, also saw the pact as a means of improving
relations with Moscow by way of the Nazi-Soviet ties of 1939, thereby
gaining security in the north before prosecuting advance in the
south. At the same time, the terms of alliance left Japan considerable
flexibility in determining whether it would enter a German-Ameri-
can war.

Matsuoka stopped in Moscow for a day to prepare the ground for
negotiations before continuing to Berlin to see what influence Ger-
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many might bring to bear. The answer was none. Hitler did not dis-
close his intent to attack the Soviet Union to his Axis partner,
though Matsuoka undoubtedly picked up the rampant diplomatic
speculation on this question. The Fuehrer, showing no interest in an
improvement in Japanese-Soviet relations, urged a Japanese attack on
Singapore. The Japanese army and navy were not yet ready to go that
far, so Matsuoka had to decline a commitment. Leaving Berlin
empty-handed he returned to Moscow on April 7 to see what could
be salvaged in a separate Soviet-Japanese agreement.

Evidence of growing Japanese ambitions in the south was accu-
mulating in London and Washington. Japan was seeking a vastly
greater allocation of oil, especially aviation-grade crude and aviation
gasoline, from the Dutch East Indies. American Standard-Vacuum
Qil Company, a principal producer in the Indies, was keeping the
Department of State closely informed. The Dutch and the oil com-
panies fended off Japanese demands with a temportizing agreement in
November 1940, but the contracts were soon due for renegotiation.’

In February 1941, Japan, with appropriate displays of naval
strength in the Gulf of Siam and South China Sea, insisted on
mediating border clashes between French Indochina and Thailand,
leading to fears of French or Thai compensation in the form of bases
opening the way to Burma, the Indian Ocean, and Singapore. Britain
sounded the alarm and urged an American warning. A war scare
ensued with Australian reinforcements moving to Malaya, the Dutch
recalling their shipping, and warnings in the press of an impending
Japanese “lightning stroke.” The American embassy at Tokyo on its
own initiative warned the vice minister of foreign affairs that if Japan
threatened British imperial communications it “would have to expect
to come into conflict with the United States.” Shocked, Ohashi Chui-
chi replied: “Do you mean to say that if Japan were to attack Singa-
pore there would be war with the United States?” Eugene Dooman,
counselor of the American embassy, replied, “The logic of the situa-
tion would inevitably raise that question.” American leaders, with
MAGIC to go by, correctly doubted that Japan was ready to go as
far as base acquisition at the moment, and indeed the crisis subsided.*

Only at the moment, however; the menace persisted. MAGIC
intercepts revealed that Japanese consular officials at Singapore were
ordered to secure evidence of Chinese dissatisfaction with British
rule because “our troops are moving southward.” Urgent instructions
went to consuls in the Dutch East Indies to secure maps of the
islands. In an intercepted report of March 24 from the Japanese
embassy in Berlin, Reichsmarshall Hermann Goering had strongly
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urged on Matsuoka a Japanese attack on Singapore, confiding that
after the forthcoming invasion of Britain, Germany would crush the
Soviet Union.’> Accordingly Washington looked upon Matsuoka’s
journey with apprehension, fearing some agreement that would
accelerate the southward advance.

Franklin Roosevelt had not really found any answer to Japanese
aggression. He was a Europeanist. As a child he had spent time in
England, France, and Germany and had been taught German and
French. He believed he understood Europeans. Of Asia he had no
direct experience. Often he spoke of his family's involvement in the
China trade as if seeking authority in ancestry. He could be discern-
ing about China and was positive about its future, but his tone was
patronizing and he kept Chinese problems at arm’s length. He knew
a great deal about the Japanese navy from his experience in World
War I, and this inclined him to be distrustful and negative about the
nation as a whole.” In thinking about Asia he was not immune to the
stereotypes and racial bias of his class and society.

Americans, in contrast to the Japanese, operated from a sense of
invulnerability, at least until 1940, and resource abundance. Europe
was at the center of their world concerns, Asia at the edges. Ameri-
cans had invested great hopes in China. Its struggle against the Jap-
anese invaders aroused widespread sympathy and deepened hostility
toward Japan, yet China’s portion of American trade with Asia in
the 1930s, which in itself was a minor portion of total foreign trade,
was only 13 percent, while trade with Japan was 36 percent and with
Southeast Asia 35 percent.® The Philippines were due for indepen-
dence in 1946. Defending them were one weak American-Filipino
division, a hundred or so obsolete airplanes, and an Asiatic Fleet of
World War | vintage except for one modern cruiser. The United
States Pacific Fleet at Hawaii lacked the superiority, training, and aux-
iliaries to risk an encounter with the Imperial Japanese Navy in the
western Pacific.’

Preoccupation with the economic depression and weakness at the
Asian periphery made for caution and avoidance in dealing with
Japan. During the 1930s, non-condonation and non-provocation
governed policy.”® As Japanese expansion widened, the policy of gin-
gerly complaint persisted, but behind it the outline of a blunter con-
ception appeared: the idea that the nations surrounding Japan
should cooperate to stop Japanese aggression. Multilateralism had
been the dominant mode of nations dealing with the international
problems of East Asia, tolerable even to a United States otherwise
horrified by foreign entanglements. Secretary of State John Hay's
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Open Door notes (1899) seeking to maintain the old treaty system
in China and Secretary of State Charles Evans Hughes’ leadership of
the Washington Conference (1921-22) are cases in point. The idea
followed from Wilsonian faith in collective security and the appeal
to principle in successive American protests against Japan’s unlawful
aggressions.

In October 1937, as the fighting in China escalated to full-scale
war, the commander of the United States Asiatic Fleet, Admiral
Harry E. Yarnell, cast about for a concerted way of dealing with the
“international gun man” of East Asia. In a letter which came to Pres-
ident Roosevelt he drew attention to Japan’s dependence on external
sources of raw materials. The United States, Britain, France, the Neth-
erlands, and the Soviet Union should join in a common front to cut
off all trade with Japan, simply attacking Japanese commerce from
their distant encircling bases, while China tied down Japanese troops.
The result would be “strangulation” of Japan without the cost of
huge armies or the risk of Jutland-style naval battles.

This made a “lot of sense” to Roosevelt. It reminded him of the
successful American strangulation of Tripoli in the Barbary wars and
of an article he had written for Asia magazine in 1923. That piece,
aimed at bettering relations with Japan, had warned that war between
the two nations would result in strategic deadlock and the outcome
would be decided by economic strength, “in which the United States
had, and has, a vast superiority.”"

The idea of concerted action and long-range blockade of Japan in
the worst extremity was dormant but by no means extinct in Roo-
sevelt’s thinking. Under consideration in 1940 were plans for send-
ing a task force consisting of the aircraft carrier Yorktown and four
heavy cruisers with escorts to the Java Sea to assist the British and
Dutch in defending the so-called Malay Barrier (the line of the Malay
Peninsula, the Dutch East Indies, and eastward to the Fiji Islands). In
October 1940, when Roosevelt was considering various measures
against Japan, he toyed with the idea of setting up two lines of patrol
vessels to intercept Japanese shipping, in effect a long-range blockade,
but was dissuaded by the navy."

However, joint containment of Japan remained only an idea.
World concern focused on the German threat in Europe. British
naval power concentrated in European waters, leaving the Singapore
base vacant. Soviet-American relations, which had never solidified in
the thirties, turned abysmal with the Nazi-Soviet Pact of 1939 and
the subsequent Soviet attack on Finland. In November 1940, Amer-
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ican strategic policy itself turned away from the Pacific to a preoc-
cupation with ensuring the survival of Britain.

Strategic reassessment began among American naval leaders frus-
trated with the immobility of the Pacific Fleet, tied to Pearl Harbor,
too weak for its original mission—a main fleet engagement with the
Japanese in the western Pacific—yet too far away to be of practical
use in the desperate circumstances which the United States faced
across the Atlantic. On November 12, 1940, Admiral Stark and his
staff completed a report for the president setting forth various stra-
tegic alternatives for the United States, among which the fourth, or
Plan D (in naval parlance Plan Dog), was the one they recommended.

The vital interest of the United States, according to the so-called
Plan Dog memorandum, lay in defending Britain and the British
Empire, requiring a concentration of effort toward Europe and inva-
sion of the continent to defeat Germany. The memorandum ques-
tioned the wisdom of even limited war in the Pacific. The United
States simply did not have the ships to project American naval power
far west of Hawaii and also protect its more vital interests in the
Atlantic. The navy doubted how willing or able the British and
Dutch were to resist Japan or how much better chance of success they
would have with help from a reinforced Asiatic Fleet. Operations in
the western Pacific would divide the fleet and quite likely create their
own dynamic to the detriment of effort against Germany. A strategy
of Europe first meant a strict defensive in the Pacific and avoidance
of war with Japan if possible. The Pacific Fleet must be held close to
Pearl Harbor for possible recall to the Atlantic.’®

The strategy of Plan Dog gained the support of the army and
implicitly of President Roosevelt, though he never formally endorsed
it. Thus at the end of 1940 a powerful consensus for strategic focus
on Germany developed at the highest levels in the American gov-
ernment. At a meeting of his defense advisers on January 17, 1941,
Roosevelt concluded that the primary objective must be maintenance
of the supply lines to Britain and ordered the navy to prepare for
escort of convoys. That meant standing on the defensive in the
Pacific, keeping the fleet close to Hawaii, sending no Asiatic tein-
forcement, and permitting the Asiatic Fleet to withdraw from the
Philippines if necessary. The military course for the United States
would have to be very conservative while its military power devel-
oped. However, Roosevelt did ask the navy to look into the possibil-
ities of bombing Japanese cities.'* The new strategic emphasis on
Furope was embodied in the individual and joint plans of the armed
services entitled RAINBOW 5.
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The next step was to integrate American and British strategy. From
the end of January to the end of March 1941, British army, navy, and
air planners secretly met with their American couterparts in Wash-
ington. The result was an American-British-Canadian plan (ABC-1),
in case the United States entered the war, for protection of Atlantic
shipping, defense of Britain, buildup of forces there, and eventual
invasion of the Continent.

The area of sharpest disagreement among the planners was coop-
erative action against a Japanese southward advance. The British
strongly urged that the United States Pacific Fleet, or major portions
thereof, be sent to Singapore, from which base, they argued, it could
far more effectively deter a Japanese advance than at Pearl Harbor.
Singapore, they held, was of cardinal importance to the British
Empire and its war effort. If Japan could be deterred from seizing the
resources of Southeast Asia by defense of the “Malay Barrier,” they
argued, economic pressure would then be sufficient to keep Japan in
check.

The Americans, with their new-found Atlantic orientation,
strongly disagreed. United States assistance in the defense of Singa-
pore would be “a strategic error of incalculable magnitude,” the army
warned. American planners were dubious about the facilities and
defenses of Singapore and worried about the risk of provoking war
with Japan by sending the fleet to Asian waters. Furthermore, they
resisted identifying the United States with European colonialism in
Asia by participating in the defense of a British imperial bastion.

As a compromise the two sides agreed that in case of war approx-
imately one-quarter of the Pacific Fleet would transfer to the Atlantic.
Thereby an American force of battleships, a carrier, escorts and sub-
marines could base at Gibraltar, releasing a comparable British force
for transfer to Singapore. In this curious musical-chairs fashion the
British at Singapore and the Americans at Pearl Harbor would pro-
vide a show of combined deterrence against Japan.”

The wraith of containment persisted. A letter of January 21, 1941,
from Roosevelt to Joseph C. Grew, the American ambassador in
Japan, emphasized the importance to Britain’s defense at home of the
resources and lines of communication in Southeast Asia. Yet the
president could not say what might be done to protect these imperial
interests or when. The letter to Grew from the president was written
not by Roosevelt himself but by the State Department’s political
adviser for Far Eastern affairs, Stanley K. Hornbeck, who had the
keenest interest in emphasizing East Asian stakes at a time when the
strategic inclination was strongly toward Europe.'® In the spring of
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1941, President Roosevelt and his advisers really had no idea how the
yawning chasm of military deficiency in Southeast Asia might be
filled.

As Roosevelt rested during his fishing cruise in late March and
considered what to do about the German threats to British shipping
and communications, he had detailed recommendations from the
United States Navy before him. Admiral Stark, chief of naval oper-
ations, urged maximum naval assistance to Britain as soon as possible,
in effect full-scale entry into the Battle of the Atlantic. The German
battle-cruiser attacks on shipping off the Grand Banks were chal-
lenging the U.S. Navy in its own front yard, but the devastating
losses Britain was suffering on the Atlantic and in the western ports
and the approach of the invasion season were matters of deep con-
cern. Stark advised the president to put into effect, with modifica-
tions, the ABC-1 war plan which the navy was just then, with the
British, shaping into final form. The reinforcement from the Pacific
called for in the ABC-1 plan should come immediately so that the
Atlantic Fleet could enter the battle as fast as ships became available
and ready for action.”

Under the stern command of Admiral King, considered just the
leader to shake the navy out of its “peacetime psychology,” the U.S,
Atlantic Fleet was beginning to evolve from a patrol and training
force into a hard-bitten, make-do fighting organization.'® It consisted
of three battleships, five heavy cruisers, four light cruisers, two air-
craft carriers, and fifty-nine destroyers. The Pacific reinforcement
would add three battleships, one carrier, four light cruisers, and eigh-
teen destroyers.

One of the main tasks of the beefed-up fleet would be to protect
convoys in the western Atlantic against surface raiders. The battle-
ships transferred from the Pacific, originally assigned to Gibraltar,
would now join the existing Atlantic Fleet battleships and two heavy
cruisers to provide each convoy with a battleship or pair of heavy
cruisers as escort. None of these ships was a match for the Bismarck
or Tirpitz. The Texas, New York, and Arkansas were built before
World War 1. Even so, they had heavier guns than Germany’s pocket
battleships and were comparable to the Royal Navy's Ramillies class
of battleships, which they were supposed to replace. The Pacific rein-
forcements, the battleships Idaho, New Mexico, and Mississippi, had
been extensively modernized with new turbines and gunfire controls
and additional armor. More powerful than the German battle cruis-
ers, they were now considered “the most effective fighting units in
the battle line.” The experience of February and March was that Ger-
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man raiders—even the Scharnhorst and Gneisenau—backed off in the
face of any battleship escort.'

Equally important was the escort of convoys in the Western
Approaches to the British Isles. Stark, who had been a staff officer to
Admiral William Sims in London in World War I, was thoroughly
familiar with such destroyer operations. The navy had already estab-
lished a force of three destroyers squadrons, nine ships to a squadron,
for this assignment. Two of these squadrons were composed of ships
of limited utility—World War 1 four-stackers like those provided
Britain in the destroyers-for-bases agreement; one boasted newly
completed ships. These twenty-seven destroyers, gathering at New-
port, Rhode Island, with additional patrol planes and Coast Guard
cutters, formed what the navy designated enigmatically as the Sup-
port Force. It was to be ready for action by mid-May 1941 after six
weeks of intensive antisubmarine warfare training, alterations, and
trials. According to plans, it would operate from bases in Northern
Ireland and Scotland and eventually from Iceland. Another squad-
ron would join the three in July, and a fifth was promised for later.
This would be a substantial reinforcement for the hard-pressed escort
groups of the Royal Navy but still, even at maximum strength,
amount to less than one-third of the British number.”

The remaining elements of the Atlantic Fleet and its Pacific rein-
forcement were given roving assignments. The two aircraft carriers,
the Wasp, the navy's newest, and the Ranger, the oldest, were to form
a striking force based at Bermuda for “catching” German raiders. A
third carrier from the Pacific would make it possible to keep two
always ready for sea. Four light cruisers from the Pacific, assigned to
accompany the carriers, would relieve two heavy cruisers to form a
striking force based on Iceland. Finally, four old light cruisers, each
with two scout planes, would patrol the gap between Africa and
Brazil.

Alongside the navy’s proposal, and in fact prompted by it, was a
plea from Churchill of March 19. The prime minster was frank to
admit Britain’s desperate circumstances, both to get help and to draw
the United States as far as possible into the war. The onslaughts of
the German battle cruisers gave him further opportunity. He care-
fully pointed out the novelty of attacks “so far to the west of the
thirtieth meridian” which passes through the midpoint of Denmark
Strait (between Greenland and Iceland) and which the Washington
staff conversations were designating as the boundary between British
and American command in case of war. Churchill dwelt on the dif-
ficulty of supplying convoys with battleship protection and then
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made a specific request for assistance. Raiders depended on supply
ships stationed in little-frequented parts of the ocean such as the Sar-
gasso Sea southeast of Bermuda, which the Royal Navy was unable
to patrol for lack of ships. The United States, Churchill advised,
could render aid under the banner of neutrality by sending warships
with aircraft to “cruise about” in these “almost unknown waters,” dis-
closing and disconcerting these secret rendezvous.”

This was all Churchill asked for personally but not all he sought.
In January he had explained that the delay in bringing American
destroyers already transferred into action had been due to refitting
the ships not to lack of crews. Indeed, he said, the Royal Navy could
man another thirty by April. The suggestion of another transfer also
arose in the Lend-Lease debate as an alternative to American escort
of convoys. Influential members of the House and Senate foreign
relations committees favored it. So did the public. In a Gallup poll a
majority approved turning over to Britain another forty or so
destroyers. Congress defeated amendments to prevent it.”?

On March 16, Ernest Lindley reported in the Washington Post that
the administration was under “terrific” British pressure for more
patrol bombers and destroyers. Bad news about the Adlantic arrived
in a steady dirge, Churchill regretting the loss of valuable cargoes
produced by American labor. March 27, the day Hitler extended the
combat zone to Iceland, Harriman in London suggested sending ten
destroyers or Coast Guard cutters. Few doubted that some would be
sent. Either the United States would have to join in escort or provide
escorts.”

The ever-cautious Cordell Hull feared that American participation
in the Battle of the Atlantic, or even partial intervention leading to
an incident and war with Germany, would raise a critical question
for the Japanese of their obligations under the Axis alliance. War
with both Japan and Germany must be avoided at all costs. Transfer
of destroyers promised to provide the necessary assistance without
war. On April 18, Lord Halifax reported that Hull had asked him
personally and privately if Britain could find crews for twenty-five to
fifty American destroyers.”

The United States Navy did not take kindly to this chorus of sug-
gestions on how to use or dispose of it. It had seventy-four old
destroyers left and despite their shortcomings was exceedingly reluc-
tant to part with thirty, ten, or any. Rear Admiral Richmond Kelly
Turner, director of the War Plans Division—“Terrible Turner” as he
was known for his corrosive temperament—argued that every one
was needed, eighteen now and nine as soon as possible for the Sup-
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port Force, thirteen for the Asiatic Fleet, its only destroyers, eight for
training sonar operators in tracking submarines, and only twenty-six
to patrol the entire Caribbean and Pacific coast from Panama to
Alaska. Besides, American crews used them more effectively than
British because they understood them better. In case Britain were
defeated, he added, or in case the United States entered the war it
would need all the ships it could get its hands on for American
requirements.”’

The navy was indeed short of destroyers, old and new. The west-
ward migration of U-boats forced it to provide at least two escorting
destroyers for every cruiser, battleship, or carrier at sea. Aside from
the Support Force, the Atlantic Fleet had only fourteen modern
destroyers. Nine of these were due for major overhaul in May, and
four were promised to the Support Force.” Two new destroyers were
due in May, four more in June, and six later in the year, but “working
up” took time—five months, reduced by Admiral King to two. To
make up escort for warships he borrowed some of the modern
destroyers of the Support Force, disrupting their submarine tracking,
anti-aircraft, and depth-charge practice.”’

That year tension was always severe in the navy between opera-
tional responsibilities and orderly expansion. All indicators known
to its professional officer corps pointed to the need for more time.
New destroyers needed time to overcome design problems, to catch
up with scarce communications equipment, to install splinter shields
to protect gun crews, to expand depth charge capacity, and to add
anti-aircraft guns with compensating weight reductions topside.®
Manning new ships meant breaking up trained ship companies and
diluting the corps of veteran petty officers and skilled technicians.
Ships were going to sea undermanned, with green crews. The supply
of sonar operators from the fleet school at Key West was wholly inad-
equate. Destroyer crews needed the skills, supervision, and equip-
ment provided by division and squadron command, especially for
gunnery and the complex maneuvers and techniques of antisubma-
rine warfare and escort operations. Searching vast stretches of ocean
for German supply ships seemed a waste of precious time. The navy
believed it needed concentration not dispersion.”

Rather than dwelling on these deficiencies, Admiral Stark urged
battle if not war. Britain’s plight was certainly compelling, but the
navy'’s zeal for action was reinforced by bureaucratic imperatives. Had
the navy argued against assisting Britain on grounds of unreadiness
or dwelt on the need for progressive intervention as contingents
became ready, the argument for Lend-Leasing warships would have
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been hard to resist. Not to make too much of a point, there is some
truth in the notion that the navy had to join the battle to save its
ships.

On April 1, President Roosevelt returned to Washington from his
vacation looking refreshed and tanned, and the next day met with
his principal military and foreign policy advisers to consider what
major steps might be taken to assist Britain. He had returned from
his previous vacation in December with the idea for Lend-Lease.
This time he had no new ideas, no tricks. He was in a discursive,
reminiscent mood which kept his anxious advisers and their urgent
problems at bay.*

On the one hand the navy urged intervention, a course strongly
pressed by Stimson and Knox. For the hawks it was not only a ques-
tion of critical, practical assistance for Britain but of providing evi-
dence to occupied Europe and wavering neutrals of American lead-
ership in the cause of freedom and determination ultimately to
overcome Hitler and liberate Europe. At the moment the darkness
over Europe seemed to be lifting slightly. The British had sunk three
Italian cruisers and badly damaged a battleship at the Battle of Cape
Mattapan. They had captured Addis Ababa and redeemed Ethiopia,
the first victim of fascist aggression. The Greeks fought on against
Italy. Britain was sending an army to help defend Greece against the
approaching German Goliath. The Washington Post caught the excite-
ment with a banner headline: BRITISH MASSING 300,000 MEN IN
GREECE. It spoke of tanks “pouring” into Greek ports from a “vast
convoy” of British ships. Roosevelt doubted the number of soldiers
was as high as 100,000; in fact 62,000 arrived.”

Most “thrilling” of all to Stimson was news on March 27 of a coup
in Belgrade overthrowing the government of Prince Paul, which had
bowed to German pressure and signed up with the Axis two days
earlier. With 1.2 million Yugoslavs moving to battle stations against
the massing German forces, a Balkan front seemed to be forming.
War in the Balkans at the very least would preoccupy and extend the
Wehrmacht. Germany, said Britain’s Foreign Secretary Anthony
Eden, would be “only playing football in her own cabbage patch.”

The Yugoslav uprising was the first “great European event” since
Lend-Lease, argued Walter Lippmann, evidence that the progressive
abandonment of American isolation was changing the world balance
of power. Lend-Lease, interventionists contended, made possible
Britain’s commitments in the Balkans, which in turn encouraged the
Yugoslav uprising. According to Assistant Secretary of State A. A,
Berle, Jr., some presidential advisers—Morgenthau and Supreme
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Court Justice Felix Frankfurter, for example—thought that Britain
and the United States were the only two civilized peoples in the
world and that “the entire Continent of Europe ought to be written
off....” However, Roosevelt, he believed, shared the contrary view
that the United States needed all possible European support. Resis-
tance to the Nazis depended on “faith in us, and hope that we will
ultimately navigate their liberation.” With Yugoslavia wavering, on
March 24, Stimson noted in his diary, escort of convoy must come
“practically at once.” It was essential in the view of Alexander Kirk,
a veteran diplomat who had just left the chargéship of the American
embassy in Berlin, that Hitler’s opponents conduct a display of force
to prove to neutrals that “power is not the monopoly of Hitler
alone.””

Roosevelt could do practically nothing to assist the victims and
intended victims of aggression directly. He followed up Anthony
Eden’s suggestion through Hopkins of encouraging Turkey and
Yugoslavia by informing them of American plans for support of Brit-
ain on a vast scale. To the government of Prince Paul he promised
Lend-Lease if it resisted and warned implicitly that a Yugoslavia
tamely submitting to threats would receive less sympathy for its post-
war claims than one which fought even though vainly. He had prom-
ised the Greeks P-40 fighters but found none available and was not
prepared to wrest any from the American army or the British. Older
planes were substituted but even these could not be delivered in
time. Informed of the further delay, the Greek prime minister
remarked bitterly, “Enfin seuls” (In the end alone).** Illusions swiftly
vanished on April 6, when the German army struck at Greece and
Yugoslavia.

Disaster widened in the Balkans as Roosevelt searched for an
Atlantic solution. In doing so he was certainly aware of the unrea-
diness of the Atlantic Fleet. In April he met exclusively with admirals
at least five times. He knew that no destroyers would be ready for
escort duty until mid-May at the earliest, that one of the battleships
would be under repair until April 28 and another under overhaul
until May 19, and that the Ranger required a three-month overhaul
and installation of new arresting gear. The Pacific reinforcements,
even if ordered immediately, would not arrive until the end of May.
The United States had not enough troops for an expeditionary force
of any importance, not enough transports to send them in, and not
enough warships to protect them. In January 1941 American assem-
bly lines turned out 159 bombers, of which seven went to the Army
Air Corps and fifty-two to the navy. The rest went to Britain. They
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produced 248 fighters of which eight went to the army and twenty-
five to the navy. A huge armament program was under way, but the
keel of only one aircraft carrier had been laid since 1938.%

With such an immediate poverty of resources, how much of a con-
tribution could the United States make by entering the Battle of the
Atlantic immediately? Would it justify the probability of ensuing war
with Germany and possibly with Japan as well? Would it justify the
larger call on limited resources placed by the American armed serv-
ices in case of war! Would it be wise to place scarce American naval
vessels under British command in the United Kingdom when Hitler
might yet strike through Spain toward Africa and the Atlantic
islands or invade and defeat England before help came?

Roosevelt had solid reasons for shying away from escort of convoy
quite apart from the American people’s attitude toward a decision
probably involving war, but public opinion certainly reinforced cau-
tion. Postmaster General Frank Walker and Secretary of Labor
Frances Perkins, just back from the West Coast, reported that opin-
ion there was “unsettled”; “lethargy and ignorance prevailed.” The
latest Gallup poll found that 83 percent of those surveyed would vote
to stay out of war. At the same time, when asked whether it was more
important to keep out of war or to help England, even at the risk of
getting into the war, 67 percent chose to help England and risk war.*
Opinion was educable, as it had been in the past, but Roosevelt
undoubtedly believed that the benefits of intervention now did not
justify the risks, domestic and external. As Roosevelr told Stark dur-
ing a similar dilemma in 1940, “When I don’t know how to move I
stay put.”™’

Roosevelt did not plunge into the Atlantic war, but neither did he
exactly stay put. On April 7 he ordered the battleships, aircraft car-
rier, cruisers, and destroyers of the Pacific reinforcement transferred
to the Atlantic.®® On April 10 he disclosed further plans to his closest
advisers. He wanted an extension of the American defense zone
across the Atlantic to include the Azores, some of the Cape Verde
Islands, and Greenland (but not Iceland). He arrived at a boundary
running well into the eastern part of the North Atlantic ar first by
picking the line of 25 degrees west longitude, which bisects the dis-
tance between northwest Africa and northeast Brazil, as the limit of
the Western Hemisphere. As plans developed, Roosevelt dropped a
hemispheric definition of the American security zone as too confin-
ing, but for the time being he shifted to the twenty-sixth meridian,
one degree closer to the United States, excluding the Cape Verdes.”
This was an historic departure. Before, American security had always
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depended on British control of the Atlantic. Neutrality patrols kept
to the western side of the Atlantic. Now President Roosevelt incor-
porated the great basin of the North Atlantic in the American
sphere.

At this time Roosevelt wanted not control but presence, a constant
display of naval power by sweeps, patrols, and cruises of the Atlantic
Fleet. Contrary to naval advice, he ordered dispersion and rejected
escort. The navy bowed and devised Western Hemisphere Defense
Plan One.”® According to this plan the six battleships of the rein-
forced fleet, comprising Task Force 1, would individually patrol a set
course running east in the latitude of Philadelphia to fifty degrees
west longitude (the line of the west coast of Greenland), then north-
east toward Iceland to the twenty-sixth meridian and the edge of the
war zone declared by Germany and back. They would be like sentries
marching toward and away from each other on their appointed path,
parallel with the convoy lanes but several hundred miles to the east
and south of them.

The aircraft carriers, Task Force 2, would meet Churchill’s request
for scouring untended waters. Each carrier would reconnoiter a
slightly different wedge of ocean east of Bermuda toward the Azores.
Task Force 3, the four old cruisers, would sail individually, with
escort, from Puerto Rico or Trinidad southeastward toward Africa
then back to Brazil and home. Task Force 4, the Support Force,
would prepare for “distant service in higher latitudes.” The deploy-
ment, if not the patrolling assignments, followed the navy's initial
recommendation. All naval vessels were to trail the Axis ships they
sighted and broadcast their location for British benefit.

Western Hemisphere Defense Plan One also for the first time per-
mitted use of force, though under narrow constraints. American war-
ships were ordered to prevent interference with American flag vessels
in the expanded defense zone. Furthermore, in waters close by—the
Gulf of St. Lawrence, the Caribbean, Bermuda, and otherwise within
twenty-five miles of Western Hemisphere territory—patrols should
warn away Axis ships (technically, vessels of nations having no ter-
ritory in the Western Hemisphere) and attack them if they failed to
heed the warning. Use of force extended to the defense of Greenland
as well. In a direct challenge to the German combat zone proclaimed
in March, the United States concluded an agreement on April 10
with the Danish minister in Washington bringing that entire Danish
territory, even the portion east of the twenty-sixth meridian, under
American protection.
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For the press Roosevelt described the patrols as a reconnaissance
in force and likened them to the band of scouts sent out far ahead
of a wagon train to find Indians and prevent an ambush.” Roosevelt
was barely edging into the Battle of the Atlantic. The novelties of
Plan One were more symbolic than substantive. Nevertheless, it
would establish a regular American naval presence in the central
North Atlantic and raise the strategic question for the German naval
command of whether to restrict operations or risk a major incident
and war with the United States. Furthermore this established pres-
ence would endow American action in case of an incident with a
defensive character, permitting Japan, if it chose, to avoid invoking
its alliance obligations. And Plan One crossed a threshold in use of
force.

American assistance was not entirely symbolic. Roosevelt could
spare, if not destroyers, Coast Guard cutters. On March 29 he had
ordered ten of the sturdy little ships, which were practical for escort
duty, into British service. Then he approved a large new shipment
of arms including sixty amphibious patrol planes which were excep-
tionally useful in spotting submarines.” In February the Admiralty
had asked for repair in an American dockyard of the carrier Illus-
trious, its aircraft elevators damaged in a German dive bombing
attack in the Mediterranean. That request was shelved while the
Lend-Lease debate was going on. With Lend-Lease in hand the pres-
ident immediately approved, and when Churchill asked assistance
for the battleship Malaya, damaged by a torpedo, Roosevelt
responded from his cruise that he would be “delighted,” offering the
Boston, New York, and Philadelphia yards. Upon his return to
Washington, with warnings from Britain that the shortage of dry-
docks was critical, he sent Assistant Secretary of the Navy James V.
Forrestal to London, where he and Harriman worked out an exten-
sive, long-term warship repair schedule.’ Thus American ports
became a sanctuary for the Royal Navy.

By various devices Roosevelt also strove to thicken the “bridge of
ships.” On March 29 he authorized seizure of sixty-five ships of Axis
and occupied nations in American ports. Altogether the United
States managed to convey to the British about one million tons of
Axis shipping and arranged for time charter of other vessels. On
April 2 the president approved funds for building 200 more ships
for Britain. Repair facilities were extended to the British merchant
marine. In the last nine months of 1941, British shipping under
repair in American ports averaged 430,000 tons a month.* The cap-
ture of Massawa in Italian Eritrea on April 8 cleared the Red Sea of
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Axis forces and enabled Roosevelt to remove it and the Arabian Sea
from the list of combat zones forbidden to American ships. This
opening permitted the United States to take over a major share of
the supply of British forces in the Middle East. As Harriman sug-
gested, British arms and supplies for that front could now be sent in
what otherwise would have been empty bottoms to the United States
for transshipment.”

The logical corollary of deepening involvement on the Atlantic
with risk of an incident and war was an easing of relations with
Japan, particularly an effort to dissociate Japan from Germany as
much as possible. The Roosevelt administration began a deliberate
effort in April 1941 to explore the formidable issues that divided the
two countries. The idea of wide-ranging discussions with Japan was
novel, for no productive diplomacy had occurred between the two
nations since the London Naval Conference of 1930. Talks about
specific issues occurred from time to time in the 1930s but invariably
led nowhere. With Matsuoka’s advent as foreign minister no discus-
sion seemed possible.

Yet, by 1941, not impossible. An encouraging sign was the
appointment of Admiral Nomura Kichisaburd as Japanese ambassa-
dor to the United States. Roosevelt had been acquainted with
Nomura when the latter was naval attaché in Washington during
World War 1. As foreign minister in 1939, Nomura had shown a keen
interest in improving relations with the United Srates and was
understood to be associated with anti-Axis elements in Japan. To
Hull he looked different from most Japanese: “tall, robust, in fine
health, with an open face.”* Hull liked him and came to believe in
his sincerity if not his skill. In February and March, Roosevelt and
Hull repeatedly emphasized to Nomura their rising concern over
Japan's identification with the Axis, on one occasion specifically
mentioning Matsuoka, “astride the Axis on his way to Berlin, talking
loudly as he goes,” and stressed the importance of both countries
finding ways of settling their differences peacefully.”

Meanwhile a peculiar opportunity for opening talks arose outside
the normal channels of diplomacy. In 1940 Father James M. Droughrt,
Vicar General of the Maryknoll Society (a Catholic organization), a
zealous missionary and intensely political person, seized on the idea
of becoming peacemaker between Japan and the United States. Peace
was essential to the furtherance of the society’s missionary enterprise
in the Japanese empire and particularly in China. A letter from Lewis
Strauss, whose New York investment firm, Kuhn Loeb and Com-
pany, had long-standing interests in Japan, introduced Drought to
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Ikawa Tadao, a Japanese banker with important connections, among
them Prince Konoe. Drought hoped to serve as a go-between for the
principals in both countries, bypassing rigid bureaucrats in the for-
eign ministries. He sought to draft an agreement and ease the path of
conciliation by allowing each side to believe the other had initiated
it. The Japanese army took an interest in the scheme, authorizing a
staff officer, Colonel Iwakuro Hideo, to join Ikawa. The foreign min-
istry, while taking no responsibility and fretting that these amateur
efforts would go amiss, was interested in seeing what might develop.

During the winter, Drought, with the assistance of his superior,
Bishop James E. Walsh, and U.S. Postmaster General Frank Walker,
a prominent Catholic layman, spun his web of accord, gaining access
to the White House, drawing in lkawa, Iwakuro, and finally Nomura
himself, and testing out peace formulas. The State Department, skep-
tical but observant, kept-in touch. On April 9, Drought delivered a
draft understanding to Hull which purported to have the support
not only of the Japanese embassy but the Japanese army and navy as
well.#

The April 9 draft was far from realistic as a basis for resolving
issues between Japan and the United States. It would have permitted
retention of Japanese troops in China after a peace settlement for
“joint defense against communism” and would have required cessa-
tion of American assistance to Chiang Kai-shek if he rejected Japa-
nese terms. 1 he draft in no way diminished Japan's Axis obligations,
but precluded American entry into “an aggressive alliance aimed to
assist any one nation against another.” Even Matsuoka speaking to
Steinhardt in Moscow was more flexible about Japan's Axis obliga-
tions. If Germany declared war on the United States, he hoped
America would consult Japan before making any move in the Pacific.
If the reverse were the case, Japan would be obligated to go to war,
but would consult Germany first. The vague and hortatory language
of the draft agreement reflected the amateur quality of the Drought
project.” Nevertheless it provided a comprehensive statement of
issues and thus a ready vehicle for discussion of concrete problems.
The State Department could use it without having to take responsi-
bility for its provisions or for having initiated it.

These were days of deep anxiety. From the Balkans as well as North
Africa the news was, in Berle’s words, “as bad as it can be.” The
administration was dismayed at the rapidity and effectiveness of the
German attack. Yugoslav resistance, in which the administration had
placed great faith, according to New York Times columnist Arthur
Krock, was simply vanishing. The official thermometer, he said, had
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dropped almost to the depths of Dunkirk. Officials feared the effect
of another successful blitzkrieg on Turkey, the Soviet Union, Spain,
and above all on American opinion, which might well revert to iso-
lationism.”® Meanwhile the destroyer U.S.S. Niblack was venturing
into U-boat waters to make a reconnaissance of Iceland for a pro-
spective American base there under the ABC-1 plan, and navy plan-
ners were drawing up orders for American warships to patrol far into
the Adlantic.”

On Saturday, April 12, at 9:45 a.m., Admiral Stark phoned Secre-
tary Hull, and a busy day followed at State. At 10:05 Hull saw Welles,
at 1:30 Hornbeck, Maxwell Hamilton, chief of the Far Eastern Divi-
sion, and Joseph Ballantine, the officer in touch with Facher Drought.
At 1:40 the secretary phoned Stark, at 1:45 Hopkins, and at 1:50 the
president.”” Clearly an important issue was being decided, one
involving the navy and Japan. What probably prompted these dis-
cussions was word from Stark about the president’s instructions for
patrolling and reinforcements from the Pacific Fleet and the navy’s
plans to implement them.

The idea of talks with the Japanese was already under discussion.
Ambassador Grew had recently sent a series of encouraging cables
reporting the rise in influence of anti-German moderates in the Jap-
anese government and Prince Konoe’s success in gaining control of
“radical elements” in the army. Matsuoka, according to Grew, had
failed to obtain anything in Berlin and was not likely to be any more
successful on his return visit to Moscow.”* Some Far Eastern experts
at State discounted such telegrams as another bout of Grew opti-
mism, but the information fitted with what Drought, lkawa, and
Iwakuro were saying. At the very least, Hull and his advisers might
tilt the balance slightly more against Matsuoka while the foreign
minister was away and against the Axis forces in Tokyo. On April
11, Hornbeck drafted a counterproposal to the Drought draft of
April 9, and Hamilton advised placing the Drought plan in Nomura's
lap and asking whether he wished to introduce it as his own. That
day or the next, the busy Saturday, Hull arranged to meet Nomura
on Monday, April 14 at 9:15 am,, either at his apartment in the
Wardman Park Hotel or at the office.”

On Easter Sunday, April 13, news came of the signing of a neu-
trality pact between the Soviet Union and Japan. This was an
unpleasant surprise. As late as April 11, Steinhardt had reported
Matsuoka as doubtful about securing any agreement. The pact pro-
vided that if either nation became engaged in war with a third power,
the other would remain neutral, and it also mutually recognized the
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independence of Manchukuo—the Japanese puppet state in Man-
churia——and Outer Mongolia—a Soviet satellite in central Asia—
both detached from China. Matsuoka had hoped for a considerably
more substantial agreement, but Moscow, in spite of deteriorating
relations with Germany, was not in the least disposed to make sig-
nificant concessions to Japar. Hull was correct in telling the press that
the significance of the pact could be overestimated as it really did not
change circumstances. Yet privately both American and British offi-
cials considered the implications “very sinister,” to use Welles’ words.
By offering some sense of security in the north, the pact provided an
important argument for the southern advance in the internal debate
over Japan’s course of action.

In this connection, naval intelligence noted the shortening of Jap-
anese lines in central China, the transfer of veteran troops from there
and North China to Formosa and other staging points for southward
advance, and the reorganization of Japanese fleets. Some Axis move
such as a drive on Singapore seemed likely in order to prevent the
diversion of American naval strength to the Atlantic. The director
of naval intelligence estimated that Japan “will strike and soon.”
Turner, War Plans director, disagreed, but most American policy-
makers believed the Soviet-Japanese pact enhanced the possibility of
some Japanese move southward. Furthermore, the Soviet recognition
of Manchukuo was a severe blow to China; any improvement in
Soviet-Japanese relations would probably result in less Soviet aid to
Chungking.”

By Monday morning, April 14, Hull’s interest in talks with
Nomura, inspired by Atlantic exigencies, was spurred on by those on
the Pacific side. The two met secretly at the Wardman Park. Hull
established that Nomura had collaborated in framing the Drought
plan and would indeed be glad to present it as a basis for negotia-
tions. The secretary of state then set conditions. First he would want
to set forth the basic principles which the United States felt must
undergird a settlement. Then Nomura, if he chose, could ascertain
from his government whether a basis for negotiations existed. The
two arranged to meet again shortly.

Hull saw Nomura again at the Wardman Park, Wednesday eve-
ning, after consulting his Far Eastern experts at least six times, phon-
ing Walker twice, receiving Father Drought, and seeing the president.
Monday he had suggested that talks proceed by stages with agree-
ment at each stage before proceeding to the next. This was the cau-
tious approach recommended by his Far Eastern advisers, but it was
not the way he conducted the Wednesday session. To be sure, he
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repeated his precondition that Japan fundamentally change its poli-
cies of conquest and use of force. He handed Nomura a paper listing
the four basic principles of international conduct espoused by his
government which Japan must adopt: respect for the territorial integ-
rity of all nations, non-interference in their internal affairs, equality
of opportunity, including trade, and non-disturbance of the status
quo except by peaceful means. He made clear that the two sides had
“in no sense reached the stage of negotiations,” and he denied “any
commitment whatever” to the provisions of the Drought draft.

Then, however, the secretary of state proceeded to move the talks
forward by collapsing his stages. He acknowledged that if the Japa-
nese government approved the draft and proposed it, he “individ-
ually” would accept it as a basis for “negotiations,” not simply discus-
sions. His government could readily accept some of the proposals, he
said, but of course would have to modify and reject others, and would
want to offer some of its own. Nevertheless, if Japan were “in real
earnest about changing its course,” Hull concluded, he “could see no
good reason why ways could not be found to reach a fairly mutually
satisfactory settlement.” He did not follow the advice of his experts
and tell Nomura that before any agreement was signed the United
States would wish to consult the British and Chinese.*

No evidence exists that Hull and his advisers had a strategy of set-
tlement, a set of rank-ordered priorities and conceivable concessions.
The United States remained entirely opposed to Japan on the key
issues of China, the Axis alliance, and the southward advance. Of
course it was anxious to take advantage of any possible shift in Jap-
anese policy. More practically, however, by conveying a positive atti-
tude toward the Drought draft, Hull was enticing the Japanese into
diplomacy as a means of searching out the Japanese position, weak-
ening Axis ties, and delaying a southward advance. He was not with-
out hope of settlement but was more interested in the process than
the results.

Nomura advised his government that it must now authorize him
to negotiate on the draft proposal, adding that he had definitely
ascertained that Hull on the whole favored it. Desiring to give the
Drought plan the best possible send-off and avoid complications
raised by the American preconditions, he withheld Hull’s four prin-
ciples. Thus, as the authority on the subject has said, the Hull-
Nomura talks commenced upon a “fundamental misconception.”
The Japanese government gained a much more positive impression
of Hull’s attitude troward the Drought plan and the possibilities of
settlement than was warranted. That misconception arose from ama-
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teurish diplomacy by Drought, Nomura, and their cohorts, not from
deception by Hull”” Even so, in a moment of intense anxiety and
weakness, the United States desired to get diplomacy started and
succeeded.

Given the central importance of Germany in the world politics of
1941 and general uncertainty as to Hitler’s intentions, the great neu-
trals—the United States, the Soviet Union, and Japan—were bound
to keep several irons in the fire. So Japanese-American talks comple-
mented Japanese-Soviet talks, and Soviet-American talks comple-
mented both. Of all these dialogues the most refractory and, at this
stage, unproductive was the Soviet-American.

Relations between the two nations had reached a nadir in the
autumn-winter of 1939-40 with the Nazi-Soviet Pact, Soviet absorp-
tion of the Baltic states—Estonia, Latvia, and Lithuania—and the
Soviet “Winter War” on little Finland, including the bombing of Hel-
sinki. On December 2, 1939, the United States invoked a “moral
embargo,” urging American companies not to sell to the Soviet
Union airplanes or the materials, including key metals, that went
into their manufacture.

Yet the fundamental congruity of Soviet and American interests
could not be ignored. Parallel with the developing German-Ameri-
can confrontation in 1940 were German-Soviet tensions in eastern
Europe and in the Balkans and the Soviet need of American war
supplies in its drive to rearm. The United States placed no little
emphasis on Soviet aid to China and the Soviet role in restraining
Japanese expansion from the north. In July 1940, Welles began talks
with the Soviet ambassador in Washington, Constantin Oumansky,
to see what progress could be made in removing the obstacles to bet-
ter relations. Given the “many dangers which would affect the Soviet
Union” in coming months, he told Qumansky, the logical course for
the Soviets seemed to be to improve relations with the United States,
from which it had nothing to fear, rather than to push those relations
further downhill.®

The talks proved a great trial for Welles. Soviet complaint and
vituperation were constant; Oumansky was almost invariably nasty
and sarcastic. He stayed in close touch with the German embassy in
Washington.” The United States had no intention of recognizing a
Soviet takeover of the Baltic states, or of releasing the ships and assets
of those states, which it had impounded. In responding to Soviet pro-
tests over the difficulty of purchasing American goods, it complained
of the continued and indeed increasing Soviet supply of goods to
Germany. Especially irritating was the fact that the Soviet Union was
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buying more cotton in the United States and promising more to Ger-
many.® Nevertheless American officials made efforts to ease some
trade difficulties and on January 21, 1941 lifted the moral embargo.
In February, Welles urged that when problems appeared irresolvable,
they be “left standing for the time being in the midst of the stream”
while the two of them addressed issues that seemed more yielding.®

Particularly the United States sought to establish the identity of
Soviet and American interests against Germany. On March 1, Welles
passed on to Qumansky the forecast of Erwin Respondek of a pos-
sible German attack on the Soviet Union, qualified as it was. The
United States, he said, had authentic information “clearly indicating”
such an attack in the “not distant future.” The plan was, however,
contingent on “the extent to which England, supported by American
endeavor, will be able to oppose not only the military strength but
also the economic efforts of Germany.” The implication was that
Russia, by supplying Germany, was only bringing down on its own
head the force of German arms. Welles noticed, undoubtedly with
some satisfaction, that Oumansky “turned very white.”® On March
20 he gave Oumansky his Swedish information about German plans
for attack. On this occasion Welles also stressed the common interest
of the two nations in the maintenance of peace in the Pacific and the
territorial integrity and independence of China.%

Soviet apprehension over the German forward movement in the
Balkans beginning in March provided further opportunity of iden-
tifying common interests. The Soviet government expressed its dis-
pleasure on March 4 to the Bulgarian government for permitting
passage of German troops. On March 11 it publicly reaffirmed its
non-aggression pact with Turkey, and on March 26 the United States
publicly expressed satisfaction. Then on the eve of the Nazi attack
on Yugoslavia the Soviets signed a pact of friendship and non-aggres-
sion with that country.® In an authorized statement to Welles on
March 27, Oumansky agreed that when they came to an “unsur-
mountable obstacle” it should be left aside. “[M}any common
denominators,” he said, “can be found in the long-range policy of
both ... Governments.” On April 9, Welles noted for Oumansky the
identity of opinion of both governments regarding Yugoslavia, and
they agreed on how “profoundly disquieting” the German blitzkrieg
in the Balkans was. On April 18, OQumansky made what an American
official regarded as the “extremely interesting” comment that Amer-
ican attempts to influence Soviet policy by trade restrictions seemed
especially pointless since the two nations would “eventually be on
the same side anyway.”
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These were, however, hypothetical exercises. Stalin was determined
to avoid provoking Germany. His support for a Balkan front, like
the American, was only by gestures. In arriving at a pact of the most
limited nature with Japan, the Soviet Union undoubtedly hoped to
keep open the possibility of a rapprochement with the United States.
On April 18, Oumansky expressed Soviet satisfaction with Hull’s
statement that the significance of the pact could be overestimated
and assured an American official that it did not concern China at all.
However, the Soviets also counted on a Japanese move southward
and on rival Japanese and American “imperialisms” to protect Rus-
sia’s back door in Asia while it faced the threat from Germany.”

With German divisions whipping through the Balkans, Stalin’s
attitude toward Germany became positively supine. After signature
of the neutrality pact, he took the extraordinary step of going to the
station himself to send off the Matsuoka party. Amid much boozy
merriment and bear-hugging, Stalin threw his arm around the shoul-
ders of the German ambassador, Count von der Schulenberg, and

said, “We must remain friends ... ,” and to the German military
attaché, clasping both hands of that surprised officer, “friends—in
any event,"®

The sharpened danger presented by the Soviet-Japanese Pact made
it all the more important to maintain existing deterrence in the
Pacific. Almost as important was to avoid any seeming weakening as
diplomatic conversations with Japan began. On April 17, Roosevelt
decided to postpone the transfer of warships from the Pacific except
for the carrier Yorktown and five destroyers. With these ships the
president could at least sustain the carrier searches east of Bermuda,
as he had promised Churchill, and the patrols into the Africa-Brazil
gap.” Postponement of the Pacific reinforcement, did, however, force
Roosevelt to restrict his plans for the Atlantic. On the weekend of
April 19-21, Admiral King worked with the president at Hyde Park
to revise patrol plans. The result was Western Hemisphere Defense
Plan Two, which was the same as Plan One except that use of force
in proximity to American territory was denied. With only two bat-
tleships available now, patrols northward toward Iceland would be
few and far between, and, as Roosevelt confessed to Stimson, not
much help to the British. But for now he simply could not risk war
in the Atlantic, nor weaken deterrence in the Pacific. Using Admiral
King’s words, the president said he simply did not have enough but-
ter to cover the bread.”



Chapter 3

May
Guarding the Atlantic Line

At dawn on April 6 the German army burst from Bulgaria into
Yugoslavia and Greece, preceded by air attacks that destroyed the
command and communication center of the Yugoslav army in Bel-
grade and 41,000 tons of shipping at Piraeus. This was blitzkrieg in
its most stunning form carried on by fast, powerful, elite units—no
less than six armored divisions, the Adolf Hitler and Das Reich SS
Divisions, two other motorized divisions, and two mountain divi-
sions—besides infantry. Checked briefly here and there by stout
defense or shortage of gas, the Panzer columns probed, circled and
punched, then gathered speed as the will to resist dissolved. Arrack-
ing April 6, 8, and 10 from southeast, north, and northwest, the Ger-
mans captured Belgrade on Easter Sunday, April 13, and the next day
began pulling forces out of the Balkans. Two right hooks through
the southern tip of Yugoslavia, wheeling southward into Greece
through the Vardar Valley and the Monastir gap, captured Salonika
and uncovered the left flank of the British-Greek defenses before
Mount QOlympus. By April 16 the British were in full retreat across
the plains of Thessaly. Qutflanked every time they stopped to form
a line of defense, they withdrew from Greece across beaches in the
south in the last days of April. But Hitler had victory in the palm of
his hand in scarcely more than a week of fighting.'

April and May was a time of disaster for Britrain, not just in the
Balkans but in the Middle East as well. On March 31 at Mersa Brega,
where the coastline of Libya turns from a southerly direction, leaving
Cyrenaica, to a westerly one toward Tripoli, a single German division
under General Erwin Rommel had tested British defenses, pressed
forward and by April 3 so disorganized the British desert force that
it began a harried retreat all the way back to the Egyptian border,
leaving behind a besieged Tobruk. On April 3 at the other end of
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the Middle East, in Baghdad, a coup brought to power Rashid Ali el-
Gailani and a junta of anti-British, pro-Axis Iraqi army officers who
called themselves the Golden Square. Desperate for troops, the Brit-
ish rushed forces from India to Basra, but before they arrived Iraqi
insurgents surrounded the principal British base and airfield in Iraq
at Habbaniya. By the second week of May, German planes were stop-
ping in Vichy-held Syria en route to Iraq with supplies for Rashid
Ali. Meanwhile mines dropped from airplanes interrupted traffic in
the Suez Canal. Everywhere, from the Danube to the Euphrates, Tri-
politania to Egypt, German power advanced; everywhere British
forces were encircled, routed, or held at bay.

The shadow of the German army raced ahead of it. At a time when
Rommel had one division and another moving up, the American
embassy in Rome, struck by the number of troops and sand-colored
tanks embarking at Naples, estimated twenty-five German divisions
in Africa and another ten ready to go, with 2,000 tanks and 2,000
more to come.” The tendency was to exaggerate, both regarding Ger-
man intentions and capabilities. Indeed the mood verged on panic.
American ofhcials in the region foresaw a German drive on Cairo,
possibly by a deep encirclement through the desert to the Nile.” In
that event and unless British tank and aircraft reinforcements arrived
in time, warned the military attaché in Cairo, a disaster was “almost
inevitable.”™ Americans in Cairo were warned to leave if possible;
British children, it was said, were quietly being sent to Turkey. In
Washington the navy’s War Plans Division began considering the
strategic consequences of a British defeat in Egypt and withdrawal of
the Mediterranean fleet. From London came warning of a coordi-
nated German attack on Suez and Japanese attack on Singapore.
Brigadier General Miles, chief of American army intelligence, con-
cluded that the principal theater of German operations would now
be the Mediterranean.?

Observers saw the drive on Suez as one claw of a vast German
pincer movement, the other claw striking through the northern tier
of the Middle East— Turkey, Iraq, and Iran—toward India, possibly
in cooperation with the Japanese. Strengthening that view was Ger-
man assistance to the revolt in Irag. It would not be unlike Germany,
of course, to blackmail Turkey or Russia into permitting passage of
German troops into the further reaches of the Middle East.

Washington felt growing discouragement with British military per-
formance. So extensive and stinging was criticism among military
intelligence officers that Stimson complained to Marshall. He consid-
ered them too admiring of German efficiency. The safety of the
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United States, he pointed out, depended on the British fleet, which
in turn depended on the preservation of the Churchill government
“and the life of the promise made by Churchill last summer to keep
the fleet at all odds. .. .” However, even the president was troubled by
the British retreart in the desert. Symbolic of this nadir of ill fortune,
this “torment of mankind,” as Churchill put it that month, was the
wrecking of the House of Commons by German bombs on May 11.°

Germany was a “military colossus” of immeasurable capabilities.
General Sir John Dill) chief of the Imperial General Staff, believed
nothing could “prevent the Germans from going anywhere they wish
on the Continent, and this might include overrunning the Russian
Caucasus.” Ambassador William Phillips in Rome was impressed with
how smoothly the Germans moved troops and matériel to Africa: it
took only one hour to empty a ship, “and during that hour not one
order was given by word of mouth!” The seemingly effortless and
crushing German blitz in the Balkans was mesmerizing. Admiral
Leahy noted “bitter gloom” at Vichy. Because of the rapidity of the
German advances, he wrote, French hopes of a British victory had
sunk to their lowest since the armistice of 1940. The Spanish press
featured speeches by Charles Lindbergh, indicating the popularity of
coming to terms with “conquerors,” according to the American
embassy at Madrid. The Swedes seemed less inclined than a month
earlier to resist German demands to join the Axis’” A sense of
impending German triumph gripped Europe. No evidence existed of
American intervention in time.

In fact, the German army, so many ways impressive, was by no
means superhuman and faultless. German capabilities were not
unlimited. Hitler had large but sequential goals for 1941. Neverthe-
less, to the world he seemed headed anywhere and everywhere.

Overshadowing speculation about German designs in the Middle
East were multiplying signs of a German atrack on the Soviet Union.
As snows melted and the campaign season approached, talk of war
in the East intensified. The New York Times took up the possibility
on three occasions in the first half of May. The London Times on
April 20 noted Churchill’s hint of German designs on “the granary
of the Ukraine and the oilfields of the Caucasus.” That prediction, it
claimed, was confirmed by many sources in central Europe. Germany,
reported the Times, was sending a “great army to the Russian fron-
tier” “Trainloads of infantry and artillery equipment are rolling east-
ward.” Factories were producing railway cars with the Russian gauge.
Forced labor gangs were building roads and air bases near the fron-
tier. Hitler, it was said in the London Times on May 4, would march
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because he required the resources of Russia and knew he could not
obtain world domir.on “without first {consolidating} ... his Euro-
pean congquests.”

By mid-May it was clear from reports of American military
attachés that Germany was gathering sufficient force for an attack on
Russia. The attaché in Berlin placed most armored divisions in the
east. Germany was training administrators for Russia, printing
money for use in Russia, conducting aerial reconnaissance of the bor-
der, building military hospitals, and setting up army group com-
mands. The illustrious Field Marshal Gerd von Runstedt was taking
a command in the east.?

Indeed, by May preparations were impossible to disguise, for by
then 300 trains a day moved eastward. German military basing in
Rumania, noted the attaché in Bucharest, was aimed eastward toward
Russia, not southward toward the Balkans. Motorized columns were
“wending their way ... covertly by night” toward Moldavia and the
Russian frontier. Trains passed due eastward from Hungary through
Cluj rather than southeastward toward Bulgaria. After the Balkan
blitz, attachés noted heavy traffic northwestward, especially by
armored and motorized divisions, through Budapest and Vienna and
then northeastward through Czechoslovakia to southern Poland.
German mechanized forces were passing through the key Czech rail-
road junction of Bratislava night and day toward the Russian border.’

American estimates of the number of German divisions arrayed
against the Soviet Union were close to the mark. The military attaché
in Berlin arrived at a total of 89 on April 17, excluding Rumania; on
May 1 there were in fact 103, including that sector. He estimated 120
on May 23, the number reached on May 20. The Russian military
attaché in Berlin put the number somewhat higher. On April 21 he
doubted an immediate attack, but confessed to his American coun-
terpart that “all indications point to such an attack.”®

Impressive as the evidence was of a forthcoming attack, most
observers found it hard to believe that one would occur. The idea of
an invasion of Britain died hard. At the end of April the American
assistant military attaché in Berlin doubted that Germany had the
means to invade Britain and “deduced” that its objective was to
destroy Russia so as to dominate Europe and open the way to an
attack on the empire as a means of destroying Britain at home. Yet
in flat contradiction to this logic he concluded that Germany’s likely
course of action was to pursue these objectives in reverse order with
an invasion of Britain first. At the same time, in Washington, Gen-
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eral Miles was backing away from his Mediterranean emphasis and
insisting that the British Isles was still the “decisive theater.”"

The Berlin attaché offered a clue to this curious reasoning in a
report of late March. Ordinarily, he said, the large percentage of Ger-
man forces in the east would lead to the conclusion that an attack
would occur in that direction, but forces facing England were still as
large as could be used effectively, and air units had not been trans-
ferred to the east. “The most dangerous capability,” he concluded, “is
the ... one against England, and no serious error could be made by
taking this stand and having Germany prosecute the ... capability
against Russia.” Since transfer of air units only became noticeable in
late May, it is likely that this reasoning persisted."

An invasion of Britain seemed more likely too because foreign
observers tended to exaggerate the size of the German army. Both
the Russian and American attachés estimated that the Germans had
between 250 and 270 divisions, where in fact they fielded only 208.
While estimates of divisions in the east were close to the mark, those
elsewhere, as in France and the Low Countries, tended to be high,
and German intelligence undoubtedly encouraged such exaggera-
tion.” Invasion of Britain seemed the more plausible because of
reports from London that reflected the British army's insistence, at
least through May, that invasion was coming. General Sir John Dill,
for whom the Americans had a high regard, thought it would occur
about July 1. Of course, without massive preparations at the Channel
ports, chances dwindled as the spring progressed, but for the first part
of May at least, the cross-Channel attack possibility further confused
the American picture of German intentions.'

While the buildup in the east was proceeding at a moderate rate,
stories that this was to protect Germany’s rear for the invasion of
Britain or that these were troops training for that invasion or pre-
paring for Balkan operations had some utility for German intelli-
gence. By April, however, a new cover scheme was needed. Now the
notion was encouraged that the military concentration was for the
purpose of cowing Russia into making concessions.

Of course the idea of a German-Soviet settlement was not unfa-
miliar: the Ribbentrop-Molotov pact and subsequent trade agree-
ments, the most recent just in January, provided historical perspec-
tive, as did the more distant Rapallo period of cooperation in the
1920s. Dictators and totalitarian regimes were expected to make
unscrupulous bargains. Nothing had occurred in the Welles-Oum-
ansky talks to provide American officials with a more favorable view,
and the Soviet-Japanese Pact was hardly encouraging. Stalin, Ambas-
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sador Steinhardt reported May 5, had told one Soviet official that he
expected, rather than war, satisfactory negotiations with Germany.
Undoubtedly rumors that Germany intended to secure an enforced
diplomatic outcome took root in the diplomatic corps of Moscow
and Berlin like a weed in wet and fertile soil, an idea that German
intelligence cultivated.”

Chargé Morris in Berlin took the bait, but he was by no means
unique. He felt “impelled” to report on April 13 the revival of talk
that Germany would soon attack Russia, however lacking in good
authority and logic such reports were. But these rumors, he argued,
were “a deliberate attempt ... to arouse the apprehension of Russia
and make it more amenable to Axis demands for supplies....” These
were planted stories to impress Russia or divert it from German
designs in the Mediterranean. In May he noted a stream of reports
that German preparations were the “spearhead” of diplomatic and
military pressure designed to encourage Russian trade concessions.
On May 13, Morris cabled that informants of the highest authority,
including one with access to Goering, told him that preparations for
invasion of Russia were complete, that an ultimatum would shortly
be presented demanding control of the Ukraine and the Baku oil-
fields, and that Russian refusal would lead to invasion within a fort-
night. He regarded this information with reserve, but for lack of con-
trary reports, the ultimatum thesis held sway.'

Uncertainty over German intentions is manifest in the cables from
the American embassy in Moscow. On the one hand Ambassador
Steinhardt made plans for evacuation of his staff in case of the Ger-
man bombing of Moscow, while on the other he relayed reports indi-
cating Germany would merely brandish the sword and demand
concessions and that the Soviets would yvield. The Soviets had their
limits, but Steinhardt expected Count von der Schulenberg to keep
German demands within reason.'” The comings and goings of Schu-
lenberg and the Russian ambassador in Berlin were closely watched
for signs of negotiations.

Reports from other American embassies in Europe had the same
purport: that the situation in the Ukraine would be settled by June,
by force if necessary; that the Germans were seeking joint exploita-
tion of the Ukraine, Don basin, and Caucasus; that the concentra-
tions were for intimidation and that the Soviets would succumb. An
intercepted message from the Japanese ambassador in Berlin argued
that Stalin’s assumption of the chairmanship of the Council of Peo-
ple’'s Commissars arose from the need to make great concessions to
Germany. “Stalin and Company” would have to be dealt with even-
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tually, a German official release for press guidance stated, but “pres-
sure is being exerted to feel out sentiment toward first settling with
the Bolsheviks.”® American diplomatic reports reflected just this sort
of inspired confusion.

Meanwhile fears of a German drive to the southwest through the
Iberian peninsula to northwest Africa and the Atlantic islands had
by no means receded. Though Hitler had been keenly interested
the previous September in German navy plans for seizure of the
Canaries, Cape Verdes, and the Azores (he called the Azores the
“turntable of the Atlantic”), his mind and Germany’s resources were
now concentrated on the forthcoming Russian campaign. Even so,
the Germans were happy to have the British and Americans preoc-
cupied with grim expectations in wrong directions, so the sinister
rumors of early spring continued to flow. More was heard about
troop concentrations at the Pyrenees, German “tourists” entering
Spain, Franco conceding German troop transit, and Spain and Por-
tugal joining the Axis."”

These fears applied especially to the Atlantic islands. The Por-
tugese garrison on Terceira in the Azores numbered a mere 5,400
with no artillery. Fayal was protected by four renovated six-inch can-
non vintage 1898.2° Whichever was at the forefront of American con-
cern— Tangier, Tetuan, Madrid, Lisbon, or the islands—resources on
the spot seemed hopelessly weak and ineffectual. Another Norway
seemed quite possible, Germany using already infiltrated agents,
small forces in innocent-looking freighters, and airborne attack.
Intimidation, fifth columns, and parachute troops would make short
work of local defenses.

The Norway model of German infiltration and seizure applied as
well to French North Africa. In April the Germans secured permis-
sion from Vichy to send an additional 130-140 officers and men, for
a total of 200, to supervise the 1940 armistice in French North Africa.
Washington immediately warned Vichy this was a violation of the
Murphy-Weygand accord, the post-armistice Franco-American
understanding about North Africa. Also at hand was a British report
that German civilians suspected of being mechanics were infiltrating
into French Morocco to take over French armored vehicles “when
the zero hour comes.” Another British report, proven false, had U-
boats already basing on Dakar and using French planes for spotting
convoys.”' The British seemed to be vying with the Germans in
arousing American security concerns regarding this region, and
aroused the Americans became.
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The most dramatic confirmation of apparent German designs on
Africa was pressure on Vichy through May for concessions in Africa
and the Middle East, culminating in the Paris Protocols of May 27-
28, 1941 —described by Time as the “second fall of France.” The final
agreement was not precisely a capitulation. It did not provide Ger-
many immediate rights to the use of Dakar, the point of greatest
American concern. That concession would come into effect after July
15 and depended on German allowance of reinforcements and pro-
vision of supplies for the French army in North Africa. But the agree-
ment fully reflected the collaborationist inclination of Admiral Jean
Francois Darlan and the weakness of Pétain, for it stipulated that
Vichy supply trucks to Rommel’s army and in Syria support German
efforts to sustain the revolt in Iraq.”? If France had not yet arrived at
the point where the worst American fears were realized, during May
it was definitely headed in that direction.

The State Department and the president were increasingly con-
cerned about these German pressures toward the southwest. On
April 30, Hull instructed Ambassador Alexander W. Weddell in
Madrid to see Franco alone and promise a broadening of trade, sug-
gesting as a beginning the exchange of olive oil for peanut oil and
perhaps 200,000 tons of wheat. Here was an inducement for Franco
to resist demands for troop passage. The same day Hull directed
Admiral Leahy to see Pétain alone, express American concern over
German pressure for concessions in North Africa, troop transit
across unoccupied France, and collaboration if not participation in
the war, and offer two shiploads of food, provided of course France
rejected collaboration. The Marshal gave satisfactory assurances,
mentioning, however, that Darlan was then in Paris for consultation
with the Germans. Roosevelt himself responded, specifically restating
the French assurances, and the gloom lifted momentarily.”

Then on May 12 came most disturbing news. Pétain was said to be
deeply depressed over decisions he would have to make in the next
several days. The Germans apparently had made broad demands at
Paris. The following day when Leahy saw the Marshal, though not
alone this time, he met ominous words. Pétain assured Leahy only
that he would not “give any voluntary active military aid to Ger-
many,” with emphasis on the word “voluntary.” In response to Lea-
hy’s assertion that the United States was sure to defeat Germany in
the end, the aged leader expressed “great skepticism.” Clearly, said
Leahy, the trend of French policy was toward collaboration. He fore-
saw no further serious French resistance to German demands. Admi-
ral Darlan was making the all-too-familiar pilgrimage to Berchtesga-
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den. Afterwards, diplomatic circles expected a Hitler-Stalin meeting,
the New York Times reported, to complete the economic reorganiza-
tion of an Axis-dominated Europe.*

As of May 14 the American government was entirely confused
about German intentions. Depending on whom one asked, Hitler
might be sending his army in any one or two of four directions. It
was confused partly because of German tactics of deception and
partly because the German army, especially just then, seemed capable
of almost anything. Intelligence assessments tend to reflect the course
of action most feared: the British army, for example, still clung to its
belief in a German cross-Channel attack.”” The American army felt
most vulnerable from a German drive through Spain toward the
Atlantic islands and the African coast of the Atlantic. These were on
Hitler's agenda, but only after the Russian campaign. Not knowing
this, Roosevelt and his advisers concentrated on guarding the
Atlantic.

A warming sun and blossoming cherry trees did not raise spirits
in Washington that spring. In the case of President Roosevelt, the
disheartening news and confusing intelligence from Europe arrived
with a debilitating series of colds and bouts with flu, worsened by
iron deficiency anemia from bleeding hemorrhoids. For days at a time
in May and June he was in bed. Harry Hopkins or “Missy,” Mar-
guerite LeHand, his secretary, kept him company for dinner; an occa-
sional adviser was allowed to lunch. April 24 he saw former ambas-
sador William Bullitt, who made allegations of homosexuality against
Sumner Welles. Roosevelt acknowledged that there was some truth
in the charges, according to Bullitt, but explained that Welles’ use-
fulness at State outweighed the security risk. Bullitt persisted, warn-
ing he could not accept further assignment so long as Welles
remained, and the president abruptly terminated the meeting, saying
to his military aide, General Watson, “Pa, I don'’t feel well. Please can-
cel all my appointments for the rest of the day.” Mostly, according to
LeHand, Roosevelt was suffering from exasperation.”® The heart of
the problem was that, faced with large and uncertain threats, he had
totally inadequate military forces and was unsure what to do.

The Atlantic Fleet began patrolling under Western Hemisphere
Defense Plan Two in the last week of April, but much more thinly
than originally planned since most of the reinforcement from the
Pacific had been postponed. The heavy cruisers Wichita and Tusca-
loosa departed from Newport, Rhode Island, on April 26 for a three-
week patrol, and the battleship Texas sailed May 5, but with the New
York and Arkansas under overhaul, the next patrol was not scheduled
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until May 23. The Stars and Stripes would rarely be seen near the
convoy routes at this rate. The carrier Wasp departed April 26 on a
two-week cruise toward the Azores. The Ranger followed on May 9,
and the Wasp was due again on May 21. The first cruise of the York-
town, the only large ship so far transferred from the Pacific, would
not begin until May 31, when the Ranger went into dock for over-
haul. The great wedge of ocean assigned the carriers, lying between
Bermuda, the Azores, and a point midway between the Antilles and
the Cape Verdes, was largely untended. The portion of it where Ger-
man supply ships were most likely to be waiting approached a mil-
lion square miles in size. Further south, the first cruise into the gap
between Africa and Brazil was scheduled for the Milwaukee, departing
May 20 The current ability of the fleet to spot raiders and their
supply ships in the Atlantic was negligible, to say nothing of dis-
playing force and covering landings.

These searches fell far short of what Churchill wanted. April 24 he
asked for air reconnaissance south and east of Greenland, where U-
boats were now hunting, and off Newfoundland, where raiders had
found good pickings. He especially wanted planes from the American
carriers to provide air search ahead of the convoys moving north-
ward past the Azores and Cape Verdes. The British were prepared to
send expeditions to hold these islands and prevent German capture
but feared a surprise seizure before their own troops arrived. An
American naval squadron roving the area might not only provide
air search but also warn the Germans off and, as Churchill put it,
“keep the place warm for us.””® As it was, however, a carrier would be
in the area only one or two days in every ten.

The army and its air force were even less ready. Only one army
division, the 1st Infantry, was adequately trained and equipped for
combat. War Department planners could list two divisions as due by
May, four by July and seven by September but the actual state of
training and equipping usually lagged far behind estimates. The 1st
Marine Division was also a ready force, but its strength as late as
November 30, 1941, was less than 10,000 men. The army air force
possessed—overseas and at home, Atlantic and Pacific—53 heavy
bombers, 91 medium bombers, 92 light bombers, and 327 fighters.
The Germans by contrast were readying over 2,700 planes for the
attack on Russia.”? The military weakness, if not nakedness, of the
United States was temporary. Vast forces were in process of forma-
tion. But for Franklin D. Roosevelt in May 1941 the cupboard was
almost bare.
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At this time the president had a dream which vividly portrayed
the frightening circumstances facing him: with German planes
threatening New York City he took refuge at Hyde Park in a bomb-
proof cave provided by the Secret Service 200 feet under the Hudson
cliffs, where he stayed until a German squadron passed over and
departed.”

The one military force available to ease American security con-
cerns on the Atlantic was the Pacific Fleet, and intense debate per-
sisted from April into June at the highest levels over moving a por-
tion of that fleet to the Atlantic, whether the postponed ABC-I
reinforcement or more.

At times the Atdantic and Pacific fleets seemed like different navies.
The latter had power and symmetry: twelve battleships, three carriers,
three divisions (four each) of heavy cruisers, three divisions of light
cruisers, and fifty destroyers. Though the fleet rarely anchored,
steamed, or docked all together in one mighty spectacle, it operated
from one base, Pear] Harbor, and the double row of battleships along-
side Ford Island, the strings of destroyers in East Loch, and the loom-
ing carriers Lexington and Saratoga were familiar sights from the main
highway skirting the harbor. To a visiting British naval observer, the
sight was “magnificent,””

The Atlantic Fleet on the other hand split into task forces in
March and used several bases; its center of gravity was moving north-
ward from Norfolk to Newport, but its missions were widely scattered
and its presence no more palpable than an Atlantic fog. It was a
“can-do,” catch-up fleet, always short of ships, men, and equipment,
improvising, straining toward war readiness. The Pacific Fleet was
undergoing intensive training but operated in a more traditional,
peacetime, and theoretical mode, as if preparing for a Jutland. Pearl
Harbor was a scene of gleaming brass, starched white, and gold braid,
of perfumed air and sunny seas. The Atlantic more often was gray
and cold and hostile.

Royal Navy critics believed that, impressive as the fleet at Pearl
Harbor was, the Americans had “no real idea what to do with it.” Its
principal function of course was to deter Japanese southward expan-
sion, rather by its “mere existence” than by its actions. The fleet was
not judged ready to display its strength in the direction of Japan or
the islands in the central Pacific held by Japan under mandate from
the League of Nations, and it was in any case on a short leash because
of the greater strategic importance of European threats. The effect, so
far as critics were concerned, was “strategic localization” if not paral-
ysis of the fleet. If the navy had no wider scheme in mind than a
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“containing effect” on Japan, then it seemed reasonable to examine
precisely how many ships, in particular battleships, still the standard
measure of naval power, would be minimally necessary to produce
that effect.”

Leading the charge for moving a major portion, say a half, of the
Pacific Fleet to the Atlantic was Secretary Stimson. Impatient that
spring with what he regarded as the dilatory and dissembling meth-
ods of the president, and increasingly apprehensive over British
defeats and losses, the secretary of war believed the United States
must intervene and soon. The American people in his judgment
were waiting to be led. Bold, straightforward action moving a big part
of the fleet against Germany would serve as a catalyst for American
opinion. Sharing these views were former Rough Rider Frank Knox,
who insisted the navy could clean up the Atlantic in thirty days if
let loose, and General Marshall, who claimed the army air force could
protect Hawaii if the fleet were withdrawn. Admiral Stark wanted a
transfer but would limit it to the vessels already planned.

Stubbornly opposed was Secretary Hull, who saw the transfer not
only as an encouragement to Japanese militarists but also as a weak-
ening of his hand in the talks with Ambassador Nomura. Aligned
with Hull was the president, who argued against Stimson that the
fleet at Hawaii had always served as a potential striking force which
“by its mere presence there” protected the southwest Pacific and
Southeast Asia. Shifting it to the Atlantic would convert it to a
defensive force. Stimson responded that Japan was more likely to be
deterred by demonstrated American resoluteness on the Atlantic
than by the current passivity on the Pacific.”®

With Hull earnestly seeking delay, at least until the Japanese
response to the diplomatic initiative of April 14-16 arrived, Roose-
velt procrastinated. He asked the navy to find out British views on
how much of the Pacific Fleet to shift. Should the United States, the
British were asked, transfer three battleships, four light cruisers, and
two destroyer squadrons as originally planned or more? If Axis pres-
sure forced the British fleet out of the Mediterranean, where would
it go? If it retired eastward to the Indian Ocean or Singapore, would
it be desirable to fill the gap by American transfers from the Pacific?
Knox and Stimson sounded out the British on their own, Knox sug-
gesting, as London understood him, the transfer of all three Pacific
carriers.”

The British response was heavily conditioned. Transfer in the orig-
inal number planned was a good idea, and more too, if its Mediter-
ranean fleet retired to the Indian Ocean, but not if Suez were blocked
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and it came into the Atdantic. Deterrence of Japan required either
two fleets of six battleships each at Singapore and Pearl Harbor or
one of nine. However, Britain could not transfer ships to Singapore
unless the United States assumed belligerency in the Atlantic, so for
the time being the deterrent function must be performed by the
Americans and the Pearl Harbor fleet could be reduced only by the
amount of the planned transfer, that is from twelve to nine
battleships.*

The American admirals were more impressed with this exercise in
classical naval logic than Stimson, who persevered for a larger shift,
and than Churchill, who was horrified that the Royal Navy had dis-
couraged sending more of the Pacific Fleet. So in this curious trans-
national dialogue these two Atlantic interventionists agreed upon a
maximum transfer, the two navies on a minimum transfer, and the
two foreign offices (at least their Far Eastern experts) on none at all,
fearing encouragement of Japan. Churchill took the matter to the
War Cabinet on May 1 and after consultation with New Zealand and
Australia advised Washington on May 8 that “any marked advance
by the United States Navy in or into the Atlantic” was more likely
to deter Japan than maintenance of “the present very large” fleet at
Hawaii, but nevertheless that the “force left behind” must include
carriers and “impose the most effective possible deterrent upon
Japan.” The American problem, the British government concluded
with a most thoughtfully considered blend of encouragement and
reserve, “is so nicely to judge the degree of transfer that while still
retaining the deterrent effect of a strong ... {fleet} in the Pacific, there
will also be the deterrent effect of an increased ... {fleet} in the
Atlantic.”*

In early May a consensus was emerging to move the planned por-
tion of the Pacific Fleet, but Hull resisted. Stimson went after the ever
cautious secretary of state. He had what he considered the most seri-
ous talk ever with Hull; he had General Marshall make the case for
a shift to Norman Davis, veteran Democratic foreign policy adviser,
who could mediate with Hull; he worked on Dean Acheson, assistant
secretary of state, who arranged for Stimson to meet Hull again at the
State Department. By May 9, Hull seemed more amenable but still
anxious to postpone the transfer until he received a response from
the Japanese to the proposal he had wafted toward them on April
14'37

A Japanese response was slow in coming because Hull’s opposite
number in Tokyo, Foreign Minister Matsuoka, opposed the draft
agreement and was making every effort to sink it. Returning to



May: Guarding the Atlantic Line 71

Tokyo on April 22 from his giddy tour of European capitals, he was
unpleasantly surprised to learn that official discussions he had not
authorized had already begun. He eluded a liaison conference on the
subject by going to the palace to pay his respects to the emperor and
then sulked at home pleading illness. Matsuoka’s original idea had
been to work from a position of strength in the Axis alliance, accom-
modating the Soviets, toward a settlement with the United States that
recognized Japan’s leadership in East Asia. Ambassador Steinhardt
and Roy Howard, head of Associated Press, had given him reason to
believe he would be welcomed in Washington. Thus he would cap a
stage of forceful maneuver with a tour de force of peace-making. At
least this is what he seems to have dreamed. Reality now fell short.
For Matsuoka the project forwarded by Nomura was ill-timed and
only weakened the Axis. Success in dealing with America, he was
convinced, depended on firmness. An adjustment of relations with
the United States would be quite useless, he said, in fast-changing
circumstances which might require an attack on Singapore or on
Siberia—unnerving scenarios which led cabinet ministers to ques-
tion his sanity.*®

Though some like Matsuoka were suspicious, most Japanese offi-
cials believed Nomura had transmitted a proposal approved by the
American government and were surprised at how favorable the terms
were. The Japanese army and navy each viewed the matter in its own
way. The army’s great aims were to end the debilitating China war
and to secure resources in Southeast Asia required for sustaining and
protecting an autonomous empire in East Asia. It should be possible
to seize British and Dutch possessions without involving the United
States as long as the Americans were preoccupied on the Atlantic. To
the Japanese army the draft agreement seemed to promise an accept-
able resolution of the China imbroglio without destroying the Axis
alliance. The navy, convinced now of Anglo-American solidarity,
was more skeptical, suspecting, as one historian puts it, “that the
crafty Yankees sought to delay a clash with Japan until the naval
balance favored them.””’ ‘

Since both services needed time to prepare for the southern
advance, however, and gather in American oil and other strategic
goods, they agreed on the need to take up the opportunity for dis-
cussions. On May 3, Matsuoka, aware of his isolation and the need
for some response, agreed to offer the Americans a neutrality pact,
which on May 7 Hull brushed aside. Matsuoka also instructed
Nomura to present a statement warning that American intervention
in the European war would only prolong world suffering, since Ger-
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many and Japan were winning. This an embarrassed Nomura quickly
displayed and withdrew.” At the same time Matsuoka raised a more
serious impediment to the discussions by informing the German and
Italian ambassadors of the supposed American initiative.

The pressure on Hull for movement in the discussions he passed
on to Nomura, who conveyed it to Tokyo. American public interest
in escort of convoy was rising; the press speculated that the president
would announce a move in that direction in a speech scheduled for
Wednesday, May 14. On May 7, Hull told Nomura that all his col-
leagues were urging him to hasten discussions because the United
States must act immediately to stop Hitler. Nomura had never seen
Hull so fervent. The ambassador warned his government that in case
of war with Germany and Japan, the Americans planned to bide
their time in the Pacific until their “vast” navy and air force was com-
plete and then launch a “death struggle.” Those close to the president
regarded an improvement in relations wich Japan as desirable but not
vital. Nomura urged Tokyo therefore not to miss this favorable
opportunity.

Still no cable came back from Tokyo. Postmaster General Walker
told Nomura that he had asked Hull if diplomacy could have a little
more time, despite what Walker described as the decision of an
“urgently called secret cabinet meeting” on May 8. When Nomura
asked Hull if the president’s speech would include any reference to
the draft understanding, Hull “glowered” at him “fixedly.” Nomura
warned Tokyo of an “ever-stiffening” trend reflected in bellicose
speeches against Germany by Stimson, Knox, and Willkie. He must
have instructions at the very latest by May 9. The next day Hull
extended the deadline one day. Walker passed word on May 10 that
the president might change his Wednesday speech if discussions
started first. Meanwhile Tokyo finally responded, and Nomura saw
Hull at his apartment in the evening of Sunday, May 11.*

Hull’s difficulty in eliciting a Japanese response was compounded
by a ragged Japanese diplomatic performance. He could not always
understand what Nomura was saying and, in spite of speaking “very
clearly and slowly,” he could never be sure that Nomura fully under-
stood him. Furthermore, as was apparent from intercepts, the ambas-
sador was neither reporting fully Hull’s own statements nor convey-
ing all of Matsuoka’s. Translation from Japanese added to the
difficulty: those done by the embassy in Washington differed from
those done by the foreign ministry in Tokyo, necessitating substitu-
tions. Tokyo followed its redraft of the understanding with a stream



May: Guarding the Atlantic Line 73

of revisions.” Nevertheless, by Monday, May 12, Hull and his advis-
ers had a clear picture of the Japanese position, and it was very stiff.

The May 12 document was more rigorous in regard to American
participation in the European war. In the original draft understand-
ing Japan’s Axis obligation would come into force only if the United
States “aggressively attacked” Germany; the May 12 draft permitted
no such distinction. The earlier draft obliged the United States to
refrain from alliance with Britain, the later one precluded even
“aggressive measures” of assistance (such as Lend-Lease). The April
draft set harsh terms for ending the war in China: coalescence of the
Nationalist government and the Nanking puppet regime, recogni-
tion of Manchukuo, joint defense against communism {meaning the
stationing of Japanese troops in China), and withholding of Ameri-
can assistance to China if Chiang rejected negotiation. The May
draft was even motre sweeping: it pledged the United States to seek
peace in China according to Japan's own publicly stated terms. The
Japanese draft discarded a stipulation in the April draft that the two
nations would avoid menacing deployments of their naval and air
forces and weakened a Japanese pledge of peaceful intent in the
southwest Pacific area. As Matsuoka explained to Nomura, and as the
Americans learned through MAGIC May 13, much as Japan wished
for peaceful settlements, Prince Konoe and he found it necessary at
times to resort to force.” These were not encouraging signs.

By Tuesday, May 13, President Roosevelt was in a position to
decide whether to move the fleet and how much of it to move. The
Japanese by responding to the April diplomatic initiative had indi-
cated an interest in discussions which could be encouraged so as to
postpone a military move southward; yet Japan’s terms were so severe
that no agreement was in sight. In these circumstances removal of a
portion of the fleet from Pearl Harbor was less likely to precipitate a
Japanese advance or influence bargaining. The East Asian constraints
on a transfer thus slackened. At the same time, deterrence of Japan
would be weakened if the United States moved too many battleships
while the British were unable to form their own fleet at Singapore.
Moving three battleships seemed fairly safe; six would be too risky.
On the other hand some transfer seemed imperative, given German
menace generally and current pressure on Vichy and particularly
indications Vichy was bowing. On May 13, Roosevelt ordered the
transfer of three battleships, four light cruisers, and thirteen more
destroyers.*

The transferred battleships Idaho, New Mexico, and Mississippi
departed secretly, simply disappearing over the horizon during
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maneuvers, and they passed through the Panama Canal at night. Jap-
anese agents in Panama noted the transit of some of the ships, and
Tokyo was bound to learn of the absence of the rest in time. Never-
theless the secrecy of the withdrawal suggests how concerned the
Americans were to maintain deterrence. Hull vetoed any mention of
the transfer in the forthcoming presidential speech.”

For the next month and more, Stimson agitated for moving
another quarter of the fleet but without success. The British were of
two minds about further transfers. In Churchill’s view any and all
movement by the Americans into the Atlantic was welcome, but the
Rovyal Navy was dubious. American battleships operating under the
constraints of neutrality in the Atlantic were no substitute for Amer-
ican battleships deterring Japan in the Pacific. Damage to three Brit-
ish battleships in the attack on Crete at the end of May made it
impossible to contemplate an Eastern fleet before August. The Admi-
ralty even encouraged the assignment of the two new battleships
Washington and North Carolina, just then commissioning at New
York and Philadelphia, to the Pacific. An American navy raised on
the Mahanite doctrine of fleet concentration would not lightly con-
sider further reduction of the main fleet at Pearl Harbor. As it was,
the only sixteen-inch-gun battleships in that fleet—the Colorado,
Maryland, and West Virginia—were to be withdrawn one at a time for
reconditioning, leaving only eight battleships at Pearl Harbor. At the
White House on June 9 a worried Admiral Husband Kimmel, com-
mander of the Pacific Fleet, gained the clear impression that Roose-
velt would transfer no more ships. The location of the pair of new
battleships would be decided when they were ready.*®

More active employment of the fleet had been considered. In
April, Roosevelt suggested a display of force in the North Pacific to
impress on the Japanese the vulnerability of their home islands to air
attack, and Admiral Stark developed a plan for dispatching a carrier,
four heavy cruisers, and a destroyer squadron to the Aleutians for
maneuvers, possibly with a goodwill visit by the cruisers to Petropav-
lovsk as an added warning. But Japanese policy appeared unsettled,
so it was unclear whether a show of strength would accelerate a reces-
sion or reinforce an expansion.” Admiral Kimmel felt he had all he
could do just to train new recruits, most easily done in the Hawaiian
area. Stark urged Kimmel to plan raids on the mandated islands in
case of war, but recognized the fleet must adhere to the strategic
defensive. No reinforcement was planned for the Philippine garrison
nor augmentation of the Asiatic Fleet. The United States was pre-
pared to cooperate in developing defense plans for the southwest
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Pacific but not to provide the British or Dutch with guarantees. Lack-
ing such a commitment, the British could make no promises to the
Dutch. “We are dead set against any commitments in the area,” Colo-
nel Joseph T. McNarney of the Army Air Corps wrote on April 7.%¥

The United States had very little to show in the place of burly
warships as evidence of strength and determination in the Pacific.
When the three battleships departed, twenty-one B-17 bombers
arrived as partial replacement.” On April 14 the president licensed
export of all kinds of machinery and vegetable fibers, leaving only
oil unrestricted, but an oil embargo against Japan was still considered
too risky. The next day he authorized military pilots to resign from
their services to fly for China in a combat group that became known
as the Flying Tigers. He extended Lend-Lease to China on May 6,
hoping to dispel the gloom in Chungking cast by the Soviet-Japanese
Pact. He was considering the appointment of Owen Lattimore as his
personal representative to Chiang. It was hoped this China expert
could strengthen the united front with the communists and heighten
resistance to Japan.® Measures taken to check Japan were incremen-
tal and suggestive rather than definitive.

In these straitened circumstances a continuation of the Hull-
Nomura talks was better than an impasse or break. They offered no
real hope of success (Hull estimated one chance in ten) but little dis-
advantage. The talks might delay a Japanese advance and provide
time for a weakening of Matsuoka and a reconstellation of Japanese
internal forces. Meanwhile by way of MAGIC they provided insight
into Japanese intentions. Above all, they offered a way to drive a
wedge between Japan and its Axis partners. In pursuing this last
objective Hull enjoyed some success. American pressure forced
Nomura to deliver Japan's response on May 11 before Germany had
an opportunity, promised by Matsuoka, to comment on the project.
On this point Ribbentrop expressed intense displeasure. The United
States needed a “brutally frank demonstration,” Berlin warned, that
if it intervened in the war Japan would join in. If Japan could not
avoid negotiations, at least an American pledge not to enter the
European war and a clear Japanese reaffirmation of Axis alliance obli-
gations must be the core of any agreement. No small measure of such
German dissatisfaction came to American attention through inter-
cepts.’! Matsuoka, while stiffening the provisions, was not prepared
to show the Germans either the April draft or his response, so Berlin
was left in a stew.

The opposite side of the coin was considerable embarrassment to
Anglo-American relations when the British got wind of the Hull-
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Nomura talks. They probably learned of them from MAGIC, which
is how Stimson himself found out. Army intelligence was passing on
these decrypted and translated messages to the British by an arrange-
ment made the previous winter and approved by the president. A
“rumpus” ensued when State discovered the arrangement. In any
case, word of a private initiative to adjust Japanese-American rela-
tions appeared in the American press. The Canadian government,
acting on a report from its legation in Tokyo, inquired about the
talks on April 30.”* So the State Department should not have been
surprised when British Ambassador Lord Halifax raised the matter
with Welles on May 23 and complained to Hull the next day.

Halifax, presenting a message from Foreign Secretary Eden which
he had been instructed to then burn, noted that according to his
government’s information Germany and Italy had full reports of the
conversations. The facts as he understood them were that the United
States had initiated the talks, promising to take a purely defensive
attitude toward the European war in retutn for a similar Japanese
pledge regarding its Axis obligations, and that the United States
would bring pressure to bear on China to make peace with Japan.
Matsuoka was said to have assured Berlin that he would obtain Axis
agreement before reaching any accord and that no accord would
compromise the Axis. Eden believed Hull would want to know of
the Matsuoka “gyrations.” Hull was furious at the implication that he
had been taken in by the Japanese and had somehow betrayed the
British. He made, as he said, a “vigorous” denial. Foreign Office ofh-
cials suspected the tantrum came from a guilty conscience. They were
not unhappy to turn the tables on the State Department, which
never wearied of preaching against British appeasement of the
Japanese.

The trans-Atlantic squall died down May 27, when Halifax deliv-
ered a soothing message from Eden, and Hull gave assurances that no
common interest or principle was in jeopardy. One satisfaction the
Americans could take from the spreading word of Japanese-Ameri-
can talks was the “concern—even dismay” exhibited by Deputy
Soviet Foreign Minister Andrei Vishinsky.*®

Hull came nowhere near “boggy ground,” to use Halifax’s term. He
saw Nomura, more often now with assistants on both sides, every few
days for the rest of May. Rather than hand over a complete American
redraft promptly, one his Far Eastern experts were perfectly capable
of devising, he dragged out the talks by raising points of disagree-
ment for discussion and submitting redrafts of particular phrases and
paragraphs. He suggested language that would define as self-defense
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American action to protect supplies shipped to Britain and limit
Japan’s Axis obligation to the case of aggressive American attack. He
discussed at some length the problem posed by Japan's insistence on
retaining troops in China for defense against communism, suggesting
a phased withdrawal over the period of a year or so with troops in
certain strategic sectors moved last. And he tried out on Nomura var-
ious formulas committing Japan to peaceful courses of action in the
Southeast Asia region. Strewn along the way were warnings to
Nomura that the talks had not reached the stage of negotiation and
that all his remarks were unofficial and informal.’

As the talks proceeded the Americans laid more and more stress
on the issue of Japan’s relations with Germany. Not that other issues
were regarded as easier to resolve or less important. Rather what
preoccupied Hull was the supreme necessity of avoiding a two-front
war as the United States edged toward involvement on the Atlantic.
Partly, too, the conduct of Matsuoka focused attention on the issue.
Receiving Ambassador Grew on May 14, for the first time since his
return from abroad, Matsuoka lashed out at the American Atlantic
patrols and talk of escorting convoys. Hitler’s patience and “gener-
osity” were sorely tried he warned. If any incident occurred, America
would be the aggressor. The Axis alliance would come into play and
war ensue. The “manly, decent” course for the United States was “to
declare war openly on Germany instead of engaging in acts of war
under cover of neutrality.” The Japanese foreign minister’s rambling
and insulting language on this occasion, including speculation on his
own sanity, was not likely to enhance his standing in Washington,
but Matsuoka had his purposes: he showed the harsh language he
used on the Americans to the German ambassador in order to
recover ground with the Axis. This was his “brutally frank
demonstration.”™*

The Hull and Matsuoka tantrums illustrate the increasing difficulty
both Japan and the United States experienced in escaping their
European connections as they confronted their separate differences.
Now in his conversations with Nomura, Hull singled out Matsuoka
for criticism. The stormy foreign minister was himself appearing as
the main obstacle to progress; the talks were coming to be seen as a
means of weakening the pro-Axis camp in Japan.

The notion that relations with Japan would improve, or at least
remain tolerably bad, that issues could be set to rest for now and
addressed later if only the Axis connection were broken or weak-
ened, was mistaken. Japanese strategic policy was in process of critical
change in May and June 1941, moving away from cautious southern
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advance sheltered by forceful Matsuoka-style diplomacy toward
unabashed seizure of the western colonies in Southeast Asia not only
at the risk of war but even accepting the inevitability of war with
Britain and the United States. The wellsprings of Japanese aggression
lay not in the German connection or in radical young military offi-
cers, as had seemed the case in the early 1930s and as Americar: pol-
icymakers still tended to believe. The danger arose from the increas-
ing sway of staff officers of the Japanese navy who saw Japan ever
more encircled and depleted by the American-British-Dutch coali-
tion and who argued that Japan must strike out to secure the
resources, especially oil, upon which the greatness and security of
the nation and the existence of the navy depended.”® For the army
the situation still appeared more obscure, the choices consequently
less drastic, and the priority of interests somewhat different. Lacking
consensus both services prepared, waited, and looked abroad for
signs.

So did Washington, London, and Moscow. Never since Napoleon,
and this time on a world scale, had one nation so dominated the
currents of international life as Germany did now. In May 1941, Ber-
lin set the beat.

Lord Halifax, reporting his lunch with the president on May 2,
said his host expected American patrolling in the Atlantic to lead to
an incident, which would not be unwelcome. Roosevelt, noted the
British ambassador, spoke more freely than he had yet heard him
about being in the war. Interventionists such as Stimson gained a
similar impression and regretted the president’s disingenuousness.’”’
More likely his motive was simply to be encouraging. This is not to
suggest that Roosevelt framed his policy on avoiding an incident. He
was determined to take whatever steps were necessary to protect the
Atlantic even at the cost of war. Yet, to the extent that his purposes
were served without incident and war, he would gain precious time
for developing war potential, maintain broad public support, avoid
war with Japan, and follow his own aversion to taking any step until
he had the best possible sense of the consequences.

In May the president was in fact less concerned about a U-boat
incident than about German acquisition of Atlantic bases. His eyes
were on Dakar and the Azores. The vital question was how much
Admiral Darlan had conceded to Hitler at Berchtesgadan: Collabo-
ration in Syria? North Africa as well? Even delivering up the French
fleet? Some officials feared the worst. On May 14, Pétain was reported
to have stated on the radio that France “must collaborate with Ger-
many in Europe and Africa.” Sources expected the Germans to
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secure airfields and ports in Spain and Portugal and a submarine base
at Dakar; German shock troops were said to be moving into the Hen-
daye-Biarritz area close to Spain. The press was utterly pessimistic.
The Darlan accord, said the New York Times, meant that France had
turned its back on the United States and Britain: “Convinced that
Germany will win the war, {France} is ready to throw in her lot and
her colonial empire with Germany."”®

The crisis in Franco-American relations was swift and acute. Short-
wave broadcasts from Boston and Philadelphia heard across the
Atlantic claimed that the Germans were already in Dakar. Roosevelt
described Vichy as already “in a German cage.” He ordered the
Coast Guard to take custody of the dozen or so French ships in
American ports, including the huge and beautiful luxury liner Nor-
mandie. Pétain was to be told that his assurances of adhering to the
1940 armistice were meaningless. The president was apparently dis-
suaded from so strong a statement and instead warned in a short-
wave broadcast to the French people that Franco-German collabo-
ration might pose a threat to the United States and he appealed to
the French people to shun the Axis. Hull told the French ambassador
that the Darlan agreement gave the definite impression that Vichy
had “thrown itself into the lap of Germany.” Plans for shipment of
food to unoccupied France and for economic assistance to North
Africa came to an abrupt halt. Vichy responded with angry denials,
warning that she would defend “every inch of her empire” against
attack by Britain and the United States, Martinique and Dakar in
particular, indeed that she was adding guns to the defenses of Dakar.
That African port, according to the American consul there, was in a
state of “frantic hysterical intoxication” over the crisis.”

In cables of May 19 and 21, Robert Murphy, who was overseeing
American interests in North Africa, tried to calm American fears and
put the situation in perspective. General Weygand had assured him
that North Africa was not affected by the accords, that the Germans
had not infiltrated into Dakar or anywhere else in French North
Africa, that they were not likely to attack Gibraltar or Morocco
immediately, and that they had only two divisions in Libya. Murphy
found no evidence of German moves against Spanish or French ter-
ritory. A German drive to the southwest would depend on their suc-
cess in the eastern Mediterranean.”

“Leg over, leg over, the dog went to Dover”: Ambassador Mac-
Veagh had quoted the old refrain in March when the Germans were
still slogging through Bulgarian snowdrifts. Now it seemed they took
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the next-to-last step on their way to Suez: at 8:00 am., May 20, Ger-
man parachute and glider forces descended on the island of Crete,
200 miles from Africa and dominating the eastern Mediterranean.
Ultimately 22,000 German troops landed, opposing 32,000 British
and Commonwealth and 10,000 Greek soldiers. The allied forces,
however, were virtually bare of air defense. By the end of the second
day, after vicious fighting and severe losses, the Germans had secured
the island’s main airfield. On May 22 the British fleet, ordered into
the Kithera Channel between southernmost Greece and Crete to
destroy German seaborne invasion forces, suffered “the most severe
air bombing ... naval vessels have ever experienced” from some 700
German planes massed on nearby islands and the southern Pelopon-
nesus. German dive and torpedo bombers devastated the trapped
fleet. The carrier Formidable lost all but four planes.®

For Stimson, the shadow of Crete hung over everything. To Hull,
the situation seemed to be going “Hellward.” At State, the capture of
Suez was “just under the horizon.” This with rumors the Russians had
“succumbed” to German demands, suspicions that the French had
given up North Africa, and fears that Japan would now strike for the
oil of the Indies, indeed that the United States might soon be facing
the world alone, led to feelings of the utmost depression.”

On May 22 a British aircraft discovered that Germany's most pow-
erful battleship, the Bismarck, together with the cruiser Prinz Eugen,
had disappeared from their anchorage in a fiord south of Bergen,
Norway. The next day they were discovered hugging the ice edge of
Greenland nearing a breakout into the Atlantic. In one of the rare
capital ship engagements of the war, with shell splashes rising twice
the height of masts, the “simply gigantic” Bismarck, as a Royal Navy
observer described it, sank the battle cruiser Hood, damaged the bat-
tleship Prince of Wales, and, shaking off pursuers, vanished into the
Atlantic. On May 26 the British navy, moving in from all directions
with all available aircraft and warships, found the German battleship
again and the following day cornered it. British heavy shells had a
“frightful” effect: “Colossal flashes inside her ... and wretched men
running hither and thither on the deck but she would neither sur-
render nor sink.” Finally she was dispatched with two torpedoes.®

Watching the Bismarck fire at British aircraft off Greenland had
been the U.S. Coast Guard cutter Modoc. Bismarck crossed the path
of the American battleship patrol at its farthest extremity, but the
old Texas was nearing Newport, and its sister ship New York was just
departing. Undoubtedly cursing this bad luck, Churchill urged that
the Americans be asked to play a part in the search for Prinz Eugen
so as to provide the “incident for which the United States Govern-
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ment would be so thankful.” And in fact an American destroyer and
planes from Argentia searched the lower Davis Strait between Can-
ada and Greenland, and for a week the Wasp hung about a suspected
tanker rendezvous point midway between Bermuda and the Cape
Verdes. The Prinz Eugen made for France and arrived safely.®

The ever worsening position of the British in the Middle East was
a matter of grave concern to the American government both in terms
of strategic damage done and as evidence of a general weakening of
British morale with a corresponding effect on neutral nations and
subjugated peoples. This concern for British morale was reflected in
a Roosevelt message to Churchill on May 1 describing the interven-
tion in Greece as a “wholly justifiable delaying action,” extending
Axis and shortening British lines, though he found it necessary to
add, the undercurrent of concern showing, that he was sure the Brit-
ish would not allow any “great debacle or surrender.” In the last anal-
ysis, wrote the president, the control of the Indian Ocean and the
Atlantic would decide the war.

Churchill responded with one of the bleakest telegrams of their
correspondence. He reflected the profound pessimism of Whitehall.
Nothing in Roosevelt’s recent messages indicated an inclination to
intervene, and the British could not help but feel that, as one Foreign
Office official put it, “in their hearts the Americans expect us to be
defeated.” In his message the prime minister disagreed that the loss
of Egypt and the Middle East would be a “mere preliminary to the
successful maintenance of a prolonged oceanic war.” He could not be
sure such a loss would not be “grave” (in the original “mortal”), for
a war against an Axis system controlling Europe and most of Africa
and Asia was a daunting proposition. Unless the United States took
“more advanced positions now or very soon, the vast balances may
be tilted heavily to our disadvantage.” More precisely, said Churchill,
in absolute frankness, the one counterbalance to growing
pessimism in Europe and the Middle East would be American
belligerency.

In reply, May 10, Roosevelt assured Churchill that he had no
intention of minimizing either the gravity of the situation or the
worthiness of the British effort. But he reiterated with a slight change
his argument of May 1. No defeat in the Mediterranean, he said,
could destroy their mutual interests because the outcome of the war
would be decided on the Atlantic: “{Ul}nless Hitler can win there he
cannot win anywhere in the world in the end.”® Churchill could
hardly object to this reaffirmation of America’s predominant strategic
conception from which flowed Lend-Lease and patrolling, but he
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rnay have sensed that this was not all the president meant in dwelling
on the importance of the Atlantic. While Roosevelt unquestionably
considered the Atlantic vital as a bridge to Britain and ultimately the
conquest of Germany, he also regarded it as vital for protecting the
safety and existence of the United States in case of British defeat. It
is tempting to explain Roosevelt’s public emphasis on hemisphere
security in May as a rationalization for intervention in the Battle of
the Atlantic on more fundamental but publicly divisive grounds of
Anglo-American mutual interest. But it was not a ploy; briefly at this
low point in British fortunes but authentically and intensely, the
president focused on threats to the safety of the United States in a
most direct and visceral sense.

The question was how to prevent German seizure of the Atlantic
islands and Dakar, the bridgeheads for German access to the Amer-
icas. Crete was important as a demonstration that German power was
not landlocked, that it could with control of the air leap across nar-
row waters and seize strategic focal points. No less important was the
Bismarck breakout. It was a relief no longer to have to count this
mammoth in capital ship balances, but the loss of the Hood and near
escape of the Bismarck left Roosevelt uneasy about the Rovyal Navy.
Above all, the rediscovery of the ship by aircraft showed that air
power was critical in maintaining control of the sea, and for this bases
such as Bermuda and the Azores were indispensable. Knowing the
British were ready to send expeditions to the Azores and Cape
Verdes in case of a German move on Portugal and Spain, Roosevelt
nevertheless set out to learn whether the Portugese government in
that case would accept protection of the Azores by the United States.
On May 22, before learning the answer, he ordered the armed serv-
ices to prepare an expeditionary force of 25,000 troops, to be ready
by June 22.9

As usual, American capabilities fell far short of American needs.
With so few troops ready for action, their disposition was a matter of
the most intense concern, and with each of the islands—the Azores,
Canaries, Cape Verdes, Iceland—requiring a force of at least one
division, and preferably two, only one or two commitments were pos-
sible. The president was alone in his concern for the Azores. A Dakar
expedition, requiring over 100,000 troops, was out of the question,
but the army hoped to develop the defenses of northeastern Brazil
instead and considered the Azores too distant from the Dakar-Natal
bridge to justify commitment. Both services feared that tying troops
down in these islands would make it impossible to fulfill the Amer-
ican ABC-1 pledge to send troops to Britain in case of war. No less
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cramping was the lack of ships. Admiral King estimated that seizure
of any one island group would require two battleships, the entire
reinforced cruiser strength of the Atlantic Fleet, and eighteen mod-
ern destroyers. That sort of concentration would eliminate patrol-
ling. Furthermore, the army and navy had only enough troop trans-
ports on hand for one division. Twelve more had to be acquired and
converted. Nevertheless, planning and preparations began.*

Along with plans for defending the Atlantic outposts Roosevelt
prepared a major radio speech to the American people aimed at
mobilizing support for defense policies that now frankly carried some
risk of war. The press and public had been eagerly awaiting a presi-
dential lead since cancellation of the May 14 speech. Stimson was
particularly anxious for the president to set forth the basic principles
which must guide the nation in this “grave crisis”; indeed, to establish
the foundation on which the nation might wage war. The world was
divided into two camps, he wrote the president, and “you are the
leader of one camp.” The American people must be led to action
opposing the “evil leaders” of the other camp not by incidents
involving mistake or chance but by leadership that lit the path.®
Roosevelt set out to do just that and to convey to the American peo-
ple as simply as possible the strategic insights that animated his
policies.

The speech went through many drafts and did not turn out to be
as explicit as Stimson hoped. It praised China’s struggle but carefully
refrained from mentioning Japan or the fleet transfer. Struck out
were references to the Nazi-Soviet Pact of 1939, described as a “gang-
sters’ compact,” and the name of Finland from a list of victims of
aggression. The possibility of Russia itself becoming a victim of
aggression was not to be ruled out. The speech avoided delimitation
of the Western Hemisphere because conventional definitions would
have excluded the Cape Verdes and Iceland.” In spite of such flatten-
ings, however, the speech, delivered appropriately before an audience
of Latin American diplomats, was one of Roosevelt’s most powerful
and candid statements of purpose.

The president’s first object was to make clear that Hitler wanted
not just Europe or the Old World but the whole world. He warned
of the “honeyed” words of peace after each conquest, the unlimited
ambitions that lay behind them, and the sort of life Americans would
lead in a Nazi-dominated world. Then he described the path of Ger-
man aggression and the present threats to Spain, Portugal, northwest
Africa, and the Atlantic islands. He pointed out that the Cape Verdes
were only seven hours by bomber or troop-carrying plane from Bra-



84 MAY: GUARDING THE ATLANTIC LINE

zil. The war was “approaching the brink of the Western Hemisphere
itself ... coming very close to home.” He stressed the importance of
control of the seas. Germany recognized that it must “break through
to command of the ocean” to win. Held to a continuing land war in
Europe and the burdens of occupation it must lose: “{The} wider ...
the Nazi land effort, the greater ... their ultimate danger.”

For Americans, all freedom had always depended on freedom of
the seas, from the quasi-war with France in 1799 to World War I,
Now, however, with bombers and raiders and improved submarines,
the problem of defending the sea routes was much greater. He
described the Battle of the Atlantic, the ominous toll of British ship-
ping and attacks on shipping “off the very shores of land we arc
determined to protect,” creating an “actual military danger to the
Americas,” one emphasized by the foray of the Bismarck into “West-
ern Hemisphere waters.””!

Roosevelt now came to the essence of his argument. Iceland and
Greenland in the north and the Azores and Cape Verdes in the
south could serve as stepping stones for German attacks on Western
Hemisphere neighbors of the United States and eventually upon the
nation itself. As the Nazi seizure of Czechoslovakia began with the
conquest of Austria, and the attack on Greece with the occupation
of Bulgaria, Roosevelt said, the German attack on the United States
could begin with the seizure of such Atlantic bases, and it would be
“suicide to wait until they are in our front yard.” “Anyone with an
atlas” would know better. National policy, therefore, was to resist
every German attempt to extend domination to the Western Hemi-
sphere “or threaten it” or gain control of the seas. National policy
was also to ensure delivery of needed supplies to Britain. That was
“imperative” it could be done, must be done, would be done.

He concluded with a series of ringing assertions: that the world was
divided between human slavery and human freedom, that Americans
chose freedom and would not accept a “Hitler-dominated world,” that
(a salvo at the Japanese) the Americas could decide for themselves
whether, when, and where their interests were attacked or their secu-
rity threatened, and that American armed forces were being placed
in strategic positions and would not hesitate to repel attack. He ended
with a proclamation of unlimited national emergency which gave the
president extraordinary powers over communications, public utili-
ties, transportation, trade, and aliens.

Roosevelt's May 27 speech was a vitally important statement of
policy, his only fully developed exposition in 1941 of the strategic
threat as he saw it and what he was prepared to do to meet that
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threat. Though he did not deal with specific cases, the speech fully
reflected his own conception of the problem and the plans and prep-
arations under way to guard Atlantic outposts. His statement of
imperative requirements and determination to use force if necessary
gave full warning to the American people that the chosen course
risked war. It was a speech that educated and led, and it received ban-
ner headlines and vociferous support in the press and letters to the
White House. From April to June Roosevelt’s popularity rose from
73 to 76 percent.”

The speech also reinforced rising public support for intervention
in the Battle of the Atlantic by escort of convoy. The shift began in
mid-April, most likely as a result of the blitzkrieg in the Balkans and
airing of the escort issue in Congress and the press. Opinion in favor
of escort rose from 41 percent April 15 to 52 percent May 13 and 55
percent June 9, while opposition declined from 50 to 38 percent.”
Americans remained opposed by margins of three or four to one to
a vote for war, but they were prepared to accept the risk of war for
the vital security interests set forth by the president. He was marching
with prevailing public opinion.

One unexpected result of the speech was to make the Azores oper-
ation infeasible for the time being. Only on May 26 had Roosevelt
learned from the American naval attaché in Lisbon that the Por-
tugese would accept American protection in the event they were
forced by German attack to move the seat of government to the
islands. But the president’s explicit reference to the Azores in his
speech the next day raised fears in Lisbon of provoking a German
attack. The key to the precarious neutrality of Portugal lay in a tacit
understanding by Germany and Britain that a move onto Portugese
territory by one would lead to a countermove by the other, and so
neither made the first move. Now the Portugese felt obliged to defer
an invitation to the Americans. A guarantee by the British, their
ancient ally, would be less provocative, and this Churchill was glad
to reaffirm.” Roosevelt did not rest easy with these arrangements—
the Azores project was not canceled—but he turned away from it to
a more practical and immediately important project, the protection
of Iceland.

Iceland was by no means unknown territory to Roosevelt and his
advisers. The ABC-1 plan for Anglo-American joint warfare on the
Atlantic gave the United States responsibility for garrisoning Ice-
land, and the 5th Infantry Division was preparing for the assign-
ment—scheduled, for planning purposes, in September. The navy
reconnoitered the island in April with a view to establishing a base
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and ordered winter clothing for battleship and escorting destroyer
crews. The commander of the Atlantic Fleet Support Force, expecting
to operate patrol planes from Iceland, requested a second seaplane
tender. As a base, Hvalfjordur fiord (“Havafajava” in navy parlance),
a “dreary and unforgiving haven” on the western side of the island,
offered little enough protection from roaring gales of those latitudes,
which sailors claimed blew away anemometers at readings up to 120
knots and damaged catapults and davits, as well as propellers when
ships dragged anchor and went aground.”

Iceland offered two absolutely critical advantages to the British and
American navies. Lying not far north of the usual convoy routes to
Britain it provided an indispensable mid-Atlantic refueling base for
destroyers in escort; the more westerly the U-boat war drifted, the
more important Iceland became. In addition, Iceland controlled Den-
mark Strait, the passage between Greenland and Iceland favored by
the German navy for raider breakouts into the Atlantic. Anxious to
hasten the American arrival and straining to meet their own require-
ments, the British urged the Icelanders to approach the United States
for protection of their shipping to North America, and on April 14
secret negotiations began with the Icelandic consul general in Wash-
ingron for American protection of Iceland itself.”

The idea of Iceland as a terminus for an American western Atlantic
convoy escort service emerged and gained increasing relevance as U-
boats began hunting south of Iceland and southeast of Greenland,
within the American sphere. On April 10, Oscar Cox, an assistant to
Hopkins for Lend-Lease, suggested American escort of American and
British ships “to the end of the Western Hemisphere” and trans-ship-
ment of goods at some intermediate point (such as Iceland) for deliv-
ery to Britain. On April 11 the president wrote Churchill of the pos-
sibility of “sending wheat and other goods in American ships to
Greenland or Iceland.” On May 23 the British began destroyer escort
of convoys all the way across the Atlantic. But westward expansion
thinned the forces even more: escort groups operated out of St.
John's, Newfoundland, at half strength. The same day Churchill
described the problem to Roosevelt and asked him to move his bat-
tleship patrols closer to the convoy lanes to report sightings and
make raiders and U-boats “feel insecure.”” Neither planning nor
decision had occurred, but circumstances and thinking were pointing
toward American escort in the western Atlantic.

The Crete debacle and the global mathematics of naval power gave
added weight to the argument for an American base at Iceland. In
the Crete operation the British eastern Mediterranean fleet suffered
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crippling losses: three British battleships and one aircraft carrier dam-
aged, three cruisers and six destroyers sunk, and six cruisers and
seven destroyers damaged.” Even before the Kithera battle the Roval
Navy had pointed out that, unless the United States took over some
cruiser and destroyer tasks in the Atlantic, it would be impossible to
withdraw enough of these types to establish a balanced fleet at Sin-
gapore. The severe cruiser and destroyer losses at Crete added a sharp
point to the British concern. The Royal Navy now asked that four
American heavy cruisers be sent to Iceland for protection against
raiders.”

The American navy was impatient with the suggestion. On
account of their “rash naval action” at Crete, wrote Admiral Stark,
the British would be unable to bring naval strength against Japan.
When the Mediterranean fleet was intact, the Japanese would have
to assume it was transferrable to the Indian Ocean. Such was no
longer the case, and this weakness together with the reduction in
American Pacific naval strength were encouragements for Japan to
move southward. It would be impossible for the United States to
transfer any more cruisers from the Pacific.*® Nevertheless, once the
four light cruisers already moving to the Atlantic arrived in mid-June
to serve as escorts for the carriers, the existing heavy cruiser strength
of the Atlantic Fleet would be available for service on the convoy
routes and basing them or some of them at Iceland would not be
illogical.

These naval considerations were undoubtedly on his mind when
President Roosevelt deliberated his next step. An Iceland base would
offer other advantages as well. One acute source of army and air corps
discontent was that precious B-17 Flying Fortresses assigned to the
British were sitting on the tarmac at the Boeing plant awaiting pilots
to fly them to England. To speed up movement of these and other
planes, American pilots might deliver them to the British in Labra-
dor or lceland. Furthermore, American garrisoning of Iceland would
relieve British troops for reinforcement of the Middle East.®

Underlying argument about the positive advantages of Iceland was
worry about its vulnerability. The northern flank of the Atlantic line
had been a matter of concern since Germany's occupation of Den-
mark in 1940. From bases in Greenland, Assistant Secretary of State
Berle wrote, the Germans could bomb New York. Regarding Green-
land as unquestionably Western Hemisphere territory, the Depart-
ment of State sought to prevent British or Canadian occupation
which might prompt a German countermove. The United States
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could hardly press the Canadians to desist, however, unless it took
some responsibility for Greenland’s defense itself. This it did by
establishing a Coast Guard patrol of Greenland waters and arranging
with Greenland authorities for building air bases.*

In 1940 the Germans had briefly established a weather station on
Greenland, and President Roosevelt was acutely concerned that they
might try again this summer. Until the Greenland bases were built,
Iceland provided the only base for aerial surveillance of Greenland
and the Denmark Strait. Air search was not enough for the president:
he insisted that the navy mount an expedition to hold Scoresby
Sound on Greenland’s eastern coast until the end of the summer. In
May 1941 German troop and ship concentrations in northern Nor-
way became the object of American concern. Some argued they
formed the northern wing of a forthcoming attack on the Soviet
Union. Others were not so sure. The troops had skis, but the terrain
had no snow at that time of year and was impassable by tanks. It
seemed more likely to Berle they were intended for Iceland or Green-
land, over which German reconnaissance planes were flying with
impunity. American fears for the northern outposts were no less
vivid than those for the southern. Morgenthau noted at the cabinet
meeting of June 4 that the president’s “whole interest ... is in the
Atlantic Fleet and getting first to these various outlying islands.”™’

President Roosevelt moved without hesitation to establish an
American force and base on Iceland as soon as he received strong
public approval for his speech of May 27. At lunch with Lord Halifax
the following day he suggested an American garrison for Iceland.®
Churchill cordially welcomed the proposal on May 29 in a message
received after the president departed for the Memorial Day weekend
at Hyde Park. The day following his return, June 3, he saw Ambas-
sador Winant and Admiral King, and in all probability the decision
was made that day or the next. The army and navy received orders
to mount an expedition immediately, to depart as soon as permission
was obtained from Iceland. Sufficient troop lift existed for this oper-
ation but not for the Azores as well so on June 13 the latter was
suspended.®

The German-Soviet question bore on the Iceland decision in more
ways than one. Respondek’s April reports to Sam Woods in Berlin,
received in May, at least one of which Roosevelt saw, were increas-
ingly positive about an attack on the Soviet Union. In order to
maintain the military might necessary for extended war with the
Anglo-American bloc, Respondek wrote, Germany would have to
incorporate the productive forces of all Europe, especially Russia,
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into a general system under German control. Disappointing figures
for acquisition of raw materials in April intensified the need. So “the
liquidation of Russia is considered a necessity,” by armored penetra-
tions and encirclement, while a defensive front was established in the
west. After capture of the principal Russian industrial and railroad
centers (Baku, Grozny, Minsk, Kiev, Kharkov, Rostov, Stalingrad,
the Don basin, Yekaterinoslav, the middle and southern Urals, and
the Kuznetsk region), Germany would easily invade Britain and cap-
ture the Mediterranean.®

One indicator of the coming attack was the diminution of German
air raids on Britain. ULTRA intelligence in May showed a stream of
Luftwaffe units moving east. Indicating not merely intimidation but
determination to attack regardless was the establishment of a pris-
oner-of-war cage in Poland. The British Joint Intelligence Committee
remained unconvinced into June, but it is possible that Churchill
provided Winant with some of the ULTRA data to take with him to
Washington. Certainly the ambassador carried intelligence of great
sensitivity, for his plane to Lisbon was escorted by RAF fighters and,
once there, his papers were locked in the British embassy safe.”

For every prediction of a German attack, however, there were two
of a German ultimatum and Russian submission. American embassies
retailed rumors of German troops already entering Bessarabia and
the Ukraine with Soviet consent, of Soviet-German agreement for
joint expansion in the Middle East, and of imminent Soviet signature
of the Axis pact. Rudolf Hess, Hitler’s trusted lieutenant, interrogated
after his dramatic flight to Scotland, admitted that Germany had
demands to make on Russia which would have to be satisfied, as
Churchill reported to Roosevelt on May 28. Tokyo, according to
MAGIC, noted that German-Soviet relations had “suddenly cooled,”
but before going to war Hitler was likely to scheme for lands on the
Soviet border, so the outcome would depend “upon how the Soviet
acts.” Adolf Berle, after lunch with the heads of British and American
naval intelligence and J. Edgar Hoover, thought it “pretty clear that
the Germans have already worked out some kind of agreement with
the Russians.”™®

These opposing estimates—that Germany would attack and that
Germany might not need to attack—both served to reinforce Roo-
sevelt’s Iceland decision. If Germany attacked the Soviet Union, the
Soviets were expected to last only one or two months, a short respite
but long enough to secure the Atlantic islands while Germany was
preoccupied. If the Soviet Union succumbed to German demands,
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the respite might even be shorter and the strategic necessity would
be greater.

By early June 1941 the Atlantic outpost line was clearly established
in American strategy. In setting out to guard this line even at the risk
of war, Roosevelt extended the sphere of American vital interest
beyond territorial waters, beyond neutrality limits, beyond the mid-
point of the North Atlantic, to the verges of Europe, and he gathered
the warships to fulfill his aim. In the face of numbing exhibitions of
German strength and widely divergent estimates of German aims,
defense of the Atlantic line seemed only wise and absolutely neces-
sary for the physical safety and existence of the nation. Helping
England was not quite on such a fundamental level but vital too, and
the Atlantic outposts could be bridges the other way.

Roosevelt was also intent upon shoring up the weakening British
position in the Middle East. Alexander Kirk, a diplomat seasoned by
service in two wars at Berlin, newly arrived as ambassador to Egypt,
expounded in cable after cable on the desperate position of the Brit-
ish there in the aftermath of Crete. He was particularly concerned
with the destructive effect on British prestige in Egypt and the Arab
world. At the same time, Kirk believed that British engagement of
the Germans in Greece was better than declining battle for it showed
the Germans that expansion did not bring peace. It was of “prime
importance” for the United States to oppose Germany, he warned, if
possible by war, if not by “planes and more planes.” Washington
responded to the need with promises of additional shipments of
tanks, artillery ammunition, trucks, and road-building equipment.
Supplies for the Middle East now sailed in forty-four American ships.
Plans called for fifty tankers and an aircraft ferry service to the Mid-
dle East by way of Brazil and Africa.®®

By late May, Washington was oppressively warm. The president
worked with his coat off and the windows of the Oval Study open.
Qutside the southwest window, Robert Sherwood noted, was a mag-
nolia tree said to have been planted by Andrew Jackson: “It was now
covered with big white blooms and their lemony scent drifted into
the study.” This languorous seat of decision contrasted so vividly
with the swift and sinister unfolding of events abroad. Choosing his
way with great care among the terrible uncertainties and incapacities
he faced, Roosevelt determined to control the Atlantic and placed
the nation on a path risking war to ensure it. Here his stubborn cau-
tion and traditional sense of American autonomy spoke. He also per-
sisted in his policy of sustaining Britain in every practical way. In the
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Pacific he necessarily managed a holding action with defensive fleet
deployments, rhetorical support for China, and dilatory diplomacy
with Japan. Mostly he waited for ships and troops and arms to mobi-
lize and materialize and above all for German intentions to come
clear.



Chapter 4

June
The Russian Factor

In June 1941 the German ground forces coiled for the greatest
onslaught in the history of warfare. Last to arrive, in May and June,
were the elements whose presence was most difficult to conceal: the
motorized and armored divisions that formed the three grear wedges
to be driven into the heart of the Soviet Union, eight in the north
directed at Leningrad, sixteen in the center at Moscow, and thirteen
in the south at the rich agricultural and industrial region of the
Ukraine and Don basin. The primary front (excluding Finland) from
the Baltic to the Black Sea stretched about as far as from Chicago to
New Orleans but would widen by half again as the armies moved
deeper into Russia. Arrayed on this front by June 22 were 149 Ger-
man divisions, two-thirds of the strength of the German army, num-
bering three million men, 3,350 tanks, and 2,770 planes. Providing
transport were not only 600,000 motor vehicles but also 625,000
horses, indicating the great difference in mobility between the fast
forces and the follow-up infantry.’

American and indeed all foreign observers were aware that a cli-
max was approaching, but they remained divided almost until the
last moment over whether the outcome would be Soviet submission
to German demands or war. Readers of MAGIC traffic translated on
June 6 would learn of Ambassador Oshima’s conviction that the Ger-
man army was an “irresistible force” capable of an “annihilating
movement against the Russian Army.” War was not a certainty, Rib-
bentrop told Oshima cautiously on June 3, and then continued more
candidly that, if Japan needed to make preparations, it should do so
as fast as possible. The attitude of the Soviets had become more
antagonistic lately, he explained, even to the point of an armed clash
at the mouth of the Danube; they scemed to be waiting for the Reich
to fail. Once Germany had defeated the Soviet Union and gained
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undisputed control of all Europe, it would be untouchable by Britain
and the United States. Even in terms of the war against Britain, Rib-
bentrop concluded, it was “imperative that the Soviet Union be
beaten down now.”

Indeed, reported Oshima on June 4, both Hitler and the Reich for-
eign minister had told him, as a matter of “gravest secrecy,” that in
all probability war with Russia could not be avoided. Hitler had given
him advance notice of the Norway and western front offensives in
1940, Oshima pointed out June 14 in a message decrypted June 16,
so his word could be counted on now respecting the “apparently
imminent” surprise attack on Russia. The Rumanian army had mobi-
lized, Hitler had returned to Berlin, and the chief of staff of the armed
forces and commander-in-chief of the army had left for the eastern
front.’

The British were settling now on the correct conclusion. The
American embassy in London reported on June 11 that Eden at first
had thought the German troop concentrations were blackmail, but,
taking into account the Luftwaffe transfers, he concluded that Ger-
many would attack under any circumstances. The next day Bletchley
Park, the code and cipher department of the British government,
located northwest of London, between Oxford and Cambridge,
apparently decrypting the same Japanese messages as MAGIC, pro-
vided an account of Hitler’s interview with Oshima which finally
convinced the British Joint Intelligence Committee that “Germany
intended to turn on Russia” regardless.*

The American government, lacking any adequate, let alone uni-
fied, system for evaluating intelligence, remained uncertain until the
last minute. Much intelligence was out of date by the time it arrived.
Reports from the American embassy in Berlin sent in the diplomatic
pouch, for example, took a month or more. American diplomats in
Europe with their limited sources continued to sway back and forth
between the possibilities of German attack and intimidation, war and
appeasement. By June 12 the Moscow embassy leaned to the idea of
attack, but June 19 it passed on a rumor that secret negotiations were
taking place in Berlin. The embassy in Berlin on June 8 found
“impressive evidence” for an attack within a fortnight, but on June
21 it retailed rumors from all sides that a German ultimatum was
forthcoming in the next two days. On June 7, Stockholm passed on
a report of an attack in ten days, and on June 9 another that Germans
were then laying down their terms in Moscow. Bucharest believed
that Germany presented an ultimatum of extreme demands June 6.
Rome, Budapest, and Sofia all reported rumors of a giant Soviet-Ger-
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man deal in the making. The Vatican, however, was understood to
be expecting an attack. Both the Japanese and American govern-
ments, engaged in exploratory conversations with each other, anx-
iously queried their diplomatic posts respecting German-Russian
negotiations.’

According to Lord Halifax, Welles regarded reports of a forthcom-
ing attack as a German way of terrorizing the Soviets into submis-
sion. On June 10 he summarized Washington reports that indicated
either the “imminence of hostilities, or, alternatively, of Russian sur-
render to Germany.” To Berle on June 19 a climax seemed near. The
Germans believed they could take Russia without fighting but he was
not sure they could: the Russians must understand that the German
object was to destroy Stalin and his regime, and that it was a case of
fight or die. Stimson leaned the other way. On June 17 he wrote in
his diary that it was nip and tuck whether Russia would fight or sur-
render, and “of course | think the chances are that she will
surrender.”

As the climax approached, the Department of State carefully con-
sidered the position it should take. Currently Soviet-American rela-
tions were cold and distant. The Welles-Oumansky talks had marked
out some common ground but also hardened disagreements, as on
questions relating to the Soviet takeover of Estonia, Latvia, and Lith-
uania, Soviet trade with Germany, and Soviet access to American
strategic goods and materials. On June 14 the United States froze the
assets in America of Germany, Italy, occupied European countries,
and European neutrals including the Soviet Union, explaining that
the last was included because of the “interrelationship of interna-
tional financial transactions” but could be freed again by assurances
that the funds would not benefit Germany and Italy. The Soviet
Union charged discrimination; the United States denied it. The
point was clear, however, as the day of reckoning approached that
the United States was not inclined to favor the Soviet Union and
would retaliate in case of further Soviet-German collaboration.”

For Ambassador Steinhardt and the European Division of the
Department of State this was precisely the correct position to take.
The professional diplomats, who had hardy suspicions of all things
Soviet, found the effort to improve relations entirely wrong-headed.
Conciliation of the bear only made him hungrier; appeasement sig-
nified weakness. Soviet policy toward Germany was governed by fear
of the German army, and no American concession could change that.
Soviet psychology, Steinhardt warned, “recognized only firmness,
power and force and reflects primitive instincts and reactions entirely
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devoid of the restraints of civilization.” Assuming no Soviet surren-
der to German blackmail occurred, which the United States could
not in any case prevent, then the ambassador believed the Soviets
would turn to the United States anyway to escape their folly. Only
firmness and aloofness would maintain American prestige at Moscow
and “prepare the ground for the important developments with which
we will be ultimately confronted.”

Specifically this policy meant treating the Soviet Union on a recip-
rocal basis, making no approaches, responding to Soviet approaches
with reserve, avoiding concessions of principle or for the sake of
atmosphere, and in general indicating that improvement in relations
was as important, if not more important, to the Soviet Union as it
was to the United States. The policy was immediately relevant to con-
versations in London between Eden and Ambassador Maisky, which
indicated a British willingness to recognize Soviet claims to the Baltic
states. Welles warned Halifax on June 15 against weakening the moral
principle involved and in response to the ambassador’s inquiry said
that it was impossible for the United States to determine what assis-
tance it might render if Germany attacked the Soviet Union.

The Department of State was also moving to correct its position
with regard to Japan. One obvious reason was that the Hull-Nomura
talks were getting nowhere. The United States had finally set forth
its position May 31 in a redraft of the Matsuoka proposals of May
12, which in turn were a redraft of the Walsh-Drought paper of April
14. The American draft conceded nothing of significance to the Jap-
anese. They would have to state explicitly that the Axis pact did not
apply in cases of self-defense, that is, if the United States became
involved with Germany in the Atlantic. American assistance to Brit-
ain was not banned, as in the Japanese draft. The United States
would “suggest,” not “forthwith request,” that the Chiang regime
negotiate peace and was not obliged to withhold aid to China if
Chiang refused. In the American draft the question of stationing Jap-
anese troops in parts of China after a peace treaty was left for further
discussion. The United States was not required to renew its trade
treaty with Japan. Japan, however, would have to pledge that its “con-
trolling” (not simply its “declared”) policy was the maintenance of
peace in the Pacific (not just in the southwest Pacific). The Americans
desired explicit reference to the principle of non-discrimination in
trade. The status of Manchukuo (Manchuria) was left for “amicable
negotiation.™”

During the next three weeks Japanese and American negotiators
met eight times to explore their differences and made no progress
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whatsoever in resolving them. On the contrary, by June 21 disagree-
ment seemed broader and more intractable. Once Hull and Nomura
met alone, occasionally they met with their associates, more often the
associates met without the principals. Increasing use of regular dip-
lomatic personnel on both sides—in effect bureaucratizing the dis-
cussions—introduced greater precision and continuity but also had
the effect of more sharply registering disagreements and multiplying
the number of issues. Efforts were made to shade differences by elim-
inating clauses, removing them to annexes, or rewording them; but
no matter how the words were squeezed and massaged, the problems
remained.

The most sensitive problem was the relationship of both powers
to the European war. Japanese officials, Colonel Iwakuro for one,
freely admitted that the “tenor” of any Japanese interpretation of its
alliance obligations was bound to be affected by the fact of any agree-
ment concluded with the United States, but they were adamant in
their refusal, and so instructed, to permit any language explicitly
weakening the tie. Consequently the United States would have to
take on faith that Japan would not declare war on the United States
if the United States became engaged in war with Germany. Less
salient for the moment but no more tractable was the problem of
ending the war in China. To the extent that the United States was
prepared to engage in that task, to the point of urging or pressing a
settlement on China, it required terms it could support, and it was
not prepared to support peacetime Japanese garrisons in China or,
in these circumstances, to assist in legitimating the Japanese conquest
of Manchuria.

It was not simply a case of circling back over the same ground: new
issues arose and dormant ones took on new life. The American side
began to complain about Japanese restrictions on American business
in China and to harp on the need for specific statements of adher-
ence to the principle of non-discrimination in trade. Questions were
raised about how far Japan would go in support of its puppet regime
at Nanking in the making and implementation of peace with the
government at Chungking. The Japanese, mentioning the possible
American use of Singapore, urged a statement renouncing acquisi-
tion of new military bases. The Americans replied that, if the Japa-
nese considered this a matter distinct from any renunciation of ter-
ritorial designs, then indeed a new and serious question had been
raised." Hull spoke of the need for “clear-cut and unequivocal terms,”
a contradiction of the way diplomacy usually, and Japanese diplo-
macy always, worked. He noted a steady winnowing of the advances
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made in the original scheme of April. Most important, Hull himself
began wondering aloud about the sincerity of the Japanese in pur-
suing the negotiations, That was a concern, he told Nomura, “in the
light of the loud statements which Matsuoka and others were daily
making” about Japan’s indissoluble ties with the Axis."?

Unquestionably negotiation of Japanese-American conflicts was a
formidable task. Progress, however, depended on damping disagree-
ment not broadening it, so here external influences as well as inher-
ent difficulties must have been obstructing the path. These are not
difficult to find. One factor was the declining value of the Hull-
Nomura talks in driving a wedge between Japan and its alliance part-
ners as compared with the rising embarrassment they were causing
for America’s own partnerships. Publicity and pointed questions led
to promises of consultation and loss of flexibility on the American
side. In a MAGIC intercept read on May 26, Matsuoka assured Ber-
lin that the alliance was the cornerstone of Imperial policy. His vehe-
ment protestations of fidelity to the alliance raised the question
whether it was worth continuing the talks so long as he was foreign
minister, especially since Ambassador Grew was reporting that seri-
ous differences existed between the stormy petrel and Prime Minister
Konoe.”

Another factor was disturbing information that the Japanese
southward advance was about to be resumed. On June 17 a MAGIC
decrypt showed that Japan was seeking German help in forcing
Vichy to grant it air and sea bases in southern Indochina. These
included, according to a decrypt of June 19, Saigon and the excellent
harbor at Cam Ranh Bay as well as Hue, Nhatrang, Soctrang, Kom-
pontrach, Siemriep, and Pnompenh. Alongside a disclaimer of any
intention to invade the area, Tokyo said it would “take whatever
measures might be necessary” to secure its aims.' This harbinger of
further aggression came on the heels of a Dutch rebuff to Japan over
Indonesian oil. On June 7, Batavia politely but firmly refused to grant
Japan special privileges and more oil, ending protracted negotiations.
Grew reported that Japanese extremists under German influence
were demanding that Japan take strong action in response.”” By now
Americans firmly held that negotiation in the context of aggression
was appeasement.

The approaching German-Soviet climax provided further reasons
for disengagement with the Japanese. A pact of Soviet submission
would heighten the aura of appeasement surrounding any Japanese-
American agreement. Soviet-German war would bring more complex
disadvantages, which were put to paper shortly after June 22 but in
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all probability influenced thinking beforehand. Maxwell Hamilton,
chief of the Far Eastern Division, wrote that of course by freeing
Japan from concern about a Soviet threat, war could accelerate the
southward advance, turning any Japanese-American agreement into
a scrap of paper. The alternative thesis, which enjoyed greater favor,
was that Japan might join Germany in attacking the Soviets, which
would make unnecessary an agreement aimed at preventing Japan’s
southward advance and contradict the agreement’s pledge to main-
tain peace in the Pacific.

Walter Adams, assistant chief of the Far Eastern Division, carried
this latter argument a big step further. Any advantage the United
States might secure in keeping peace in the south while Japan
attacked in the north would be offset, he contended, by the resulting
weakening of Soviet resistance. If the American interest lay in defeat-
ing “the forces of aggression as a whole,” this nation should seek to
“immobilize Japan both as regards an attack upon Siberia and as
regards an attack against Singapore or the Dutch East Indies.” The
best policy was to exhibit the same reserve toward Japan as the Euro-
pean Division was recommending toward the Soviet Union, though
for different reasons. In this instance the object would be to deter a
Siberian attack by rendering Japan “uncertain in regard to the inten-
tions of the United States in the South Pacific.”'® That line of advice
would gain increasing currency. All advice pointed toward putting
diplomacy in abeyance.

Secretary Hull called Ambassador Nomura to this apartment June
21 on the eve of the German attack on Russia, handed him a state-
ment and a rewrite of the May 31 draft agreement and proceeded to
attack the Japanese foreign minister for supporting German aggres-
sion. His message here and in the statement was that the insistence
by Matsuoka and the pro-Axis faction on Japan's fulfillment of its
alliance obligations was making it impossible to achieve a Japanese-
American settlement. In the statement and revised draft the Ameri-
can position was shuttered and padlocked. The secretary of state had
reluctantly concluded, the statement ended, that the United States
“must await some clearer indication than has yet been given that the
Japanese Government as a whole desites to pursue coutses of
peace. ... ™ It was not a break-off; the Japanese were invited to con-
tinue. The targeting of a faction within the other government was
unusual in diplomacy but the move produced what was intended, a
tidy position, a pause, and the placing on Japan of the burden of
moving onward.
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The United States, no less than other nations, sensed that summer
would bring great events which could shift the foundations of policy.
Having positioned itself to widen its choices, it cleared the decks and
waited.

Germany attacked the Soviet Union before dawn on June 22,
1941. Three giant wedges of armored and motorized forces, with
1,500 tanks in the center wedge and 600 on each side, punched
through Soviet frontier defenses and soon were streaking across the
plains of eastern Poland and the western marches of Russia. Panzer
columns often advanced fifty or sixty miles a day, leaping 250 miles
to Minsk and 200 miles to the Dvina, halfway to Leningrad, in the
first five days. The center drove northeastward, one Panzer group the
size of an army on either side of the straight road to Moscow, circling,
smashing, and plunging foward in one double envelopment after
another. In the first month they reached to within 130 miles of Mos-
cow. The Russians lost over 2,000 aircraft in the first two days. North,
south, and center the Russian fronts disintegrated, yielding hundreds
of thousands of prisoners. At the rate of advance in the first month
it was hard to imagine the survival of the Soviet Union until fall.”®

Yet Russia was not like the other campaigns. The vastness, the
unending stretches of flat plain, became awesome and disturbing.
Curzio Malaparte captures the oppressive sense of space creeping
into the exhilaration of rapid conquest in his description of a Ger-
man column bedding down at night:

Then the wind rises—a moist cold wind that fills one’s bones with an
immense numbing weariness. The wind that sweeps this Ukrainian
plateau is laden with the scent of a thousand herbs and plants. From
the darkness of the fields comes a ceaseless crackle as the moisture of
the night causes the sunflowers to droop on their long, wrinkled
stalks. All about us the corn makes a soft rustling sound, like the rustle
of a silk gown. A great murmur rises through the dark countryside
which is filled with the sound of slow breathing, of deep sighs.”

In spite of the stunning success of the Panzer columns, results of
the first month’s fighting fell far short of German expectations. Most
significant were the instances of tenacious Russian resistance, even
counterattacks. Pockets of surrounded Red Army troops held out;
guerrilla warfare began along the lengthening German supply lines.
No less, German intelligence had underestimated the quality of Rus-
sian arms and the amount of war industry within reach of the initial
German thrusts. Critical were German supply deficiencies. The fast
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forces carried adequate supplies only for their first deep penetrations
into the Soviet Union. After some 300 miles the tanks had to pause
for resupply and for the infantry to catch up. Lacking sufficient
motor transport of its own, the German army scrounged among
stocks of defeated countries, gathering over 2,000 different kinds of
vehicles requiring over a million spare parts for Army Group Center
alone. The different track widths of Russian and European railroads,
the muddled German army system of supply control, the lack of
hard-surface roads in Russia, the weather, and lack of motor oil began
to slow the advance. Within the month half of Army Group South’s
trucks were out of action.””

A further problem was the lack of any clear-cut strategic consen-
sus, leading to growing differences among the generals and between
them and Hitler as to which of the three army groups and which of
the objectives—capture of the great cities or destruction of the Red
Army—should be given priority. As the front widened, leaving
flanks hanging in the air, the distance between tank columns and
foot soldiers lengthened. The Dvina-Smolensk-Dneiper line was
attained, but fighting continued west of it and the high season of
campaigning slipped by.

This vast distant drama of space and time captured American
attention. After banner headlines June 23 and 24, the New York Her-
ald Tribune maintained average daily headlines four columns wide
during July. Since both sides denied foreign newsmen access to the
front and manipulated the facts of fighting in a “war of commu-
niqués,” only the sketchiest of pictures of the tide of battle emerged,
with gross exaggerations of enemy casualties and prisoners taken. Yet
with all the distortion and dimness, the titanic proportions of the
struggle were apparent.

The first feeling was one of relief and not a little glee. Ambassador
Grew expressed a common belief when he said the new war was “the
best thing that could have happened. Dog eat dog. Let the Nazis and
the Communists so weaken each other that the democracies will soon
gain the upper hand or at least will be released from their dire peril.”
Stimson reported to the president the view of the War Department
that Germany would have to postpone invasion of Britain and slack
off on plans and campaigns elsewhere. It could not interfere with the
forthcoming American occupation of Iceland. The door was now
open, he advised, for the president to lead the way into winning the
Battle of the Atlantic. Harry Hopkins was reported to have said that
the war would further scatter German forces and complicate the Ger-
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man position. Vichy officials conveyed a more sanguine view. They
had thought Germany could get what it wanted without war. Failure
to do so was an indication of weakness, that Germany feared Amer-
ican participation, even that it had lost the war. Now was America’s
chance to act, said one French official.?!

President Roosevelt was among the optimists. It is impossible to
say whether or not he shared the general view that Hitler would make
demands and Stalin would submit, but once the invasion began he
took a consistently positive view of developments. “Now comes this
Russian diversion,” he wrote Leahy on June 26. “If it is more than
just that it will mean the liberation of Europe from Nazi domina-
tion.... ” At the same time, inclined to view Soviet policy as more
pragmatic than ideological, he did not think the democracies needed
to worry about Russian domination of Europe. He could see no
“intellectually satisfying” explanation for Hitler’s attack, he told Lord
Halifax on July 7. If the main purpose was to gain world sympathy
by war on Communist Russia, then Hitler’s sense of public psychol-
ogy was wrong and he had made “his first big political miscalcula-
tion,” while the free world had gained precious time.”

Just how much time was anyone’s guess. The Berlin embassy
reported German predictions that Russian resistance would be
crushed by August 1. British intelligence anticipated that the Ger-
mans would reach the Moscow-Rostov line in three weeks. A British
informant of the embassy in Moscow estimated on June 30 that they
would reach Moscow in five days. Ambassador Steinhardt believed
Moscow would fall in much less than sixty days; Sir Stafford Cripps,
the British ambassador, saw not less than sixty. The War Department
predicted from one to three months. Military intelligence measured
German progress by comparing daily advances with those in France
in 1940, Stimson objecting that the conditions were different.’”® Esti-
mates fluctuated even day to day, but a trend emerged. In the first
week the universal view was dark. The main question, said General
Marshall, was whether the Russians would manage to withdraw and
avoid encirclement. The Germans had struck early enough so that
the crops were too green to burn. Ultimately, he said, the area
between Moscow and the Black Sea was the key to Russia. To the
chief of staff, the Russians, lacking high officers of quality, were show-
ing no signs of skillful maneuver. In the first days of July, Stimson
was more discouraged than ever by the progress of the “German
Moloch.”

The American embassy in Moscow, affected by tremors of fear at
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the capital and making plans for evacuation, was consistently
gloomy. German progress seemed less than expected July 2, but more
because of German caution than Soviet resistance. On July 3 it
reported the German offensive “completely successful” and a week
later nuanced that estimate slightly on the negative side: German
losses were indeed severe and Russian resistance “considerably
greater” than the Germans expected, but even so there was no evi-
dence “that the German offensive has encountered any serious set-
backs.” Meanwhile, as women and children began to leave Moscow,
the embassy reported fears of a huge German envelopment of the
city. On July 17, German fast forces were understood to be within 75
miles of Moscow. On July 19, Soviet troops and supplies were said to
be moving east of Moscow. On July 22 the city was bombed for the
first time. Steinhardt’s view of Russian resistance was more negative
than that of his Japanese colleague, who spoke of serious German
difficulties.”

Outside Russia as the mists lifted slightly in July, the idea of a short
war began to fade. On June 30 the American embassy in Berlin noted
that the Germans were facing “stubborn and even desperate oppo-
sition and enormous tactical difficulties.” Even German propaganda
spoke of fanatical Soviet resistance. The American legation in Swit-
zerland gave high and indeed exaggerated figures for German losses
(one million casualties in the first three weeks, for example). Its
sources reported that the German General Staff had grossly under-
estimated Soviet fighting capacity and leadership, and that the inva-
sion was running behind schedule. Vichy officials believed that Hitler
had made a “serious psychological error” in expecting the Russian
people to rise.”® London was encouraged: the Germans would have
to postpone an invasion of the island, even though only temporarily.
At the Foreign Office a German defeat by Russia even entered the
realm of the conceivable. The battle in Russia, wrote one prognosti-
cator, might well be an epic of war, dimming Britain’s lonely struggle
and reviving the Russian “mystique.”” That sort of thinking would
have seemed madly optimistic to American officials, but if A. A. Berle
is at all representative, they began to doubt a German invasion of
Britain and to accept that German casualties were greater than antic-
ipated and progress less. But, Berle added, “no living being can tell
what will wash out of this.””® The one big change in American per-
ceptions of the conflict at the end of the first month was the realiza-
tion that Germany faced a costly and difficult struggle.
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Summing up one month of the war, the New York Times pointed
out that Hitler had unleashed “the eternal war” between Teuton and
Slav. The Germans recklessly engaged themselves with their “natural
enemy” in battle of “unprecedented ferocity.” Six hundred miles into
Russia the invaders were only on the margins, and the supposedly
“annihilated” Red Army kept reforming itself. “Nazi tanks go where
the Golden Horde once ruled but the dust and mud may swallow
them up too.™”

Now that war had come, Soviet-American relations looked entirely
different from the way they had looked before June 22 when the
question was appeasement or war. Now the posture of cool reserve
urged by the European Division seemed quite mistaken, at least to
the White House. Churchill, knowing that every day of Soviet resis-
tance postponed a German invasion just that much, made an imme-
diate offer of cooperation and assistance. The American statement of
policy, made by Acting Secretary Welles at a press conference June
23, was by no means comradely. It dwelt on German treachery (and
the implicit folly of relying on non-aggression pacts with Hitler) and
on American revulsion for Soviet denial of freedom of worship.
Soviet Communist dictatorship was just as alien to the American
people as Nazi dictatorship. But the issue at the moment facing a
“realistic America,” the statement continued, was the defeat of Hitler’s
plan of world conquest and “any defense against Hitlerism, any ral-
lying of the forces opposing Hitlerism, from whatever source these
forces may spring” enhanced American security.”® This was not an
offer of aid to the Soviet Union, but it sought to prepare the way by
urging Americans to set aside their profound aversion to that nation
and consider their national interest. Despite the icy tone it went sub-
stantially beyond the posture American diplomats recommended
before the German attack.

In subsequent weeks Roosevelt took a number of steps to imple-
ment the offer. He exempted the Soviet Union from the order freez-
ing assets. He ruled against invoking the neutrality act and inclusion
of Soviet ports in combat areas. A number of minor problems were
resolved and one difficult one was buried: the Soviet embassy was
firmly told not to raise the issue of the American sequestering of
Estonian, Latvian, and Lithuanian ships. The State Department set
up machinery for expediting Soviet orders and investigated means
of payment.”’ On July 10 the president, who always seemed one step
ahead of informed opinion on the possibility of prolonged and pro-
longing Soviet resistance, saw Soviet Ambassador Oumansky for the
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first time in 1941. Just in was an encouraging report from London
on the Russian fighting. He promised to fill the most urgently needed
Soviet requests, provided the British approved and they could be
shipped to reach the front before October 1 and the onset of winter.
The more machines the Germans used up in Russia, he added, the
more certain and rapid the German defeat, since German production
was not as great as supposed.” Clearly the president was moving to
aid the Russians, indeed accelerating and setting the pace in the
administration. Even so, he was covering his bets: what could be sent
immediatelv was not necessarily what the Russians were asking for
(machine tools, gasoline refineries, explosives plants), and he had not
given Soviet requirements priority over all other demands.

Very little entered the supply pipeline to Russia that first month—
only $6.5 million worth of goods—as a result of the president’s over-
tures. In fact the United States and the Soviet Union were just com-
ing face to face with the problems of supply: the remoteness of the
Soviet Union, the lack of transport and communication, American
public opposition to including the Soviet Union in Lend-Lease, dis-
inclination to reveal production and weapons secrets to the Soviets,
refusal of the Soviets to help in establishing priorities by explaining
the use intended for the goods, and lack of specificity in Soviet
orders. One fundamental problem underlay all difficulties: allocation
of the limited output immediately available among Great Britain, the
Soviet Union, the American armed forces, and other friendly
nations. The president required a system for doing so, beyond that a
review of strategic priorities in the light of the new situation, and
beyond that an estimate of how much American war production
would be required to defeat the nation’s enemies. July 9 he ordered
the War Department to begin this study of arms requirements, work-
ing from the battlefield back to the factory, the results of which were
known as the Victory Program.* Not so much the German attack as
Russian resistance opened entirely new vistas of war and policy for
the United States.

The American perspective on the future of Europe was changing.
A central question of July was how to deal with the emerging alliance
between Great Britain and the Soviet Union. In spite of its predica-
ment, Moscow lost no time in asserting its interest in a boundary
with Poland not far removed from that of the Nazi-Soviet pact of
1939. Various reports and remarks roused suspicions at the State
Department that Britain would accede to such demands as an induce-
ment for Russia to continue the wat. In conversation with Welles, for
example, Lord Halifax had encouraged the idea of accepting Russian
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domain over the Baltic republics, to the disgust of Berle, who saw this
as the old Foreign Office practice of engaging in “polite dishonor”
when it served British interests. In the same vein, an Associated Press
dispatch carried a statement by the head of the Yugoslav govern-
ment-in-exile that Britain and the United States had guaranteed not
to dismember Yugoslavia at the end of the war and that Britain had
promised Trieste to Yugoslavia. A declaration by Eden promising
independence to recently captured Syria, formerly a French mandate
of the League of Nations, suggested British unilateral commitments
in the Middle East as well. Further cause of American concern was
evidence that Britain was taking the lead in organizing the govern-
ments-in-exile of occupied Europe for gathering, sharing, transport-
ing, and distributing food and raw materials when they were liber-
ated. Granting humanitarian intent, Berle also saw a British effort “to
channelize the trade and economics of this area through London
when the war is over” and to exclude the United States.

Negotiations were indeed under way between Moscow and Lon-
don. Stalin was insisting on a formal understanding between the two
nations for mutual assistance and no separate peace. He was not ask-
ing the British for territorial commitments, and the British, though
anxious to close, were keeping Washington fully informed. The Brit-
ish were also mediating for an agreement between the Polish govern-
ment-in-exile and the Soviet Union. Here the main issue was terri-
torial. The Poles wanted Soviet recognition of Poland’s prewar
boundary defined by the Treaty of Riga of 1921 when Polish forces
supplied from the West had driven the Bolsheviks far to the east of
the boundary considered ethnographically Polish by the Paris Peace
Conference. The Soviet Union was prepared to renounce the Nazi-
Soviet Pact of course and revert to an ethnographic frontier, but in
fact the two boundaries were much closer to each other than to the
Riga line. The Poles in fear sought American intervention to secure
the larger interwar Poland. Stalin also wanted to set up national com-
mittees of Poles, Czechs, and Yugoslavs in the Soviet Union, giving
rise to concern that these might become Soviet-sponsored shadow
governments competing with the exile regimes in London.”

On July 14 the president, warned by Berle, cabled Churchill that
it was much too early to make territorial or economic commitments.
He referred to rumors of “trades or deals” which the British were
alleged to be making, citing as examples the “stupid” stories about
Yugoslavia and reminding Churchill of the “serious trouble” such
promises to Italians and others caused in 1919. He dwelt on the vir-
tues of plebiscite and wondered whether, Croat and Serb hating each
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other so, it might not be applied in Yugoslavia. Behind the banter
this was a sharp and disagreeable message. No wonder Churchill did
not answer it personally. Implicitly it raised a question about every
European frontier and political understanding. It was in effect the
“general caveat” Berle had called for, a Roosevelt restatement of the
non-recognition policy.*

So a sudden storm arose in British-American relations. American
policymakers were immediately reminded of the secret treaties which
so bedeviled Wilson’s diplomacy in World War I. At the Foreign
Office, British officials drew on the same historical analogy but with
the opposite fear, that Roosevelt, like Wilson, saw himself as world
peacemaker.” The price of an independent policy was exclusion from
the councils of those engaged together, with all the suspicion thereby
engendered. This was particularly the case for the United States now
that two great powers, Britain and Russia, were collaborating.

The problem posed by the new rhythms of European diplomacy
was not confined to bureaucratic definitions of national interest.
Roosevelt feared that, in setting precedents for postwar settlements,
Britain might undermine the political foundations upon which the
anti-Axis forces could most effectively wage war and which he
required to lead the American people into war if necessary. Not that
he or the American public had a clear idea of the sort of peace they
wanted. Certain Wilsonian principles were basic: self-determination,
non-use of force in international disputes, non-interference in the
internal affairs of other nations, freedom of trade, and so forth. How
these principles might apply to specific situations neither the presi-
dent nor the State Department was ready to say. Recognizing that
European frontier definitions tended to divide Americans, the pres-
ident was exceedingly reluctant to make commitments at this stage
and was greatly disturbed over the possibility of being presented with
faits accomplis. Any agreement diminishing the national estate of an
occupied country would equally diminish its will to engage in resis-
tance against the Nazi conqueror. The president’s object was to keep
public expectations high by keeping political issues open.

The United States had two frameworks of policy in 1941: one
internationalist looking toward cooperation with other nations great
and small, free and occupied, in destroying the Nazi scourge; the
other nationalist, focusing directly on the safety and survival of the
United States and protection of the Western Hemisphere. In
the spring, when the German threat seemed so stark and terrible, the
nationalist framework predominated. Now as the balance righted and
coalition opportunities beckoned, the internationalist framework
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moved to the fore. Roosevelt recognized that in order to protect his
position he would have to collaborate more actively with the bellig-
erents and especially with Britain; the makeweight to the new Rus-
sian factor would be greater Anglo-American political intimacy. On
July 11 the president dispatched Harry Hopkins to London to
arrange a meeting with Churchill. ®

Churchill was probably not unhappy that Anglo-Soviet diplo-
macy was drawing the Americans closer. With Hopkins in personal
consultation by July 17, the British worked to ease American con-
cerns. Eden assured the House of Commons that the Anglo-Soviet
agreement of July 14 contained no territorial guarantees or recogni-
tion of territorial changes. The Poles were distressed by their failure
to secure explicit Soviet recognition of their prewar boundary, but
they gained the solatium of a note from Eden that Britain would not
recognize territorial changes resulting from the Nazi-Soviet Pact and
which pledged that Britain had given no territorial guarantees in its
own agreement with the Soviets. The Department of State would
have preferred a response by the prime minister to the president’s
message of July 14 but professed itself satisfied with the assurance to
the Poles. The general issue of postwar territorial guarantees
remained on the agenda for a meeting of the principals.”

Just as the problem of adjusting American policy to the shifting
political relations of Europe prompted closer collaboration with
Great Britain, so developments in the Battle of the Atlantic drew the
two nations deeper into a working partnership. Both broad avenues
of policy pointed toward a summit.

As German armies began their drive eastward, the naval reinforce-
ments from the Pacific were preparing to enter service on the Atlan-
tic. The battleships and cruisers transited the Canal by June 9 and
filtered into fleet missions as they readied over the course of the next
six weeks. The Idaho, New Mexico, and Mississippi joined the Texas,
New York, and Arkansas so that by the end of July two battleships
were always on the mid-Atlantic sentry line, steaming to and fro
between a point southeast of the Grand Banks and the southern
extremity of the German blockade zone around Iceland. Three car-
riers operated out of Bermuda—the Yorktown, Wasp, and, while the
Ranger was under overhaul, the escort carrier Long Island—but their
light cruiser escorts from the Pacific were waylaid for troopship escort
and did not all join the carriers until August. Only then could all the
heavy cruisers join the battleships in their assigned positions near the
convoy routes.* Steaming back and forth across the Atlantic these
summer days was pleasant enough, the ship lit up at night with a
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searchlight on the flag. So far as the records show, no German raiders
or supply ships were encountered.

In fact the patrols made a substantial contribution just by their
presence. On June 19 the Texas reached the northern extremity of
its patrol at the edge of the blockade zone and turned back. Unknow-
ingly it was hunted that day and the next by U-boat 203 which never
gained a good firing position because of the battleship’s speed and
zig-zag course.!! German submarines had been under orders not to
attack American merchant or naval vessels except in the blockade
zone. On the eve of BARBAROSSA, Admiral Karl Doenitz issued
orders first allowing, then disallowing, attacks in the blockade zone.
The near-incident with the Texas settled the matter: stringent orders
from the Fuehrer forbade any and all attacks on American men-of-
war. Hitler was determined to avoid war with the United States until
victory in Russia was assured. U-boats were to confine their atracks,
inside and outside the blockade area, to cruisers, battleships, and air-
craft carriers clearly identified as enemy. “[E}very incident involving
the USA is to be avoided.” On July 9, Hitler informed the navy that
he wished to avoid war with the United States for another month or
two.¥ Thus the intervention of American warships had the effect of
making the North Atlantic more problematical and less profitable for
U-boats.

The carrier searches from Bermuda toward the Azores and the
patrols by four-stack cruisers into the gap between Africa and Brazil
may have had a similar effect on German supply vessels. Close coor-
dination of the two navies was easily effected at Bermuda. On June
4, in the midst of a widespread search for supply ships sent out for
the Bismarck, the Yorktown took aboard a British naval officer, pre-
sumably to communicate any sightings to a British cruiser lying in
wait as a “killing force,” to use Churchill’s words. The carrier found
nothing, but northwest of the Azores, outside the Yorktown’s reach,
lay ewo German supply ships which the British sank June 5 and 6.#
At the same time the Milwaukee cruising near the equator passed near
two German tankers without locating them. Again, the British sank
these June 5 and 6. Undoubtedly American patrols made untraveled
pockets of the North Atlantic less secure for German ships, but credit
for the clean sweep of German supply ships in the Atantic during
June is due ULTRA, which made it possible for the British, begin-
ning in May 1941, to read German naval communications cur-
rently.* With precise locations of German ships already in hand, the
British cruisers did not need American eyes.
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By July 1941 the United States and Germany had reached a stand-

off in the Atlantic, though a tenuous one entirely dependent on the
progress of German arms in Russia. On June 14, Roosevelt learned
of the sinking in May of the American merchant ship Robin Moor.
He toyed with the idea of asking Brazil to release a German vessel it
was holding so it could be seized in retaliation, but the sinking was
several weeks old, so it undoubtedly seemed wiser to let sleeping dogs
lie, at least until American troops had arrived safely in Iceland.*

On July 1, agreement was finally reached with the government of
Iceland for the United States to assume responsibility for defense of
that island. While Iceland was by no means averse to American pro-
tection, it was anxious to avoid the ambiguity of joint Anglo-Amer-
ican defense, especially since one was a belligerent, the other not. On
the other hand, President Roosevelt, who had originally spoken of
relief rather than reinforcement of the British garrison, by June 28
shied away from taking sole responsibility. The complexities of the
Iceland expedition were becoming apparent: the shortage of troop
transports, the precious few American divisions ready or near-ready
for active service, the legislative restriction against use of draftees out-
side the Western Hemisphere, and the likely storm of criticism if he
sought to lift it. He simply could not afford to assume sole responsi-
bility. The issue was resolved by agreement that the American forces
would supplement and “eventually” replace the British. But the pres-
ident was determined that Iceland be more secure than before, so he
pressed his reluctant advisers to increase the American contingent
from 7,500 to 10,000 and insisted on sending a squadron of fighter
planes.”® In spite of the German invasion of the Soviet Union, Roo-
sevelt in early July remained primarily concerned with guarding the
Atlantic line. In fact his first reaction was to seize the opportunity to
enhance the immediate physical safety of the nation.

Iceland was a new departure as well. More than the Azores it was
the turntable of the Atlantic, sitting astride broad avenues of entry
into that ocean from German-controlled waters and convoy routes
to Britain and possibly the Soviet Union. This was the first American
military expedition outside the hemisphere since World War L. With
it the nation ventured into deeper waters of great power combina-
tion and quasi-war. Task Force 19 carrying the Ist Provisional
Marine Brigade, waiting at Argentia for completion of the agreement
with Iceland, sailed at once. On this mission the Atlantic Fleet was
not patrolling on the margins of U-boat operations but cutting
directly through the convoy lanes. To ensure safety the troop trans-
ports were escorted by two battleships, two cruisers, and thirteen des-
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troyers.”” The task force arrived at Reykjavik on July 7 after an
uncontested passage.

The president was thrilled, “just riding on the waves.” Three days
later word came that the brand-new Tirpity was loose and headed for
Iceland or Greenland. What the Bismarck had done to the Hood
seemed destined for the World War I battleships Texas and New York
at Reykjavik. The disparity in maximum range of the big guns was
at least 4,000 yards, to say nothing of the German advantage in mod-
ern fire control. All heaved a big sigh of relief when the German
monster was found to be still at Kiel.*

In the course of July, Atlantic jitters subsided. Accompanying the
next contingent to Iceland were the modernized battleship Missis-
sippi, two heavy cruisers, and the Wasp. Heavy bombing severely
damaged the Scharnhorst and Gneisenau at Brest. Reports of the estab-
lishment of German U-boat bases in West African ports proved false;
chances of an attack on Gibraltar or Spain declined as the Germans
extended themselves in Russia. On June 3 at Vichy, General Wey-
gand had launched a “scathing attack” on Darlan’s collaborationist
policy and by June 6 had forced a reconsideration of the Paris Pro-
tocols. Murphy reported that French North African policy had suf-
fered no change after all.”” Hitler on the eve of BARBAROSSA was
in no position to bring Vichy to heel. Meanwhile war in the desert
was at a stalemate: a British offensive in June had stalled but it had
sufficiently damaged Rommel’s forces, which were denied reinforce-
ment, to immobilize him. Further east the British put down the revolt
in Irag and defeated the Vichy French in Syria. A German thrust
through Turkey no longer seemed imminent: American military
intelligence considered danger to the Middle East to be materially
reduced by the war on Russia.

This stabilization occurring in June and July, after months of crisis
and disaster, enabled the American government to come to grips
with the problem it had been forced to sidestep since April: the cen-
tral strategic question of protection of convoys against the U-boat.
Indeed, with troops on Iceland, it would have to begin running and
protecting convoys in the western Atlantic. Early in July, probably
July 1 by phone from Hyde Park, the president authorized the navy
to begin planning for escort of convoy.”

By June 1941, convoy and escort in the North Atlantic had
evolved substantially into the system that continued through the
war. Merchant ships now received protection all the way from North
America to the Western Approaches of Great Britain, divided into
slow (SC) convoys averaging six and one-half knots and fast (HX)
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convoys averaging nine. Escort groups, at this time composed of a
destroyer and several corvettes, changed hands at a Mid-Ocean Meet-
ing Point (MOMP), the relieved group continuing to Iceland for
refueling and the relievers shepherding the fifty or sixty merchant-
men onward. The convoy route depended on the season and the
location of U-boats. In summer, with drift ice receding, the best route
lay to the north close to Greenland and Iceland and as far as possible
from German aircraft, though no route was ideal and this one
entailed laboring through heavy beam seas. At any time the convoy
might be diverted to avoid U-boats. The Royal Canadian Navy oper-
ated the western leg from St. John's, Newfoundland, and the Royal
Navy the eastern.’'

In formulating a plan for the president the navy found itself
divided on Atlantic strategy. In mid-June, the Admiralty, picking up
on Roosevelt’s suggestion of using Iceland as a transshipment point,
suggested that, given the westerly drift of the Battle of the Atlantic,
the ABC-1 agreement be changed to assign the Support Force des-
troyers to St. John’s, Newfoundland, home base for convoy escorts
in the western Atlantic, instead of to the United Kingdom. American
assumption of escort responsibility from North America to Iceland
would release British and Canadian escorts for thicker protection in
the eastern Atlantic and on other routes.” Now skeptical of an
American declaration of war implementing ABC-1, the hard-pressed
Rovyal Navy preferred a bird in hand to two in the bush.

With this recommendation Admiral King agreed, but for different
reasons. He faced a task of growing difficulty in husbanding the Sup-
port Force destroyers for service in British waters while allowing for
necessary yard work, “working up,” and providing escort for his own
warships. This was not all. King had been chief of staff to Vice Admi-
ral Henry T. Mayo, commander of the Atlantic Fleet in World War
I. Mayo had strongly objected to the establishment in Britain of an
independent naval command under Admiral William Sims subordi-
nated to overall British direction. Stark had been on Sims’ staff and
history seemed to be repeating itself.”> On July 2, King wrote Stark
that in his view the dispatch of American forces to Europe under
existing war plans was outdated by extension of the escort system to
North America and American occupation of Iceland. Following the
cardinal principle that coordination of naval forces depended on
each having its own defined sphere of operation, the British and
American navies should switch tasks, the Americans taking over
escort in the western Atlantic and the British the American war
assignments in the eastern.’* King had opportunities of presenting



June: The Russian Factor 113

his views to the president, who was by now accustomed to dealing
directly and alone with the admiral. King, who wore the Navy Cross
and Distinguished Service Medal with Gold Star, and harbored “a
storm within him,” was not one easily to acquiesce in withdrawal of
ships from his command.”

Admiral Stark and his staff disagreed with King and the Admiralty.
British survival, they believed, depended on the earliest possible
American entry into the war and implementation rather than change
of the ABC-1 agreement. Iceland was strategically significant primar-
ily as it related to Britain, Stark insisted, and to antisubmarine war-
fare conducted in the Western Approaches, which remained the area
of greatest danger and where the Support Force belonged. This was
a view to which Churchill and Stimson, in their anxiety for Ameri-
can entry into the war, heartily subscribed.® Stark and Turner now
opposed establishing a base and garrison on Iceland.”” The island
looked to them like a dead end. Escort in the western Atlantic would
be useful only so far as it promptly produced an incident—and
war—which propelled the navy into British waters.

Admiral Stark warned the president that “every day of delay” in
getting into the war was dangerous. Only a “war psychology” in
America would lift production to necessary levels. He urged Roose-
velt to “seize the psychological opportunity presented by the Ger-
man-Russian clash and announce and start escorting immediately
and protecting the Western Atlantic on a large scale.” Western Hemi-
sphere Defense Plan Three, formulated while the president vaca-
tioned at Hyde Park and vetted by the Admiralty and Churchill,
embodied this all-out approach. According to the draft plan, the
United States would escort all shipping— American, Icelandic, and
British —as far as Iceland and destroy Axis forces encountered any-
where in the Western Hemisphere. Suspected Axis supply ships
would be searched. British escorts would be withdrawn except for five
merchant cruisers and twenty Canadian escorts. To these would be
added twenty-seven old and twenty-seven new American destroyers
(six squadrons) organized in escort units of five or six each. The six
battleships and five heavy cruisers of the Atlantic Fleet would be
available for convoy protection when raiders were loose. Action
along these lines, Admiral Stark believed, “would almost certainly
involve us in war.”®

The Atlantic Fleet was not prepared to go into action in any such
numbers immediately. The twenty-seven destroyers of the Support
Force were ready to fight, but at the moment thirteen of them were
escorting the marines to Iceland, not returning until July 21, and one
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was under repair. A third of the Atlantic Fleet destroyers, including
all but two of the Pacific reinforcements, were required just to escort
carriers, battleships, and cruisers. Newly completed destroyers of
Squadron 11 were assigned to the Support Force but some were
filling in as carrier escorts for destroyers undergoing overhaul.
Destroyer Squadron 13, also assigned to the Support Force, was still
completing; its first ship would be ready July 20 and all vessels would
need weeks for trials and “working up.” Squadron 27, old destroyers
in the Caribbean, the last addition to the Support Force, required
extended refit. One division (four ships) would be ready early in Sep-
tember, the other in October. On July 9 fifteen destroyers were imme-
diately available. By August the fleet could call on twenty-nine, by
September forty-three, and by October fifty. The force contemplated
for merchant convoy escort would not reach its promised strength of
fifty-four until the end of October.”

The Atlantic Fleet was still in transition, absorbing vessels from
the Pacific Fleet, reshuffling ships, divisions, and squadrons for com-
patibility and suitability to assignment, overhauling, refitting, and
repairing. Most of the fleet now operated from Newport, Rhode
Island. Argentia in Newfoundland opened as a naval base July 15,
but Iceland still lacked American base facilities. None of the logistical
services and only part of the elaborate communications networks
necessary for an international trade escort system were in place. Plan-
ning was just beginning.

The immediate capabilities of the Atlantic Fleet were not of critical
concern to Stark and his staff because they did not envisage a sus-
tained independent role for it, but rather a transitional one, trigger-
ing war and leading to combined operations with the British. Their
preferred course was Western Hemisphere Defense Plan Three with
its all-out escort and hemisphere-wide state of belligerency. On July
9, Stark presented the president with three alternatives. Roosevelt
may have requested options or the navy deemed it prudent to offer
them. In any case he could choose Plan Three or one of two less
drastic schemes: first, escort limited to American and Icelandic ships
bound for Iceland with attack on German submarines and raiders
which sought to interfere; and, second, the same limited escort with
attack on German forces anywhere in the Western Hemisphere.®

Roosevelt was not ready for all-out measures. Admiral King, who
was at the White House on July 9 and 17, probably resisted an imme-
diate all-out solution, arguing the unreadiness of his fleet. Time was
needed to sort problems and, in King’s words, “get correctly started
on this complicated situation.” Operational limitations went hand
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in hand with the president’s inclination to take one step at a time.
That step he took, however. Roosevelt’s decision was, as usual, a
blend of advice, yet peculiarly his own: American naval protection
would be restricted to convoys under American control and formed
on American and Icelandic ships, but British merchant ships could
join up. This more limited and, as the British said, “cumbersome”
approach became Western Hemisphere Defense Plan Four. One
advantage of the plan, aside from providing convoys with a figleaf of
American nationality, was that it provided for as many convoys as
the Americans could escort, not necessarily as many as sailed.*’

Designing an escort system under Plan Four proved to be
immensely difficult. With protection limited to convoys on the line
of communication to Iceland, planners had to determine how far
from a convoy U-boats posed a threat justifying attack by escorts. By
June the Admiralty was providing the Navy Department in Wash-
ington with daily convoy and U-boat locations.”” How was Washing-
ton to keep the American convoys and escorts informed!? Who
would divert convoys from newly discovered U-boats! How would
British ships and American convoys meet up? Who was responsible
for the safety of British ships joining a convoy? Who would make
British and American convoy schedules jibe and keep a ready supply
of escort vessels! Who would deal with a breakout by the Tirpitz?
How would Plan Four, restricting protection to convoys, square with
American responsibility under ABC-1 for the western Atlantic as a
whole, a command arrangement, by the way, which the Canadians
bitterly resisted?®

British, Canadian, and American naval officers labored through
the July heat in Washington to find answers to these questions. The
fellow traveler idea pressed by Harry Hopkins, providing an Ameri-
can-flag service which coincided with British convoys, proved impos-
sible: the Americans could not cover every convoy. Admiral King,
consulting with the president, then devised a plan for alternating
convoys with the Canadians, each navy contributing thirty escorts,
and agreement along these lines was reached July 22. However, the
president reversed himself and through Admiral Stark rejected the
agreement on the ground that it was impossible to enter into formal
undertakings with foreign authorities for the operation of American
naval forces, and so when Plan Four went into effect July 24, provi-
sion for combined convoys was withheld.®

A plan that would meet the president’s requirement of coopera-
tion but not combination proved impractical; a practical plan did not
meet the president’s requirement. The Americans were discovering
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that escort of convoy was so intricate an operation, especially when
multinational, that it could only be effected on a basis of political
intimacy of the powers involved. Once that was plain, Roosevelt
postponed putting into effect an integrated convoy system until his
meeting with Churchill at Argentia. Only after he had established
common peace aims with Churchill and thereby the political basis
for risking and waging war could he move to co-belligerency on the
Atlantic.

Postponement did not seem too harmful because the Battle of the
Atlantic turned sharply in Britain's favor during the summer. U-
boats faced short summer nights that curtailed the gathering of the
pack and less hunting time the further westward they cruised.
ULTRA provided the British and Canadians a supreme advantage
by near-current location of most submarines permitting diversion of
convoys around them. The Germans ascribed British knowledge of
their whereabouts in part to reports from American naval patrols,
which, they complained, “greatly hampered” operations. Discouraged
by slim pickings from North American convoys and constraints
imposed by the Fuehrer, the German navy shifted U-boats closer to
Europe and Africa where Luftwaffe planes could spot convoys. The
elimination of German supply vessels on the Atlantic in June made
further attacks on convoys by German heavy ships “almost impos-
sible.” In addition, BARBAROSSA drew the Luftwaffe away from
British ports and, as the summer passed, released British destroyers
from invasion guard. With these favoring conditions as well as end-
to-end escort, completion of new corvettes, transfer of American
Coast Guard cutters, more patrol planes, and fewer independently
routed ships, sinkings sharply decreased. Tonnage lost plummeted
from 432,025 in May to 120,975 in June. In fact, no ships in North
American convoys were lost from the end of June until the second
week of September

In the weeks before the Argentia Conference the Atlantic Fleet
expanded operations, but slowly, a step at a time. On July 30 the
battleship New Mexico, reaching the northern end of the patrol line,
kept on to Iceland instead of turning back. Thereafter battleships
ceased patrolling and stood guard at the Iceland base of Hvalfjordur
and at Argentia, though precisely what they were guarding remained
unclear. On August 5, possibly for experimental purposes, the Sup-
port Force formed its first unit of old and new destroyers, a mixture
required for merchant convoy service so that if old destroyers ran
low on fuel and broke off, the convoy would not be left unprotected.
On August 9, American ships moved directly into the convoy lanes.
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Powerful, heavily escorted task forces and small groups of Icelandic
ships or navy supply and auxiliary vessels, usually guarded by two
destroyers, passed close to British convoys but only seldom and then
briefly, almost coincidentally, traveled in company with them.”
Training and preparation for active service continued intensively,
but otherwise the fleet was mostly marking time, waiting for the
summit.

Many circumstances inhibited American intervention in the Bat-
tle of the Atlantic. Certainly Roosevelt had to move cautiously in the
face of opposition in Congress to the extension of Selective Service
and the dispatch of troops outside the Western Hemisphere to Ice-
land. Even so, given his other constraints, the president probably
considered that taking a step at a time but moving was a broadly wise
and prudent course and one generally congruent with existing public
sentiment. Hadley Cantril polls taken July 11 and 19 and sent to the
White House showed that the German-Russian war had not
decreased the percentage favorable to assisting Britain even at the
risk of war. Seventy-two percent wanted Russia to win and 4 percent
Germany. Further reason for caution was interception of more Jap-
anese messages indicating an impending move into Indochina. Roo-
sevelt would not want to overreach in the Atlantic while a crisis
brewed in Southeast Asia and would have all the more reason to
undetscore the defensive character of any move.®



Chapter 5

July
The Containment of Japan

The outbreak of war between Germany and the Soviet Union faced
Japan with a most severe dilemma. The lie of Japanese policy had
been increasingly toward the south, for resource acquisition and
imperial self-sufficiency, for sealing off China, for Axis collaboration
against Britain. The Imperial Army and Navy may not have had the
same reasons for supporting the southward trend, but they had rea-
sons running in the same direction, and these jibed with Matsucka
diplomacy, as evidenced by his pact with the Soviet Union. Now in
June 1941 the global balance had shifted as rudely as earlier it had,
in the opposite direction, with the Nazi-Soviet Pact of 1939. Now
Acxis collaboration pointed northward. The Soviet Union, instead of
being neutralized, would in all likelihood join hands with Britain and
the United States, increasing the isolation and encirclement of Japan.
Only three months earlier Matsuoka had dreamed of arraying Japan
with Germany and the Soviet Union; now the one had attacked the
other with only the briefest intimation of its intentions. For ten days
after June 22 the Japanese government struggled to regain consensus
and adjust its policies to the vastly altered circumstances.

Important elements swung behind an attack on the Soviet Union.
Russia had always been the Japanese army’s traditional foe and most
likely antagonist. Leading officers were sorely tempted to strike while
the Red Army was beset by invasion from the west. If the Soviet
threat were eliminated, the resources of eastern Siberia secured, Mos-
cow’s aid to China cut off, and the Anglo-Americans became preoc-
cupied with an all-powerful Germany, then the southward advance
could safely proceed. This seizure of the initiative was termed the
policy of the “green persimmon,” from the notion that the persim-
mon was better secured by shaking the tree while the fruit was green
than by waiting for it to ripen and fall. Matsuoka, once he had caught
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his breath, hastened to join the early harvesters, indeed to lead them,
as adherence to the alliance with Germany was the centerpiece of his
diplomacy.

Not all the generals and colonels were so bold. Soviet Far Eastern
forces had dealt severely with the Japanese Kwantung Army in bor-
der fighting at Changkufeng in 1938 and Nomonhon in 1939. More-
ovet, in June 1941 twelve Japanese divisions and 800 planes faced
thirty Russian divisions (twenty-six by July 2) and 2,800 planes. Even
allowing for the larger Japanese division, the Kwantung Army was
badly outnumbered and not yet deployed or supplied for attack. Fol-
lowers of the “ripe persimmon” strategy argued that mobilization and
teinforcement must come first. The general staff’s Kantokuen plan
called for beefing up the forces in Manchuria to twenty-two divi-
sions, with 850,000 men, requiring 800,000 tons of shipping, for
operations beginning August 29. This buildup would still not be
enough; conditions would not be ripe for attack unless the'Russians
also withdrew a major portion of their Far Eastern forces: one-half
their divisions and two-thirds of their planes. Accordingly, Japan’s
decision for war in the north, which would have to be taken by
August 10 to allow completion of operations before winter, would
depend on the course of the German-Soviet war and what demands
it made on Soviet forces in the Far East. Unless conditions to the
north were “extremely favorable” for attack, mainstream opinion in
the army held, the southward advance should proceed. Japan should
in any case choose its avenue of advance independently of Germany.

While the Japanese army could visualize an attack on the Soviet
Union in certain circumstances and made preparations, the navy was
totally opposed, not the least of its motivations being that a land war
would enhance the army’s call upon national resources and diminish
the navy'’s. Of wider import was the navy's argument that the Soviet
Union was likely to coalesce with Britain and the United States and
that war with the one would lead to war with all three, whereas a
southward advance leading to war with Britain and the United States
was not likely to bring in a Soviet Union beset by Germany. The
fleet’s carriers would not be available to protect Japanese cities from
Soviet air power, naval officers pointed out to their army
counterparts.

A pliant naval leadership strongly influenced by aggressive sub-
ordinates on the naval war plans committee insisted on pursuing the
southward advance. The navy was determined to break out of what
it saw as ever-tightening Anglo-American-Dutch encirclement. It
took very seriously the offensive capabilities of the American fleet at
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Pear] Harbor, which, in war games of 1940, effectively attacked while
the Imperial Navy invaded the Dutch East Indies. From this lesson
the navy planners moved to the assumption that at some point the
southward advance would trigger an American embargo, that this
would force Japan to seize the Dutch East Indies for oil, and that war
with the Americans as well as the British and Dutch was bound to
result. This path of reasoning, always circling back to the presump-
tion of war with the United States, pushed Japan’s navy toward
acceptance of general war as a matter of planning and policy. Large
threats justified larger allocation of war resources, especially steel for
new ships, and the navy was not backward in its claims in policy
debates, contributing more than its share to the creation of a crisis
mentality. At the same time the navy needed time to prepare and it
recognized the risk of war with the United States, so accompanying
this fatalistic thinking and feverish argument was a sizable if subdued
strain of caution.

The army, for that matter, was not lacking in enthusiasts for a
southern policy. Key generals recognized the danger of a diffusion of
Japanese strength between north and south and the necessity of
coordinated army and navy action in the south. The next step in the
southward advance, acquisition of bases in southern Indochina,
would vyield critical staging areas for an attack on Malaya and Sin-
gapore. Pnompenh, Kompong Trach, and Siem Reap—Cambodian
sites for air bases—lay less than 400 miles across the Gulf of Siam
from invasion beaches at Singora, Pattani, and Kota Bharu. Beyond
the slender isthmus of Kra, which joined Malaya to the Asian main-
land, lay the Indian Ocean, Burma and the back door to China. Pro-
jecting into the South China Sea like a clenched fist, southern Indo-
china outflanked the Philippines and would carry Japanese power to
the very edge of the resource-rich Indies. In addition to the Cambo-
dian bases, the operation required sites in what is now southern Viet-
nam: Saigon and Cam Ranh Bay as naval bases and Da Nang, Soc
Trang, Nha Trang, and Bienhoa as air bases. The army insisted on
moving in troops as well, peacefully if the French acquiesced and by
force if they refused. The painstaking process of balancing opposing
views and stakes culminated July 2 in an Imperial Conference deci-
sion (the emperor present) that Japan would prepare in the north
and attack if the Germans were clearly winning. Meanwhile they
would secure a final departure line for attack in the south.!

While the Japanese government deliberated, American officials
speculated. They did not doubt that the new tide of war in Europe
could have large repercussions in East Asia, but they found it very
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difficult in spite of MAGIC to fathom what was, after all, a highly

conditional and ambiguous Japanese policy. They were aware of con-
ferences to thrash out differences day after day in Tokyo. Writing the
day before the July 2 Imperial Conference, President Roosevelt saw
what he described as a “real dragdown and knockout fight” going on,
the Japanese “trying to decide which way they are going to jump—
attack Russia, attack the South Seas (thus throwing their lot definitely
with Germany), or whether they will sit on the fence and be more
friendly with us.”* While the president viewed the question broadly
as a choice between two camps, his subordinates dwelt on more dis-
crete Japanese choices: attack on the Soviet Union, seizure of bases
in southern Indochina, attack on Malaya and the Dutch East Indies,
watchful waiting, improvement in relations with the United States,
or some combination or sequence of these.?

Initially, the predominant feeling among military and diplomatic
officials was that Japan would attack the Soviets. The opportunity to
remove the perpetual menace in the north, if feasible, would prove
enormously tempting. This view was strongly reinforced by decryp-
tion of a message from Matsuoka to Berlin for Ribbentrop just after
the Imperial Conference of July 2. Japan, it said, was “preparing for
all possible eventualities” and “keenly watching developments” in
eastern Siberia so as to join Germany in “combatting the Communist
menace.” British officials, who must have decrypted the same message
at the same time, correctly emphasized the “preparing” and “watch-
ing” and concluded that Japan would not move northward “for the
present.”™

The Americans, especially the navy, were less conditional’ The
commandant of the Third Naval District in New York reported that
a source close to the Japanese business community there expected a
war on Russia about July 20. Reports from China also indicated an
attack northward.® In this forecast of northward advance the influ-
ence of Admiral Kelly Turner is apparent. The dogmatic and domi-
neering chief of War Plans, who insisted on control of intelligence as
well, became all too confident of his knowledge of Japanese ways
acquired from a whirlwind ceremonial visit to Japan in 1939 as cap-
tain of the cruiser Augusta. Believing that the admirals he met then
were not inclined to risk war with the United States, and dedicated
to the Europe-first strategy, Turner was easily swayed by evidence of
a northward thrust.” But the Japanese admirals he met in 1939 were
not of the same ilk as those in control in 1941.

This early sense of imminent Japanese-Soviet war diminished as
July wore on. British advice that Japan would wait and see and the
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fact that the Kwantung army was not strong enough yet led to the
correct conclusion that the northward advance was dependent on
the progress of the German invasion of Russia, though at what point
Japan would feel confident enough to attack was impossible to say.
Perhaps the fall of Moscow.?

At the same time, however, reports from American consuls in
Mukden, Dairen, and Harbin provided impressive evidence of the
seriousness of Japanese preparations. Beginning July 18, these told of
a swelling stream of Japanese infantry, cavalry, and artillery troops
arriving in Manchuria and, using coolies and draft animals, passing
north to strategic locations within reach of the Soviet border. The
embassy in Tokyo reported a large-scale secret mobilization of
reserves. Grew asked for information about the progress of the Ger-
man offensive, as this, the embassy believed, would determine the
Japanese attitude.” Throughout July a large question mark hung over
Japan’s intentions in the north.

On the other hand, British and American officials had no doubt
about Japanese intentions toward southern Indochina. MAGIC pro-
vided a full account from Tokyo’s messages seeking Vichy's consent:
that an expeditionary force of 40,000 troops was being sent, that
Japan would use force if Vichy refused, that Vichy must respond by
July 20, that the French did indeed bow to Japanese demands that
day, that an agreement was worked out July 23, and that Japanese
troops were prepared to disembark July 24—which they did."”

Nor did officials doubt that southern Indochina was the penulti-
mate and not the ultimate stage of the southward advance. Suggestive
of Japanese army thinking was a MAGIC intercept translated July 19
which reported that military authorities in Canton considered that
the object of the Indochina occupation was “to launch therefrom a
rapid attack” on Singapore with an ultimatum to the Dutch. This
telegram especially worried Stimson because it implied that Singa-
pore could be taken by only one division, but he was reassured by
his staff that the Malay Peninsula was so narrow that two divisions
could hold the Japanese and that they would have to attack Hong
Kong and the Philippines at the same time, landings beyond the
capabilities of the Japanese navy.

Japan did not seem likely to take the final step immediately. Amer-
ican naval intelligence knew that the bulk of the Japanese fleet was
in home waters. It lay anchored in full view of the public at Yoko-
hama on July 8, and the captain of an American ship sighted three
carriers and seven battleships maneuvering off the southern tip of
Kyushu on July 16. The Japanese government sought to reassure the
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British and Americans that their intentions were limited to Indo-
china; the bases in southern Indochina were not “jumping off places.”
Hollow as these assurances sounded for the future, they seemed to
put a period on Japanese advance for the moment."

Yet MAGIC was a source of daily disquiet. According to inter-
cepts, Japan was ordering its shipping in the Atlantic to hasten to
the Pacific, clearing the Panama Canal by July 22. A probable reason
was fear of seizure in American ports in reprisal for the Indochina
advance, but it also seemed likely that the ships were needed for
troop lift to Manchuria or some other large-scale impending opera-
tion. On July 5, American officials detained a Japanese freighter at
Manila with a cargo of chrome for the United States but with sched-
uled intervening stops at Japanese ports. Messages passed back and
forth between Tokyo and Japanese embassies and consulates con-
cerning disposal of codes, documents, and property if “worse came to
worst.” Japanese intelligence designated Mexico City as headquarters
for reporting about the United States in case of a break in relations.
It suggested ways of tying down American forces: for example, by
fomenting rebellion in Guatemala, leading to American armed inter-
vention. Intercepts of messages between Tokyo and the embassy in
Washington discussed use of American blacks as spies and agitators.
The time had come to send home portraits of the emperor, which
held a revered place in every Japanese mission abroad. From U.S.
Treasury officials came word that Japanese firms were liquidating
their assets in the United States. Apprised of some of this intelligence
by Welles on July 10, Lord Halifax concluded that the situation with
Japan was “deteriorating rapidly.”"?

MAGIC gave the impression of a Japan on the move, one way or
the other, or both, not immediately but soon. It reflected the oppor-
tunism of Japanese policy and its dependence on external develop-
ments, as well as the sense of urgency and of momentous departure
that prevailed in Tokyo. What MAGIC could not capture were the
fissures, doubts, crossed purposes, least-worst choices, and misappre-
hension that shaped the Imperial decision of July 2. The result, even
taking into account the north-south ambivalence, was a picture of a
more confident and resolute and therefore more fearsome Japan than
was really the case. Yet it is hard to imagine how the truths might
have been discovered, given the secrecy of Japanese policymaking
and the virtual elimination of American embassy contacts with influ-
ential Japanese. Ambassador Grew, nine years in Japan and sup-
ported by an excellent staff of foreign service officers, many of them
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fluent in Japanese, despaired: he had never had “greater difficulty” in
keeping his government informed."

So far as diplomacy was concerned, Japanese-American relations
were a wasteland in July 1941. No sooner did sprigs of flexibility and
interest in negotiations appear than they were scorched by the
increasingly confrontational postures of the two powers. And these
sprigs were scarcely promising to begin with.

At least Matsuoka was no longer an obstacle. The high-rolling for-
eign minister had put himself out of favor with the military by insist-
ing on an immediate attack against the Soviet Union and, given the
Hull statement of June 21, he was regarded as an insuperable obstacle
to further talks with the Americans. He symbolized the German con-
nection, which so far had produced nothing but unpleasant surprises
for Japan. On July 16 the Konoe cabinet resigned and was reconsti-
tuted without Matsuoka.'* Before this, in an interview with an Amer-
ican newsman, Prince Konoe had stressed the defensive nature of the
Axis alliance and his desire to improve relations with the United
States.” Ambassador Nomura, in a talk with Admiral Turner,
insisted that Japan held in its own hands the decision as to when the
military claims of the alliance came into effect. Japan would in any
case act only for its own (and not Germany's) purposes.'® Hull, at the
request of the Japanese embassy, withdrew his offending statement of
June 21 aimed at Matsuoka, and Tokyo sent a revision of the April
draft understanding; the way seemed clear for resumption of diplo-
macy.'” In Tokyo, Grew had been encouraged by the cabinet shift.
The new foreign minister, Admiral Toyoda Teijird, who spoke
English well, seemed keenly interested in improving relations, Grew
concluded on July 23 that Japan would adopt a less dynamic and
more independent foreign policy. He would not venture to predict a
new orientation or rapprochement with the British and Americans,
but he mentioned it.'*

This was the day before Japanese troops landed in southern Indo-
china. A MAGIC intercept of a July 19 message reassured Germany
that the cabinet shift had not changed Japan's foreign policy and that
it remained “faithful to the principles of the Tripartite Pact.””® On
July 23, Acting Secretary Welles, in his most solemn and Olympian
manner, informed the Japanese counsellor of embassy that the occu-
pation “constituted notice ... that the Japanese Government
intended to pursue a policy of force” and was the last step before
conquest of territories in Southeast Asia. In view of these consider-
ations and at the request of Hull, he concluded, the American gov-
ernment could see no basis for the continuation of the Hull-Nomura
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talks.”® The following day Roosevelt, anxious not to close all doors,
made one more gesture, suggesting to Nomura the neutralization of
Indochina, but acknowledged the proposal might be too late.
Nomura barely mentioned it to Tokyo.”

Not only was diplomacy impossible in the context of armed
advance but also the Japanese-American agenda, as it had year after
year in the past, was lengthened by one more knotty problem.
Increasingly British and American officials turned to consideration
of military and economic measures for stopping Japan's advance in
any direction. They were affected not simply by the increased threat
from Japan and the poverty of diplomacy. They were also impatient.
Preoccupied with the greater threat of Germany and in particular by
the large strategic consequences and possibilities of the German inva-
sion of Russia, they found Japan’s new intents immensely provoking.
The evidence these provided of further strains in the Axis alliance
was reassuring, but a Japan pursuing a more independent—and
unpredictable —course was in some ways more disconcerting. A dra-
matic change in fortune of the European war was in the making,
either for much the worse or much the better, along the roads to
Leningrad, Moscow, and Kiev. The Americans were on the point of
intervening in the Battle of the Atlantic, but could not fight two wars
at once. Somehow Japan must be boxed in and neutralized; East Asia
must be disconnected from the central problems of war and defense.

One obvious course was to deter Japan by strengthening and, so
far as possible, combining the East Asian forces opposing Japan: the
British Commonwealth, the Dutch in the East Indies, and the
Chinese. The possibilities for coalition-building had greatly
improved. The threat of a Soviet-Axis combination, which lurked in
the background of Matsuoka diplomacy, had disappeared. Not that
Russia was joining the anti-Japanese front; it was preserving the
strictest neutrality. But the rapid development of Soviet ties with
Britain and the United States had to weigh in Japanese calculations.
The German-Soviet war provided Roosevelt with a superb oppor-
tunity to do what he did so well, to enlarge the realm of common
values and friendly relations for the United States. At the same time
it left Japan more isolated.

MAGIC provided abundant evidence of Japan's sense of encircle-
ment by enemies. For example, Japanese officials reported 431 Amer-
ican aviators and technical experts had arrived at Chengtu on July
15 and another 450 were at Manila en route to China. Ten B-17
bombers were said to have arrived at Rangoon for shipment to
China, together with 220 trucks. The Americans were building air
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bases in southwest China, according to an intercept from Nanking.
Tokyo noted a great disparity between what Chungking was asking
for and what it was getting, but the ties seemed closer. Shanghai
heard rumors of a secret Chinese-American understanding for the
expansion .of the Chinese air force and American use of Chinese
bases. A secret agent reported that B-17s had the range to fly to
Tokyo from China, raid the city for two hours, and return. The
appointment of Owen Lattimore as Chiang's personal aide meant
more British, American, and Soviet assistance for China, Shanghai
reported, and more cooperation between Kuomintang and Com-
munist forces. Tokyo warned of an American-British-Dutch-Chinese
bloc which could join with the Soviet Union in attacking Japan.
Nomura despaired of the increasing determination of the Dutch,
British, and Americans to protect the “Malay Barrier” with “con-
certed air and submarine defense.” Japanese officials in the Dutch
East Indies, according to MAGIC, noted the presence of American
naval officers in Soerabaja and of British and Australian army officers
in Batavia. The British and Americans were, in Tokyo’s words, “act-
ing like a cunning dragon seemingly asleep.” This stream of intelli-
gence reflected and enhanced Japanese fears that their nation had
enemies in all corners.”

From the American point of view this Japanese talk of encircle-
ment was absurd, for they were having the greatest difficulty building
what would later be described as “situations of strength” against
Japan. The British and American navies could not agree on a com-
bined plan for the defense of the “Malay Barrier.” The ADB-1 plan,
formulated by British Commonwealth, Dutch, and American mili-
tary representatives at Singapore in April, found little favor in Wash-
ington. Stark and Marshall rejected it July 3, hastening perhaps to
ensure that the British did not act during the crisis on the assump-
tion of greater American support than they were going to get. The
plan was too slanted toward British imperial interests: Singapore,
Burma, the Indian Ocean trade routes, and Australia. It reflected Lon-
don’s east-west strategic perspective, whereas the Americans operated
on a north-south axis. With Japanese naval power in the mandates
between the Philippines and Hawaii, American access to its colony
in war was necessarily from the southwest Pacific; Admiral Hart was
expected to retire southward through the Makassar Strait and the
Moluccas toward the arc of islands forming the Dutch East Indies.
The ADB plan, however, would send him, train and all, west to Sin-
gapore under British command.
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Furthermore, ADB was much more positive about the Philippines
than the Americans felt at the moment. It urged the building of air
bases there for the bombardment of Japan, a form of warfare which
Japan with its inflammable cities “particularly fears.” The current
American view was the traditional one: that the islands could not be
held for long. They could be outflanked by Indochina on the west
and the Palaus on the east. The U.S. Pacific Fleet was a deterrent of
course, but remote from defense of the “Malay Barrier.”

The failure of ADB planning did not mean the absence of coop-
eration. The navies were getting to know each other and cach other’s
bases and waters. An ADB communication system linking naval con-
tingents, based on a Dutch machine cypher, was established and
arrangements for exchange of encrypted Japanese intercepts and
decrypted values were being made. Furthermore, ADB conceptions
were beginning to influence American strategic thinking about the
Philippines. Even so, at the moment the coalition was a hollow
shell.?’

No British or American battleships—and only one 10,000-ton
British carrier—were stationed between Alexandria and Pearl Her-
bor. At the “Malay Barrier” the American-British-Dutch coalition
could muster eight cruisers (with another six in Australia and New
Zealand) and twenty-four destroyers, the American portion being
one heavy cruiser, one old light cruiser, and thirteen World War I
four-stack destrovyers.

However, the battleship situation in the Atlantic was beginning to
improve, and the British were raising their eyes at last to the forma-
tion of an Eastern fleet. Once the Americans took responsibility for
guarding Denmark Strait, which awaited Roosevelt's conference with
Churchill, four old British battleships on convoy duty in the western
Atlantic could be refitted and sent to the Indian Ocean. The new
American battleships North Carolina and Washington were undergo-
ing trials, and H.M.S. Duke of York was due for completion by the end
of the year.”* Admiral Stark took up with the Admiralty once more
the question of assigning American battleships to Gibraltar to relieve
British capital ships for the east. The American navy may have had
in mind sending the new battleships when completed to Iceland and
the Idaho, New Mexico, and Mississippi to “the Rock,” their original
assignment under ABC-1, but without Mediterranean responsibili-
ties.”” These prospective reinforcements, together with completion of
repairs on other British battleships and bomb damage to the Gnei-
senau and Scharnhorst, would turn the naval balance in the Atlantic
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in Britain’s favor. And so combined naval planning against Japan
was not as futile as it seemed.

While prospects brightened for an Eastern fleet, the defense of its
base, Singapore, seemed ever more problematical. Lacking enough
troops to defend the 500-mile-long Malay States colony, the British
had decided in 1940 to rely on air power to keep the Japanese at a
distance, but then found it possible to gather only 180 of the 336
aircraft required, and most of these were obsolete. The small and only
partially trained army-—three divisions and one brigade—with little
artillery and no tanks had to spread out through jungle country, with
few roads, to defend the airfields. Japanese landings at Singora and
Pattani on the Thai peninsular coast just north of Malaya, from
which beachheads they could strike south along the main line of
communication and outflank the airfields, would be impossible to
prevent unless Britain pre-emptively invaded Thailand at least four
days before the Japanese struck. Such an operation not only posed
logistical problems; it also raised the question whether the United
States Congress would be prepared to declare war and join forces in
the event of British aggression. No solution to these strategic dilem-
mas was in sight. Furthermore, first claim on British reinforcements
was held by the Middle East Command, which planned an offensive
for November.?

The British desperately needed help as the Japanese approached
the doorstep of the British empire in July 1941. The Chiefs of Staff
and defense committee of the War Cabinet debated the next move.
How could Japan be deterted!? By a warning that the next move
would mean war? But where to draw the line? At Malaya, all of Thai-
land, or the southern tip of Thailand? Should Britain now promise
assistance to the Dutch? Could Britain take any measures without a
guarantee from the United States? Would any warning have effect if
not joined in by the United States! As officials of the Foreign Office,
the military and the cabinet went round and round these questions,
it became clearer that the key to Southeast Asian defense for Britain
was a joint British-American warning to Japan based upon obtaining
an American guarantee of help. Soundings were taken in
Washington.”

The view from outside the war was very different from inside it.
American officials were disinclined to bring matters to a head with
Japan. What mattered were outcomes in Russia and on the Atlantic.
A sense of weakness in East Asia and fatalism about the probable
course of events there prevailed. The Department of State briefly
considered a suggestion from Winant for a regional defensive alli-
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ance. If the imperialist stigma could be removed by elevating India
to dominion status, then a coalition of British Commonwealth
nations and China would be sufficiently attractive to the American
public to allow a pledge of support.?® This was cast aside, undoubt-
edly because it was inconceivable that Churchill would permit a
change in the status of India. Welles allowed that the United States
would inevitably be involved if the Japanese attacked Singapore or
the Dutch East Indies, but not necessarily if they attacked Thailand.
This was a personal opinion, he said, not a governmental promise.
The Americans ruled out minatory language.”

Nevertheless, in spite of all this negativism, the American strategic
view of Southeast Asia was beginning to change. The shift was
detectable not in broad theater terms but on the narrower question
of reinforcement for the Philippines.

Gradually, barely perceptibly at first, the United States Army was
coming to view the Philippines not as a strategic liability after all but
as an asset. The generals and colonels had to come far. In the tradi-
tional view the islands were indefensible and not worth a large mil-
itary investment. American army officers and men there numbered
less than 11,000. All the airplanes, about 165, were obsolete. The larg-
est American infantry unit was the 31st Regiment. At the last it
would defend the beaches of Corregidor, denying Manila Bay to the
enemy for as long as possible, but, as everyone understood, not long
enough for the Pacific Fleet to arrive in time.® A naval observer
reported to Admiral Stark that the army planned in the event of war
to tell the Japanese that Camp John Hay and Fort McKinley were
non-military zones for women and children.”’ The army believed that
American forces in the islands together with the Philippine Scouts
would delay and to that extent perhaps deter a Japanese attack on
Singapore and the Dutch East Indies. The British Chiefs of Staff dis-
agreed: the Philippines was not a serious deterrent so long as the
United States would not reinforce it.”

The strategic shift had begun early in 1941. A Wat Plans Division
recommendation of October 1940 for withdrawal of American armed
forces from the islands for lack of a policy for holding them met with
strong dissent in the General Staff. As War Plans had pointed out,
the world situation and defense spending were changing the prem-
ises, creating perhaps the need and before too long the capability of
a firmer stand. In January, Washington approved an increase in the
strength of the 31st Regiment from 1,107 to 1,653, and the Philippine
Scouts from 6,415 to 12,000, together with an increase of 1,500 in
coast artillery troops.” In February 1941, General Douglas Mac-



July: The Containment of Japan 131

Arthur, military adviser to the Philippine government, offered a plan
for the defense of most of the Philippines. He had the quaint idea of
defending the Visayas, the host of islands lying between Luzon and
Mindanao, by guarding the passages inward from the oceans with
coastal defense guns, mines, and torpedo boats. The 12-inch guns he
requested were unavailable, but Marshall and the president approved
8-inch and 155-caliber substitutes.”® Each month the gates opened a
little wider; by July even scarce, modern P-40 fighters were approved.

American determination to achieve more credible deterrence and
the increasing availability of matériel and manpower in 1941 partially
explains this new disposition to reinforce. But equally significant was
a rising determination in the face of increasing Japanese threat to
defend American interests and possessions in East Asia. Strategic
write-offs seemed irrelevant; the fundamental human passion for
defending one’s own was aroused. Nations seeking American help
and protection would not be impressed by abdication of responsi-
bility for defense of the Philippines.

The Japanese advance into southern Indochina brought a new
stage of American commitment. On July 26 the president, following
plans laid earlier, called the Philippine army into service and placed
it with United States Army forces in a new combined command. The
same day MacArthur was recalled to duty in the American army and
appointed commander. The immediate substantive difference was
negligible since the Philippine units had little in the way of ofhcers,
weapons, and training. And Washington had no intention of rein-
forcing by as much as an infantry division; Europe retained its stra-
tegic priority. Nevertheless, the raising of an army of 120,000 in the
Philippines and the more direct American responsibility for their
defense were evidence of a new determination and were intended to
be.

An anti-Japanese coalition was inconceivable without China,
which so absorbed Japanese manpower and resources, including one
and a half million casualties in four years of war.” China’s plight was
painful and worsening: a drying up of aid from Russia since the
Soviet-Japanese Pact, accelerating inflation, demoralization of the
army, and still only a trickle of supplies finding their way through
from the United States. Washington pressed on with existing pro-
grams such as currency stabilization, improvement of the Burma
Road, and Lend-Lease supplies. In July, Claire Chennault’s Flying
Tiger pilots were sailing for Rangoon and China aboard a Dutch ship
escorted through the Japanese Mandates by two American heavy
cruisers. At the same time, in American priorities China always
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ranked after Britain, and now after the Soviet Union with its vast
needs, and, since supply was too small for these and American needs,
China got the left-overs. American dissatisfaction with Chungking’s
slack prosecution of the war, the persisting failure of the Kuomintang
and the Communists to unite and turn on the enemy, importunate
and ill-considered requests for supplies—such as tanks too heavy for
Chinese bridges—Chinese corruption, and the daunting size of
China’s needs shrank enthusiasm for new undertakings. Roosevelt
offered praise and encouragement at every opportunity but kept his
distance. He never answered Chiang directly, he told Morgenthau on
July 10. He urged transmission of reports of Japanese troop and plane
withdrawals from the Chinese front (probably for redeployment to
Manchuria) to the Chungking government with the suggestion that
“one or two powerful attacks on weakened Japanese positions might
do real good at this time.” An astute British observer described Roo-
sevelt as “willing to give Chiang Kai-shek just enough, but no more
than enough, aid to continue the war and counteract the defeatists
in Chungking.”*

A stimulus for Chinese morale seemed essential, nonetheless.”” On
July 23, Roosevelt approved the sending of an American military
mission in China to assist in procurement, transportation, and use of
Lend-Lease war matériel. Though the mission would act under cover
of the military attaché’s office for the time being, it established for the
first time a direct military connection with China. Roosevelt also
approved the dispatch of 269 additional fighters and 66 bombers to
China and promised to train Chinese pilots to fly them. All the
planes were marginal or obsolete so far as the British and American
services were concerned and none would be ready until November,
The Chinese spoke longingly of B-17s but none were available. Even
so, the inclusion of bombers, an offensive weapon, meant another
firebreak had been crossed. Gaining ground was the idea of using
China as a base for bombing attacks against Japanese cities, particu-
larly incendiary raids. Japanese fears that the United States would use
China against them, at least looking ahead to 1942, were not entirely
misplaced.

In contrast to the military program of the ABCD coalition, which
for the time being was more show than substance, American eco-
nomic measures against Japan were a tightening band of steel. The
settled policy of not cutting off export of oil for fear it might precip-
itate Japanese seizure of the Dutch East Indies remained in effect, but
step-by-step curtailment in the spring of 1941 steadily reduced the
flow. Earlier restrictions had been ineffective. After the prohibition
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against export of aviation-grade gasoline and lubricating oil in July
1940, Japan greatly increased its purchases of all other petroleum
products, including especially gasoline of an octane rating and oil of
a viscosity just below the prohibited levels, which could either be
used in Japanese airplanes or converted for such use.

Evidence of Japanese stockpiling prompted export control officials
to seek further restrictions on quality and a reduction in the quantity
permitted to peacetime levels, before the war with China. While
awaiting a policy decision, they withheld approval of new export
licenses. None had been issued since April 8. At the same time the
government, concurrently with the British, exerted pressure on oil
companies to withdraw tankers under foreign charter from the Japan
trade. With American-flag tankers already unobtainable, the Japanese
had to depend on their own fleet and in fact were unable to move
all the oil for which they had licenses. A sizable freighter traffic in oil
was sharply reduced by a ban on export of steel drums. A further
impediment arose from American assistance in hauling British oil
from the Caribbean to East Coast ports to compensate for heavy
British tanker losses to U-boats. The resulting gas shortage in the
Atlantic and Gulf states led to a ban on oil exports from there to
other than British Empire ports. By July the cumulative effect of
these measures was a decline in oil exports to Japan, and in fact in
Japan’s oil stockpile as well.”®

But perception lagged behind restriction: Japan seemed to be get-
ting more oil than ever. In the ten months after the aviation-gas
embargo the Japanese took away almost four times as much gasoline
as they had taken in 1939 and almost three times as much lubricating
oil. Five million licensed gallons awaited shipment. Two million more
gallons had been applied for. Shipments from California in May were
the highest in ten months—over two million barrels—on account of
a coincidence in tanker sailings, according to the board chairman of
Stanvac.”® Photographs and stories of Japanese ships loading oil infu-
riated Americans, who were reported to be two to one in favor of
taking steps to keep Japan from becoming more powerful, even at
the risk of war. They bitterly criticized continuing shipment of oil to
Japan. It was “incomprehensible.” Why should people in the eastern
United States give up their Sunday drive so Japan could carry on war
with American oil “to extinguish the lamps of China™ It was
“ghastly” how we were letting Japan “pile up” oil to attack us with,
said Morgenthau.*

Once Japan'’s purpose in Indochina became evident in July, the
sentiment for oil sanctions became overpowering. Cabinet hawks—
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Stimson, Ickes, and Morgenthau in particular—led the way. Hull was
a distant, wavering voice from White Sulphur Springs. His Far East-
ern Division, steadfastly a restraining influence, was weakening. Only
the navy held out against shutting off Japan’s oil. Admiral Turner in
a memorandum circulated to the president and Welles argued that a
Japanese attack on Russia was more likely than on the British and
Dutch, in which case the United States could intervene in the Euro-
pean war without concern for the Pacificc However, a complete
embargo was likely to send Japan south and possibly lead to a Pacific
war, which would be contrary to American strategic interests."

Roosevelt seemed at first to lean against further restrictions. Would
it be advisable, he asked Lord Halifax, to exert maximum economic
pressure now! Would it “work as a deterrent”? Or would it precipitate
Japanese action southward? The United States, he reminded the Brit-
ish ambassador, could not fight both wars at once. Dearly wishing to
know which way the president’s mind was working, the British
replied that their strongest card was Japan's fear of war with the
United States. It was imperative to choose a course that would main-
tain Japan’s uncertainty about oil supply.¥”

The president’s concerns were many and contradictory. He was
anxious to deter an attack on Malaya and the Dutch East Indies,
which he regarded as vital because of their resources and British sup-
ply in the Middle East, but he was not prepared to make a critical
issue of southern Indochina itself, which seemed important only as a
stepping stone. To draw the line precisely, the American response
would have to come after the Japanese moved into southern Indo-
china. Economic pressure had not been ineffective in the past accord-
ing to Stimson and Morgenthau, who in 1940 had pointed out that
in 1918 during the joint Japanese-American intervention in Siberia,
restriction on the export of American cotton had made fapan more
cooperative.” Yet Roosevelt did not want to precipitate a further
advance by cutting off Japan’s access to oil entirely, nor anger Japan
with a formal embargo. If Japan was to have some oil, a rationale and
prescription of quantities and qualities were necessary. On the other
hand, public prescription was something of a commitment, making
oil policy less unpredictable and more dificult to change.

Thanks to MAGIC, Roosevelt had two weeks to ponder these con-
flicting objectives and sift suggestions from two Cabinet meetings,
consultation with the British and discussions among State and Trea-
sury officials. On July 12 Tokyo instructed its ambassador at Vichy
to see Pétain and present Japanese demands for bases in southern
Indochina. Military occupation would take place in any event, the
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Marshal was warned; if the French wished it to be peaceful they must
accept the demands. Vichy acquiesced. Japanese troops landed at Sai-
gon July 24. By the time of Vichy’s capitulation Roosevelt was ready
with a response.

He put together a three-tiered system for the control of trade with
Japan. At the public level he froze Japanese assets in the United
States, just as in June he had frozen German and Italian funds. The
Japanese now not only had to secure a license from the agency
responsible for controlling export of products related to national
defense; they also had to secure a license approved by an interde-
partmental committee to unblock dollars to pay for the oil before it
could be shipped. But no embargo: no new prohibitions, quotas,
restrictions; indeed no public guidance at all as to what the trader
might or might not ship; in short maximum uncertainty.

At the policy level, but not publicly, Roosevelt did indeed plan
new restrictions reducing the quality of gasoline and lubricating oil
and the quantity of other petroleum products permitted. These, as
soon as they could be drawn up, would guide the decisions of the
export control authorities. A system would exist for Japan to get oil
but the Japanese could only guess what kind and how much from
transactions approved or disapproved. Finally, at the operational
level, the means would exist to halt shipments abruptly without
notice or change of regulations. As E. H. Foley, a Treasury official,
pointed out, the freezing control was “a very flexible instrument.” For
now, licenses for dollars would be granted as export licenses were
presented, but “any day,” the president said, funds could be denied,
with immediate effect on shipments. The new system was decided
upon at the Cabinet meeting of July 24 and the freezing order pro-
mulgated on Friday, July 26, after the president had left for a week-
end at Hyde Park.*

The British and Dutch followed suit but in a state of puzzlement
and annoyance. They welcomed the firming trend of American pol-
icy but feared it would not be carried far enough to stop the Japanese
in their tracks but far enough to bring the Japanese down on them.
They wanted close consultation, joint action, and American guaran-
tees of support. This would be the moment for a joint warning.”
Roosevelt, as he demonstrated July 24 in disapproving plans for a
combined convoy system, was not ready for close collaboration with
Britain before meeting with Churchill at Argentia. At the moment
he was intent on establishing a trade control system, not an embargo,
and was divulging to no one—probably was himself unsure—how
far he would carry it. Thus the British and Dutch had no idea what
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they were tying onto. In fact each cable from the British embassy in
Washington left the Foreign Office more confused. Rather than be
accused of weakness, however, they renounced their trade treaties
with Japan, froze Japanese accounts in sterling and guilders, and set-
tled down to see what the United States would do next.*

The democracies had vet to bite, but the implications for Japan still
were enormous. American ownership of much of the oil in Latin
America and the Good Neighbor policy of consolidating relations—
military, political, and economic—with Western Hemisphere nations
ensured that Latin American policies would move more or less in
step with the United States. American, British, and Dutch companies
owned all the oil of southeastern and southwestern Asia and were
working in the closest collaboration with their governments.*” With
the British Commonwealth, the Dutch East Indies, and the Western
Hemisphere in a position to stop doing business with Japan, and with
access to Germany closed, Japan risked having all trade cease beyond
the zone of its military control.

While the United States was beginning to “stiffen things up all
along the line” against Japan, to quote A. A. Berle, the German offen-
sive in Russia was losing momentum.”® Army Group North faced an
ever-widening front and thick, swampy forests. Panzer leaders Rhein-
hardt and Manstein waited impatiently at the Luga River, eighty
miles from Leningrad, for infantry and supplies to catch up. The
Panzer groups of Army Group Center had encircled Smolensk, but
Guderian’s had become embroiled with a ragged but fierce Russian
counterattack to the southeast in the Yelnya-Roslavl area. Movement
along the high road to Moscow had ceased. Army Group South, on
the other hand, was now making rapid progress. Kleist, having con-
centrated his three Panzer corps west of Kiev, sliced southeast, and
soon his tank columns were combing the Ukrainian wheatlands.
Beyond the Dneiper lay the rich Don basin, boasting “wheat as tall
as a shaft and potatoes big as a wheel,” but Kleist had yet to cross the
river in force.*

In late July the German army was worn but not severely damaged.
It had reached its first-stage objectives and was capable of further
enormous strides and annihilating blows. But it had failed to destroy
the Red Army in the frontier battles. It had used up its rations and
left is railheads and supply dumps far behind. The army was so short
of trucks that it was using Russian horse-drawn wagons. Army Group
Center was receiving only eight to fifteen of the twenty-five provi-
sion trains it daily required. By mid-July the wear on machines and
men was beginning to tell. Exhausted tank crews fought for days with
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hatches closed. Engines, sprockets, and tank treads were giving out.
The combat strength of the fast forces in Army Group Center was
60 percent of normal, that in Army Group South 40 percent.’®

On July 19, Hitler ordered a halt in the advance on Moscow and
sent the fast forces of Army Group Center north to assist in the
attack on Leningrad and south to join in the envelopment of Kiev.
Generals of that army group, particularly Guderian, strongly
objected, arguing that it was vital to smash on and capture Moscow.
In fact, Moscow was beyond the reach of the Germans for the time
being. The shock of discovering that the Red Army was much bigger
than expected and was feeding fresh divisions constantly into the
battle; the widening gaps between formations as the front broadened,
leaving Russian armies, however disorganized, wedged into the open
flanks; guerrilla attacks in the rear; the chilling expanse of Russia; and
the bravery and stoicism of the Russian soldier—all these factors
dampened enthusiasm for smashing eastward immediately. But most
important, the supply situation made a pause for replenishment not
only advisable but inescapable. During the last ten days of July this
“monstrous awe-inspiring war of movement” became relatively
static.”

President Roosevelt learned of these developments the way most
Americans did, by reading the newspapers. The American embassies
in Moscow and Berlin were slow to pick up the trend, in the former
case because of a tendency to discount Soviet claims, and in the latter
because information was so scarce. Newspapers, lacking correspon-
dents at the front, depended on war communiqués. In the battle of
the communiqués the Germans for once had little to offer, leaving
the field to the Soviets, who were not slow in grabbing the headlines
to claim full credit for stopping the German offensive. And these
claims were eye-catching, usually in four- to six-column headlines.
Berlin only enhanced their impact by alluding to fighting around
Smolensk as the “greatest and bloodiest battle in history.”

First reports of the stalemate arrived July 21. The New York Times
headline that day was RUSSIANS REPORT NAZI DRIVES
HALTED IN FOUR SECTORS WITH HEAVY LOSSES. Compe-
tent observers were reported to have said that the blitzkrieg had been
braked. The Russians had stood their ground near Smolensk for five
days now, the Times reported. Could they hang on until autumn? In
June the time until the autumn rains and first frosts had seemed uni-
maginably long. Now one could count the weeks; comparisons with
Napoleon’s campaign appeared.
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Every day now reports of German difficulties and Russian resis-
tance appeared. On July 24, in the headline announcing Vichy's sur-
render of bases in southern Indochina was word that NAZIS ADMIT
RUSSIANS SLOW DRIVES. Berlin acknowledged “extremely fero-
cious counterattacks” by fresh troops. Over the weekend, while the
president was at Hyde Park, the Russians were said to be holding
firmly, in fact to have smashed three German divisions. Monday, July
28, a Soviet spokesman described the blitz as a “washout.” The Ger-
mans had captured Paris in thirty-six days, he pointed out, but were
nowhere near victory on the thirty-seventh day of their Russian cam-
paign. So far, the New York Times wrote, the Germans had failed to
capture Leningrad, Moscow, Kiev, or Odessa and had suffered losses
beyond expectation. This was indeed “slow-tempo Blitzkrieg.”

On July 29 the Russians made their first direct and positive claim
that the German offensive had failed: NAZI DRIVE BROKEN, RED
ARMY ON OFFENSIVE, RUSSIANS SAY was the four-column
Washington Post headline. German losses were said to be “staggering,”
the invasion timetable “completely upset.” Hanson Baldwin that day,
under the headline “Winter Looms as Red Ally,” wrote: “The future
history of the world is being written in the struggling melee of tanks
and planes and men on the 2,000-mile front.” The Washington Post
now considered June 22 possibly the most significant date in World
War II. Unless the Germans could get another equally big offensive
going, it claimed, they might have to fight General Mud and General
Frost.”

Reports from American diplomatic missions, few as they were, con-
firmed news accounts of a stalemate. The State Department was
reduced to pleading with its legation in Bern, Switzerland, a key news
center, for any information, no matter how exaggerated or
unfounded, about the progress of the campaign and German reac-
tion to it.”> The embassy in Moscow dwelt on the Soviet evacuation
of that city, but Rome reflected Italian pessimism: to officers returning
from the front Russia looked like a “second China.” Vichy consid-
ered the Red Army to be proving stronger than anyone suspected.
Admiral Darlan said German soldiers were exhausting themselves
“simply shooting down the masses of men thrown against them.”*

Washington was impressed. Berle, warning against sentimentalism
about the Russians, conceded on July 31 that the German invasion
was “already a failure.” He estimated German losses at 900,000. In fact
that day they reached 213,301.” Stimson, who received an intelli-
gence briefing from General Marshall on July 28, was somewhat more
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cautious: the Germans seemed to have “stubbed their toe” but suf-
fered a half-million to a million casualties. He likened Russian guer-
rilla resistance to the French ambush of General Braddock in the
French and Indian War. Colonel Philip Faymonville, the army’s
expert on the Soviet Union, expected organized groups of Russians
to hold out indefinitely.*®

Marshall also briefed the president, who impressed Morgenthau as
being “much more forceful” than he had seen him for some time.
According to Marshall’s information, Roosevelt said, German tank
engines wore out after 200 hours or forty days’ use because of inferior
lubricating oil. Whether the technical information was accurate or
not, the president had hit upon a key problem of the German army
in Russia at that moment. It is possible that Roosevelt also saw at this
time a memorandum by former ambassador to the Soviet Union
Joseph E. Davies, who had access to the White House. In this paper
he emphasized how much Soviet industry lay far to the east between
Kuibyshev and Krasnoyarsk, beyond the immediate reach of the
Germans. The week of July 28 a Soviet military mission was in Wash-
ington and lost no opportunity of stressing Soviet determination and
confidence. The “charm and optimism” of its leader, Lieutenant Gen-
eral F. . Golikov, did much to offset the pall cast over relations by
Qumansky. From all sides President Roosevelt was receiving infor-
mation and assurance that the Soviet Union had a good chance of
surviving the German onslaught until the rains and snows came.”

Roosevelt returned Monday, July 28, from his long weekend of rest
and thought at Hyde Park with his interest in aid to Russia greatly
intensified. He learned that most Soviet requests were stalled. In some
cases the American cupboard was bare; in others the British or Amer-
ican armed services retained priority. Soviet orders were hasty and
improvised, numbing in their extent, vague in particulars and gen-
erally confusing. Ambassador Oumansky was consistently boorish in
seeking help, and many American officials remained profoundly sus-
picious of all things Soviet in providing it. Nevertheless, it was hard
to deny that the German-Soviet war provided “the longest and the
deepest front and the fiercest fighting known in this or any other
war,” as Oumansky claimed, and that the Soviet Union was bearing
“the brunt of the German might.”®

Morgenthau expressed the view now held by the president that
“this was the time to get Hitler.” The Russians “have just got to get
this stuff and get it fast,” wrote the Treasury secretary:



140 JULY: THE CONTAINMENT OF JAPAN

We will never have a better chance. ... {Slomebody has been looking
over this country and the good Lord has been with us, but we can't
count on the good Lord and just plain dumb luck forever.

The president let fly at the Cabinet meeting on August 1. For
forty-five minutes he lectured his principal advisers and especially a
“thoroughly miserable” and smoldering Stimson on speeding up aid
to Russia. He accused them of giving the Russians the runaround. He
was “sick and tired of hearing that they are going to get this and they
are going to get that,” he said in a rare outburst of anger. “Whatever
we are going to give them has to be over there by the first of October,
and the only answer | want to hear is that it is under way.”

On July 26 the president had approved Hopkins' request to fly on
from London to Moscow to learn what the situation on the Russian
front was and what they needed most. He was received with extraor-
dinary attention by the Soviets, indicating “the extreme importance

. attached to his visit.” Hopkins cabled on August 1 that he was
“ever so confident about this front,” mentioning the “exceptionally
good” morale of the Russians and their “unbounded determination
to win.” The next day, in the absence of Hopkins, the president put
Wayne Coy, one of his best administrators, in full charge of expedit-
ing aid. “Use a heavy hand,” he ordered Coy, “~—act as a burr under
the saddle and get things moving.” He had told the Russians, he
added, that he was dividing aid into two categories: high-priority
matériel that could get there for use in battle before October, and the
rest later. After October 1 the weather would curtail operations, and
“if Germany can be held until then, Russia is safe until spring.” Clos-
ing his orders to Coy he said, “Step on it!™®

Coy got some results, but weapons could not be made out of thin
air. The Russians asked for 3,000 P-40 fighter planes and were prom-
ised 200, of which 141 came from British stocks; the rest were shipped
August 25, lacking spare parts. Scrambling, Coy found some toluol
(for explosives), aluminum, and machine tools—but in nominal
quantities. Most valuable were authorized shipments of 315,000 tons
of aviation gas together with lubricating oil and tetraethyl lead, as
well as encouragement in Soviet chartering of American tankers to
assist in delivery. What the left hand was denying the Japanese the
right hand was providing the Russians. The Russians asked for 3,000
bombers and got five. They asked for 20,000 anti-aircraft cannon and
machine guns and got none, 5,000 anti-tank guns and got none,

25,000 M1 Garand rifles and got 1,000 For waging a battle he
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regarded as decisive, the president had painfully little to offer besides
tokens and promises.

In the light of this intense new interest in the survival of the Soviet
Union which arose in the last days of July, Roosevelt and Welles were
loath to permit any shipments of oil which might encourage or per-
mit a Japanese attack on the Soviet Union. Ten Japanese divisions—
300,000 soldiers—were now reported to be in Manchuria, and there
was talk of a Japanese blockade of Vladivostok. Even restricting
Japan to the average petroleum purchases of 1935-36 would permit
shipment of over five million barrels of crude and 445,000 barrels of
gasoline in the balance of 1941.% A shipment now would be the first
authorized since April and would be regarded as an affirmative state-
ment about Japanese-American relations. In any case, officials
engaged in export control considered a delay of two weeks advisable
before any exchange permits were approved, in order to devise quo-
tas and quality standards and coordinate policies with other
governments.*’

On July 29, Acheson informed the Foreign Funds Control Com-
mittee that he had discussed the matter with Welles, “who thought
that for the next week or so the happiest solution with respect to
Japanese trade would be for the Foreign Funds Control {sic} to take
no action on Japanese applications.” A week later the president and
Welles would be on the way to Argentia and so the likely intent was
to extend the withholding of action at least until the Roosevelt-
Churchill conference. On August 1 all valid licenses for export of
petroleum products were revoked. As Lord Halifax saw American oil
policy on the eve of the president’s departure, the intention was not
to be lenient, but to “keep the Japanese in a state of uncertainty.” He
detected an “overriding wish” in spite of quotas to deny certain qual-
ities of oil to Japan, especially California crude and blending agents.®*
American officials were already considering the Soviet Union as a
silent and limited partner in the containment of Japan. On July 4,
Grew was instructed at the special request of the president to inform
Prime Minister Konoe personally of American concern at reports
that Japan had decided to embark on hostilities against the Soviet
Union. He was to to warn the Japanese that any such move would
“render illusory” American and Japanese efforts to strengthen “the
peace of the Pacific.” A week later, to Halifax, Welles confided that a
Japanese attack northward no less than a move into southern Indo-
china would bring on an American embargo.®
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Roosevelt undoubtedly believed that he would be in a better posi-
tion to decide just how much oil to allow Japan after reviewing this
and all the other connecting problems with Churchill and their
advisers. Delay, of course, made any affirmative action on oil more
difficult and a de facto embargo would increase the risk of war with
Japan. On the other hand, there were reasons for believing thet an
embargo might not precipitate a Japanese attack southward. Hamil-
ton pointed out on July 31 that Japan was weaker economically and
now open to attack from all sides. Grew reported that the new Jap-
anese foreign minister, Admiral Toyoda, was greatly distressed and
dejected by the freezing of assets. He had hardly slept in the past few
nights. Roosevelt wired Churchill in satisfaction that their concur-
rent action seemed to be “bearing fruit” “I hear their Government
much upset and no conclusive future policy has been determined
on.™ A policy of maximizing Japanese uncertainty and insecurity
seemed to be having a useful effect. It would certainly have public
support. The State Department noted that editorials were making an
“almost unanimous and very insistent demand for a firmer stand in
the Far East.” Even some risk would be worthwhile if a Japanese
attack on the Soviet Union could be prevented. Any security Japan
might find in resumption of oil shipments or in fact any improve-
ment in its relations with the United States might encourage it to
move with Germany against Russia, the survival of which now, at the
end of July, was a matter of vital importance to the United States.®®

This new strategic conception enhanced the importance of the
Philippines. The president saw Marshall and Stark on July 30. The
following day at his staff conference the general said that it was “the
policy of the United States to defend the Philippines,” an unexcep-
tional statement in itself, but in the shifting strategic context one of
significance. Clearly the White House meeting had produced a
change of attitude, not to the extent that Far Eastern defenses would
be allowed to “jeopardize the success of the major efforts made in the
theater of the Atlantic” by so much as the dispatch of an infantry
division, for example, but at least to a new sense of the value and
possibilities of holding the Philippines.” Central to this new confi-
dence was the idea of using the islands as base for strategic air power
against Japan.

The early summer of 1941 was an important moment in the his-
tory of the United States Army Air Forces. The air branch was gain-
ing greater autonomy thanks to reorganizations instituted by Stim-
son, Marshall, and Assistant Secretary for Air Robert Lovett.”
Production of modern airplanes was just beginning to rise: B-17s
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from six a month at the end of 1940 to twenty-five in June; P-40s
from nineteen in February to 126 in May and sixty-eight in June. In
May the president ordered production of heavy bombers increased
to five hundred a month. He considered no single item more impor-
tant.” Yet the British, Chinese, and now the Russians were siphoning
off new production. Enthusiastic exponents of air power, committed
to precision daylight attacks by large formations of heavy bombers,
Air Corps leaders, such as Major General Henry H. Arnold, were
unable to gather and retain enough planes to form a central strategic
command. At one point that year GHQ Air Force had three pilots
for every plane.” In war the air force would have a central role to
play in the destruction of German industry. Short of war it lacked a
strategic mission and was vulnerable to pressure from the navy for a
larger proportion of aircraft production facilities.

Air Corps hopes and plans centered on the B-17 heavy bomber,
the Flying Fortress, twenty of which had been sent to the Royal Air
Force. Officially and publicly they were a success, but General Arnold
knew better: reports of misuse, malfunction, and aborted missions
began arriving in May. This early version had too few machine guns
and flew at great heights to escape the Messerschmide 109s, so high
that bombing was less precise, windows frosted over, guns jammed,
and oxygen equipment failed. British crews lacked adequate training,
Air Corps officers believed; they failed to fly in tight formation; they
were using an inferior bombsight: American frustration mounted
with the criticisms. As of the end of July no mission had been a suc-
cess, and eight of the twenty planes had been lost or disabled. The
British were using the other heavy bomber sent, the B-24, to ferry air
crews and matériel across the Atlantic or to hunt submarines.”

In March, Arnold, in a complaint not unlike that of Admiral King
about destroyers, had warned Marshall that “piecemeal reinforce-
ment” of the British violated General Pershing’s principle that Amer-
icans must fight in American units under American command. It pre-
vented formation of our own “striking force,” he complained to
Lovett in May.”

Once the army began to take an interest in the defense of the Phil-
ippines, the islands’ advantages for projection of air power became
evident. The navy had been urging a buildup since early 1940.”
Crete provided army war planners only the latest proof that no sea-
borne expedition could succeed without command of the air. The
Norwegian campaign and Battle of Britain in 1940 were other exam-
ples. “The best protection against hostile landings consists of well-
sited air bases and a powerful, balanced, intrepid air force,” advised
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the military attaché in Cairo after a study of the Crete campaign.™
Such a force in the Philippines seemed perfectly situated not only to
defend the archipelago but also to interdict hostile movements across
the South China Sea aimed at the Dutch East Indies and Borneo.
Shuttling between Manila and Singapore, Batavia, Darwin, and Port
Moresby on New Guinea, B-17s could provide a web of air power
that might give meaning to the concept of a “Malay Barrier” and
supply the deterrent force which the British and American navies
were unable to provide. Furthermore, southern China, Formosa, and,
with use of Soviet bases, even the home islands of Japan would lie
within range of B-17s based in northern Luzon. In the Philippines
project the Air Corps saw the opportunity to protect its position,
prove its principal weapon and advance its central doctrine. Stimson,
Marshall, and the planners were ready to be convinced.

On July 16 the intelligence section of the Air War Plans Division
advised the development of mid-Pacific island airfields for heavy
bomber passage. It considered inadequate a policy which “in the light
of the present international situation,” failed to develop and make
use of “airdromes for land-based aviation in the Far East and Aus-
tralia.” On July 18, General Arnold recommended allocating four
heavy bombardment groups (272 B-17s with 68 in reserve) and two
more pursuit groups (130 P-40s) to the Philippines, as they became
available in the next eight months.”

Before making such a large commitment, Marshall and undoubt-
edly the president wanted to await strategic discussions with the Brit-
ish at Argentia. The Air Corps would have to prove it could fly them
there too, but it was confident: the B-17s of the 19th Bombardment
Group had flown as long a leg as was needed when they successfully
completed a flight from California to Hawaii in May. Various routes
to the Philippines were considered: Nome-Vladivostok-Changsha,
and Brazil-Freetown-Khartoum-Karachi-Singapore. The most prom-
ising appeared to be Hawaii-Midway-Wake-Port Moresby-Darwin,
and officers were immediately dispatched to investigate landing con-
ditions and fuel supply at these points.® A squadron of B-17s from
Hawaii was designated to pioneer this air route. “The presence of a
squadron of those big ones would give the Japanese some bad
moments,” observed General Marshall.”

July was a wonderfully clarifying month to Roosevelt and his
advisers. The German attack on the Soviet Union together with
mounting evidence of the Russians’ ability to sustain resistance made
it conceivable to marshal forces sufficient to defeat Nazi Germany.
Where in the spring the forces of aggression had seemed awesome
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and victory imponderable, it now seemed a realistic, calculable objec-
tive. On July 9 the president ordered the services to estimate how
much total production would be required to defeat the nation’s
potential enemies.

The incalculable component of this global scheme of ordered force
was Japan. The German-Soviet war had intensified Japan’s expan-
sionism, its opportunism, and also its unpredictability. Whether
Japan went north or south it threatened to upset the improving bal-
ance of forces. This careening expansionism must be stopped. Japan
must be boxed in, contained, immobilized. The strongest weapon was
economic: embargo was a deterrent, or, if stringently applied, pow-
erfully coercive. Coalition diplomacy, military aid, demonstrations of
firmness, and deployment now and in coming months of naval and
air reinforcements would, it was hoped, keep Japan within bounds.
The risks of war would increase, but the risks of inaction, in the
global calculus, seemed greater.

Roosevelt could see the whole picture now. In July he was forceful,
impatient with delay, pressing upon events, so different from the
reserved, withdrawn president of the spring. His decisions were still
tentative, depending on the outcome of his conference with Chur-
chill, but he knew what direction he wanted to take. Would they find
a satisfactory peace program justifying the risk of war by intervention
in the Battle of the Atlantic? How much of the still slender product
of the “Arsenal of Democracy” should go to the desperate Russians,
and how much to the British and the increasingly insistent American
armed forces? How rigorous should the embargo against Japan be?
These were questions to turn over as Roosevelt entrained for New
London the evening of August 2 to begin his journey to Newfound-
land and the Atlantic Conference.



Chapter 6

August-September
Crossing the Threshold

At New London on Monday, August 4, President Roosevelt boarded
the yacht Potomac ostensibly for a cruise along the New England
coast, but after a day of well-publicized boating and fishing in Buz-
zards Bay he slipped into nearby Vineyard Sound to rendezvous with
Admiral King’s flagship Augusta. Early the next morning he boarded
the heavy cruiser, which, with another heavy cruiser and five
destroyers, immediately departed for Newfoundland. Steaming at
high speed in spite of fog, the task force arrived at Argentia on
August 7, one day before Churchill’s earliest possible arrival in the
Prince of Wales and two days before the scarred British battleship
entered the bay.! Though the American Lend-Lease base was on Brit-
ish territory, Roosevelt was determined to welcome the prime min-
ister to North America.

During the trip and the wait, the president received radio messages
corroborating news accounts of the German slow-down in Russia.
Welles arrived by air on August 8 with the latest intelligence. Dis-
patches indicated that the cool and skeptical attitude maintained by
the embassy at Moscow was changing. On August 2 it had reported
that the German drive had halted or slowed and that the Russians
were manifesting “definite optimism.” Three days later it judged that
“determined and courageous Soviet resistance” as well as the need for
resupply had brought a respite, which the Soviets were likely to put
to good use and further delay the German advance. Such a delay, the
embassy concluded, would have a vital bearing on the “ability of the
Soviet armies effectively to engage the bulk of the German armies
until the advent of winter” and if necessary to withdraw eastward
while continuing to fight?

The embassy at Berlin sounded an even more positive note. Heavy
as Soviet battle losses appeared to be, it reported August 2, the “stop-
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ping even temporarily of the German offensive” more than compen-
sated for them. On August 6 the embassy conveyed information
from a source it considered reliable that Hitler had turned over the
Russian campaign to the high command and left for Obersalzburg to
plan future operations. The German schedule for defeat of the Red
Army by August 15 and occupation of European Russia by Septem-
ber 30, it was said, had been modified “owing to unforeseen stubborn
Soviet resistance.” Especially disturbing had been the discovery of a
second Soviet defense line of more than 100 fresh Soviet divisions
east of the so-called Stalin Line. Now the Germans aimed for the line
of the Volga by winter, still a vast ambition but short of victory. Ger-
man propaganda, the embassy reported on August 7, had been coun-
teracting public uneasiness over the “unexpected difhiculty” of the
eastern campaign and the prospect “which has only recently been
widely realized within Germany that the war as a whole will go into
another winter.,” On the basis of this sort of information, British
intelligence officials were concluding that a German invasion in 1941
now seemed very unlikely and that the German objective in Russia
would be consolidation.?

On arrival at Argentia the president called a conference of his mil-
itary advisers, including Marshall, Stark, and Arnold, and gave them
a glimpse of his intentions. Prominent in the review was his decision
to increase the number of B-17s in the Philippines from a squadron
of nine planes to a group of thirty-six. “That was a distinct change
of policy,” Arnold later reminisced. “It was the start of a thought to
give General MacArthur weapons for offensive operations.” A
squadron of B-17s could do little more than assist in the defense of
the islands, but a group could attack or threaten Japanese territory.
To use General Marshall's words to his British opposite, General Sir
John Dill, at the coming conference, the reinforcement of the Phil-
ippines would act as a “serious deterrent” to Japan, especially in the
winter months which were more suitable for high-altitude bombing.
Roosevelt furthermore stated his intention to send twenty-eight P-
40s a month to Russia for September, October, and November. That
the Philippines project was linked in the president’s mind with the
Russian situation is indicated by the fact that Arnold in his outline
notes of the meeting placed the dispatch of the B-17s alongside the
dispatch of the P-40s to Russia under the overall heading of “Russia.”
The object was not simply to deter a southward advance but a north-
ward advance as well.’

Boarding the Augusta immediately upon arrival in the Prince of
Wales was “Hurry Upkins” with full reports of his talks in Moscow.
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Wasted by illness but fiercely determined, Hopkins had flown back
to Scotland in time to join Churchill for the voyage to Argentia. In
conversations on July 30 and 31 he had found Stalin cooperative,
forthcoming, and vitally concerned to secure help from the democ-
racies. Hopkins undoubtedly found it curious to hear the leader of
the Soviet state, which Churchill had described that spring as “an
amoral crocodile lurking in the depths,” condemn Hitler Germany
for lack of moral standards, but now, at least, views of Germany
coincided.’

At their second conference, with Maxim Litvinov as translator the
only other person present, Stalin gave the first detailed exposition of
the progress of the war so far provided the West. “Merely because
German forces pierce the Russian line does not mean the Russians
are lost,” he pointed out. Soviet mechanized forces were fighting far
forward of their lines and with partisans were seeping in between the
Panzers and the follow-up infantry. This infiltration forced the Ger-
mans to disperse their tanks and infantry to protect their lines of
communication. With this difficulty and the lack of good roads, the
Germans were finding that “moving mechanized forces through Rus-
sia was very different than moving them over the boulevards of Bel-
gium and France.”

Pressure on his army in the last ten days had considerably lessened,
Stalin went on; the Germans were tired. It would be difficult for them
to continue the offensive after September 1 when the heavy rains
began, and after October 1 they would have to go on the defensive
for the winter. “He expressed great confidence that the line during
the winter months would be in front of Moscow, Kiev and Lenin-
grad — probably not more than 100 kilometres away from where it is
now.” To capture the bulk of Soviet munitions plants, German forces
would have to move 150 miles east of these centers. For the May 1942
campaign Stalin expected to mobilize 350 divisions. In rough com-
parison (the U.S. division was bigger), Roosevelt expected to have
twenty divisions ready by the end of 1941.7 Stalin’s assessment con-
tained much that was true about the battle at the moment. Needless
to say, it was as positive as he could make it and far more positive in
claims for the future than the staggering losses and bad generalship
of the Red Army and the strength of the replenishing Wehrmacht
justified.

The most urgent Soviet needs, according to Stalin, were light anti-
aircraft guns, aluminum for planes, machine guns and rifles, and for
the longer term tanks, planes, steel, oil, and other matériel already
requested. Stalin urged American entry into the war and the most
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intimate cooperation, even to the extent of welcoming an American
army on the Russian front and sharing Soviet tank designs. But by
the next spring, he said, the problem of supply would be acute.

Hopkins carried out the president’s instruction to deal with Soviet
requests for aid in two categories: what could be delivered immedi-
ately—Ilargely token quantities; and what could be shipped for a war
that lasted into 1942. Long-term needs, Hopkins advised the Soviet
leader, could be addressed at a conference in Moscow, at which
American, British, and Soviet representatives would allocate muni-
tions according to the strategic value of each front as well as national
interests. Taking his cue from Stalin’s statement that the Soviet front
should be stabilized by October 1, and mindful that it would be “very
unwise” to hold a conference until it was established “whether or not
there was to be a front,” Hopkins tentatively suggested a mecting
about that date. The Russians were to be given maximum encourage-
ment to fight on with token American assistance now and hopes for
1942 until the immediate outcome was clear. What could then be
offered would be far more substantial and encouraging than the pit-
tance that could be provided now.

Hopkins also conferred with Foreign Minister V. M. Molotov
about Japan, the latter betraying considerable unease about the pos-
sibility of a Japanese attack on Siberia. He gave Hopkins the impres-
sion that “the Japanese would not hesitate to strike if a propitious
time occurred.” The one thing which would prevent it, said the
Soviet, was some kind of American warning—meaning, Hopkins
supposed, a statement that the United States would come to Russia’s
assistance if Russia were attacked by Japan. Hopkins replied that his
government shared these concerns but had no desire to be provoc-
ative. Nevertheless, he would convey this message to the president}®

The dominant cast of Argentia was gray, from the bleak, misty hills
and cove to the warships riding at anchor. Enlivening the scene were
pinpoints of colot in flags, uniforms, and gleaming brasswork and the
hum of small boats scuttling between the British battleship and the
American cruisers. In spite of the convenience of the remote spot as
a secret rendezvous, the symbolic value of an Atlantic meeting, and
the delight both principals took in a naval encounter, the disadvan-
tages were considerable. The difficulty of shuffling officials between
ships, the constant burden of protocol for dignitaries aboard war-
ships, and the wariness each side had of the other—strangers with
differing purposes, one at peace, the other at war—led to a feeling of
disorganization and desultory, fragmented decision-making. This
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sense of aimlessness, however, and the lack of immediate dramatic
results should not belie the significance of the conference.

Argentia was a critical juncture in the evolution of Roosevelt’s
world policies. Churchill was right in saying that something big was
happening, “something really big,” and it was not just the cementing
of personal ties from the principals on down and the tears welling
up during the singing of “Onward Christian Soldiers” at a common
divine service on the afterdeck of the Prince of Wales, with American
and British sailors intermingled under the big guns. The importance
of Argentia lay not in radical departures and vivid consequences but
in the congealing of tentative policies devised in response to the
recent great changes in world politics and the balance of forces.

Roosevelt’s chief purpose at Argentia was to establish the political
basis for waging and winning the war. Not that he was seeking war.
Rather, he was about to embark on courses of action in the contain-
ment of Japan and protection of the Atlantic which carried distinct
risks of war, but which he nevertheless regarded as crucial for the
nation’s security. He desired a public declaration of fundamental
American convictions about the conditions of peaceful world order,
the sort of peace his countrymen would feel justified entry into the
war. At the same time he wanted it framed as a joint statement with
Great Britain, not issued unilaterally like Woodrow Wilson’s Four-
teen Points. He sought an international standard, a banner for the
anti-Axis coalition to rally around, and a promise for subjugated
peoples.

But first he wanted an answer to his question of July 14 as to
whether Britain had made any secret commitments to the Soviet
Union or any of the governments-in-exile regarding postwar rterri-
torial changes. London’s silence on this score was disturbing. How-
ever, Sir Alexander Cadogan, permanent under secretary of the For-
eign Office, came with assurances. In a long talk with Welles on the
first day of the conference, only a short time after the president and
prime minister had first met, he said Britain had promised Yugoslavia
in March to allow reconsideration of the status of Italian-owned Istria
after the war, hardly a “firm commitment,” he pointed out, but he
solemnly pledged that this was the only territorial undertaking his
government had made. Welles and Roosevelt were satisfied.’

Negotiation of a joint declaration of purpose was not completed
until the day of departure, but there was never any likelihood of fail-
ure; that, said Hopkins, was “inconceivable.” The Atlantic Charter,
as it came to be known, was mostly a restatement of familiar Wilson-
ian principles: non-aggrandizement, self-determination (with the
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“wish” for restoration of sovereignty and self-government to peoples
“forcibly deprived of them”), freedom of trade, freedom of the seas,
abandonment of force, disarmament, and ultimately, in some form, a
world security organization. Point Six offered a gentle vision of world
peace after the destruction of “Nazi tyranny,” one providing “all
nations the means of dwelling in safety within their own boundaries,
and ... assurance that all the men in all the lands may live out their
lives in freedom from fear and want.” The only serious disagreement
arose over free trade, with Churchill insisting that he must make an
exception for existing agreements for trade preference within the
Commonwealth, and Welles representing the deep-set convictions of
Hull and his advisers in favor of an unconditional open door. Roo-
sevele settled the matter by siding with Churchill."

The Atlantic Charter was unremarkable because most people in
the United States and Britain took for granted most of what it said.
No other vision of world order had any standing. The strength of
the Charter lay in the sharp contrast it drew between the multilateral
world vision of the democracies and the self-serving aims of the Axis.

Churchill’s chief purpose at Argentia, of course, was to range the
United States as closely as possible with Britain, and it was his par-
ticular concern to do this in respect to Japan. The British govern-
ment'’s preferred course of action was to secure a guarantee of assis-
tance from the United States, give one to the Netherlands for the
East Indies, and use these as the basis of an explicit warning to Japan
of war against further encroachment. Churchill expressed the view
of the Foreign Office when he said that the way to deal with Japan
was to use the “firmest language and strongest combination.” Indeed,
some in the Foreign Office argued for “even hastening the issue”
seeing this as the time, while Russia held out and the United States
tightened the economic screws, “to settle accounts with Japan.” Aus-
tralia pressed for an American guarantee for the opposite reason, the
glaring weakness of British defenses in Southeast Asia. Of particular
concern at this time were Japanese designs on Thailand, the next
domino after southern Indochina. The British reported they had a
secret message from the Thai prime minister that the Japanese were
demanding under threat of force military as well as economic conces-
sions. Japanese bases on the Kra isthmus would uncover the defenses
of Malaya. The War Cabinet in London understood that Congress,
not the president, had the power to declare war, but still believed
(and so informed Churchill aboard the Prince of Wales) that Roose-
velt might be induced to present an oblique war warning which they
could join in."
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Churchill agreed. The Americans were told that Britain had just
given a pledge of assistance, limited to the forces at Britain’s disposal
in the region, to the Netherlands in case of Japanese attack on the
East Indies. Now how far could the Americans go respecting an
attack on the Dutch and a movement into Thailand? Churchill pro-
posed simultaneous British, American, and Dutch warnings to
Tokyo that any further encroachment by Japan in the southwest
Pacific would result in countermeasures by those countries even
though these might lead to war. Further, according to the Churchill
draft, the United States would warn Japan that if the British went to
the assistance of the Netherlands, the president would request
authority from Congress to give them aid."

Roosevelt preferred a less precipitate approach. He had not
changed his mind about the need for irmness in dealing with Japan.
The period of “extreme patience” had come to an end, Welles told
Cadogan. Roosevelt was expanding the air reinforcement of the Phil-
ippines. He promised Churchill to maintain trade restrictions in full
force, though he did not explain what that meant, whether limiting
Japan to peacetime use of oil or continuing to withhold funds for
any oil exports. The trick, as it must have seemed to him, was to
curtail oil exports as much as possible without provoking Japan by a
formal ban. Furthermore, while at every step now Roosevelt was stiff-
ening policy, he was one to preserve as much flexibility as the situa-
tion permitted. The British did not learn then or for some time there-
after that trade had been suspended just before he left Washington.

In Welles’ view the time for warnings had passed. Only a few days
earlier he had pointed out to the minister-counselor of the Japanese
embassy, who was returning to Japan to report personally to Prince
Konoe, that if Japan persisted in its drive for overlordship in East
Asia and the south Pacific, hostilities were bound to ensue between
their two countries. Given its recent sharply increased opposition to
Japan, Welles told Cadogan, the American public was not likely to
tolerate a Japanese attack on the East Indies.”” Of course the Ameri-
can was describing an historical process whereas the British, seeking
deterrence, wanted sterner stuff. Nevertheless, a warning on the Brit-
ish model would in fact have been superfluous, for the principal Jap-
anese decision-makers had already concluded that an attack on
Malaya or the Dutch East Indies was bound to lead to war with the
United States.

Roosevelt understood that a Japanese attack on the Dutch East
Indies would result in war. He said as much on the eve of the confer-
ence: if Japan attacked there, “we are vitally interested and will do
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our utmost to get them out.”* But he was also undoubtedly influ-
enced by his belief that the American people had not reached the
point of supporting a declaration of war against Japan or Germany
and that it would be unwise to commit them farther down this road
than they had reached by themselves. It seems unlikely, however, that
he regarded this as a hindrance, for it fitted his own fundamental
belief that sound policy derived from American interest. British and
American interests, while congruent, were not identical. He spoke of
a vital interest in the Dutch East Indies but not in Singapore. He
preferred to take responsibility for escort operations in the western
Atlantic rather than to send an American destroyer force to the Brit-
ish Isles and to set his own course in adopting sanctions against
Japan. Yet he was not a nationalist rather than an internationalist;
he was both. He sought the most intimate cooperation, in fact coor-
dination, with Churchill. But he resisted formal combination and
commitment. Always he insisted on preserving control of the allo-
cation of American resources and the timing and nature of American
responses to Axis aggression.

Roosevelt’s main difference with Churchill was his reluctance to
bring matters to a head. He wanted a drying up of Japanese oil sup-
plies rather than a formal severance of trade, a sobering realization
not a sudden shock. A war warning, too, might precipitate matters
when delay was vital. He wanted at least thirty days for Anglo-Amer-
ican reinforcement, in which the first echelon of Flying Fortresses
might reach the Philippines and, as Churchill reported, “we may
improve our position in the Singapore area.”"”

An opportunity to play for time had just appeared. On August 6,
Nomura had delivered to Hull, now back at his desk, a Japanese reply
to the president’s suggestion of the neutralization of Indochina,
which had been lost in the swirl of events at the end of July. The
Japanese picked up Roosevelt’s proposal and offered a deal: Japan
would promise not to extend its military presence beyond French
Indochina and would remove its troops from Indochina upon settle-
ment of the China war provided the United States would halt its
military buildup in the region, restore normal trade relations, and use
its good offices to bring about negotiations with Chiang Kai-shek.'®
This would have been the worst kind of Munich. In return for Amer-
ica’s relaxing all pressures, Japan would promise no further expan-
sion. But the southern Indochina move would have to be accepted—
and thus somewhat validated —until the United States facilitated an
end to the China war. Roosevelt and Churchill agreed the terms were
impossible, but Roosevelt was interested in the fact that the Japanese
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couched their proposal as a response to his own and that they offered
negotiations. He proposed to take up the offer and enter into discus-
sions on condition that the Japanese make no move while the talks
were in progress. He would make no concessions and relax no pres-
sures but, as a Foreign Office official described it, “keep the Japanese
in play” for the next one to three months."”

Although he had no intention of appeasing Japan, Roosevelt
finally concluded he had to appease Churchill. After divine services
on the Prince of Wales the prime minister cornered Welles and
pleaded with him “in the most emphatic manner” for a “clear-cut”
warning. This was the only hope of preventing a war, he warned, in
which Japanese cruisers would play havoc with British imperial com-
munications in the Indian Ocean. Such a blow “might be almost deci-
sive” to his government.

The next day, Roosevelt outlined his delaying tactics and then
agreed to a war warning substantially in accord with Churchill’s draft.
He would tell Nomura that, if Japan refused these conditions for talks
or made further advances, “in his belief” the United States would
take certain steps in spite of his realization that these “might result
in war.””® The warning was not quite as unconditional as the British
desired, but it used the word war. Furthermore, the president
included Thailand in his neutralization proposal, in spite of the fact
that before the conference he affirmed that an advance into Thailand
should not be occasion for war. Presumably he was being educated
on the strategic importance of southern Thailand. And he was pre-
pared to extend the warning to include a Japanese attack on the
Soviet Union and to so inform Moscow. Welles, however, more
interested in the negotiations than the warning, advised a weaker
statement of unlimited applicability. The two principals approved.
No verbatim copy of the intended warning was given Churchill, but
Roosevelt assured him “on more than one occasion,” said Churchill,
that he would use the prime minister’s warning. “One would always
fear State Department trying to tone it down,” Churchill radioed the
War Cabinet August 12, “but President has promised definitely to
use hard language,” and in this apprehensive yet hopeful frame of
mind he left the issue. A message of his August 15 noted that the
promised American warning also covered the Soviet Union, so “per-
haps Stalin will line up, too....” Such a combination, with the Dutch
and Chinese, he believed, would keep Japan quict for a while.”

Roosevelt went to Argentia fully expecting to confirm the taking
over of convoy escort operations in the western Atlantic. This was
to be a fruit of the conference, a result of agreement about war aims,
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and so it was. Churchill took the initiative in his enthralling review
of the war situation aboard the Augusta the first evening of the con-
ference. The Royal Navy, he said, needed to withdraw its fifty-two
destroyers and corvettes from escort operations in the western Atlan-
tic to bolster convoy protection along the Gibraltar and West Afri-
can routes where submarines were now concentrating. The Ameri-
cans readily agreed. Roosevelt had told his advisers before Churchill
arrived that the United States must protect cargoes as far as Iceland,
in fact east of Iceland. Upon sending Hopkins to London in July he
had given him a map torn from the National Geographic upon which
he had drawn a line encircling Iceland some 200 miles to the east,
about halfway to the Faroe Islands, and then running west and south
as before along the 26th meridian. This was to be the zone of oper-
ations. Each convoy must contain at least one American or Icelandic-
flag ship. American war vessels would be restricted to convoy protec-
tion, a responsibility broadly though vaguely defined: it would be too
late for escorts to start shooting after an attack began, the president
told his advisers. The two navies aimed at starting American escort
on September 1.7

Iceland had manifold strategic advantages: as a base for North
Atlantic escort operations, as a link in the bomber ferry route, and
now as the staging point for Arctic convoys to Russia. This last was
a perilous route funneling a thousand miles between the Arctic ice
and German air and naval forces in northern Norway, but in Stalin’s
judgment it was the best. Vladivostok, he told Hopkins, was too far
from the scene of battle, and it was obviously vulnerable to Japanese
attack. The Persian Gulf-Iranian route was undeveloped. The Arctic
passage was at least more direct, Murmansk was ice-free, and the com-
ing fall and winter nights were protectively long. A British squadron
was already reconnoitering the route. By taking over convoy protec-
tion in the western Atlantic, the United States would help open up
a British convoy route to Russia for American and British war
material.?!

Iceland was also the northern bastion of the Atlantic line described
in Roosevelt’s speech of May 27. The new front in Russia eased but
by no means dissolved the president’s concern for protection of the
Atlantic. A stabilization of the front in the Soviet Union during the
winter, the desired outcome, would have the disadvantage of permit-
ting Hitler to withdraw the few divisions needed for a campaign
through the Iberian Peninsula to northwest Africa. The situation in
Spain, Churchill warned, was going from bad to worse. Hopkins
returned from Argentia “much churned up over the likelihood of
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the Germans or Spain making a drive to the south, including the
Atlantic islands—the Azores, Canaries, Cape Verdes.”?

No less concern was expressed over French North Africa. The Ger-
mans appeared again to be pressing Vichy for bases, and American
fears for Dakar once more intensified. Japanese “joint defense”
arrangements with the French for southern Indochina could serve as
a model. The Germans were said to be annoyed at Weygand’s collab-
oration with the Americans and to be pressuring Vichy to remove
Murphy from the North African scene. Murphy himself, the coolest
of observers, in an August 2 cable credited reports that “the tide in
Vichy is running rapidly in the direction of concessions to the Ger-
mans in French Africa.” Stimson fanned public concern August 15
in a radio address noting German efforts to secure an invitation to
Dakar. The government had reason to believe, he said, that a “major
advance” would be made by Germany into North Africa.?* In fact the
Germans had no such immediate intentions. It was an artificial crisis
probably stirred up by the French North African authorities to gain
American economic aid and by the Germans as well to divert atten-
tion from the Russian front.

Roosevelt, however, was not prepared to second-guess such
reports. The Atlantic barrier was no less a matter of vital interest to
him in August than it had been in May. From Argentia he ordered
implementation of plans to augment the Iceland garrison in early
September. Numbers were less a problem, however, since the British,
with invasion fears eased, were willing not only to retain their own
contingent but also slightly reinforce it. Now only 5,000 instead of
10,000 American troops were needed to reinforce the Marine brigade
already present.”

Security of the Azores presented less a problem as well. Portugal’s
President Salazar was now willing to accept American in place of Brit-
ish protection in case of German attack. The British could now trans-
fer their attention to the Canary Islands, which, Churchill informed
Roosevelt, they were preparing to seize after the September full moon
on the assumption that Hitler would “almost inevitably” occupy
Spain and Portugal, rendering Gibraltar unusable.”

Little more could be done to cobble up the southern approaches
to the Western Hemisphere. The army was planning expeditionary
forces for the Azores as well as Recife and Natal at the northeast
extremity of Brazil, the ports nearest Africa, but the troops and trans-
ports were nowhere ready. Admiral Stark told Admiral Pound, the
First Sea Lord, that he still planned to send a task force to Gibraltar
as provided for in ABC-1. Or if that base was unusable, to Freetown
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or South American ports. He was considering assigning the new bat-
tleships Washington and North Carolina to this southern blocking
force. They would in any event be held in the Atlantic.?

The Prince of Wales left Argentia on August 12 escorted by Amet-
ican as well as British destroyers. Memory of this heartening naval
clasp was soon lost in the North Atlantic mists as the British party
and, later, official circles in London, weary of two years of war and
one year of lonely struggle, canvassed the meager concrete benefits
of the meeting. The Soviet bid for vast quantities of American war
matérial along with their own needs and those of the American
armed services added up to far more than the Americans could pro-
duce. The two leaders followed Hopkins' advice in suggesting to Sta-
lin a meeting at Moscow about October 1 to decide how, when, and
where among the three nations war supplies should be allocated. Rus-
sia was indeed a “welcome guest,” as Churchill said, but it was a “huri-
gry table,” and in view of the president’s passionate concern to sus-
tain the Soviet war effort, British leaders were deeply worried about
having their own requirements met, especially for their forthcoming
Mideast offensive.”

The Atlantic Charter and the promised war warning were fine, but
where was the substance? The United States Navy was taking over
convoy protection in the western Atlantic—where U-boats were
scarce. The Stars and Stripes would not be flying at Londonderry and
Gare Loch after all, though work on the bases would continue. The
destroyers as well as long-range submarines of the ABC-1 war plan
would remain closer to home. No more Catalina patrol planes, the
type that had spotted the Bismarck, were available.”® Furthermore, the
new American battleships would not be available for assignment to
Gibraltar or anywhere else until the end of the year. In builder’s trials
the new lightweight machinery and hull form of the Washington and
North Carolina had produced severe vibration in the propeller shafts
at high speed which affected the fire control systems. “The problem
must have been terrifying,” says one authority, because all battleships
being built and some cruisers were following the same design.
Experts advised substituting new propellers with fewer blades.”
These experiments would take months. So with no more American
battleships coming from the yards or the Pacific, the Royal Navy
would gain no substitutes for any battleships it might send to Sin-
gapore. It was not difficult to imagine that Roosevelt intended to sup-
ply the war to a limited extent indeed and otherwise stand on the
sidelines.®
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The East Asian picture was no more encouraging. The Americans
were asking the British to reduce their allocations of certain items to
permit strengthening of the Philippines, which they argued would
assist Singapore. The Admiralty doubted the practical value of the
B-17 reinforcement of the Philippines. Americans had, they thought,
“rather exaggerated hopes of the effect of operations, particularly air,
from the Philippines against a Japanese expedition to the South
China Sea.” Given the American refusal to accept plans for the
defense of the “Malay Barrier” and British ignorance of how far Roo-
sevelt was prepared to go in restricting oil shipments to Japan, the
party aboard the Prince of Wales may well have voyaged eastward with
a sinking feeling.

Yet it would have been the wrong feeling. The importance of
Argentia was less what the two leaders agreed to than what Roosevelt
himself concluded. A burgeoning but still tentative interest in sup-
plying the Soviet Union became a firm determination. In fact, main-
taining a Russian front against Hitler became the centerpiece of his
world strategy, with large consequences in all theaters. He was ready
to enter the Battle of the Atlantic at the risk of war, tipping from
most benevolent neutrality to active belligerency, in order to forward
supplies to the Soviet Union no less than Britain. He was taking
advantage of Hitler's drive to the east and refusal to accept the Amer-
ican challenge on the Atlantic to intervene with less risk of war,
Avoiding a confrontation with Germany reduced the chances of war
with Japan. He thereby kept in abeyance the vast claims on American
production a declaration of war would entail. But it is hard to believe
that he did not understand that sooner or later, one way or the other,
this course of action would lead to war.

So far as Japan was concerned, he had three possible courses of
action: the passive, the soft, and the hard. The passive route was sim-
ply to do nothing to provoke Japan, either by an oil embargo or by
Asian reinforcements, in order to bring the full weight of American
power to bear against Germany. But he undoubtedly perceived this
to be the riskiest course, for it not only left the resources of Southeast
Asia and Britain’s connections to Australia and New Zealand at
Japan’s mercy but also offered no discouragement to a Japanese attack
against the Soviet rear. The soft choice meant coming to an agree-
ment with Japan which at least offered the possibility of preventing
a further southward advance by some concession ending the China
war, but at great cost to the American reputation as guarantor of
nations resisting aggression, and probably with heightened risk of a
Japanese attack northward once its southern flank was secure. He was
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moving along the third course, the hard policy, estimating it no
doubt the least risky: severe containment of Japan risked war, but in
that event more likely a southward than the more critical northward
attack. Meanwhile, the draining of Japan’s oil supplies would pro-
gressively reduce its capacity for war. The risk would decline as
American military power increased and in time far surpassed that of
Japan.

The decisions of the Atlantic Conference period were bold depar-
tures, and President Roosevelt surely did not take them without trep-
idation. So far American public opinion had been mobilizing behind
his policies. However, administration confidence in public support
received a rude shock on August 12, the last day of the conference,
when word came that the House of Representatives had extended the
Selective Service Act by a margin of one vote. The slimness of victory
did not really signify a relapse into isolationism, but it indicated the
limits of interventionism. Extension of the draft was an issue of great
political sensitivity because many felt honor-bound to the conscripts
to limit their service to the original term of one year. The vote drew
these as well as hard-core isolationists, most Republicans and all Roo-
sevelt-haters.”” It also drew the complacent. News readers of later July
and early August could gain the impression that the Germans had
met their match in Russia and that maintaining a large army for
defense of the Western Hemisphere, which after all was the rationale
for the draft, was no longer urgent. So the temptation to turn a deaf
ear to Roosevelt’s and Marshall's warnings and entreaties was
powerful.

Still, a margin of one was enough. American mobilization stayed
on course. According to a Fortune poll, 72 percent of Americans
believed Hitler would try to conquer the world and 58 percent that
armed intervention was necessary to defeat him. A poll in Montana
indicated that the most outspoken isolationist, Senator Burton K.
Wheeler, would be defeated in an election now by at least 100,000
votes. The index of production rose steadily. The steel industry
reached full capacity and mills worked through the July 4 weekend.
Shortages began to appear. In two instances, at North American and
Federal Shipbuilding, the military services took over plants to pre-
vent longer work stoppages.”

Public opinion and domestic political considerations generally
could not be ignored. Neither could international political and stra-
tegic requirements and military capabilities. So far Roosevelt had
managed to keep his various autonomous imperatives in rough har-
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mony. As he moved to a global framework of policy, this became
increasingly difficult to do.

The president returned to Washington on Sunday morning,
August 17, refreshed and buoyant from his ocean voyage and settled
course of action. Preceding him was Welles with the war warning and
preceding Welles was a message asking Hull to set up a meeting with
Nomura. The secretary of state, who was naturally averse to show-
downs, and his advisers strongly disapproved of the warning for the
same reason the president had been dubious about it: threatening
language risked provoking Japan in a situation in which delay
seemed imperative. Hamilton and Joseph Ballantine of the Far East-
ern Division took out their pencils, and by the time the president
returned the warning was a pale imitation of the Churchill original.

Roosevelt agreed to the change, but for him the critical factor now
was materialization of a better basis for conducting discussions with
the Japanese, one requiring softer language.’ The Japanese govern-
ment had now asked for a conference between Premier Konoe and
President Roosevelt in Hawaii. The idea was not new: it had been
among Father Drought’s proposals in the spring. Ambassador
Nomura, who doubted that the Americans would be moved by any-
thing but concrete proposals, had reintroduced it in a conversation
with the secretary of state on August 8, but so gingerly that Hull
virtually ignored it. MAGIC, however, showed that Nomura was act-
ing under instructions and that his government attached great
importance to the proposal. According to intercepts, the Konoe cab-
inet believed that the only way to relieve the “critically tense” situa-
tion was for the leaders to meet, “lay their cards on the table, express
their true feelings, and attempt to determine a way out..., " On
August 16, Nomura urged on Hull a return to the more comprehen-
sive framework of the conversations conducted in the spring and
interrupted in July as a preliminary to a leaders’ meeting, and indi-
cated that his government “would make concessions in order to
avoid war,"*

It was very hard to say no. Conceivably the Japanese were having
a change of heart, though Roosevelt doubted it. They were more
influenced by the sway of battle in Russia than by regard for the
United States, he told Lord Halifax.”” Even so, finding out seemed
wise, and resuming the talks offered the further opportunity of weak-
ening Japan’s ties with the Axis at the delicate moment when the
United States was intervening in the Battle of the Atlantic. Above
all, a return to the Hull-Nomura format of the spring, in all its com-
plexity with the added inducement of a culminating leaders’ meeting,
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was likely to win more time for containment than discussions pivot-
ing on the neutralization of Indochina. The previous talks had, after
all, consumed three months. But a blunt war warning was not likely
to create 2 mood conducive to extended discussions, so Roosevelt
accepted the weaker version.

The president saw Nomura on Sunday afternoon, August 17, only
a few hours after his return. The meeting really consisted of two con-
versations divided by a pause: one admonitory, the other concilia-
tory. First Roosevelt read the State Deparrment’s version of the warn-
ing, which no longer insisted upon an unconditional Japanese
commitment to remove its forces from Indochina, nor referred to the
Indochina neutralization proposal and British support for it, nor
warned against advance in specific places or directions. Most impor-
tant, the warning itself did not use the word “war” or “conflict.” It
simply said that, if Japan made any further advances, the United
States would have to take whatever steps were necessary to safeguard
the rights and interests of its citizens and its safety and security.”®
And by commenting on the text, thereby distancing himself from it,
Roosevelt gave Nomura the clear impression that he was reluctantly
but dutifully conveying a message the bureaucrats had devised. He
even left some doubt as to whether he was delivering a written com-
munication at all, for he denied it the status of a diplomatic note,
describing the warning as “merely what we want to say,” and “refer-
ence material,” yet insisting that “it should be expressed in writing.™”’
The president went to extraordinary lengths to sugar-coat the pill.

Moving to the second part of the conversation, Roosevelt showed
how the Japanese move into southern Indochina had led to a break-
down in diplomacy, then painted a fair picture of the possibilities for
peace on American principles and an open door for trade and
resources in the Pacific region. If Japan was prepared to abandon its
expansion and embark on such a program, Roosevelt went on, his
government would, as requested, consider resumption of the Hull-
Nomura conversations and seek to arrange a time and place for a
meeting of high officials. The president said he preferred San Fran-
cisco or Seattle because a journey to Hawaii would take too long and
he was not permitted to fly. Juneau or Sitka in the Alaska panhandle
might be an alternative, he said. But while dangling the hope of a
leaders’ meeting before Nomura, Roosevelt let it be known that dis-
tance was a problem, and he could not promise attendance. Further-
more, a critical condition, first the United States required a “clearer
statement” of the Japanese government’s “attitude and plans.”
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To the British, Roosevelt tried to minimize his weakening of the
warning. Informing Lord Halifax of the proposal for a meeting with
Konoe, he claimed that the warning he delivered was similar to the
Argentia draft. But Halifax checked the wording with Welles, and
Churchill soon knew bertter.”!

Publicly the prime minister gloried in the common aspirations and
promised cooperation of Argentia: as he had journeyed home, he
said, “overhead the far-ranging Catalina airboats soared, vigilant,
protecting eagles in the sky.” “We shall not be denied the strength to
do our duty to the end,” he assured his war-weary countrymen. Turn-
ing to Asia he scathingly denounced Japanese military “factions”
which were “seeking to emulate the style of Hitler and Mussolini as
if it were a new wave of European revelation.” Japanese armies had
been “wandering” about China for years bringing “carnage, ruin, cor-
ruption.” Now they threatened the southwest Pacific and he was “cer-
tain that this has got to stop.” Cleverly placing America out front as
Japan’s principal antagonist, he praised the “infinite patience” with
which it was trying to work out a settlement, but if trouble came, he
warned, Britain would “of course” range itself “unhesitatingly at the
side of the United States.” The Japanese press reacted to the speech
with “almost unprecedented violence in tone,” Grew reported.*

Churchill was depicting in rhetoric the common front he had
failed to secure in secret diplomacy, and with some success. The New
York Times, under the four-column headline CHURCHILL WARNS
JAPANESE TO “STOP” OR FACE BRITISH-AMERICAN
COALITION, commented that the British leader had confirmed
what many suspected: that the two governments had decided at
Argentia to take the “strongest sort of line” with Japan.”

Behind these rhetorical flourishes, the British government grew
increasingly critical as it examined the American backslidings and
the paltry tangible results of Argentia. Particularly disillusioning
were Roosevelt’s frequent public assurances that he had not made
any commitments at the conference and that the nation stood no
closer to war. On August 28, Churchill, aiming at Roosevelt, wrote
Hopkins a most despondent letter. He spoke of a “wave of depres-
sion” in the cabinet and informed circles over apparent American
disinclination to become involved. “If 1942 opens with Russia
knocked out and Britain left again alone all kinds of dangers may
arise,” he warned. That night, he said, thirty U-boats lay in a line
from eastern Iceland to northern Ireland but east of the 26th merid-
ian, beyond current American responsibility. In the past two days
submarines had sunk 25,000 tons of shipping. The implication was
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clear that the Battle of the Atlantic could still be lost while Ameri-
cans guarded its western reaches. He ended by saying that he would
be grateful for “any sort of hope.” If the British ever reached the con-
clusion that the United States would not somchow, sometime join
the fray, Hopkins warned Roosevelt, “there would be a very critical
moment in the war and the British appeasers might have some influ-
ence on Churchill.”*

Churchill was keeping one step ahead of the American navy,
which was moving as fast as possible to enter the Battle of the Atlan-
tic within the limitations agreed to at Argentia. The president, hav-
ing taken his decision, left implementation to the navy; admirals were
not summoned to the White House in August as they had been in
July. Nevertheless, over a month passed before escort began. The
navy planned to start September 1, but administrative and logistical
problems forced postponement.

The “Washington machinery” was not ready, Admiral King
explained to a subordinate.” He undoubtedly meant the special staff
and communications network to control convoys and escorts in the
western Atlantic. American escort operations entirely depended on
British experience and sophisticated facilities, on the ULTRA
decryption work at Bletchley Park, on the Operational Intelligence
Center, Trade Plot, and Submarine Tracking Room at the Admiralty,
and on the Western Approaches Command at Liverpool. Multina-
tional escort required the most intimate cooperation with the Royal
Canadian Navy at Ottawa and St. John's, Newfoundland, and coor-
dination with the system for forming up, routing, and dispatching
convoys from American ports and Sydney and Halifax, Nova Scotia.
The Office of the Chief of Naval Operations in Washington, hub of
American escort communications, had to tie into London’s routing
and tracking systems and expedite information to Atlantic Fleet
headquarters and the various destroyer escort bases and forces. Infor-
mation about U-boat and convoy locations requiring the tightest
secrecy had to be disseminated in cyphers accessible to headquarters
of three navies. American command in the western Atlantic had to
be instituted and escort units inserted without disrupting the sched-
ules of convoys, six to eight of which at regular intervals were passing
back and forth across the ocean on any given day.”

Great difficulty occurred in getting ships to the right place at the
right time. Icelandic and American-flag merchantmen, one of which
Roosevelt still insisted had to provide a figleaf of neutrality for each
convoy, were a particular problem. Adequate numbers of American
vessels only began departing from New York on August 27. Some
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Icelandic vessels were so slow they endangered their escorts; others
ignored escorts and steamed off alone.

A division of responsibility was arranged with the Americans tak-
ing fast (HX) convoys and the Royal Canadian Navy the slow (SC)
from a point south of Newfoundland to a rendezvous with British
escorts south of Iceland and then back again with convoys of empty
ships. But the Canadians, with too few vessels and too few with ade-
quate range, had to retain some of the British escorts to carry out
their side of the bargain.

The measured activity of the Atlantic Fleet before the Argentia
conference gave way to a rush for position afterward. Within a week
Admiral King ordered the fleet train from Newport to Casco Bay,
Maine, the nearest American anchorage to the convoy routes. The
Support Force commander established himself at Argentia. Destroyer
tenders, repair ships, oilers, and other auxiliaries followed or moved
on to Iceland. At Casco Bay, King set up a destroyer pool, dissolving
the neat division and squadron organization, so that escort units
could be filled out on the basis of readiness and a mixture of old and
new destroyers. From there units moved up to Argentia near the con-
voy meeting point or were pre-positioned in Iceland for the west-
bound convoys.

By mid-September thirty-three destroyers, every one the Atlantic
Fleet commander could get his hands on, and the Coast Guard cutter
Campbell were ready for merchant vessel escort at the northern bases.
Another sixteen were due by the end of October and six more by
the end of the year, leaving a bare minimum to escort warships, one
division (four ships) to patrol the Caribbean, and a sonar training
division at Key West which Admiral King coveted. He had barely
enough vessels to begin the task: six escort groups of five destroyers
each. Canadian units had even fewer. King planned to increase the
number to seven groups of at least six each, and allow a layover in
Boston, but storm damage and machinery breakdowns were con-
stantly whittling down the number available to meet the inexorable
convoy schedules.”’

So urgent was the need for destroyers that peacetime criteria for
eficiency were dispensed with. Gunnery proficiency was below that
of the Pacific Fleet and, for recently completed destroyers, unsatisfac-
tory. In machine gun practice in August even veteran Support Force
squadrons were scoring virtually no hits because of lack of practice
ammunition. U.S.S. Ericsson, Nicholson, and Mayo reported for escort
duty with no gunnery practice at all. Injuries among crews unfamiliar
with weapons and equipment were “far too many in number.” Few
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destroyers were equipped with radar and fewer still experienced in
its use. US.S. Babbitt, hurrying to duty, received its underwater
sound detection gear not in a dockyard but at Casco Bay from a
tender.®

As the fleet readied, the war moved back toward it. The number
of operational U-boats increased from sixty-five in July to eighty in
October and the number on station rose past thirty, permitting the
U-boat command to form a wolfpack of fourteen boats, Group
Markgraf, for Greenland-Iceland waters. These began entering the
western Atlantic on August 18 and by early September were neatly
positioned in' rank and file to sight any plume of smoke in the
hundreds of miles of convoy routes lying southeast of Greenland and
southwest of Iceland. At the same time the German naval command
began super-encyphering U-boat locations within encyphered mes-
sages, delaying ULTRA by as much as four days and temporarily
masking U-boat deployment. Atlantic Fleet destroyers were entering
far more dangerous waters than could have been imagined a month
earlier.¥

The nearly inevitable encounter occurred September 4 some 125
miles southwest of Iceland between USS. Greer, a World War I
destroyer, and U-652, cruising on the northern flank of Group
Markgraf. Greer was sailing alone carrying mail and officer passengers
to Reykjavik from Boston and Argentia. Informed by a British patrol
bomber of a submarine in its path it proceeded to hunt and find the
boat and pursue it tenaciously for the next several hours, in full com-
pliance with orders to trail and report U-boats in the American
defense zone. U-boats were forbidden to initiate attacks on American
warships, but the submerged U-652, unable to identify the national-
ity of its pursuer and believing depth charges dropped by the plane
had come from the destroyer, finally fired two torpedoes in self-
defense, which Greer dodged. The American destroyer responded
with depth-charge attacks and further pursuit until called off at twi-
light. The quarry, shaken but not damaged, continued westward to
join in a pack attack on September 9-11 on SC-42, which was des-
perately trying an end-run to the north, close to Greenland. U-652
claimed as probably sunk two of the sixteen vessels lost from that
devastated convoy.”

The Greer incident greatly facilitated arrangements for escort of
convoy. The incident allowed removal of the restrictions under
which it would be conducted. President Roosevelt on learning of the
encounter immediately ordered the navy to “eliminate” the subma-
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rine, and destroyers were ordered down from Iceland before the
search was called off.”

The following day, September 5, the president met with Admiral
King and Admiral Stark among others and authorized the beginning
of outward-bound escort September 16 and escort back from Iceland
of the first convoy available whether fast or slow. Destroyers were
ordered out again from Iceland on September 12 to assist battered
convoy SC 42. Then Roosevelt permitted destroyers to escort con-
voys without American or Icelandic-flag ships and the Royal Cana-
dian and Royal navies to escort American ships as far as Iceland. A
few days later he authorized attack on German and Italian warships
anywhere in the western Atlantic, including Iceland and a broad belt
of ocean to its east. Mere presence of a submarine or raider was now
grounds for attack. By September 16, when the first American escort
group, Task Unit 4.1.1, met the first American-escorted convoy, HX
150 out of Halifax, the United States Navy was in a state of full bel-
ligerency in the western Atlantic.™

As he had done in his radio address of May 27 before the Iceland
venture, so now before taking this next big step Roosevelt made a
poweiful presentation of his views and intentions to the American
people and sought their support. His plans for a broadcast were inter-
rupted by the failing health and then death of his mother the week-
end of September 6~7. He was with her when she died at Hyde Park
on Sunday, and he remained for her funeral. Meanwhile the speech
went through draft after draft at the State Department and White
House. Hopkins brought the latest draft to the presidential train in
New York as it was returning to Washington, and that evening and
the next morning Roosevelt refined it and tested it on congressional
leaders.”” On Thursday evening, September 11, he broadcast a major
state paper setting out the basis for intervention in the Battle of the
Atlantic and, if that followed, war with Germany. The speech went
out in his familiar, reassuring voice and vivid, colloquial idiom to a
nation of family homes gathered around their radios. He aimed his
message abroad as well, to the nations and peoples fighting Hitler and
particularly to the British, described by Churchill as so very discour-
aged with the lack of tangible results from the Atlantic meeting.

Claiming correctly that the submarine fired first on the Greer and
with deliberate intent to sink it, the president was silent about what
the U-boat captain must have regarded as hostile pursuit. Roosevelt
did not rest his case on the ambiguities of the chase, however, but
placed the incident in the larger context of German U-boat warfare
and American devotion to the freedom of the seas. The Greer, he



168 AUGUST-SEPTEMBER: CROSSING THE THRESHOLD

insisted, was on a “legitimate mission” to Iceland, an American out-
post protecting waters through which passed ships of many flags car-
rying food and war matérial provided by the American people as an
essential part of their own defense. If the U-boat had been unable to
identify the destroyer, as the Nazis claimed, and still fired, this
reflected a policy of indiscriminate violence, as proven by such other
attacks as the sinking of the Robin Moor and stalking of the U.S.S,
Texas in June, and the recent sinkings of the Panamanian freighter
Sessa and the American freighter Steel Seafarer.

These acts of “piracy” were all part of a Nazi plan for domination
of the seas wherein no American ship could travel without the “con-
descending grace of this ... tyrannical power.” A counterpart was
Nazi subversion of governments in Latin America aiming at ultimate
control of the Western Hemisphere and a “permanent world system
based on force, terror, and murder.” The Monroe Doctrine was too
self-limiting for Roosevelt, however; the immediate issue, he insisted,
was freedom of shipping on the high seas, the settled policv of the
United States since Presidents John Adams and Thomas Jefferson
cleared the Caribbean of privateers and the Mediterranean of cor-
sairs. The line of supply to the enemies of Hitler would be maintained
at all costs and by active defense: “When you see a rattlesnake poised
to strike, you do not wait ... you crush him.” The American navy
would protect “not only American ships but ships of any flag” in
American defensive waters. “Let this warning be clear,” he concluded:
“From now on, if German and Italian vessels enter the waters, the
protection of which is necessary for American defense, they do so at
their own peril.” ROOSEVELT ORDERS NAVY TO SHOOT
FIRST, the banner headline of the New York Times reported the next
day.

The president was evasive about the precise manner in which the
navy would provide protection. In fact Stimson himself did not learn
of the escort system until September 25. Nonetheless the determi-
nation to use force and the justification for it had been forthrightly
declared to the American people, and their reaction was powerfully
supportive. Approving “in general” the “shoot on sight” directive
were 62 percent of those interviewed by Gallup, disapproving 28
percent.*

Once restrictions on escort eased, the British, Canadian, and
American navies were soon getting much “mixed up together,” to use
Churchill’s apt phrase.”® Even before the Greer incident, the battle-
ship HM.S. Rodney teamed up with the American carriers Wasp,
Yorktown, and Long Island in search of a German raider, possibly the
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cruiser Priny Eugen, which British intelligence feared had broken out
again and which had been supposedly sighted east of Bermuda. The
search was in vain.”® The president’s orders to shoot on sight in the
western Atlantic included German surface raiders as well as aircraft
overflying Iceland.”

On September 17 the Admiralty proposed that the United States
Navy take over formal responsibility for guarding Denmark Strait,
explaining that an important operation in the Mediterranean
required withdrawal of heavy units from the Home fleet. This was
Operation HALBERD, a vital supply convoy to Malta guarded by
Prince of Wales, Rodney, and Nelson.®® Admiral King agreed, and
within ten days nearly all the ships of the Atlantic Fleet were at the
northern bases or headed there. They included one old and two
modernized battleships, three heavy cruisers, and a carrier at
Hvalfjordur; and one modernized and two old battleships, a carrier
and two light cruisers at Argentia with a third carrier and a light
cruiser headed there. Altogether some fifty destroyers were escorting
warships or merchant convoys in northern waters. In addition, the
new battleship Washington, though still not fully ready, was in a back-
up position at Rockland, Maine.” On September 27 the commanders
of the Home fleet and the Western Approaches, Admirals Sir John
Tovey and Sir Percy Noble, arrived in Iceland in HM.S. King George
V to see for themselves that Denmark Strait was locked tight and to
work out ways of improving communications between the British
and American fleets.* By October the American naval concentration
against Germany in the northern reaches of the Atlantic was not far
smaller than the Pacific Fleet itself.

During the same September 5 meeting with Admirals Stark and
King at which the president concluded his decisions on escort of con-
voy, he also considered a recent request from Churchill for troop
transports and cargo ships to move 40,000 British troops from the
United Kingdom to the Middle East. The purpose was not further
reinforcement of the British forces in Egypt, however, but building
strength through the Persian Gulf in Syria, Iraq, and Iran. By sup-
pressing the Iraqi coup in May and defeating the Vichy French in
Syria in July, British forces closed up to the southern border of Tur-
key. On August 25 Soviet and British forces by mutual agreement
moved into Iran to prevent a pro-German coup at Teheran like the
one in Iraq and to establish a supply corridor to the Soviet Union
across the Caucasus. The object of the reinforcement, Churchill
explained, was to sustain the “Russian reserve positions in the Volga
basin” and encourage Turkey “to stand as a solid block against Ger-
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man passage in Syria and Palestine.”™ What had inspired this urgent
dispatch of regular British divisions to a front so far from battle was
dismal news from the Russian front.

Shortly after Argentia, the German offensive resumed and soon
sweeps and plunges by Panzer and motorized forces were taking huge
bites out of the Red Army. The Soviets now were paying the price
for the rest and replenishment of German forces in late July and early
August. Army Group North cut Leningrad’s communications,
besieged the city and prepared to storm it. In the center the decision
was to defer the attack on Moscow. Guderian’s Panzer army swung
south and with easier supply on a lateral front drove in behind the
massive, inert concentration of Soviet forces—two-thirds of a million
men—at Kiev. Opposite him, from Army Group South, Kleist’s Pan-
zer group crossed the Dnieper and gathered mass to strike north,
meet Guderian, and seal off Kiev. Further south, Runstedt’s columns
fanned out across the Ukraine to encircle Odessa, cut off the Crimea,
and capture the great bend of the Dnieper where it pokes eastwardly
toward the industries of the Don basin. Beyond the Don lay the Cau-
casus and the Volga. Every major city of European Russia was imper-
iled except, for the moment, Moscow.*?

Western observers were slow to grasp the grim reality as the opti-
mism of early August persisted. The American embassy in Moscow,
now determinedly hopeful where it had been persistently skeptical,
considered the reverses in the Ukraine as no worse than one battle
lost. It warned that the capture of Rostov, where the Germans could
turn the corner into the Caucasus, would be most serious, but
pointed out on August 23 that winter would begin in sixty days.
Soviet destruction of the great dam at Zaporozhe on the Dnieper,
their emblem of proletarian progress, showed that Stalin’s scorched
earth policy was in “deadly earnest.” The American legation in Swit-
zerland, estimating German casualties of 1,400,000 (British estimates
were 2,000,000), saw no sign of the breaking of Russian morale,
fronts, or command. General Mason-Macfarlane, the British observer
at Moscow, reported after a visit to the front that Russian morale and
equipment were excellent, though he acknowledged that the situa-
tion in the south was “precarious.” The New York Times reported the
Russians holding or gaining on August 24, 25, 28, 31, September 1,
3, and 4. Only the American military attaché in London, with access
to British intelligence, which in turn was based partly on ULTRA,
pointed out the grave danger of the envelopment of Kiev.*”?

So after weeks of sanguine reports, news of this “lurch into disaster
in the Ukraine,” as one authority has described it, came as a shock to
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Roosevelt, especially delivered as it was in a letter from Stalin to
Churchill which was passed on to Washington on September 5. The
situation, the Soviet chief said, had “considerably deteriorated” in the
past three weeks because the Germans had transferred thirty to
thirty-four divisions and great numbers of tanks and aircraft from
the west. They did so “with impunity,” he continued acidly, because
they recognized that the danger in the west was a bluff. Their strategy
was to smash their enemies singly, first the Soviet Union, then Brit-
ain. Now more than half the Ukraine was gone, and the enemy was
at the gates of Leningrad. He ticked off the losses: the Krivoi Rog
iron-ore district and metallurgical works in the Ukraine. Out of pro-
duction for months because of evacuation were an aluminum factory
on the Dnieper, another at Tikhvin in the north, an automotive fac-
tory and two aircraft factories in the Ukraine, and two automotive
factories and an aircraft factory in Leningrad.®

The only answer to this “mortal menace” was a British second
front in the Balkans or France, a guarantee of 30,000 tons of alumi-
num by October, and monthly shipments of 400 aircraft and 500
tanks. Without this help, the Soviet dictator concluded in brutal can-
dor, Russia would be defeated or so weakened it would be unable to
help its allies by active operations. In conveying the message, Chur-
chill informed Roosevelt that Soviet Ambassador Ivan Maisky in
London had used language “which could not exclude the impression
that they might be thinking of separate terms.” With that language
the American government was already familiar. In a dispatch Wash-
ington received August 27, Anthony Biddle, ambassador to several
governments-in-exile in London, had reported Maisky as saying that
the Soviet Union would make peace unless the United States entered
the war and the British opened a second front.”’

Churchill responded to Stalin with equal candor that a second
front that year was impossible and the next year indeterminable. The
best he could offer was a buildup of forces in the Middle East, which,
after the defeat of Axis forces in Libya, would “come into line on
your southern flank,” some undefined operation “in the extreme
North when there is more darkness,” and further battering of Ger-
many from the air. Lacking a fighting front to offer, the British gov-
ernment stretched itself on war supplies. Churchill said he would try
to expedite the Moscow conference on supply and promised on the
spot, from British production, one-half of Stalin’s request for tanks
and planes with the hope that the Americans would supply the other
half. He apologized to Roosevelt for presuming on American aid,
explaining that the “moment may be decisive.”®
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These were the exigencies when Roosevelt met with the admirals
on September 5 to decide arrangements for escort of convoy. On the
immediate issue of reinforcing the Middle East the president decided
to meet the prime minister halfway: he would provide transports for
one division and ten to twelve cargo ships. The troop ships would
be the navy’s largest and fastest: the former luxury liners, Washington,
America, and Manhattan .57

Roosevelt was no less determined to provide the Soviet Union
with all possible war matériel than he had been before the Argentia
conference. Upon his return from Argentia in the wake of the House
vote barely extending the draft, he warned reporters against a natural
tendency to slacken in delivery of goods when the Russians were suc-
ceeding. This, he said, was “terribly, terribly dangerous.” He estab-
lished the priority of Russian supply in the most authoritative and
deliberate way in a letter to Stimson on August 30: “1 deem it to be
of paramount importance for the safety and security of America that
all reasonable munitions help be provided for Russia, not only imme-
diately but as long as she continues to fight the Axis powers
effectively.”®

The problem was that demands had carried beyond any reasonable
expectation of supply. Aside from the Russians, the British were
counting on about one-third of American aircraft and one-half of
American tank production, the latter especially important for CRU-
SADER, their impending offensive in Libya.® The Middle East com-
mand was a favorite whipping boy of the U.S. Army; its deficiencies,
whether in command, supply or tactics, were always being paraded
through the General Staff. But Roosevelt unwaveringly supported its
reinforcement on the ground that “the enemy must be fought wher-
ever he was found."” To these demands were added those of the bur-
geoning American armed services, to say nothing of voices offstage
such as China's.

The war and America’s relationship to it had changed faster than
estimates of what it would take to win it. The army and navy were
still at work on the estimates, known as the Victory Program, which
the president had asked for July 9. On August 30 he directed Stimson
to submit by September 10 his recommendations regarding alloca-
tion of war production through June 1942 among the United States
and forces opposed to the Axis, and also his estimates of the produc-
tion required for ultimate victory. Lights burned late at the War
Department. On September 8 Roosevelt agreed with Churchill on
an earlier date, September 25, for the Moscow conference on supply
which they had planned at Argentia. The president suggested that
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their delegations first meet in London a week hence to coordinate
allocations and estimates, immediate and ultimate. He sent the unwel-
come news {by way of a letter over Hopkins’ signature) that Ameri-
can supply commitments to Britain would have to be reviewed in the
light of Soviet requirements.”! The urgency of the situation described
by Stalin only intensified Roosevelt’s determination to send all pos-
sible aid as soon as possible.

The competitors for American supply were in fact “dividing a defi-
ciency.””? War production in 1941 was still less than 10 percent of
total production and less than two-thirds of British-Canadian, which
it would not surpass until the last quarter of 1942, Because of design
changes, B-17 production halted and the United States produced
exactly one heavy bomber in July 1941. Better than half the military
planes produced were trainers, and there were scarcely any spare
parts. The United States had on hand eighty medium tanks and
expected to complete 450 in the July-September quarter as against
10,790 by the end of 1942. It expected to produce 230,000 tons of
shipping in the same quarter; the army calculated that defeat of Ger-
many would require the 10.8 million already planned through 1943
and an additional 13.1 million tons.”

From September 8 to the end of the month, intense and at times
bitter struggles over priorities and allocations occurred between the
White House and the army, the army and navy, the Americans and
British at London, and the Anglo-Americans and Russians in Mos-
cow. Roosevelt carefully monitored the action and imposed his will
at crucial moments to ensure that the outcome would be acceptable
to the Soviet government.

Bitterest of all was the battle over tanks. Stalin asked for five
hundred a month, or 4,500 through June 1942, and the British prom-
ised half. Under pressure to match the British offer of 2,250, the U.S.
Army agreed to stretch out the equipping of the 3rd, 4th, and 5th
Armored Divisions and fifteen independent tank bartalions and
postpone activation of the 6th Armored Division. This sacrifice and
severe cutbacks in British allocations yielded 1,524 medium and light
tanks, or precisely two-thirds of the matching offer. The British pro-
tested, whereupon the president ordered a doubling of tank produc-
tion and an increase of 25 percent in deliveries, to the anguish of the
U.S. Navy, which feared that a higher priority for tanks would reduce
the armor plate available for warship construction. With a greater
supply promised, at least on paper, the British agreed to make up the
difference in immediate deliveries in return for a larger quota of
American tanks later. On this basis Stalin’s demand for 500 tanks a
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month could be met. In the meantime the Soviet demand had risen
to 1,100 a month, but in the end Stalin settled for five hundred.™

With this sort of juggling and some highly speculative promissory
notes on future production and delivery, the British Commonwealth
and United States came forward with responsive offerings at Moscow
on September 28. They would meet Stalin’s original requests for air-
craft and tanks in full. Canada would provide one-half the aluminum
sought, and the Americans would study the possibility of providing
the rest. Counterbalancing modest amounts of other weapons, the
British and Americans offered 90,000 jeeps and trucks, as well as a
wide array of finished metals and raw materials, and large amounts of
wheat and sugar. Britain and the United States assured production
but not delivery, leaving the enormous problem of transportation to
joint responsibility and the future. Payment was a problem since
Roosevelt was not quite ready to extend Lend-Lease to the Soviet
Union on account of anti-Soviet public opinion, but by patching
together credits and old purchases the Treasury Department tided
over the interim. Stalin sent word he was “much gratified.””

Whiffs of the battle over allocations began seeping into the press.
Correspondents Walter Lippmann and Ernest K. Lindley, writing
independently, set forth the opinion of the British and of the Amer-
ican navy that the United States should rely on sea and air power
and on its manufacturing capacity to constrict and batter Germany
into submission rather than build a huge army for the invasion of
Europe. Pressure actually arose to reduce the size of the army. Stim-
son, Marshall, Lovett, and McCloy vigorously resisted the idea, con-
tending that the United States must ultimately “come to grips with
and annihilate” the German war machine. They pointed to existing
commitments for task forces and bases and to what might happen if
“Hitler gets his feet out of the bog in Russia.” On September 22, Stim-
son and Marshall went to the White House to defend the army’s cur-
rent strength and projected size of 215 divisions under the Victory
Program. The outcome was a presidential decision to defer further
expansion of the army after February 1942 in order to release muni-
tions for allies. That this represented Roosevelt’s choice of the navy’s
rather than the army’s concept of defeating Germany seems unlikely.
Roosevelt chose not to choose, dwelling on the immediate, impera-
tive need to ensure Soviet survival into 1942. On September 20 the
press reported the German capture of Kiev. The milijtary attaché in
London reported “definite disintegration” along the entire Russian
front. The president was determined to provide aid to the Soviet
Union so substantial that Stalin would not only gain concrete assis-
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tance but also the conviction that Britain and the United States were
allies he could count on.™

The competition among the Soviets, the British and the American
armed services for American aircraft production, no less severe than
that for tanks, had significant strategic consequences. The 1,800
planes promised the Soviet Union for the next nine months, con-
sisting of fighters and medium bombers but not any heavy bombers,
would come from British and US. Army allocations. The British
insisted on American heavy bombers in compensation. Stimson,
Marshall, and the Army Air Corps bitterly resisted. They were dis-
pleased, to be sure, with British handling of the few precious B-17s
sent earlier, but, more important, they believed it was high time for
the United States to develop its own heavy bomber forces. From
August 1940 to June 1941, top priority had gone to building 1,221
planes for the navy.” On August 25, Stimson and Marshall witnessed
the first B-17Es coming off the assembly line at the Boeing plant in
Seattle. This version of the Flying Fortress was much more heavily
armed, with top, rear, and belly rotating powered turrets for twin .50
caliber machine guns. The Air Corps, with only 108 heavy bombers
as of June 30, was determined to get as many of them as it could.”

The argument for building American strategic air power increas-
ingly turned on the air reinforcement of the Philippines. On August
11 a group of army officers left Hawaii by navy patrol plane for Aus-
tralia to prepare the way for trans-Pacific flights of B-17s. On Septem-
ber 5 nine B-17s took off from Hickam Field, Hawaii, for Midway and
Wake islands. From Wake at high altitude and at night they overflew
the eastern Carolines, Japanese mandated islands, headed for Port
Moresby in southeastern New Guinea and hopped from there to
Darwin, Australia, and Clark Field near Manila, arriving September
12.” Difficult and dangerous as this pioneering flight was, it solved
the problem of moving large aircraft across the Pacific quickly and
opened the door to a buildup of strategic air power in Southeast
Asia.

Stimson was enthusiastic. The arrival of the B-17s, he wrote on
September 12, demonstrated American ability to position air power
in the narrow seas of Southeast Asia to cut the line of communica-
tions of any Japanese expeditionary force sent southward. He spent
a good part of the day September 16 poring over maps to see “how
far our planes would reach.” Stimson and General Marshall under-
stood Roosevelt’s concern for aid to the Soviet Union and his dis-
position, as Churchill explained to Stalin on August 28, “to take {a}
strong line against further Japanese aggression whether in the South
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or in the Northwest Pacific.” Marshall aimed his argument for hold-
ing on to American bombers and developing American strategic air
power directly at these presidential concerns. In his brief for a con-
ference with the president on September 22, next in priority after
preparing task forces for defense of the Atlantic islands was the air
reinforcement of the Philippines. The brief read: “Rush buildup of
air power to Philippines ... to restrain Japan from advance into
Malaysia or Eastern Siberia.”

What American planes might deter heavily depended on how far
they could reach. The B-17C, the version sent in September, had a
combat radius with a half-load of bombs of 900 miles. Formosa,
Shanghai, even Okinawa, were within striking distance, but not the
home islands of Japan. The B-17E, however, the new version to be
sent thereafter, had a somewhat longer reach which might place Kyu-
shu, the southern island of Japan, within striking distance. The
army’s War Plans Division began a special study of these and other
strategic possibilities of air power in the Philippines on September
16.%

Enthusiasm for the project did not wait. The B-17s authorized at
Argentia, which would bring the total in the Philippines to thirty-
five, prepared to move in October. The day the first nine B-17s
arrived in the Philippines, Marshall ordered a second group of thirty-
five across in December—as soon as it had new planes—for a total of
seventy. The Air Corps was pressing for more, asking MacArthur
how many could be accommodated on existing fields in three months
and how many in six.

Bombers alone, of course, would be helpless. The Air Corps
received authorization September 12 for a broad-based buildup
including a group of fifty-four dive bombers and an additional group
of fighters (130), as well as reconnaissance, air warning, command,
ordnance, and engineering units. The army was preparing to send
the tanks, artillery, and anti-aircraft guns authorized in August. This
was the sort of power, Stimson believed, that would “keep the fear of
God in Japan.” Not infantry yet, however: the army was considering
sending a National Guard division but asked MacArthur’s views on
the subject, warning that the demand for shipping was heavy.*

The oil embargo and air reinforcement of the Philippines were
both meant to halt Japanese expansion but there the similarity ends.
The reinforcement project aimed at making a Japanese attack north-
ward or southward too costly and risky. This deterrent effect itself
was speculative and would not in any case be fully realized for several
months when runways were extended and planes, ground personnel,
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munitions, and gasoline arrived. Therefore it might prompt Japanese
action before the military capability was in place. Nevertheless, the
aim of the reinforcement was to encourage Japanese inaction. The oil
embargo, however, if fully implemented and joined in by the British
and Dutch, would have an immediate and growing impact and carry
beyond deterrence to coercion. The clock would be ticking toward
the moment when Japan would lack the fuel to send armies and fleets
into battle and it would have to attack, change its aims, or subside in
influence. It would suffer severe penalties from inaction.

The decision on an oil embargo was closely held and deviously
managed. Action proceeded not in the formal realm of peacetime
quotas and proclamations restricting export, for on paper Japan was
supposed to receive some quantities of some kinds of oil, but in the
shadowy world of inaction, circumvention, and red tape®

Upon the freezing of Japanese assets in July, the United States
required both export licenses and licenses to withdraw funds to pay
for the exports. Before leaving for Argentia, Welles had directed
Acheson to withhold action on exchange licenses for the time being,
in effect while the president and he were absent. Most export licenses
were denied, but a few were approved, and these came before the
Foreign Funds Control Committee, which before long would have
to give reasons for delay. Then, as Dean Acheson later explained to
Sir Ronald Campbell of the British embassy, the committee “discov-
ered by accident the technique of imposing total embargo by way of
its freezing order without having to take decisions about quotas for
particular commodities.” In anticipation of the freezing order, Jap-
anese banks had sequestered dollars in the United States and Latin
America. Aware of this plunge into cash and foreign accounts, the
committee insisted that these funds be used before releasing frozen
assets. The Japanese demurred.

This was the state of affairs Acheson reported to Welles the day
before the president returned from Argentia.® Undoubtedly either
by phone or in person on August 21 or 29, when he saw the presi-
dent alone, Welles reported the situation to Roosevelt, and no coun-
tervailing directive was issued.® Japanese trade, Acheson noted on
August 20, was “a matter of confidential discussion between the Pres-
ident and Secretary Hull.” On September 5, a day Hull had lunch
with the president, the secretary of state gave departmental sanction
to these stalling maneuvers. The United States had imposed an
embargo without saying so. It was in a position, said Acheson, to
point out to the Japanese that they had “imposed {an} embargo upon
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themselves by their lack of loyalty to {the}] American freezing
order.”

The de facto embargo worked this way. The Japanese embassy
asked Foreign Funds whether it would accept payment for pending
oil shipments by assets transferred from Brazil. The answer was that
this was a hypothetical question. The Japanese would have to transfer
the funds, risking their being frozen, and then apply. The Japanese
offered silk for cotton and oil and were told the United States did
not need silk. They then offered release of exports to America which
they had halted in retaliation, but were asked to present a list and
then told the list was incomplete, and that in any event an exchange
was impossible because there were no Japanese purchases which had
been paid for. The Japanese proposed to ship dollars from Japan, but
Foreign Funds wanted proof these were legally obtained abroad. The
Japanese suggested gold in payment and received no answer. They
then returned to the idea of remitting balances from South America
and met silence again. Finally, in early November two Japanese tank-
ers on the West Coast, which had been “gathering oysters” on their
propellers awaiting cargo since July, weighed anchor and returned to
Japan empty.*®

Trade did not stop immediately. One ship was allowed as ballast a
cargo of low-grade lubricating oil, asphale, cotton, and cocoa beans.
Some iron ore moved to Japan from the Philippines, some cotton to
Japanese-occupied China. Dollars and yen were unfrozen to pay dip-
lomatic staffs.%

The stall only gradually surfaced. For weeks the British and Durtch
were left in ignorance of the American intent. They learned Septem-
ber 13 that the embargo was “practically absolute” but that Hull
wanted no publicity “which might demonstrate the completeness of
the present embargo or suggest greater severity,” On September 26,
Acheson apologized for the problems caused by the “somewhat
opportunist measures” he had been obliged to follow, and he finally
explained to the British and Dutch how the embargo worked and
urged them to achieve the same result. They were already well on the
way. Certain Indian trade with Japan posed a problem, and Britain
was anxious to secure as much magnesium as possible from Japan for
the making of incendiary bombs, but Japan’s trade outside its orbit
in East Asia had been practically closed down by October.”

With the single exception of a stringent war warning, Roosevelt by
October had fulfilled the commitments he made at Argentia. He had
reafirmed and indeed reinforced and extended the new policy direc-
tions he had chosen in the wake of the German attack on Russia. He
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had entered the Battle of the Atlantic, though on his own terms,
extended the best aid possible to the Soviet Union, begun the
buildup of a deterrent force in the Philippines, applied maximum
economic pressure against Japan, and entangled the Japanese in com-
plex and prolonged diplomatic talks. He had established, if not a for-
mal alliance, an intimate political relationship with Great Britain. He
had chosen courses risking war in the belief that alternative courses
seemed riskier to American vital interests. The central dynamic of
his policies was the conviction that the survival of the Soviet Union
was essential for the defeat of Germany and that the defeat of Ger-
many was essential for American security. This more than any other
concern, to his mind, required the immobilization of Japan.

No single decision or day marked the point when Roosevelt
crossed over from benevolent neutrality to belligerency and risk of
war. The process was complex and extended from late July to mid-
September. One particular day, however, seems to epitomize the tran-
sition: Friday, September 5, 1941. This was the day following the
Greer incident when he ordered the start of convoy escort, the day
he received Stalin’s ominous message and promised his three best
transports for reinforcement adjacent to the Russians in the Middle
East. It was also the day Secretary Hull formalized within government
the undercover embargo and when the first B-17s departed for
Manila and the 19th Bombardment Group was ordered to follow in
October.



Chapter 7

October—-November
Race Against Time

In early August, just as President Roosevelt was deciding that the
Soviets might survive the German onslaught, the Japanese govern-
ment was reaching the same conclusion. [ronically the United States
then took steps to prevent a Japanese attack northward at precisely
the moment Japan decided to postpone it. On August 9, the day
before the start of the Argentia conference, the Japanese government
formally decided against operations in Siberia that year.

Besides offering surprisingly strong resistance in the west, the
Soviet Union was slow to withdraw its forces from the Far East. The
Soviets maintained some thirty tough, experienced divisions, three
cavalry brigades, sixteen tank brigades, and 2,000 tanks and aircraft
east of Lake Baikal, most of the infantry manning extensive fortifi-
cations along the Ussuri and Amur rivers on the northern and east-
ern borders of Manchuria. Japanese intelligence noted a westward
movement of forces in July, but only a few formations and these from
the Baikal area rather than the more critical Amur-Ussuri front,
which in fact was being strengthened. A decision for war by August
10 was necessary for an attack at the end of the month and comple-
tion of the campaign by mid-October, when the bitter cold and
snows of the Siberian winter would set in.'

Along with fading prospects of quick success in the north came
the “staggering blow” of American sanctions.” Some of the more cos-
mopolitan officials in finance, foreign affairs, and the navy had feared
some such severe American response to the move into southern
Indochina, but the army as a whole and the militant elements of the
navy in the vanguard of the southern advance movement were taken
entirely by surprise. Japanese insiders, aware of the hesitations and
divergent ambitions composing the southern Indochina decision,
found it hard to understand the severity of the American response
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but were quick to assume the worst, that the embargo was toral.
While testing American regulations for whatever oil might still be
obtained, the Japanese government was of one mind: exchange con-
trols that placed the American government in a position to turn the
tap at will, on or off, day to day, were intolerable.’

The Japanese nation, in the eyes of its leaders, faced a supreme
crisis. Access to the world’s resources was suddenly disappearing.
Gone now was Japan’s trans-Siberian link to Germany and supplies
of key metals and machinery. Denied access to oil outside the empire,
Japan had two years’ supply in stockpile, and less under the demands
of war. As it was, the supply was diminishing by 12,000 tons each
day. A feeling of desperation took hold: Japan was “like a fish in a
pond from which the water was gradually being drained away.™

The Tokyo atmosphere was heavy with the paranoia of encircle-
ment. Japanese could gaze upon Soviet and American-chartered
tankers plying La Perouse Strait between Hokkaido and Japanese-
held southern Sakhalin with oil products for Vladivostok. Consuls
reported the opening of an American naval air base at Dutch Harbor
in the Aleutians, the arrival of a Soviet air mission in the United
States and its inspection of an American heavy bomber. They spec-
ulated on the possibility of the United States supplying airplanes to
the Soviet Union by way of Alaska and even eventually establishing
a bombing force in Siberia. Japanese consuls also reported construc-
tion of an airfield at Davao in the Philippines suitable for use by
bombers and the arrival of American reinforcements at Manila. A
British warship was noted visiting Manila as well as the cruisers St.
Louis and Phoenix from Hawaii, which, according to rumor, departed
for Singapore. Japanese intelligence noted the arrival in China of
American pilots and planes and construction there of new air bases
with British, American, and Russian help.’ The oil embargo seemed
to be, in the words of one authority, the “final, major link in a chain
of encirclement” by the ABCD powers, a culmination of years of
effort on their part “to deny Japan her rightful place in the world by
destroying her only available means of self-existence and self-
defense.” Unless Japan could break the “circle of force” by diplomacy
and quickly, the reasoning went, it must fight.® President Roosevelt
had succeeded better than he knew in preoccupying Japan with the
south.

The Japanese army was of one mind on the necessity for attack
southward including war with the United States. Even proponents
of an attack northward were converted by the necessity of first secur-
ing adequate resources in the south. Further negotiation seemed



October-November: Race Against Time 183

futile but was tolerable so long as a decision for war was reached by
early October for attack in November.

The position of the navy was more complex, but the upshot was
the same. Whereas the army required Imperial sanction and a long
lead time to gather and deploy forces and transports for attack, and
therefore required an early formal decision for war, the navy was
already close to a war footing and could move quite soon after a deci-
sion. So it could allow diplomacy more time. Japan’s navy was also
dissatisfied with the army’s plan of attack: it wanted the army to com-
mit more divisions and include initial landings in the Philippines to
forestall American use of the islands.

If not more sanguine about negotiations, the navy was more seri-
‘ous.” Although war enthusiasts on the naval general staff tended to
ignore or underestimate America’s war production capability, leading
admirals were aware of the huge building plans of 1940-41, including
seventeen battleships completing, abuilding, or ordered, and twelve
attack carriers. The American navy would add 178 destroyers to the
fleet in 1942 and 1943. By current Japanese navy estimates, the
United States had not far from three times the warship tonnage
under construction that Japan did. A few admirals such as Yamamoto
Isoroku, commander of the Combined Fleet, warned that the pros-
pects in a long war were very bleak.

Naval leaders, then, hoped against hope that some further shift in
the fluctuating and unpredictable balance of world forces or in
American intentions would open the way for a Japanese-American
compromise that guaranteed Japan access to oil and other war
resources. Less involved in China, the navy was more flexible than
the army on the issue of retaining troops there. It stood more
strongly for trying diplomacy before reaching a decision for war.

Yet the current was flowing toward war in the navy, too. The other
side of the coin in the Japanese-American naval balance was that at
the moment, in late summer 1941, the Imperial Navy outnumbered
the Anglo-American-Dutch forces facing it eleven to nine in battle-
ships and ten to three in carriers and that the enemy forces were
scattered from Singapore to Pearl Harbor. Against the American
building program, however, Japan’s advantage would steadily decline,
and after 1943 precipitously. Never would Japan have a more favor-
able moment to strike. For the navy, dwindling oil supplies made all
the difference between taking to the blue waters and rusting in port.
Control of East Indies oil, staff officers argued, would enable Japan to
fight a protracted war. A psychology of desperation, characterized by
“do or die,” “fight or surrender,” and “now or never” dichotomies,



184  OCTOBER-NOVEMBER: RACE AGAINST TIME

percolated upward from middle echelon officers to Admiral Nagano
Osami, chief of the general staff, and Admiral Oikawa Kojird, navy
minister.

The same sense of desperation affected the civilian leadership of
Japan but led to a different conclusion: somehow diplomacy must be
made to work so as to avoid war. Prime Minister Konoe, monitoring
the military’s turn toward the south in the wake of the American
embargo, decided to play his high card: a bid for a meeting with the
American president. Thus Ambassador Nomura’s suggestion of
August 6 met by Roosevelt’s seemingly encouraging response of
August 17

It was a move founded on hope, not substance. This melancholy
nobleman, on whom the emperor and court had lavished such hopes
for wise leadership, had already proven to be a weak reed for peace.
His first and second cabinets had led Japan into the war in China,
the Axis alliance, and the southward advance—in short into the
predicament it now faced. Disdainful of Western liberalism and much
taken by the expansionist notions of the thirties, he was ambivalent
about power and flaccid in its use.® Konoe now suddenly determined
to reverse the tide by a supreme act of political will and skill. The
army was certain he would fail, the navy only less so. At the least the
premier’s initiative would quiet uncertainties about going to war
while preparations for attack continued. Japan’s terms for peace must
remain the same, however, the army insisted. Konoe could offer no
substantial concession and must promise that if diplomacy failed he
would not resign but lead the nation into war.

On the basis of these understandings between the armed services
and between them and the cabinet, the government met in Imperial
Conference September 6. Hara Yosimichi, president of the privy
council, pointed out that plans placed greater emphasis on war than
diplomacy, and, when neither of the uniformed chiefs of the armed
services responded, the emperor himself intervened with a rebuke to
the supreme command. He read from a poem of his grandfather, the
Emperor Meiji:

Throughout the world
Everywhere we are all brothers
Why then do the winds and waves rage so turbulently?

After a stunned silence Admiral Nagano insisted that Japan would
choose war only as an “unavoidable last resort.” On that basis the
conference concluded that, if early October brought no prospect of
Japan’s demands being met, the nation would then decide to go to
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war with the United States, Great Britain, and the Netherlands. This
was the same day (September 5, Washington time) on which Amer-
ican policy respecting the Battle of the Atlantic, aid to Russia, the oil
embargo, and reinforcement of the Philippines solidified all across
the line.

Meanwhile the Japanese were not finding prospects for a leaders’
meeting encouraging. Nomura saw the president on August 28 and
September 3, each visit sandwiched between talks with Hull. Roose-
velt had suggested a mid-October rendezvous. The ambassador urged
September 21. The president had engagements in late September.
The Japanese said the meeting was an essential first step, a means of
discussing all issues from the broadest standpoint and exploring
every means of “saving the situation.” The Americans regarded the
meeting as a last step, to be devoted to ratification of agreements pre-
viously reached on all fundamental questions. Discussion along these
lines, a continuation of the Hull-Nomura format of the spring,
Konoe warned, “did not meet the need of the present situation which
is developing swiftly and may produce unforeseen contingencies.”
First, the Americans insisted, the Japanese government must show it
stands “earnestly” for the principles the United States had been pro-
claiming and the practical application thereof. Then the British,
Chinese, and Dutch would have to be “prevailed upon.”

Publicity about the Hull-Nomura talks created a further obstacle.
Churchill’s broadcast on August 24 alerted America’s partners, no
less than Japan’s, to the pourparlers and roused anxieties. The White
House made no attempt to keep Nomura’s visit of August 28 secret,
and Nomura himself, upon emerging from the president’s office, told
newsmen that he had delivered a message from Premier Konoe. The
same day Wilfred Fleischer, formerly a journalist in Tokyo and now
correspondent for the New York Herald Tribune, stopped at the Jap-
anese embassy to say that he gathered from an interview with the
president several days earlier that Konoe would like a meeting in
Hawaii. A chorus of newspaper speculation followed."" At the same
time Tokyo made no secret of its displeasure over shipments of
American oil to Vladivostck and Washington responded with dis-
dain for Japan’s complaints.”” On September 4, Nomura reported to
Tokyo his impression that the American attitude had “very much
stiffened.””’

On the evening after the Imperial Conference of September 6,
Ambassador Grew and Counselor of Embassy Dooman, who was
fluent in Japanese, dined with the premier at Prince Konoe’s invita-
tion. Every precaution was taken to keep the meeting secret: use of
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the home of a friend, license plates removed from the car, servants
sent away. Konoe began by saying he desired that his statements be
conveyed directly to the president. While it was true, he said, that he
was fully responsible for the deplorable state of relations between the
two countries, it was equally true that only he could repair the dam-
age, and he was determined to spare no effort to succeed.

The American government seemed to doubt his ability to carry a
peace program against the military, but it was mistaken, he insisted,
because army and navy leaders had from the beginning supported
the talks in Washington and had promised to send high-ranking ofh-
cers with the premier to a meeting with President Roosevelt. Konoe
said he believed that a basis already existed for agreement, but he
added as further encouragement his personal, and therefore his gov-
ernment’s, hearty concurrence with Hull’s four principles: the terri-
torial integrity and sovereignty of all nations; non-interference in the
internal affairs of other nations; the open door for trade; and pres-
ervation of the status quo except for change by peaceful means. He
“repeatedly stressed,” Grew reported, that time was of the essence.
The two governments must reach an overall accord now and work
out details later. The reverse approach, working out all details first,
might rake them past the time when he could put an agreement into
effect.”

Konoe’s initiative was strongly reinforced by Grew in a flow of
telegrams during September and a personal letter to the president.
Seeing war clouds looming as he had in Berlin, where he served as
counselor of embassy on the eve of American entry into World War
I, the ambassador urgently and eloquently pressed the case for a lead-
ers’ meeting. American firmness and the German attack on Russia
had thoroughly discredited Matsuoka diplomacy, he argued, gener-
ating a fundamental realignment of Japan’s policies and a recrudes-
cence of moderate and liberal leadership. He had been told that in a
personal encounter with Roosevelt, Konoe would be in a position to
make “far-reaching concessions” and with the emperor’s support
enforce these on the army and navy. A meeting, he believed, would
at least produce explicit assurances effectively ending Japan’s Axis
connection and begin a process of regeneration in Japanese-Ameri-
can relations. But the American government must not expect satis-
factory specific commitments in advance of a meeting, for these could
be used by pro-Axis elements to prevent one; it must trust Konoe
and the process of step-by-step conciliation. The alternative, he
warned, was replacement of the Konoe cabinet by a military dicta-
torship and a steady drift to war.”
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The State Department was not impressed. The man who had been
prime minister when the China war started, when Japan moved into
northern and southern Indochina, and when Japan joined the Axis
did not seem likely to be able to force the Japanese army to withdraw
now. Grew was an old hand at diplomacy and had an expert staff, but
he had a record of periodic overoptimism about the forces of
restraint and moderation in Japan. Weakening Grew’s argument now
was his failure to provide any concrete illustration of how the two
sides might bridge their differences.’

As the Japanese position unfolded under persistent American
probing during September, it became evident that these differences
were especially great on China issues; in fact Japan's terms were
stricter in September than they had been in May. The Konoe gov-
ernment still insisted that the United States cease assistance to China
and that any settlement permit the stationing of Japanese troops in
China. Now, however, it also stipulated that, while American trade
in China would be permitted on an “equitable” basis, Japanese trade
there would proceed under the principle of “geographical propin-
quity,” a characteristic Japanese and imperialist euphemism for hege-
mony. Furthermore, the United States would have to cease all mili-
tary preparations in the region and restore normal trade before Japan
reached a settlement in China and withdrew its forces from
Indochina.’

Despite the apparent stiffening, from the State Department’s per-
spective the slender possibility of a shift in the Japanese position jus-
tified the tedious process of discovery. But discovery also assisted the
more fundamental object of delay. The trick, Stimson believed, was
to string out the negotiations without letting them ripen into a lead-
ers’ meeting.® As September passed and impatience and despair
mounted in Tokyo, Hull and his Far Eastern experts-—Hamilton, Bal-
lantine, and Max Schmidet, as well as Grew and Dooman in Tokyo—
questioned, compared, and criticized the Japanese terms. Somewhat
like the Foreign Funds Control Committee in the matter of shutting
down trade, they kepr asking for further clarification and explana-
tion without registering either progress or impasse.

For example, in one important respect Japanese terms of Septem-
ber were an improvement over those of May: they stressed Japan’s
independent interpretation of its obligations under the Axis alliance
in case of war between Germany and the United States. Matsuoka
had resisted any such weakening. Clearly Japan would not let its rela-
tionship with Germany stand in the way of an improvement in rela-
tions with the United States, provided that East Asian problems
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could be resolved. The State Department was silent on the shift until
October 2, when it noted this step “with appreciation” but asked for
“additional clarification” on Japan'’s ties with the Axis."”

Tokyo's shifting tactics and the ineptitude of its diplomats greatly
facilitated delay. On September 6, Foreign Minister Toyoda, trying
to avoid becoming bogged down in details, presented through
Nomura the outline of a possible bargain, concentrating on the main
issues in contention. Was this not a narrowing of Japan’s position,
the Americans asked, compared with the comprehensive draft under-
standings of April and May and Prince Konoe's assurances to Grew
of adherence to American principles? In the September 6 proposal
Japan promised to make no military advance from Indochina or
southward generally. What about attacks northward, the Americans
wanted to know. The Japanese promised an open door for trade in
the southwest Pacific region, but what about the Pacific as a whole?
Ambassador Nomura tangled communications himself on September
4 by presenting his own unauthorized proposal, couched in the com-
prehensive format of the earlier discussions. The American embassy
in Tokyo was still trying to sort out the resulting confusion two
weeks later.

Finally on September 25 through Grew and on September 27
through Nomura, Toyoda presented Japan’s position in the estab-
lished comprehensive format and most urgently requested an explicit
American response setting a date and place for a leaders’ meeting.
With the president’s approval, the State Department prepared its first
written response to the Japanese proposals, which Hull delivered on
October 2. Japan’s offer was a disappointment, it said, because it
seemed to narrow and qualify the principles and assurances upon
which the talks were being conducted. If that impression was correct,
the statement asked, would a meeting of leaders “be likely to contrib-
ute to the advancement of the high purposes which we have
mutually in mind?” The American government invited “renewed
consideration of these fundamental principles” and offered the “ear-
nest hope” that this would lead to the desired meeting. Well into
Qctober the Japanese persisted in trying to elicit American counter-
proposals, both through Grew and Nomura, without success. On
QOctober 16 the Konoe cabinet, with nothing to show for its diplo-
macy and riven with dispute over further pursuit of it, resigned. Roo-
sevelt had hoped to gain from thirty to sixty days by talks. As he
wrote Churchill, they had gained “two months of respite in the Far
East,"®
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The attention of Washington was devoted less to the tottering
Konoe cabinet, however, than to the crumbling outer defenses of
Moscow. On October 2, German Army Group Center launched a
giant offensive to encircle Moscow and “finish the Russians off.””
Already strongest in Panzer forces, Von Bock’s group was further
reinforced for this final blow by transfer of all the armor from the
northern group of armies and a Panzer corps from the southern.
Attacking on a 150-mile semicircular front west of Moscow were six
German armies. The plan was to punch a hole in the middle of the
Russian defenses, between Bryansk and Vyazma, to sweep in behind
these twin citadels on the road to Moscow and destroy the main
forces defending it, and then to send the flanking Panzer armies of
Hoth and Guderian north and south of the capital in a climactic
encirclement.

The German tanks broke through quickly and completely. In the
Bryansk and Vyazma pockets more than 500,000 Russian troops were
lost. Guderian, circling to the south, seized Orel and moved on Tula,
due south of Moscow, while Hoth took Kalinin, opening the way to
the Moscow-Volga Canal, and Moscow from the north. Between
these pincers German infantry and armor, against desperate Russian
resistance, fought their way eastwards along the Smolensk road as far
as Mozaisk, fewer than fifty miles from Moscow. There at night they
could see the glow of anti-aircraft fire over the capital. Radio Moscow
admitted that the inhabitants were in “immense danger."” Fear fil-
tered into the city, leading to wild rumors, evacuation of government
offices, looting, and panicky flight by some Moscovites. The embas-
sies moved with the foreign ministry to Kuibyshev, more than 500
miles southeast of Moscow.

To Berlin, victory seemed almost in the palm of the hand. Nazi
propaganda boasted of motorized columns “streaming four abreast”
down highways toward Moscow. At the front, however, a deepening
sense of foreboding accompanied the exhilaration of conquest. Each
encirclement led only to new Soviet defense lines. The Russians
fought savagely and, after Marshal Georgi Zhukov took command of
the front October 10, more resiliently. The Soviet T-34 outper-
formed the heaviest German tank. At Mozaisk, German troops in
summer denim first encountered hardy Siberian troops in their
white, quilted winter clothing. They also encountered worsening
weather, now heavy cold rains, mud, and impassable roads, now frost
and the first light snow. The last leaves were off the birches, maples,
and oaks, and “ominous black clouds would build up far in the dis-
tance, towering high above the steppe,” harbingers of the “ice wind,
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now gathering strength over the Aral Sea.”” These, however, were
portents not deeds.

The German drive on Moscow came as a distinct shock to Wash-
ington. Signs of an offensive were not lacking: a warning on October
1 from London based on ULTRA, Hitler’s reference on October 3
to a “vast drive” in progress, an American diplomat’s glimpse on
October 6 of a Finnish war map showing “two German pincer thrusts
in the direction of Moscow.”™* But the Germans were tight-lipped,
and it was not until October 8, when the Vyazma and Bryansk encir-
clements were complete, that they beat the victory drums. Then ban-
ner headlines (six columns in the New York Times) brought a fright-
ening sense of the size and import of the battle. The British War
Office considered the whole Russian war now “at crisis.” The Ger-
mans appeared to be throwing “their entire war machine into this
all-out effort to take Moscow at any price.” A usually optimistic
Churchill estimated the chances of the Germans taking Moscow as
even, his director of military intelligence as slightly better than even.
When would winter in the Moscow region begin “in earnest,” the
prime minister asked? American army intelligence expected that the
loss of Moscow would result in a “radical change of regime.” At risk,
too, were the supply routes from the West through Archangel and
the Persian corridor, for the Germans were also racing toward Ros-
tov. News from Russia, Stimson noted October 10, was “very bad™ it
was “nip and tuck” whether the Germans would not finish their war
before winter. Even the imperturbable Berle confessed anxiety.”’

As the German-Soviet war provided the central dynamic in world
power relations, the repercussions of this October crisis were far-
ranging. Fears revived of German attacks elsewhere, especially in the
Middle East, once Moscow fell and the eastern front stabilized.”® The
failure of Britain to meet urgent Soviet requests for dispatch of Brit-
ish forces to the Russian front, either in the north or in the Caucasus,
left British-Soviet relations “badly strained,” Steinhardt reported. A
sullen Molotov complained that such American P-40 fighter aircraft
as had been delivered had engine defects. Leahy reported that Brit-
ain’s failure to help its ally at this critical moment was having a great
effect on Vichy, always a barometer of Axis military fortunes. France
now expected a German victory in Russia and new pressure for Ger-
man bases in French Africa”’

Of immediate importance to the American government was the
possible effect on Tokyo of either the fall of Moscow or the with-
drawal of Soviet Siberian armies to prevent its fall. Would Japan
attack northward? Barring a Soviet collapse, Japan had no such inten-
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tion. By October, Moscow knew this from definitive reports of Rich-
ard Sorge, a spy on the staff of the German embassy in Tokyo, and
began to withdraw about half the divisions as well as 1,000 aircraft
and 1,000 tanks from its Far Eastern command for the Moscow bat-
tle.”® Washington, however, did not know. True, American consular
reports from Harbin, Mukden, and Dairen showed that reinforce-
ment of the Kwantung Army in Manchuria had practically ceased,
but this fact could be taken to mean that preparations for attack were
complete.”’

The fall of the Konoe cabinet on October 16 (the same day dip-
lomats evacuated Moscow) and appointment as prime minister of
General To6j6 Hideki, previously war minister, intensified concern.
To5jd was known for his “particular dislike of the Russians” and his
prediction in 1938 that Japan would have to fight the Soviet Union.”

Most observers believed that Japan would wait for a decisive turn
of events on the European front, but on October 17 high Chinese
military officers, upon learning of a reduction in Soviet Far Eastern
forces, predicted an attack in a few days.®® Winter was a limitation,
but the possibility remained, and was discussed, of an attack aimed
only at an isolated Vladivostok.”> On October 21, army intelligence
judged the Kwantung and Siberian armies as roughly matched, but a
reduction providing the Japanese with a two-to-one superiority
would probably lead to a Japanese attack and three-to-one would cer-
tainly do so. The navy, strongly influenced by Admiral Turner’s con-
viction that Japan would turn north rather than south, warned that
hostilities between Japan and the Soviet Union were now a “strong
possibility.”*? Roosevelt himself told Lord Halifax on October 10 that
he feared a Japanese attack on Vladivostok. On October 15 he wrote
Churchill that the “Jap situation” was “definitely worse” and that he
thought they were “headed North.”*

Evidence was not lacking, however, that the Japanese might choose
to attack southward. On October 3 the French governor-general of
Indochina told the American consul in Hanoi that the Japanese had
demanded four more air bases in Cambodia and expressed his “grave
apprehension” of further Japanese advances to the south. Soon after,
Grew reported preparations to send an additional 50,000 troops to
Indochina. Worrisome, too, was a public statement by the director of
Japanese navy intelligence that his service was “itching” for action
against the Americans. The Japanese navy, it secemed to Stimson, was
“beginning to talk almost as radically as the army,” and the time had
come to draw lines which, if crossed, would manifestly justify a mili-
tary response.”” These southern threats, however, seemed still some-
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what distant and directed toward Yunnan province (as the Japanese
hoped they would seem) or Thailand. Naval analysts accepted that
Japan was mobilizing for war, but was not yet ready. At the moment
naval forces were moving from southern areas back to home waters,
not the other way around. Most observers probably agreed with a
British War Office estimate that the Japanese would prefer to avoid
the danger of involvement with Britain and the United States.”

Discordant signs in MAGIC intercepts failed to attract special
attention, such as a request that Japanese agents in Manila investigate
coastal defenses on Luzon and the sending of a ship to bring Japanese
home from the Middle East, India, and East Asia by November 20.
An order decrypted and translated October 9 directed the consul in
Honolulu to report the precise location of Pacific Fleet vessels in Pearl
Harbor with greater attention to those in fixed and predictable posi-
tions such as wharves, docks, and buoys than those at anchor. Yet
intelligence fitted this into the category of typical, widespread report-
ing of American ship movements.”

Reasoning as to which way Japan might jump was speculative, in
the category of the possible rather than the probable. Minds leaning
one way did not rule out the other. The only conviction was an exas-
perated apprehension over Japan's undifferentiated and opportunis-
tic expansionism. Nevertheless, the conjunction of the German
threat to Moscow with the fall of the Konoe cabinet gave greater
prominence in American official minds to the northern vector than
the southern.

The question returned of how to get Japan “off Russia’s back,” as
Norwegian diplomat Trygve Lie put it.*® Roosevelt confided to Hal-
ifax on October 10 that sometime earlier (possibly in a verbal mes-
sage delivered by Harriman) he had advised Stalin that in case of an
acute crisis on the German front he should withdraw his troops from
Siberia and not worry too much what the Japanese did, because any
incursion could be corrected later—how, Roosevelt did not say.” The
president was hard to pin down. Shortly after the fall of the Konoe
cabinet, Halifax pursued the question. What would the United States
do in the event of a Japanese attack on Russia, an event the Foreign
Office considered possible given “the stimulus of the German
advance on Moscow, the pressure of our economic measures, and the
likelihood that Japan would wish to aveid a head-on collision with
the A.B.C.D. Powers by moving southward”? But the Americans as
usual avoided commitments.*® On October 22, through Winant,
Maisky urged a British-American warning against an attack on the
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Soviet Union, but Hull was not prepared to go beyond the general-
ized admonition he had given in the past."

To the British mind, the German attack and Japanese cabinet shift
called for the utmost firmness in diplomacy. The trade embargo was
“slowly strangling” Japan, British diplomats believed, forcing it
sooner or later to “break out or give way.” Whether or not Japan
attacked depended on the solidity of the democratic front. The Brit-
ish no less than the Commonwealth and Chinese governments were
deeply apprehensive that the Hull-Nomura conversations would lead
to some kind of appeasement of Japan and a weakening of that front,
but they were at a loss to know what to do, for the discussions were
entirely in the hands of the State Department, which did not take
kindly to advice.”

They had nothing to fear; as seen before, the Americans had no
intention of offering concessions. Hull and Stimson agreed between
themselves that if the Japanese threw in their hand they might be
allowed to keep Manchuria, but should be required to evacuate the
rest of China and guarantee Soviet borders. An army intelligence
estimate of October 2 warned against an agreement ending the war
in China and permitting Japan to withdraw the bulk of its army:
“Any action on our part ... which would liberate Japanese ... forces
for action against Russia’s rear in Siberia would be foolhardy.” The
object of policy must be to assist China in its efforts to “contain” the
Japanese army.** Army War Plans advised a continuance of existing
pressures “with a view to rendering Japan incapable of offensive
operations against Russia or against possessions of the associated
powers in the Far East.” Roosevelt and Hull repeatedly assured
friendly ambassadors that no concessions would be made. Not for the
last time, coalition diplomacy powerfully reinforced United States
firmness.

The only further means of immobilizing Japan, so far as Roosevelt
and his advisers could see, was to strengthen American military
power in East Asia. That could most effectively and quickly be
accomplished, the War Department believed, by speeding the air
reinforcement of the Philippines.

American plans for deploying air power to East Asia had steadily
expanded in August and September: first a squadron, then a group,
then two groups. This was “great strength” to General Marshall,
though not the four groups envisaged by the air staff in July. Seventy
B-17s were to be in the Philippines or on the way by January 1, 1942.
Thirty-five B-24 Liberators, a four-engine bomber with a slightly
longer range, would leave for Manila by February 1. Between April
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and October 1942 the total force would rise to 136 operating heavy
bombers and thirty-four reserves together with additional dive
bombers and fighters." These numbers, of course, were ever in jeop-
ardy from a president listening to the urgent pleas of the British and
Russians. The more were Stimson and the army anxious to stress the
strategic importance of an American air mission in East Asia.”

On October 16, in the wake of the fall of the Konoe cabinet, Roo-
sevelt called an emergency meeting of his military advisers. It seems
most likely that at this meeting he decided to accelerate Philippine
reinforcement plans. Thirty planes of the 7th Bombardment Group
were now to leave one month earlier than scheduled, by December
1, the remaining five with thirty more by January 1, and another
thirty by February 1, together with thirty-five B-24s. Under this
speeded-up delivery schedule, by March 1942 the Far East Air Force
would muster 165 heavy bombers.*

Now the Philippines would have an air force headquarters, with
bomber and interceptor commands, to be led by Major General
Lewis H. Brereton, who, as Marshall pointed out to MacArthur, had
a “keen appreciation ... of the potentialities of air power.” Now also
for the first time the army committed an additional ground combat
unit to the Philippines, an infantry regiment, together with another
tank battalion, an anti-aircraft regiment, and a field artillery brigade.
Together with more air and ground service units, prospective rein-
forcements would add 44,000 Americans to the Philippine garrison.”

The navy, too, contributed to the reinforcement of the Philippines
by sending Submarine Squadron 2 from the Pacific Fleet to the
Asiatic Fleet. These twelve newly commissioned vessels joined eleven
modern and six old boats at Manila to form the largest submarine
force in the navy. Submarines seemed ideally suited to the straits and
restricted shipping passages surrounding the South China Sea. The
navy had great faith in new torpedoes which were designed to
explode simply by passing through a warship’s magnetic field.*

As the American air commitment grew, so did the concept of its
use. Bombers which could fly 2,000 miles need not be restricted to
one base. B-17s and B-24s using Darwin, Singapore, a base in the
Dutch East Indies, and the Philippines could command the myriad
of narrow seas, archipelagos, peninsulas, and islands that lay between
Asia and Australia. The navy began delivering bombs to Singapore.
Roosevelt encouraged the Australians to move squadrons up to
North Borneo. From Davao in the Philippines and Rabaul on New
Britain the bombers could reach the Japanese Mandates and prevent
a Japanese flanking of the Philippines from the east.”
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The ferry route across the central Pacific and the Japanese Man-
dates being too vulnerable, the army and navy began development
of a more southerly route, with shorter hops to accommodate
medium bombers as well. This line of communications consisted of
Palmyra and Christmas Islands, due south of Hawaii, the Phoenix
group {Canton, Howland, Phoenix) southwest of there, then the
Samoan Islands, the Fijis, the New Hebrides, New Caledonia, and
Rockhampton on the northeast coast of Australia which would serve
as a major air depot and distributing point.*

As the effort to establish American air power in East Asia accel-
erated and expanded in October, the American military leadership
warmed to the idea. The army’s War Plans Division study encouraged
by Stimson concluded that “strong offensive air forces” in the Phil-
ippines, prepared to operate from British and Soviet bases, would
provide a crucial deterrent to Japanese expansion in any direction.
Japan would be unable to undertake any southward advance without
first removing the threat in the Philippines, but attacking these
islands would be a major operation requiring carrier planes and air
support from Formosa. Japan, they were confident, would hesitate to
try it except as a last resort.

Deterring a Japanese attack on Siberia would be major American,
British, and Dutch forces in its rear, the possibility of American entry
into the war, and the use of Russian bases for bombardment of
Japan’s highly inflammable cities. Even if the United States did not
enter the war, the American commitment to supply the Soviet Union
would serve as an implicit threat to a Japanese attack northward.
General Arnold, chief of the Air Corps, wrote MacArthur that B-
24s from northern Luzon could reach as far as Nagasaki and, if
arrangements could be made to use Vladivostok, operations from
there could cover most of Japan.*

Stimson’s vision was even more sweeping. The bombers, he said,
were the country’s “big stick.” They “revolutionized” the strategy of
the Pacific, carrying American power to the Philippines for the first
time since the aftermath of World War I, when Japan secured the
central Pacific islands and the United States agreed at the Washing-
ton Conference to limit the size of its fleet. “From being impotent to
influence events in that area,” he wrote Roosevelt, “we suddenly find
ourselves vested with the possibility of great effective power.” Time
was needed; the deterrent threat was still “imperfect.” Even so, it “bids
fair to stop Japan’s march to the south and secure the safety of
Singapore.”
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The secretary of war allowed to Harriman that he was not so sure
about deterrence northward, but that advance he considered
unlikely at the moment. In arguing for the reinforcement to the pres-
ident, however, Stimson was more sanguine. He related it directly to
preservation of Russian defensive power in Europe. With the Arch-
angel route in jeopardy and the Persian corridor undeveloped,
Vladivostok was crucial. He presented an exciting picture of heavy
bombers shuttling from the Philippines across Japan to bases at
Vladivostok and thence onward to Alaska and back, after the fashion
of the German Condors flying between bases in western France and
Norway. That sort of capability would have “immense powers of
warning to Japan as well as of assurance to Russia.” Hull was said
to be cheered too. The air move had “really given a punch to his
own diplomacy in the Far East and ... opened the door to
Vladivostok. .. ."

The austere General Marshall was obviously excited by the possi-
bilities he described for Admiral Stark on the phone:

The conception is that if we can build up quickly, considering the fact
those planes can operate from Fort {sic} Darwin and Australia, from
New Britain; from Singapore and the Dutch East Indies; possibly even
Vladivostok, we can cover that whole area of possible Japanese oper-
ations.... And we stick to it into the Mandated Islands. {This} would
exercise a more determining influence on the course of events right
now than anything else.... Because it practically backs the Japanese
off and would certainly stop them on the Malaysian thing. It probably
would make them feel they didn’t dare take the Siberian thing and I
think it has a better than 50% chance of forcing them to practically
drop the Axis.

By acting with rapidity the United States might give the Japanese “a
complete pause.””

As the army became increasingly aware, this vision of power over-
coming distance did not extend to the supply and service functions
which made it possible to put these planes in the air. The transport
shortage, aggravated by commitment of the biggest ships to the Brit-
ish, slowed reinforcement. So did the navy’s insistence on escorted
convoys for troop transports and vital cargo ships and for round-
about routing, southward from Hawaii and then close to Australia,
for all other vessels. Lacking fuel storage along the air route and in
the Philippines, the air force had to supply gasoline in drums, which
themselves were in short supply, and reserve cargo space for bulky
storage tanks. Departure of the 19th Bombardment Group in Octo-
ber was delayed by the need to reinforce the cabins to withstand the
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recoil of added machine guns. Stimson became so impatient with
postponements that on October 16 he ordered the first flight of B-
17s to take off the next day or explain in writing to him why not.
The air force provided daily reports on their progress across the
Pacific.*

The British were making similar calculations of deterrence at the
same time. The Admiralty had been planning gradually to form an
Eastern fleet of six battleships, a battle cruiser, and an aircraft carrier
over the next six months. Since August, Churchill, seeking to instill
fear in the Japanese and encouragement in the Dominions, had been
pushing for immediate dispatch of a small, powerful force centering
on a modern battleship of the King George V class. The Admiralty,
anxious to keep its best battleships in the Atlantic against the Tirpitz
and its fellow raiders, was reluctant.”

The fall of the Konoe cabinet and what Eden described as the
“Russian defeats” and what the Admiralty described as “the deterio-
ration of the Russian situation” brought the issue to a head. These
events were bound to encourage Japanese “extreme elements,” the
foreign minister pointed out, in which direction it was not yet clear,
but “the stronger the joint front that the A.B.C.D. Powers can show,
the greater the deterrent to Japanese action.” Sending a capital ship
would make a difference, a Foreign Office diarist noted, for the Japa-
nese were “so hysterical” they might “rush themselves off their feet.”®
Availability of more capital ships from speedy repairs, near-comple-
tion of the battleship Duke of York, and American acceptance of
defense of Denmark Strait against raiders strengthened the case.

At an October 17 meeting of the cabinet’s Defense Committee,
Eden, Clement Attlee, and Churchill carried the day, and the Admi-
ralty reluctantly ordered HM.S. Prince of Wales immediately to join
the battle cruiser Repulse in the Indian Ocean. The new carrier Indom-
itable, working up in the Caribbean, was to follow in late November,
and four old “R” class battleships to arrive by the end of the year.
Admiral Tom Phillips, vice-chief of naval staff, was ordered to com-
mand.”” Churchill informed Roosevelt of the dispatch of the Prince
of Wales with delight. Here was “something that can catch and kill
anything.” “The firmer your attitude and ours,” he urged, “the less
chance of their taking the plunge.”®

Two reversals of long-term power deficits in East Asia were taking
place, at least in the Anglo-American official mind. An air armada in
the Philippines would not only at last make possible a defense of the
archipelago but could be used there for deterring, and in the event
of war attacking, Japan. The new Eastern fleet would finally make
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Singapore the mighty bastion of naval power it was supposed to be.
And the Anglo-American strategic discordance seemed to be mend-
ing too. The Admiralty suggested the use of Manila as an advanced
base for the Eastern fleet. To Admiral Stark and his advisers this
degree of cooperation and forward staging seemed premature, but
they were enthusiastic over the transfer, urging the British to go fur-
ther and send cruisers and destroyers and more fighters and long-
range bombers to Malaya.® Admiral Thomas Hart, commander-in-
chief of the U.S. Asiatic Fleet, decided in October to fight from
Manila Bay instead of withdrawing southward, as he was authorized,
and Stark promised in case of war to send eight destroyers from the
Philippines to the Eastern fleet.” The two navies were operating on
the principle of cooperation rather than unified command—leaving
to their Asiatic commanders the problem of working out a combined
operating plan—but American objections to the original ADB
scheme were being met, one by one.” The invention of the Philip-
pines as a strategic asset was overcoming the Anglo-American plan-
ning impasse of the spring and summer.

The Soviet strategic connection was a different matter. The use of
Soviet bases was a highly speculative proposition. Obviously these
would not be available unless Japan attacked, for neither the Soviets
nor the Americans had any desire to provoke a northward advance.
Deterrence, then, would depend on whether the Japanese in deciding
about the north would take into account threats from American
bombers at the limit of their range in the south or possibly moving
to bases in the north.

The Anglo-American reinforcement spasm of mid-October 1941
was replete with errors: placing excessive confidence in the symbolic
deterrent effect of battleships and heavy bombers—the shadow of
power—before they were fully empiaced, protected, and ready for
use; exaggerating the capability of weapons (high altitude bombers
against dodging ships; the effective range of bombers); simultane-
ously employing economic coercion, which would force action, and
deterrence, seeking to forestall or delay action; grossly underestimat-
ing Japanese military capabilities, determination, and desperation.*
The Air Corps vision and doctrine of strategic air power and deter-
mination to protect its growth was an important factor in the Amer-
ican augmentation. Principally, however, both strategic deployments
responded to threats that Japan appeared to pose, particularly to the
Soviet Union at a critical point in the German invasion. Convinced
that Soviet survival was essential to winning the war against the main
enemy, Germany, and otherwise virtually helpless in providing
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immediate assistance, the United States and Britain determined at the
very least to attempt to keep Japan off Russia’s back, even at some
risk to themselves, a greater risk than they knew.

The Japanese were not in the least deterred. The fall of the Konoe
cabinet was, to be sure, due to the hesitation of the prime minister
and navy minister to take the final plunge, a decision for war after
the failure of diplomacy by the deadline, but these ministers worried
about Japan'’s ability to win a long war, not about the dispatch of
British and American forces (which after all had not arrived). And
to the extent that “ABCD encirclement” was evidently tightening, it
only heightened the resolve to break out before it was too late. At
the same time, as long as preparations for war continued, the armed
services were content to allow diplomacy to proceed.

The emperor, however, was anxious to start from scratch and have
the entire question of going to war reconsidered, as if the decision of
the September 6 Imperial Conference had never been taken. General
Toid, so informed, agreed to this unprecedented command and led
an intensive canvass from October 23 to November 2 of all relevant
factors and possible courses of action. In the discussion the navy
insisted it needed more steel for ship construction to wage war suc-
cessfully, and when the army relented the admirals in effect signed
up for war. The oil embargo “hovered over the conference table like
a demon.”” The players were somewhat different from September’s,
but the stockpiles were lower, the urgency greater, and the predom-
inant military and bureaucratic perspectives no less narrow and
opportunistic. Unlike Konoe, T5jo, characterized by his biographer
as “blunt and decisive, forthright and assertive, naive and aggressive,”
was prepared to lead the cabinet to a clearcut decision and the nation
to war.® At an Imperial Conference on November 5 the government
agreed to make a decision for war if diplomacy had not succeeded by
December 1.

War plans were integrated and polished. Centerpiece for the navy
was a bold plan of Admiral Yamamoto, which the navy general staff
adopted October 19, for a carrier raid on Pearl Harbor to eliminate
the possibility of the American fleet interfering with southern oper-
ations. These operations would begin with simultaneous invasion of
the Philippines, mounted and supported from Formosa and the
Palaus; of Malaya, staged through and covered from Indochina; and
of Thailand and Burma, from Indochina. Wake Island and Hong
Kong would be subdued along the way. At a later stage Japanese
forces would concentrate on the Dutch East Indies and Burma. These
immensely complex and risky operations would require every ship
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the navy could send to sea but would need less than one-fourth of
the Japanese army. As November unfolded, the various forces mov-
ing into position for attack would become increasingly evident to
ABCD intelligence.

The diplomatic plan of the T6j0 government was more a repack-
aging than a revision. Foreign Minister T5j0 Shigenori offered two
approaches. Plan A was a restatement of the Japanese position for a
comprehensive settlement, only now more precise about the ques-
tion of troops in China. Japan would remove its forces after a peace
settlement but insist on retaining garrisons in Hainan, North China,
and Inner Mongolia for a prolonged but finite period. Plan B, a fall-
back option in case Plan A failed, would put the China problem
aside and seek a partial settlement by a return to the conditions exist-
ing prior to the Japanese advance into southern Indochina.

Discussions resumed in Washington on November 7 along the
lines of Plan A and continued every few days, twice at the White
House, to November 18. This phase of the everlasting Hull-Nomura
talks was quite distinctive, and not just from the urgency with which
the Japanese pressed their case. Hull was different: more impatient,
critical, and intrusive, altogether more “preachy,” he flogged the tired
old issues again and again. On the Axis alliance he pushed harder
than before. Could the ambassador assure him, Hull asked, that if his
government entered into a settlement with the United States the
Axis alliance “would automatically become a dead letter,” “automat-
ically disappear”? No Pacific settlement was possible with Japan
“clinging to her Tripartite Pact.,”

Nor would a settlement in China be possible so long as the United
States continued to assist Chiang, dragging out negotiations forever,
the ambassador pointed out. China would then, just on the troop
issue perhaps, hold the key to Japanese-American relations “which
might result in war.” Hull asked how many soldiers Japan wanted to
retain in China and was told about 10 percent of those currently
present. It was a situation full of trouble, the secretary of state
responded, “one of Japan’s own making and it was up to the Japanese
Government to find some way of getting itself out.... ” If only the
Japanese people could get “war and invasion out of mind.”®

Hull seemed to be emphasizing differences as if to bring matters to
a head instead of stringing out the talks for maximum delay, as he
had in September and October. But the matter he wished to dispose
of was not the talks themselves but the idea of a comprehensive set-
tlement, as represented in Plan A. In November with increasing
urgency the American government sought a partial, temporary set-
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tlement with Japan, a modus vivendi. It did so in the growing realiza-
tion of a shift in strategic circumstances.

The German offensive against Moscow had bogged down at the
end of October. German propaganda admitted on October 27 that
“weather conditions have entailed a temporary halt in the advance.”®
In the following several weeks the German command reshuffled
armies and replenished divisions for one final heave at Moscow on
November 15, which the Soviets knew was coming and braced for.

The hopes of British-American observers for German failure
before Moscow outpaced reality. New York Times dispatches were
consistently optimistic from November 1 to 20. German sources
reported the weather “miserable beyond all conception”; roads “sim-
ply disappeared” in “one great indivisible quagmire.” The “fabled
Russian winter” was “closing in,” then gripping “Nazi armies,” killing
German soldiers. “Stalemate,” “standstill,” “floundering,” and “fail-
ure” were words used to describe the German offensive. The Russians
were said to be halting, holding, or beating off the Germans, even
gaining ground, pushing on, beginning a “sustained counteroffen-
sive.” The Soviet regime would never permit a lull in battle, said the
Times, and so the Eastern front was now a “permanent factor” in the
war.

Official reports were more guarded but increasingly hopeful. Some
said the offensive had been stopped, others that it was too early to
predict. According to the American embassy at Kuibyshev on Octo-
ber 28, the Soviets apparently did not expect to hold Moscow but
would make the Germans pay the highest possible price for it. Still,
the weather at Moscow was “thickening.” November 9 the embassy
reported that Vladimir Dekanozov, former Soviet ambassador to Ber-
lin, believed that if Leningrad and Moscow could hold out another
month the Germans would be stalled for the winter. Though large
Soviet forces had been withdrawn from the east, he assured the
embassy that enough remained for a stubborn defense in case Japan
attacked. On November 13 the embassy reported that the fall of Mos-
cow was no longer considered inevitable. Churchill was now said to
have reversed his odds: he was waging five to four on the Germans'’
being stopped.™

Whereas American officials in October considered a Japanese
attack northward the most likely possibility, in November that even-
tuality seemed farfetched. American consuls in Manchuria had noth-
ing to report. In a November 7 dispatch, Grew found “no indica-
tions” the To8jo government contemplated such action. The
appointment of Tdgd, former ambassador to Moscow, as foreign
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minister seemed to indicate, on the contrary, a constructive attitude
toward the Soviet Union. The Japan Times and Aduvertiser, regarded
as a mouthpiece of the foreign office, doubted the collapse of the
Soviet Union even if Moscow, Leningrad, and the whole of Euro-
pean Russia were conquered. Japanese forces in Manchuria were suf-
ficient, the American embassy in Tokyo believed, to take advantage
of a Soviet collapse, but not to take on an “intact Soviet Far Eastern
army and air force.” Japan, Grew believed, would persist in a policy
of “watchful waiting."”

Japanese military movements were, if anything, southward, not
northward. The American consul in Saigon reported an increase in
Japanese troops in Indochina in the latter part of October. Airplanes,
tanks, artillery: “military equipment of all kinds” was arriving. Con-
struction of air bases, radio stations, piers, and barracks was preparing
the way for “accommodation of a large army.” Under instructions to
monitor the buildup closely, the Saigon and Hanoi consuls reported
further increases in the first week of November to approximately
50,000 troops with the majority in southern Indochina, some arriving
there from Hanoi by rail. The naval atraché in Tokyo expected a
buildup of 100,000 and occupation of Thailand.” Concentrations
were beginning to occur at sea too: troop transports off Hainan,
according to the Chinese, and communications intelligence of naval,
air, and base force movements to the Mandates. Two new carriers had
joined the fleet which was gathered at Kure.”

This apparent southward drift of Japanese power was accompanied
in Tokyo by a virulent anti-American press campaign. The United
States had “the soul of a prostitute,” said Tokyo’s Nichi Nichi. Accord-
ing to Domei, the ofhcial news agency, Japan was completing its “war
structure” for a seemingly inevitable “armed clash in the Pacific.” The
American oil embargo was forcing the nation to “drastic action” for
self-defense. A newspaper close to Japan’s foreign office insisted that
peace hinged on “America’s sincerity in understanding and recog-
nizing Japan’s immutable national policy.”™

The anger and fatalism of these public expressions of Japanese pol-
icy worried Grew. On November 3 he sent a powerful telegram to
the State Department based in part on a draft by Eugene Dooman,
his counselor of embassy, who had grown up in Japan and been edu-
cated in the same school as many of Japan’s civilian leaders. That
economic coercion could bring about Japan’s collapse as an aggres-
sive power was an “‘uncertain and dangerous hypothesis,” Grew
warned. The failure of conciliation begun by the Konoe cabinet
could well produce an abrupt swing of policy in the opposite direc-
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tion to an “all-out, do or die attempt, actually risking national hara-
kiri, to make Japan impervious” to foreign economic pressures. He
was anxious to avoid any misconception of “Japan’s capacity to rush
headlong into a suicidal struggle with the United States,” or the dis-
counting of current preparations as mere “saber rattling.” The pri-
mary question in this “grave and momentous subject” was whether
war with lapan was justified by American national objectives, and
that was a question on which the sands were “running fast.” “Action
by Japan which might render unavoidable an armed conflict with the
United States may come with dangerous and dramatic suddenness.””

MAGIC intercepts conveyed the same sense of impending finality.
On November 2, Tokyo made it very clear to Nomura that the Plan
A/Plan B proposals were a “last effort.” Togd used the language of
ultimate crisis. The situation was “very grave,” relations had “reached
the edge.” Without “quick accord,” negotiations would “certainly be
ruptured.” Japan was gambling its fate “on the throw of this die,”
“showing the limit of our friendship,” “making our last possible
bargain.”™

Taken altogether this intelligence was puzzling. On the one hand,
Japan and the United States seemed to be on a collision course unless
saved by diplomacy. On the other hand, the only Japanese threat
which had materialized so far, the Indochina concentration, did not
seem to justify America’s going to war. The strategic and policy impli-
cations of that concentration were debated at the State Department
and within the military early in November in response to an urgent
plea from Chiang Kai-shek for a warning to Japan and dispatch of
American and British air units to assist in repelling what he took to
be an imminent Japanese attack from Indochina into Yunnan prov-
ince. Japanese capture of Kunming, he warned, and closing of the
Burma Road—China’s only remaining supply line from the West—
would lead to China’s fall. The State Department was impressed and
asked the military what support could be given.”

The answer, concurred in by Roosevelt, was none. The army was
skeptical of a Japanese thrust into Yunnan: the terrain was rugged,
the defensive possibilities excellent and the forces presently in north-
ern Indochina insufficient. They would need twice as many troops,
ten divisions, and two months to mount a Yunnan offensive. The
embassy in Tokyo, the consul in Hanoi, and the military attaché in
London, reflecting British estimates, were also dubious.” An alter-
nate hypothesis was that Indochina was a staging area for an attack
on Malaya, but the army’s War Plans Division considered this highly
unlikely because landings along the eastern coast of Malaya would
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be difficult “while the northeast monsoon beats upon the shores of
the China Sea from November to February.””

More likely, Japanese forces in Indochina were intended for a third
alternative, the invasion of Thailand next door, which would pose a
vital security threat only if extended to the Kra isthmus. Even that
possibility was discounted by Admiral Ingersoll, vice chief of naval
operations, who argued that Japan’s next move if it occurred would
not be a one-country operation but an all-out attack on the Philip-
pines, Malaya, and the Dutch East Indies. Army War Plans consid-
ered this beyond Japan's means: Malaya would require ten to twenty
divisions and the Philippines ten, but Japan had only ten to twelve
for southern operations altogether. An attack on Siberia was not
considered a serious possibility now; an attack on Hawaii was not
considered.®

The army and navy recommended on November 5 that, unless
Japan attacked British, Dutch, or American territory, the United
States take no action which might precipitate war. This was not a
time “to get brash,” said Ingersoll. The Pacific Fleet was inferior to the
Japanese fleet to begin with, and currently major units were in the
yards or escorting convoys. War in the Pacific would have to be
waged with long lines of communication and inferior East Asian
bases. Above all, offensive operations would require a major diver-
sion of merchant shipping to the Pacific, most likely resulting in loss
of the Battle of the Atlantic and the supply lines to Britain and Rus-
sia. Neither the army nor navy had any intention of altering the stra-
tegic priority of Europe.”

With only a little more time, however, the strategic situation in
East Asia would improve. By mid-December, or more precisely
December 10 in General Marshall’s accounting, the reinforcement of
the Philippines would have reached “impressive strength,” posing a
“positive threat to any Japanese operations south of Formosa.” By
then thirty-five B-17s of the 7th Bombardment Group were due to
have arrived, doubling the number of heavy bombers in the Philip-
pines, along with 145 P-40 interceptors and 54 dive bombers.
MacArthur estimated that all elements of ten Philippine divisions
and three regiments of constabulary would be mobilized and housed
by December 15. By February or March, American power in the Phil-
ippines conjoined with British naval increases would reach the deter-
rent level. The situation called for delay by “clever diplomacy,” in
Marshall’s view, with some minor concessions to the Japanese, such
as relaxing oil restrictions.®



October-November: Race Against Time 205

So far the Americans had enjoyed the luxury of balancing poten-
tial power against threat without a time limit. But as the November
5 recommendation was going to the president, so was a MAGIC
intercept informing Nomura that all arrangements for signing of an
agreement must be completed by November 25.%

The pace accelerated. On November 6, Ambassador Kurusu
Saburd was reported in the press to be rushing to catch the Pan
American Clipper at Hong Kong with “last” proposals for the United
States. On November 8, Marshall directed that reinforcements for
the Philippines “be expedited in every way.” On November 10,
Churchill boasted publicly of sending a “powerful naval force of
heavy ships” for service in the Indian and Pacific oceans. On Novem-
ber 11 the New York Times reported the crisis was “now held acute.”
On November 14 the president ordered withdrawal of the remaining
Marines in China. On November 15, from MAGIC, Tokyo con-
firmed November 25 as the final date and described it as “absolutely
immovable.” On November 17, Grew warned that on account of the
inability of the embassy to monitor Japanese military activity, it
might not be able to provide adequate warning of Japanese actions
outside the China theater “exploiting every possible tactical advan-
tage such as surprise. ... ” The sands were indeed running, and fast.®

So Japan's plan was to go southward, and it involved the United
States. For three months Roosevelt’s foreign policy had sought to pre-
vent Japanese movement in any direction, north or south. Now, with
Soviet survival into 1942 seemingly assured, an easing of Japan’s
problems in the south was not likely to encourage an attack on Sibe-
ria. With the Soviet factor disengaged, American strategic thinking
reverted to the familiar balancing of interests between Atlantic and
Pacific represented in the ABC talks and RAINBOW plans. In
November the necessities and opportunities of the Battle of the
Atlantic made it seem all the more imperative to maintain a strategic
defensive in Asia and if at all possible to avoid war with Japan.

Waging antisubmarine warfare in the Atlantic had proved to be
more difficult than expected. Stimson gathered from Knox that the
navy was “thoroughly scared about their inability to stamp out the
sub menace.” Planners noted an alarming increase in the number of
U-boats completing and coming on station. Admiral King was trying
to get his hands on any ship over 600 tons which could make twelve
knots and steam 3,000 miles or more to fill out his hard-pressed escort
units® On October 17 the U.S.S. Kearny was hit while assisting a
badly disorganized convoy under heavy attack. A torpedo blew out
the forward boiler room, killing seven, but the ship limped back to
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Iceland safely. On October 31 HX 156 chanced upon a U-boat pack
in transit, and the U.S.S. Reuben James was sunk with 115 hands.*

Despite these losses and the unremitting misery of escort duty on
the North Atlantic in winter, the outlook was, for the moment,
improving. October’s losses were less than September’s, and U-boats
sank only thirteen ships in November. One important reason for this
success was the transfer of ten U-boats from the Atlantic to the Med-
iterranean to protect the supply route to Rommel’s army in Africa,
with more to follow.*” On November 7 the Soviet Union became eli-
gible for Lend-Lease. On November 13, Congress rescinded the
remaining neutrality laws, though by slender majorities, permitting
the arming of merchant ships and their entry into combat zones.
Now, besides assisting in British supply, American and American-
controlled tonnage could carry war materials for the 1942 campaign-
ing season directly to the Soviet Union by way of the Arctic convoys.
Should German raiders break into the Atlantic, the Admiralty was
informed on November 6, American forces would not be constrained
by hemispherical boundaries.”

Typical of 1941 was the swaying balance between current Anglo-
American naval weakness and approaching strength. On November
3 the carrier Indomitable, assigned to the Eastern fleet, went aground
in Jamaica. Ten days later the Ark Royal was sunk in the Mediterra-
nean. Norfolk quickly repaired the Indomitable, but she was too late
to sail with Phillips and was held in the Atlantic probably because—
on account of refits and repairs—the Royal Navy was down to one
fleet carrier. On November 25 a U-boat sank the battleship Barham.%
The balance was due to tip favorably again soon with new ships
reporting for duty, but for the moment the margin of advantage on
the Atlantic seemed very slim.

So far the Hull-Nomura talks had been a matter of discovery and
delay, not bargaining. Now the United States seriously considered
what concessions it might make to avoid war. Roosevelt showed his
interest in a modus vivendi the day after he learned of the November
25 deadline. On November 6 he sounded out Stimson on the idea of
a truce with no further military buildup or troop movement for six
months or until the Chinese and Japanese arrived at a settlement.
The secretary of war promptly disposed of that sort of bargain by
pointing out how it would let the Chinese down and cut short the
reinforcement of the Philippines.

At his November 10 meeting with Nomura, Roosevelt twisted the
conversation around to drop in a word about the modus vivendi as an
instrument of diplomacy, it “being not merely an expedient and tem-



QOctober~November: Race Against Time 207

porary agreement, but also one which takes into account actual and
human existence.” Nomura was bewildered but determined to find
out whether the president had in mind a provisional agreement.”
The Hull-Nomura conversations now entered a curious bilevel phase:
discussion continued on various aspects of a comprehensive settle-
ment, punctuated now and then with sallies into a temporary
agreement.

The Americans preferred to have the Japanese take the initiative
for a modus vivendi to gain bargaining advantage and to keep their
own record clear of any taint of appeasement. A Japanese initiative
seemed a practical first step too, since, as the Americans knew, they
had Plan B in the wings. This proposal, sent November 4, decrypted
and translated the next day, would pledge Japan not to advance
beyond Indochina and to withdraw her troops from there upon
reaching a settlement with China in return for American restoration
of trade and agreement to “engage in no activity which might put an
obstacle in the way of Japan in her efforts to make peace with
China.”" Nomura and his new colleague Kurusu, who arrived
November 15, saw no hope for such an American engagement and,
though instructed to present the plan, devised a formula of their
own. In this they were encouraged on November 17 by word from a
cabinet member, undoubtedly Postmaster General Walker, that the
president wanted an understanding but needed something concrete,
such as Japanese evacuation of Indochina.”

On November 18, steering clear of a Japanese troop withdrawal
contingent on peace settlement elsewhere, the two ambassadors sug-
gested to Hull a return to the status quo of July, before the Japanese
advance into southern Indochina and the freezing of assets. Hull was
not displeased, but Togd was. The foreign minister reproved Nomura
and ordered him back to Plan B, but with changes, notably a pledge
to evacuate southern Indochina, an important concession, Tdgd
pointed out. This was the Plan B presented November 20, Thanks-
giving Day.”

The ball was now in the American court. Plan B had improved but
still had the impossible requirement that the United States suspend
assistance to Chiang during Sino-Japanese peace negotiations. New
ideas were needed. Hull had already asked his advisers to explore all
possibilities. The Japan desk officers sent up a set of terms; another
set from Treasury would solve in one swoop all Japanese-American
problems back to the turn of the century. The air was charged with
reciprocity. Maxwell Hamilton, the sober, meticulous chief of the Far
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Eastern Division, in a moment of giddiness suggested a swap of New
Guinea, or parts of it, for Japanese ships.”

Even Roosevelt tried his hand, giving Hull an outline modus vivendi
on November 17.” The president, as before, had in mind a six-month
agreement exchanging relaxation of trade restrictions (“some oil and
rice now—more later”) for pledges by Japan not to send more troops
north or south and not to invoke the Axis alliance in case the United
States became involved in war with Germany. The United States
would bring the Japanese and Chinese together for peace talks but
take no part in them. The outline undoubtedly spurred the search
for a modus but it was outdated by the Nomura-Kurusu proposal the
next day and unhelpful on specific issues. Roosevelt was content to
leave the management of this diplomatic initiative to Hull and his
experts. He offered guidelines, he nudged the process along, but he
kept his distance from a project that risked accusations of
appeasement.

The Friday and Saturday after Thanksgiving, Hull and his Far East-
ern advisers, taking the various drafts from all sources, including Plan
B, put together two new sets of proposals, a modus vivendi and a com-
prehensive agreement. The short-term proposition would prevent
any further Japanese cross-border military encroachment but not
affect American-British-Dutch reinforcements or existing Japanese
deployments except in Indochina. It adopted the revised Plan B idea
of a return to the status of July in Indochina with a limit of 25,000
Japanese troops in the north. In return the United States would mod-
ify its trade restrictions to allow export of certain non-defense com-
modities such as food and raw cotton and, on a month-by-month
basis, lower-grade petroleum products in quantities appropriate to
civilian use. The proposal was silent on the Axis alliance, reflecting
the failure of Roosevelt and Hull to secure any Japanese concession
on this issue at least for a modus vivendi. The duration of the agree-
ment would be three months, gaining the needed time for reinforce-
ment of the Philippines at the least cost in replenishing Japan's oil
stocks.

On the crucial issue of peace in China the proposal broached the
idea of bringing the two sides together for talks in the Philippines.
The United States would not look with disfavor, it even suggested,
upon an armistice, raising the possibility which that term implied of
a suspension of American aid to China during the talks. But
Chinese-Japanese peace talks were not a necessary condition of the
modus, and neither therefore was suspension of American assistance
to China, which was a requirement of Plan B. So, while the two sides
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were moving within negotiating range of each other, fundamental
difhculties remained, not only the question of aid to China but also
the question of how much of what kind of oil.

Whereas the modus reduced the framework of discussion, the com-
prehensive proposal extended it beyond the most exhaustive restate-
ments of the American position, such as those of June 21 and Octo-
ber 2. Japan would have to withdraw from China and Indochina,
recognize Chiang’s as the only legitimate government of China,
negotiate the Manchurian question with Chungking, give up (with
the Western powers) its extraterritorial rights and concessions in
China, sign a multilateral non-aggression pact, guarantee the neu-
tralization of Indochina, and make a dead letter of the Axis pact as
the price for restoration of trade and for peaceful settlement.”

Although the draft comprehensive proposal and the draft modus
vivendi were annexed to each other, it seems very unlikely that they
were supposed to be presented together to the Japanese, for the strin-
gency of the former would wither the latter. Instead they were alter-
nates. They would be combined for presentation to the allies, as a
means of reassuring them about the modus and of making a record,
and then one or the other would be handed the Japanese depending
on circumstances and allied approval. On November 22, Hull met
with the British and Chinese ambassadors and the Dutch and Aus-
tralian ministers to launch the modus.

First reactions were on the whole encouraging. The secretary of
state seems to have been hoping for quick approval of the American
lead without getting into fine print. He described Plan B,.gained
approval for offering a substitute rather than improving the Japanese
draft, and then gave a “rough sketch” of his own modus and a quick
reading of the comprehensive plan without presenting copies to the
envoys. Halifax was cautiously supportive: an agreement which got
the bulk of Japanese troops out of Indochina without giving too
much economic relief seemed sensible. Churchill’s first reaction was
similar. Hu Shih, the Chinese ambassador, agreed that removal of the
troops would be a great relief but asked whether the military stand-
still applied to Japanese troops within China, to which Hull was
forced to respond in the negative. Hu said China regarded the
embargo as vital and “would be very reluctant to see it seriously
reduced.” On that note the diplomats left to seek instructions from
their governments.”’

These were mostly negartive. At the Foreign Office in London firm-
ness in dealing with Japan was the rule, and greater firmness the more
threatening Japan became. British officials wished to avoid another
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war, needless to say, and were determined to stay exactly in the
shadow of American policy. But they had always been suspicious of
the Hull-Nomura conversations, a suspicion heightened by Hull’s
high dudgeon at the least bit of criticism and his failure to take them
into his confidence. For some the modus vivendi smacked all too much
of appeasement. Others looked to growing strength: the Prince of
Wales was noticed at Capetown on November 23. The Dominions
were informed, and the War Cabinet met to decide.

Britain chose an oblique response, urging a toughening rather
than a rejection of Hull’s proposal. OQur demands should be pitched
at a higher level, the Foreign Office advised. Japan should be required
to remove all its forces of all kinds, including air, from Indochina and
suspend advances in China. Relaxation of trade curbs, not to include
oil, should occur only after a Japanese withdrawal and on condition
of progress toward a general settlement. It is impossible to say from
available sources what the British knowledge of Japanese intentions
was at this point, but the implicit assumption was that time remained
for bargaining. The Foreign Office simply did not share the Ameri-
can apprehension, derived from MAGIC, of imminent Japanese
operations in the south.”

The Chinese response lacked all subtlety. Chiang Kai-shek was
determined to defeat any possibility of a temporary arrangement
with Japan. By all channels of communication—the Chinese ambas-
sador in London, Hu-Shih and T. V. Soong in Washington, and
Owen Lattimore, the Generalissimo’s personal American adviser —
China sounded its dissent. Chiang scarcely paused with an objection
over the number of troops Japan would be permitted to keep in
Indochina. Any relaxation of economic pressure “while leaving
Japan entrenched in China” would make the Chinese people feel
“completely sacrificed” by America. By putting aside the Chinese
question, the United States “was still inclined to appease Japan at the
expense of China.” The agreement would destroy American prestige
in Asia just as surely as the closing of the Burma Road had destroyed
British and would lead Japan and Chinese defeatists to urge “oriental
solidarity against occidental treachery.” Supplementing official objec-
tions were leaks to the press, one, for example, to a United Press cor-
respondent by the Chinese embassy in London. Readers of the
November 25 New York Times, for example, learned the essential pro-
visions of the modus vivendi.”

Contrary to public claims of ABCD harmony, there was indeed “a
rift in the alphabetical lute.” Looking for support, Hull called the
ABCD envoys back on Monday, November 24. Only the Dutch
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minister was instructed, though he was positive. This time Hull per-
mitted the representatives to copy the proposals. Halifax asked to
refer the detailed provisions to the Foreign Office for study. Ques-
tioning and argument continued until Hull complained of his part-
ner governments’ “lack of interest and lack of a disposition to coop-
erate” and on that sour note the meeting broke up.

That night to ensure prompt consideration at the highest level, the
president at Hull’s request sent a copy of the modus vivendi proposal
to Churchill, The following day Halifax gave Hull detailed and severe
Foreign Office criticisms of the proposal. During the following night,
November 25-26, Churchill’s reply arrived. “{O}nly one point ...
disquiets us,” he wrote. “What about Chiang Kai-shek? Is he not hav-
ing a very thin diet?” Should China collapse, “our joint dangers
would enormously increase.” Churchill was sure that American
“regard for the Chinese cause” would govern action. The prime min-
ister seems to have concluded that a firm ABCD front was Britain's
safest bet because it made most likely American participation in any
war begun by Japan, and more likely thereby American entry into
the European war. The course of settlement, however temporary,
risked that combination and made it more likely that the United
States would stay on the sidelines. By this skillful thrust the onus for
killing the Hull proposal would fall on the Chinese more than on the
British.'®

The modus vivendi was failing rapidly by Monday and Tuesday,
November 24-25. Hardly encouraging were three MAGIC intercepts
translated on Monday, all instructions to Nomura and Kurusu that
cessation of American aid to China during peace negotiations was
essential. Chiang Kai-shek must be “made” to propose an end to hos-
tilities. On November 22, Hull learned that the deadline for a Japa-
nese-American agreement had been extended from November 25 to
November 29. Monday he learned that the extension was in Tokyo
time, meaning Friday, November 28 in Washington.'”

Accompanying this terminal date for diplomacy was increasing
evidence that Japanese forces were moving up to a starting line for
attack: reinforcements to the Mandates, increased naval activity at
Truk and Jaluit, an expeditionary force in the Palaus, surveillance of
American supply routes to Australia, accelerated troop debarkation
at Haiphong, 20,000 soldiers landed at Saigon, Hanoi heard from a
reliable source that the Japanese would attack Thailand, including
the Kra isthmus, on December 1.'%

Of particular concern was the embarkation of Japanese troops at
Shanghai. The assistant naval attaché there reported intense activity
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since November 15, with the arrival and loading of many ships
including troop transports and vessels carrying timber trestles (for
pier or bridge construction) and landing craft. On November 19 ten
transports sailed, and in the following week many were sighted by
ship captains between Shanghai and Hong Kong on a course for
Indochina. Similar information came from British intelligence. These
were troops intended for Malaya. The United States Navy was com-
ing alive to the probability of amphibious landings, but the army was
more complacent. Stimson’s mind was still set on Indochina, where,
he recalled, the Japanese had informed French authorities they would
be moving 50,000 more troops. They were talking evacuation and
stufing more troops in. This for Secretary of War Stimson was per-
fidy —typical Japanese perfidy stretching back to the Manchurian cri-
sis of 1931. Early on November 26 he warned the president of the
Japanese troop movements.'”

This suddenly rising storm found the Philippines reinforcement
in disarray. A stream of heavy bombers, now amounting to forty-
eight planes, was scheduled to depart December 3-10. Another
eighty-two would fly out in the following ten weeks. Fifty-two dive
bombers, delayed at Hawaii two weeks and then placed in a slow con-
voy, would not arrive until Christmas Day. One pursuit group of 105
P-40s had arrived; half of a second was at sea and the other half would
depart on December 5. Due to sail in early December were aircraft
maintenance, command, and warning units, together with field artil-
lery and signal battalions, a cavalry troop, an infantry regiment, and
medical detachments, altogether 21,000 troops, by far the largest rein-
forcement yet. To the question whether they would arrive in time
now was added the question whether they would arrive safely. So
worried was the navy at the incompleteness of Philippine defenses
that it denied Admiral Hart permission to stay and fight at Manila
Bay, and so the cruisers and destroyers of the Asiatic Fleet began
moving southward out of reach of Japanese air strikes.'®

East Asia did not supply the only ration of bad news. On Novem-
ber 21 the press reported the ousting of General Weygand as Vichy's
supreme authority in Africa—at the express demand of Hitler, it was
said. This opened the way to further Nazi penetration of Africa and
left in tatters Washington’s policy of encouraging French North Afri-
can autonomy. On November 18 the British forces in Egypt
launched their long-awaited offensive against Rommel. They plunged
deeply behind German-Italian lines but soon were locked in a “brutal
slugging match,” an armored “battle of Kilkenny cats,” which
destroyed most of the tanks on both sides. London was now “putting
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a brake on overoptimism.” By November 26 Roosevelt himself was
wondering whether the British could sustain the drive.!'®

The outlook on the German-Soviet front now seemed absolutely
precarious. The final German push on Moscow began on November
15 and was soon making substantial progress over the frozen ground.
Panzer armies striking southeast captured Klin, Solnechogorsk, and
Istra by November 25, opening a breach for an “armored jemmy of
tremendous strength that soon threatened to break open the whole
Russian position in the northwest.” The 7th Panzer Division struck
for the Moscow-Volga Canal, “the last major obstacle before Moscow
was completely outflanked from the north.” To the south of Moscow,
Guderian swung east of Tula, captured Venev on November 25, and
made for Kashira on the Oka River, loss of which would open the
road to the capital and its encirclement. Along the Black Sea, Kleist’s
Panzer group captured Rostov and an intact bridge across the Don
on November 20. From this gateway to the Caucasus the road seemed
open to Astrakhan on the Caspian or the Maikop oil fields.'®

The press learned enough of the savage fighting to grasp the sig-
nificance of this “doom-laden final week of November,” as John
Erickson calls it. The New York Times described the attack as “over-
powering,” “the like of which has not been seen.” The flanks of Mos-
cow’s defenses were “yielding.” The Germans were straining with
every ounce to capture Moscow at any cost. On November 23 the
Russians admitted the situation was “gravely worsened” on the
northern sector and even more critical on the southern. On Novem-
ber 25 the Nazis were reported thirty-one miles from Moscow; the
Germans claimed eighteen. The Red Army was fighting “one of the
most critical battles of its history.” The moment of greatest danger in
the five-month war had arrived. The Russian situation, Roosevelt
told Morgenthau on November 26, was “awful”: Moscow was
“falling.™"

The modus vivendi had no hope in this moment of pervasive and
deadly threat. Stark and Marshall undoubtedly made the argument
for delay to Hull and Roosevelt in their meetings November 25. The
director of the army’s War Plans Division stated the position bluntly
to Hull on November 21: the army considered it a matter of “grave
importance to the success of our war effort in Europe that we reach
a modus vivendi with Japan.”'” The negative case became overwhelm-
ing, however, The Chinese attack on the modus, abetted by the Brit-
ish, was right on target. Roosevelt had to consider the implications
of a partial settlement for the anti-Japanese and anti-German coali-
tions. Japanese deadlines, deployments, and stiff bargaining terms, as
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revealed by MAGIC, did not encourage diplomacy. The supreme cri-
sis in Russia and discouraging news from Africa called for solidarity
and steadfastness. Above all, the movement of Japanese troop con-
voys into the South China Sea had a crystalizing effect on the presi-
dent, for conciliation in the presence of aggression was appeasement.
Roosevelt and Hull decided to drop the modus vivendi and present
in its place, with full recognition they had come to the end of di-
plomacy, the comprehensive proposal which predicated any settle-
ment on a total Japanese withdrawal from China. This Hull did on
November 26.



Epilogue

Japan Attacks

For Washington, the days following Hull’s comprehensive note to the
Japanese of November 26, his so-called Ten-Point program, were
filled with excruciating uncertainty. The steady southward progres-
sion of Japanese forces indicated an attack soon, but officials were at
a loss to know where the blow would fall or what more might be
done to prevent it. How to respond depended on where the Japanese
attacked. The response to an attack on American territory was
obvious, but if British or Dutch territory were involved and not
American, a question would arise, and if, say, Thailand alone were
the victim, many doubts as well.

The most likely outcome still seemed to be a move into Thailand.
More and more Japanese troops landed in neighboring Indochina,
the total in the southern part rising from 50,000 to 90,000 just
between November 21 and 29, according to the American consul in
Saigon, and with them came large numbers of trucks and aircraft.
Some intelligence ofhicials inferred that these were the troops which
had embarked at Shanghai (which in fact were harboring at Hainan
Island in the Gulf of Tonkin).! A move on Thailand seemed to fit
Japanese behavior: step-by-step encroachment taking advantage of
developing opportunities but avoiding head-on collision. It opened
the way to Malaya and to Rangoon, port of entry for the Burma
Road.

Japanese preparations seemed more extensive than required for
the seizure of Thailand, however, as if the next step, not the next but
one, would provoke war. In a speech reported in the American press
on November 30, Premier T6j6 condemned Britain and the United
States for “fishing in troubled waters” by pitting Asians against each
other. On December 1 the Japanese navy changed its radio call signs,
the first time it had done so twice in a thirty-day period, and sharply
reduced its radio traffic, indicating concern for the secrecy of impend-
ing naval operations. American intelligence had lost track of the air-
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craft carriers.” The Japanese appeared to be forming new task forces
in the South China Sea and the Mandates, indicating “major opera-
tions” in the Indochina-Thai area soon, possibly including a descent
on Borneo.! Meanwhile MAGIC was decrypting instructions from
Tokyo on destruction of codes, and Japanese nationals were hurrying
home from British arid Dutch territories. Guam and the British Gil-
bert Islands sighted Japanese reconnaisance planes.*

Was all this activity and secrecy directed merely at the Thai oper-
ation or were there ulterior objectives such as the Kra isthmus, Sin-
gapore or the Dutch East Indies? How could Japan possibly attack
such objectives across the South China Sea without dealing first with
American power on its flank in the Philippines? But why would
Japan force a war with the United States when its every interest lay
in avoiding consolidation of its enemies and engagement with a
power of such enormous latent strength? These questions circled
through the minds of tired American officials as they fretted over the
weekend of November 29-30 and into the following week.

On November 27 the army and navy sent out war warnings to
relevant commands including Hawaii but especially directed to the
Philippines. An “aggressive move by Japan” was expected in the next
few days, the navy warning read, against “either” the Philippines,
Thailand, the Kra isthmus, or Borneo. The military view was that, if
Japan invaded the main body of Thailand or through Thailand
China, the United States should stand still, allowing further rein-
forcement of the Philippines. However, if Japan attacked the south-
erly extension of Thailand, the Kra isthmus, thereby imperiling
Malaya, or other British or Dutch territory, America must resist.’

The distinction between Thai and other possible ventures seemed
increasingly artificial, however. Britain urgently needed to occupy
the beaches in the southerly portion of the Kra isthmus inside Thai-
land to protect Malaya but would only invite Japanese occupation of
Bangkok and become cast as the aggressor if it moved first. A Japa-
nese first move would remove that inhibition and bring in the Brit-
ish. Given this likely sequence, either a clash between Japan and Brit-
ain would occur in Thailand or the Japanese would preempt by
striking the Kra first. This at least appears to be the strategic logic
that Roosevelt gathered from discussions with his closest advisers and
Halifax.

On December 1 the president called in the British ambassador for
a critical conversation. In case of a Japanese attack on Thailand, the
president said, he would support British action, meaning the move-
ment of British troops into the Kra. The British must do what was
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strategically necessary, he said. As to how and how soon he would
provide support he was not so clear, but he would need a few days
to “get things into political shape.” Respecting the case of a direct
Japanese attack on British or Dutch territory he spoke more plainly,
though in a typically informal manner. In that event, he said, “we
should obviously all be together.” On December 3, this time with
Welles present, Roosevelt assured Halifax he meant armed support
and assented to the British plan for a preventive occupation of the
Kra area, The British government now authorized its Malaya com-
mand to initiate this plan, called MATADQOR, to forestall a Japanese
landing on that shore or as a response to any Japanese incursion into
Thailand. It now also gave the Dutch a formal guarantee of armed
support. Admiral Phillips, his capital ships having arrived in Singa-
pore, flew to Manila to coordinate naval action with the Americans.
Admiral Hart ordered Destroyer Division 57 at Balikpapan in Bor-
neo to sail for Singapore® Thus ABDA seemed finally locked
together.

This new solidarity was reactive not preventive, however. The
British still hoped for an Anglo-American warning to Japan. Stimson
urged the president to draw a line, transgression of which would lead
the United States to fight. Roosevelt consistently resisted, sensitive to
the Constitutional limitations he had already exceeded by his prom-
ise to Halifax, but above all ever-cautious, unwilling to confront the
public and Congress until he knew which eventuality he faced. He
intended to make an appeal for peace to the Emperor of Japan, but
apparently only at the last minute when reconnaissance showed an
attack coming. His main object probably was to establish a formal
interest in protecting Thailand, Malaya, and the Dutch East Indies
in case he needed to ask Congress for a declaration of war.” As the
first week of December wore on, with American policy settling into
this passive vein and the South China Sea still largely empty, an eerie
stillness overhung the Pacific and East Asia.

From another part of the world came decisive and welcome news.
By December the German campaign against Moscow was finally
petering out from exhaustion and icy cold. On December 1, word
arrived that the Soviets had retaken Rostov, saving the Caucasus®
On the night of December 4 the Red Army, stiffened by its Siberian
divisions, launched a counteroffensive on the Moscow front, and
BARBAROSSA went into winter quarters.

On December 1, Tokyo time, the Japanese government in Imperial
Conference confirmed the decision for war. Only some positive out-
come of the Hull-Nomura negotiations could have possibly fore-
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stalled that decision. The Hull note of November 26 made it apparent
that further negotiation was hopeless. The attack on Pearl Harbor by
six carriers, the heart of the Imperial Navy’s air arm, would go for-
ward. On December 3 this Pearl Harbor Striking Force, which had
sortied from the Kurile Islands on November 26, crossed the Inter-
national Date Line south of the Aleutians in its passage across the
barren, stormy North Pacific toward Hawaii. On December 4 (Tokyo
time) nineteen Japanese transports departed from Hainan and gath-
ering contingents from Cam Ranh Bay and Saigon and covering
forces from Mako in the Pescadores headed southwest into the South
China Sea. On December 6, British reconnaissance aircraft sighted
these convoys as they rounded the southernmost tip of Indochina
into the Gulf of Siam.” Before the RAF could find out whether they
were headed for the Kra coast and Malaya or Bangkok, they were lost
in monsoon clouds. When Roosevelt learned of the report the fol-
lowing day, December 6 (Washington time), he sent his plea for peace
to Emperor Hirohito.

Around midnight December 7/8 (Singapore time), Japanese trans-
ports arrived at Kota Bharu in the northeast corner of Malaya and
Patani and Singora on the Kra isthmus and began landing troops. At
approximately the same time, dawn December 7, 275 miles north of
Hawaii, the Striking Force launched more than two hundred planes
against the United States Pacific Fleet at Pearl Harbor and an hour
later sent off 170 more. In the following hours occurred air raids on
Singapore, the Philippines, Guam, and Wake and an assault on Hong
Kong. Japanese air power, whether aboard the Striking Force, situ-
ated on Formosa and the southern Indochina coast, or quickly
landed in Malaya and the Philippines, devastated British and Amer-
ican defenses.

At Hawaii surprise was complete. The Japanese immediately
attacked the airfields at Pearl Harbor and nearby, gutting hangars and
aircraft neatly lined up on taxiways for better security against sabo-
tage. They left seventy-nine usable army airplanes out of the original
231. At Pearl Harbor, high-level bombers, dive bombers, and torpedo
planes concentrated on Battleship Row, where, singly and in pairs,
the pride of the Pacific Fleet was moored. They sank five. Bombs
ignited the forward magazine of Arizona, shattering the battleship.
Oklahoma capsized, trapping hundreds of seamen inside. West Vir-
ginia and California settled in the mud upright. Nevada, attempting
to escape the harbor, was beached in flames. Pennsylvania, Tennessee,
and Maryland suffered damage but remained afloat. Colorado, under-
going modernization on the West Coast, escaped altogether.
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Otherwise damage was relatively light. No aircraft carrier was in
port: Lexington and Enterprise were delivering planes to outlying bases
and Saratoga was on the West Coast. One heavy cruiser present, New
Orleans, was peppered with fragments, the other, San Francisco, was
unharmed. Of six light cruisers, one was sunk, one heavily damaged,
one lightly damaged, and three were unscathed. Only three destroy-
ers were put out of action. The power plant, repair shops, and oil
storage tanks were spared. Nonetheless, the Japanese now had every
reason to believe that their attacks southward would not be threat-
ened from the Pacific flank.

Dawn came to the Philippines several hours later but in spite of
forewarning, the American command was caught with its planes
down. It delayed action for hours, lulled by the belief that the airfields
of central Luzon were beyond reach of Japanese air power and torn
between sequestering its precious B-17s and hurling them against
Japanese air concentrations on Formosa. Shortly after noon that day,
eighty-eight Japanese naval bombers and Zero fighters, with engines
modified to extend their range, attacked Clark Field. Half of the
thirty-five B-17s in the Philippines, arming and fueling for a mission
to Formosa, were destroyed. Within the first day, half of the modern
fighters were gone too. Having promptly seized command of the air,
Japanese forces were in a position to destroy or force the withdrawal
of American air and naval power from the Philippines, leaving the
islands open to invasion.

The night after these attacks, HM.S. Prince of Wales and Repulse
with four destroyers left Singapore and steamed north to pounce on
Japanese transports off Singora. Sighted by Japanese aircraft, Admiral
Phillips wisely turned about. Then what proved to be a false report
of Japanese landings further south diverted him to the coast and
delayed his withdrawal long enough for the Japanese to spot him
again. At 11:00 am. December 10 local time, eighty-eight naval
bombers and torpedo planes from Indochinese bases attacked, again
operating well beyond their expected range. They methodically
destroyed the battleship and battle cruiser, sending them down with
840 men and Admiral Phillips. The blow to British morale and pres-
tige in East Asia was immense.

The British and Americans consistently underrated the Japanese
and failed to appreciate the defiant, do-or-die mentality of its current
leadership. Western defenses were still weak, weapons ineffective or
obsolete, and leadership mostly mediocre. The rituals and routines of
peace prevailed; minds were not at war pitch. These Western weak-
nesses in no way detract from the brilliance and daring of the japa-
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nese plan and the effectiveness of the wide-ranging Japanese attacks.
Imperial headquarters riveted Western attention on the preliminaries
that could not be concealed —the staging of forces to Indochina and
the Gulf of Siam-—keeping their ultimate destination ambiguous,
while moving in on the Americans by stealth. Japan obtained its
immediate objectives. The way was open for conquest of a broad
domain from the borders of India to the mid-Pacific and from the
Aleutians to New Guinea.

The day after Pearl Harbor the United States, powerfully united
and vowing vengeance, declared war on Japan. Hitler, delighted to
find the United States weakened, its forces divided, and anxious to
sustain Japan and prevent any possible rapprochement between the
Pacific antagonists while he finished off Russia in 1942, declared war
on December 11. He undoubtedly believed he had little to lose, given
existing American engagement in the Battle of the Atlantic, and he
had much to gain by turning loose his submarines on unprotected
American commerce along the East Coast. The U-boat fleet had
nearly tripled in size during 1941." Italy followed Germany, and the
United States instantly responded with a declaration of war on both.
December 11 was nine months to the day since the passage of Lend-
Lease. Now the great neutrals had joined the fray, by choice and force
of circumstance. The questions that overhung international relations
in March of global alignment and balance of forces had all been
answered: The world was at war.
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German-Soviet war; Intelligence,
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objectives, 4, 7, 13, 15, 25, 104; and
Oshima, 94; possible meeting with
Stalin, 66; and Russian campaign, 13,
64, 94, 137, 148, 190; and Vichy, 111,
and war with U.S., 109, 220; and
Yugoslavia, 24. See also German
army

Hong Kong, 123, 218

Hood, 80, 82

Hoover, J. Edgar, 89

Hopkins, Harry: and aid to USSR, 173;
at Argentia, 148-49; and British-
American relations, 164; on escort of
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London, 108, 156
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124, 184, 185,199, 217
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India, 130, 178
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34, 35,98, 121, 123-24, 133, 157, 180,
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59-62, 66; on German-Soviet war, 89,
94-95, 102, 138-39, 146, 148, 190;
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Azores

Potomac, 31, 146

Pound, Sir Dudley, 157

Prince of Wales, 80, 146, 151, 152, 155,
158, 159, 169, 197, 210, 219

Prinz Eugen, 80, 81, 169
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and U.S. aid to USSR, 104-5, 132,

Index 277
139-40, 148, 150, 156, 158, 171, 172-
75, 182, 185

Soviet-British relations. See British-
Soviet relations

Soviet-German war. See German-Soviet
war

Soviet-Japanese pact, 51, 56, 62, 131,
231n54

Soviet-Japanese relations. See Japanese-
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